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Lutheran Church of Australia          
 Queensland District 

   
 

 
 
 

28 February 2018 
 

 
 
Dear Synod Delegate 
 
Welcome to your Convention of Synod for 2018 hosted by St John’s Lutheran Congregation, 
Bundaberg.  
 

Each year, our annual Conventions of Synod in the Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District 
are working through themes based on the Chief Parts of Luther's Small Catechism. Last year, during 
the 500th anniversary of the Reformation, we considered the Apostles' Creed. This year we take up 
the 10 Commandments. 
 
Synod Text: 2018 “Graciousness to the thousandth generation” (Exodus 20:1-21) with the focus on 
loving God and keeping the commandments.  
 
In the Catechism, at the end of the section on the Commandments, Luther pays careful attention to 
the "promise" that is our Synod theme. The Lord who gives us faith to walk in his ways, promises 
graciousness to the 1000th generation to "those of those who love me and keep my commandments".  
 
In this logo, you see this Scripture promise from Exodus 20:6 underneath a representation of the ten 
commandments in an open Bible. The law of the Lord is revealed to us that we would know God's 
good and gracious will.  
 
As God's people in the Lutheran Church of Australia, we learn from the Small Catechism to "fear, 
love and trust God above all things". Hence the Synod logo includes a seal which is Luther's Rose 
with the cross of Christ at the centre. As Synod, we commit ourselves to this common life of 
witnessing to the way of the Cross of Christ, based on the sure foundation of the Word of God. 
 
Synod Delegates 
 

Queensland District Conventions of Synod are a great experience. Every year new delegates of all 
ages and gender arrive and are overwhelmed with the experience. They learn, watch participate, 
network and come away with a much better understanding of the greater Church they are members of. 
 
Unfortunately, in recent years only half of the possible places for congregational delegates have been 
filled. As Chairperson of your congregation, I am asking you to make sure your congregation fills all 
your places at the annual Convention. The governance of the LCAQD is important. Your congregation’s 
full involvement is vital. 
 
At this year’s Convention, we will be electing a Bishop and Assistant Bishop, discussing major 
governance reforms of the LCAQD, discussing the ordination of women and men, and the mission of 
the Church. Your congregation’s full involvement is important. Please do all you can to ensure your 
delegate entitlement is filled. 
 
 
 
 

Michael Turner 
District Executive Officer 

mailto:michael.turner@qld.lca.org.au
http://www.qld.lca.org.au/
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Lutheran Church of Australia          
 Queensland District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Program 
 

Friday Night.  Will be mission focused. We will hear different reports from LCA departments and 
ministries. Come to the Friday night opening night and register.  If you want a small meal first, go on-
line to our web site from the end of February, follow the links and order the light meal. 
 
Saturday. It’s an action packed agenda with reports and the Goverenance Review presentation.  
Reports are taken ‘as read’.  Departments will be delivering their reports during the convention, and 
you will be able to take part in a collective Q&A format. Elections of the role for Bishop and office 
bearers are undertaken through the day.  
 
Saturday Night Dinner. Dinner will be at a nearby Services Club only 10 minutes away.  Be sure to 
book early as places are limited.  
 
Sunday. Worship Service. The rest of the day will be focused on the LCAQD Department reports and 
a presentation for the Mission Stimulus Grant recipient. 
 
Meals.  As with previous years, meals will only be available to delegates and visitors who have prepaid 
using our on-line registration system. Extras will not be available.  
  
Synod offering from congregations will be given to Far North Queensland – Hope Vale. 
 
We are once again very pleased with the $25,000 sponsorship secured from the LLL to support a 
mission outreach plan for 2018/2019. 
 
Reports.  These will be posted on the web site  www.qld.lca.org.au   Look for the Synod tab at the 
top of the screen and then navigate from there.  We are intentionally ensuring we have reports in A4 
format to make them easier to read.  You can print and bring your own, save to whatever electronic 
device you want, purchase a printed copy or you might decide to wirelessly access the report using the 
provided wifi network whilst you are at St Johns Lutheran Primary School. Too many choices perhaps? 
Plenty of solid reading. 
 
Video.  Visit our Synod website page and click on the video link to see what Crystal Bignall and Michael 
Turner have to say about Synod. 
 
We hope you enjoy the Convention.  
 

Blessings in Christ,  

                                                                                      

 

Michael Turner        
District Executive Officer       

mailto:michael.turner@qld.lca.org.au
http://www.qld.lca.org.au/
http://www.qld.lca.org.au/


Where the 2018 LCAQD Convention of Synod will be Held 

This year’s Convention of Synod is being held at St John’s Lutheran Primary School, 

Bundaberg – 30 George Street, Bundaberg.  For many delegates this means traveling 

along Boundary Street from the Bundaberg town center, and turning into George 

Street. The Church and School are next to each other, and easy to find. 
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EXTRACT FROM BY- LAWS PART A OF THE CONSTITUTION AND BY- LAWS OF 

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH OF AUSTRALIA QUEENSLAND DISITRICT PERTAINING 

TO THE CONVENTION OF SYNOD 

BY-LAWS PART A, SCHEDULE VII SYNOD 

 
1. Lay delegates shall be voting members of the Congregation. 

 
2. The following shall be entitled to submit matters for discussion at the Convention of 

the Synod of the District: 

2.1. any Congregation; 
2.2. any Parish; 
2.3.   any Standing Committee, Council, and Commission of the District, provided 

the matter is within its terms of reference; 
2.4. Pastors' Conference; 

2.5. Church Council, or its Executive; 
2.6. General Church Council of the Church, or its Executive. 

 
 

3. Procedure In Transacting Business 

3.1. The business of a Convention of the District Synod shall be chaired by the 
Bishop, or at the Bishop's request, the Assistant-Bishop. If they are unable 
to act, the Convention shall elect its own Chairperson. 

3.2. The Chairperson shall ensure that a quorum is present at all times. 

3.3. In addition to the voting members and the consultants, the right to speak may 
be exercised by recognised official visitors, by any additional members of the 
teaching staff of Australian Lutheran College present, and, when the reports 
of a board are before the Convention, by any member of the respective board. 
Any other member of the District present who desires to speak may do so 
at the discretion of the Chairperson. 

3.4. Persons entitled to speak and desiring to exercise such right shall ask for the 
floor by raising their hand or otherwise indicating to the Chairperson their 
desire to speak, and when called upon to speak they shall stand and address 
themselves to the Chair. No interruption to speech shall be permitted, except 
upon a question of order. 

3.5. All proposals on the Agenda shall be placed before the Convention for 
discussion and decision, unless withdrawn. 

3.6. All reports published in the official Book of Reports or in supplements thereto 
shall be regarded as received by the Convention by virtue of that fact. 

3.7. A motion or amendment, including any proposal stemming from the reports 
of councils or boards, may be discussed and voted on only after it has been 
moved and seconded by a delegate. 

3.8. At the request of the mover and seconder, and with the consent of the 
Convention, a motion or an amendment may be withdrawn. 

3.9. A proposal which has not been moved may be withdrawn by the body from 
which it originated. A proposal which has been printed in the agenda of the 
Convention, but which has not been moved, may be withdrawn by the body 
from which it originated, with the consent of the Convention. 
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3.10. Only one amendment to a motion shall be before the Chair at any time. After 
the same has been agreed to or rejected another amendment may be moved.  
Notice of further amendment may be given at any time. 

 

3.11. Every amendment shall be relevant to the motion to which it refers. 

3.12. Proposers of amendments and of any motions not previously printed shall 
submit them to the Chairperson in writing either in advance, whenever 
possible, or when requested to do so by the Chairperson. 

3.13. Those taking part in a debate shall be limited to one [1] speech on a motion 
or amendment, except to clear up misunderstanding or in exercising the right 
of reply, or except the meeting grant permission. 

3.14. A right of reply is only allowed to the mover of the original motion. It concludes 
the debate unless there are one or more amendments, in which case it may 
be exercised at the conclusion of the debate on the first amendment. 

3.15. Seconded amendments are new questions and persons who have spoken 
to the motion shall be permitted to speak again. 

3.16. The mover of any motion shall be permitted to speak for five [5] minutes, and 
three [3] minutes shall be the limit for all other speakers unless a resolution 
granting extension of time be granted by the Convention. 

3.17. The Chairperson shall give ample opportunity for speakers for and against a 
motion or an amendment to be heard. If there are no speakers against it 
shall be put without right of reply. 

3.18. As a general rule motions and amendments shall be read before a vote is 
taken, and the Chairperson shall if necessary briefly explain their meaning. 

3.19. No motion may be brought forward which is the same in substance as a 
matter which has already been resolved by the Convention unless a motion 
calling for a reconsideration of the matter previously decided is moved and 
seconded by persons who voted with the majority when the matter was 
originally put. If the motion to reconsider is carried the previous vote is 
thereby cancelled, and the original motion is again before the Convention in 
the form in which it was put to the vote.  A matter may be reconsidered only 
once at the same Convention. 

3.20. A motion shall be decided by a show of hands unless a ballot is required 
by the Chairperson or demanded by a delegate and granted by resolution 
of the Convention. In the event of a disagreement as to the result of the vote, 
a recount or second vote may be demanded. 

3.21. If in the opinion of any delegate an irregularity of procedure occurs the 
delegate may immediately without asking permission from the Chair rise to a 
`point of order' and shall be heard forthwith. The delegate shall explain the 
point of order clearly and briefly without introducing new matter. The 
Chairperson shall decide either to uphold or disallow the point raised, and it 
shall not be debated unless an appeal be made against the ruling of the 
Chairperson. 

3.22. Deference shall be paid to the Chairperson's authority. All present shall be 
seated whenever the Chairperson rises to speak, and the Chairperson 
shall be heard without interruption, except when a point of order is raised. 
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3.23. The Chairperson may call attention to continued irrelevance or tedious 
repetition on the part of a speaker, and may direct the speaker to cease 
speaking. 

3.24. If disorder should arise the Chairperson may announce an adjournment 
of the convention and leave the Chair, and by that action the Convention is 
immediately adjourned for a period that shall not exceed one-half hour. 

3.25. The Chairperson may speak briefly for the purpose of giving some desired 
or necessary information.  If, however, the Chairperson wishes to take an 
active part in a debate, an Assistant-Bishop or some other appointed person 
shall take the Chair. 

3.25.1. Unless otherwise stipulated, a majority of those delegates voting 
shall decide the motion, and in the event of an equality of votes, 
the Chairperson shall in addition to a deliberative vote have a casting 
vote, or refer the motion for further discussion. 

3.25.2. A non-delegate Chairperson has neither a deliberative nor a casting 
vote at a District Convention of Synod. Only the Bishop or 
Assistant-Bishop acting as Chairperson has the right to exercise a 
casting vote. 

3.26. No formal motion may be moved or seconded by anyone who has moved, 
seconded or spoken to the motion or any amendment. The  following  formal 
motions may be moved and seconded and are not debatable: 

3.26.1. A motion may be superseded for that particular Convention by the 
acceptance of either of the following motions: 

‘The debate be adjourned'; or 

‘Synod proceeds to the next business.' 

3.26.2. A motion may be superseded for the time being by the motion ‘That 
the question lie on the table'. There can be a subsequent motion 
either at the same or a later Convention to take the motion from the 
table. 

3.26.3. The Convention may be adjourned by the motion `That the 
convention adjourns'. Debate may take place if the motion or 
amendment states time, date and place of the adjourned convention. 

3.26.4. Debate on a motion or an amendment may be closed by the motion 
`That the motion be now put'. If in the opinion of the Chairperson the 
motion has not been sufficiently discussed, such motion may be 
refused. 

 
3.27. [This clause of the By-laws of the Church is not applicable to the District.] 

3.28. Any of the By-laws in Section VII.3 may, if the need arises, be suspended in 
respect to any business of the Convention by a two-thirds majority of 
those delegates present. 

3.29. Any motions coming before the Convention may be referred by the Executive 
of the District Church Council prior to the sessions, or by the Convention 
during the sessions, for study and for report to the Convention. 

3.30. All proceedings shall be entered into a Minute book, with the exception of 
unseconded motions or amendments. 

3.31. The District shall not be bound by any statements or plans contained in a report, 
but only by specific resolutions on matters arising from such report and 
carried by the District Synod. 
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EXTRACT FROM BY- LAWS PART B OF THE CONSTITUTION AND BY- LAWS OF 

THE LUTHERAN CHURCH OF AUSTRALIA QUEENSLAND DISITRICT PERTAINING 

TO THE CONVENTION OF SYNOD 

 

SECTION 2      Synod and Its Conventions 
 

2.1 The synodical term shall be from the commencement of one regular Convention 
to the commencement of the next succeeding regular Convention. 

2.2  The regular Convention shall be held during the first weekend in May or at such  

other time as may be determined by the Church Council. 

2.3 Any special Convention shall be held at a time and place to be determined by  
the Church Council. 

2.4 Notice of a Convention shall be published by the Secretary in the Official Organ 
at least twelve (12) weeks before the appointed date in the case of a regular 
Convention and at least four (4) weeks before the appointed date in the case of 
a special Convention. 

2.5 The following are entitled to place proposals on the agenda for a Convention: 

• each Congregation; 

• the Standing Committees, Councils and Commissions of the District,  
provided the proposal is within the respective terms of reference; 

• the Pastors' Conference; 

• the Church Councils of the Church and District and their Executives. 

2.6 Proposals to be placed on the agenda for a regular Convention shall be forwarded 

to the Secretary at least 10 weeks before the appointed date in the case of a 

regular Convention. 

2.7 Reporting Committees shall submit to the Secretary their reports to the regular 

Convention with proposals arising therefrom attached at least ten (10) weeks 

before the appointed date in the case of a regular Convention. 

2.8 The Secretary shall forward to the Steering Committee all reports and proposals 
regularly received. The Steering Committee shall (where necessary) collate, 
group and reformulate the proposals in accordance with the terms of 
reference of the Steering Committee. 

2.9 The Book of Reports shall be forwarded by the Secretary to all Congregations 
at least three (3) weeks before the date of a regular Convention. The Book 
of Reports shall include the agenda setting out details of the nature of the 
matters to be dealt with at the regular Convention, and the reports to Convention 
of the Reporting Committees. 

2.10The agenda for a special Convention shall be forwarded by the Secretary to 
all Congregations at least two weeks before the date of the special Convention. 

2.11 Each Congregation shall be entitled to elect lay representatives as follows:- 

• One (1) lay representative for up to 75 communicant members; 

• Two (2) lay representatives for 76 to 200 communicant members; 

• Three (3) lay representatives for 201 to 300 communicant members; 
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• Four (4) lay representatives for more than 300 communicant 

members. Each lay representative shall be a voting member of 

the Congregation. 

2.12  The secretary of each Congregation shall notify the Secretary of the District in 
writ ing of the name and address of each lay representative so elected. 

2.13 When an elected lay representative cannot attend a Convention and the 
Congregation cannot find a substitute from its midst, the Congregation may 
appoint an Active Communicant Member of another Congregation (not 
otherwise a District Delegate) to act as the alternate for its elected lay 
representative at such Convention, provided such appointment is approved 
by the Bishop. 

 If a lay representative for reasonable cause cannot continue to attend 
a Convention, he/she may request that an Active Communicant Member 
(not otherwise a District Delegate) be appointed as his/her alternate by 
the Bishop for the remainder of the Convention. 

 In each case the lay representative shall upon the appointment of the 
alternate cease to be a District Delegate until the conclusion of the 
Convention. 

2.14  An alternate shall have authority to represent only one (1) lay representative 

at any one time. 

2.15 The Bishop of the Church, the members of the faculties of the Luther 
Seminary and Lutheran Teachers College, the executive officers of the 
Church, the Chairmen of the Committees and other such persons as the 
Church Council may deem advisable may be invited to attend as consultants. 

2.16 Members of Congregations which are members of the Church, may take 
part in discussions. The Auditor shall have the right to take part in any 
discussions arising out of his/her report. 

2.17 Unless otherwise determined by Convention, other visitors may attend but 
may in any event speak only with the permission of the chairperson. 

 

SECTION 3      Nominations and Elections 
 

3.1   Nominations for positions other than Bishop or the Assistant-Bishops may be 
made by the Nominations Committee or by District Delegates or alternates 
in accordance with these By-Laws.  Any nominee for a position shall be an 
Active Communicant Member of a Congregation. 

3.2 The Nominations Committee shall circularise all Congregations and 
Committees at the end of each year asking for recommendations for 
nominations and, where known, pointing out any vacancies. 

      The Nominations Committee shall request each Congregation and 
Committee to furnish personal details concerning each person 
recommended including his/her occupation, Congregation, service 
rendered to and positions held in the Church, District, Congregations 
and community. 

3.3 The Nominations Committee may also contact any member of a 
Congregation to ascertain whether that member would be willing to accept 
nomination. 
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3.4 Recommendations for nomination from Congregations shall be in the hands 
of the Nominations Committee or the Secretary ten (10) weeks prior to the 
date appointed for the regular Convention. 

3.5 The Nominations Committee shall examine all recommendations and shall 
draw up a list of nominations which shall be published in the Book of Reports. 

 Such list of nominations shall include the occupation of the nominee, 
the Congregation to which he/she belongs, and any service which 
he/she has undertaken in the work of the Church, District, Congregations 
and community. 

 The Nominations Committee shall not be bound to accept all 
recommendations received. 

3.6 The Nominations Committee shall ensure that each nominee on the list of 
nominations has consented to the nomination. 

3.7 The elections for Bishop and/or Assistant-Bishop(s) shall be held as early as 
possible on the first day of Convention 

 The first reading of nominations for all other elective offices in the 
District shall take place as early as possible after the election of 
Bishop and/or Assistant- Bishop(s), unless the Steering Committee 
determines otherwise. 

 The first reading shall consist of an announcement of alterations to the 
published list of nominations. 

3.8 District Delegates or alternates may make additional nominations provided  
the nomination is in writing and has the consent of the nominee and is in 
the hands of the Nomination s Committee and the Electoral Officer prior to 
the time determined by the Convention. 

The first reading of the nominations shall take place on the first day of 
Convention unless the Steering Committee determines otherwise. 

3.9 The Nominations Committee shall prepare a final list of nominations 
consisting of the names submitted at the first reading together with the 
additional nominations received from District Delegates or alternates. 

3.10 The second and final reading of the list of nominations shall be given when the 
final list of nominations has been prepared. 

 At or prior to the second reading a list of nominees whose nominations 
were not published in the Book of Reports shall be provided to each 
District Delegate and alternate if an election is necessary. Such list of 
nominees shall include the occupation of the nominee, the 
Congregation to which he/she belongs, and any service which he/she 
has undertaken in the work of the Church, District, Congregations and 
community. 

 The second reading shall consist of a further announcement of 
alterations to the published list. 

3.11 Upon completion of the second reading, the Electoral Officer shall prepare 
ballot papers where elections are necessary. 

3.12 In preparing any ballot paper: 

 the names submitted by the Nominations Committee shall appear first 
on the ballot paper; 

 all names shall appear in the order drawn by the Electoral Officer; and 
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 the ballot paper shall indicate which nominees are sitting members. 

3.13 All elections shall be conducted according to the preferential system of 
voting unless otherwise decided by Convention. 

3.14 The Electoral Officer shall direct the Convention with regard to voting 
procedure, whenever he/she deems it necessary. 

3.15 The Electoral Officer shall be responsible for the distribution and collection 
of ballot papers. 

3.16 The Electoral Officer shall be responsible for the counting of votes. 

3.17 The Electoral Officer shall retain all ballot papers. The ballot papers shall be 
re-checked if the result of any election is challenged. The ballot papers 
shall be destroyed at the direction of the Convention or, if no direction is 
given, at the conclusion of the Convention. 

3.18 The Electoral Officer shall keep a good record of the result of all elections, 
including the name of the candidate next in preference to those elected. 

3.19 The Electoral Officer shall inform the chairperson of the result of the election 
as soon as practicable after counting is concluded. 

 
 

SECTION 4    Procedure in Transacting Business 
 

4.1     The procedure to be followed in transacting the business of Synod shall be 
as stipulated in Part A Section VII “Procedure in Transacting Business”, 
with the addition of the following: 

 The Quorum shall be 50 percent of delegates, plus 1. 

 All reports published with the agenda shall be taken as read unless 
the Convention otherwise requires. 

 For the discussion of each report of a Committee, the Chairperson of 
the Committee concerned or his/her nominee shall be given a brief 
time to draw the attention of the Convention to matters of importance, 
and corrections/updates to the written report. 

 Before the proposals stemming from the report are debated, District 
delegates or alternates may seek information concerning the matters 
raised in the report or within the Committee's terms of reference. 

 The proposals stemming from the report shall be debated one by one. 

 The Chairperson may refuse to accept any formal motion if, in his/her 
opinion, the question has not been sufficiently discussed. In any 
event, those who have signified their intention to speak to the question 
prior to the moving of the formal motion shall have the right to speak 
and the mover of the substantive motion before Convention shall have 
the right of reply notwithstanding the carrying of the formal motion. 

 Where a resolution of Convention necessitates, either directly or by 
implication, an alteration to By-laws Part B, the Church Council may 
make such alterations to By- laws Part B as are necessary to 
implement the resolution of Convention. Such amendment shall 
operate as if passed by a resolution of Convention until the next 
succeeding regular Convention. Such amendments shall be printed in 
the agenda for the next succeeding regular Convention for ratification 
(or otherwise). 
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SECTION 5      Late Proposals and Unfinished Business 
 

5.1. All unfinished business shall be referred to the Church Council without the 
necessity for a formal resolution to that effect. 

5.2. The report of Convention shall list the items of unfinished business so referred. 

5.3. Late proposals, in writing and handed to the Secretary before the first business 
session of Convention may be accepted by Convention. At its discretion, 
Convention may admit new business during its sessions. 

5.4. Unless Convention resolves otherwise, all late proposals shall be deferred until 
the completion of all other business unless they are of an urgent nature 
or are related to other matters on the agenda. 

5.5. If a late proposal is not dealt with by Convention, the proposing body may 
request that it be placed on the agenda for the next regular Convention. 

5.6. If no such request is made, the matter shall be dealt with by the Church Council. 

5.7. The report of Convention shall contain a list of late proposals so referred to 
the Church Council. 

5.8. Unfinished business and late proposals referred to the Church Council shall 
be dealt with as follows: 

 the proposing body shall be given the opportunity either to send 
representatives to discuss the proposal with the Church Council or to 
send to the Church Council a written submission on the proposal; 

 the Church Council may deal with the matter or may defer the same 
to the next regular Convention. 

 

 

SECTION 6      Postal Voting 
 

6.1. When pursuant to Article VII Clause 9 of the Constitution, the Church Council 
decides that a matter of urgency shall be referred to voting members of the 
Synod for determination, the following procedure shall apply; 

 the Church Council shall formulate a resolution on the matter in 
question in a suitable form; 

 the Church Council shall appoint a time of closing of the ballot. The 
Church Council may from time to time before the opening of the ballot 
box extend the time of closing of the ballot; 

 the arguments for and against the resolution shall be stated 
concisely by the Bishop or his/her appointed representative; 

 voting shall be by ballot on the ballot paper provided; 

 the Secretary shall forward to each Congregation the ballot papers and 
the copies of the arguments for that Congregation's voting members of 
the Synod; 

 each Congregation shall upon receipt of the ballot papers ensure that 
the ballot papers are completed and returned to the Secretary before 
the time of closing of the ballot; 

 the ballot papers shall be forwarded without scrutiny, sealed in an 
envelope provided to the Secretary who shall place all envelopes 
unopened in a locked ballot box for safe keeping; 
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 the Church Council shall appoint a committee of three members to 
count the votes. The Committee shall meet at the time of the closing of 
the ballot to place all ballot papers without scrutiny into a pile, after which 
all votes shall be counted; 

 the result of the ballot shall be conveyed by the Committee to the 
Bishop, who shall announce the result in the Official Organ indicating 
the number of votes cast in the affirmative and in the negative. 
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2018 Convention of Synod 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Synod Program 
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Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District 
Convention of Synod Program 2018 

 

Friday Night Program  
 
 

 

Friday 1 June 2018 
 

5:00pm Registration Desk opens outside the church building 
               Light dinner meal served 
 
6:00pm Welcome and housekeeping (including Welcome to Country) by 

Bishop Paul Smith  
 
6:15pm LCA Department Presentations 
               LCA Question Time 
 
8:00pm Devotion (including Rite of Welcome to new Pastors)  
               by Bishop Paul Smith 
 
8:15pm Wine and Canapés served outside under the tree 
 

 

Saturday Morning 1st Session 
 

Please be seated by 
8:15am 

 
 
 
 

 

Saturday 2 June 2018 
 

7:30am Delegate Registration Desk opens outside the church building 
 
8:20am Opening Devotion by Rev Mark Vainikka 
 
8:40am Greetings from special guests 
 
8:55am Preliminaries and Welcome from Chair of Congregation, DCC Secretary 

to Welcome Dignitaries and Guests. 
 
9:10am **Synod travels from church building to school hall** 
                   Special guests depart during this time 
 
9:15am  Adoption of previous minutes 
 
9:20am  District Bishop’s Report by Bishop Paul Smith 
 
10:00am DCC Proposal by Bishop Paul Smith 
 
10:10am Reading of Nominations by Sandra Klingberg 
 
10:20am Announcements and Prayer by Chaplain 
 

 

Morning Tea 
 

 

10:25am Morning Tea (30mins) 
 

Saturday Morning 2nd Session 
 
 
 

 

10:55am DCC Report by Margit Hubbers (DCC Secretary) 
 DCC Business 
 DCC Resolutions from DCC Report 

 
11:25am  Department of M&M Presentation by David Schmidt  

  Questions regarding the M&M Report (Report taken as read) 
  Other business/issues for discussion/resolutions 
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12:05am Budget Presentation & RAFC Report by Mr Michael Klatt &  
 Mr Michael Turner 
 Budget Discussion and Adoption of Budget 

 

12:25am Reading of Nominations by Sandra Klingberg 
 

12:35pm In Memoriam by Margit Hubbers (DCC Secretary) 
 

12:45pm Announcements and Prayer by Chaplain 
 

Lunch 
 

12:50pm Lunch (1 hour)          

 
Saturday Afternoon 1st Session 
 

 
 

 
1:50pm Election of Bishop, DCC members and committees by Sandra Klingberg 
 
2:10pm Governance Review Session (Presentation) by Bishop Paul Smith 
 
3:40pm Announcements and Prayer by Chaplain 
 

 

Afternoon Tea 
 

 

3:45pm Afternoon Tea (30 min) 

 
Saturday Afternoon 2nd Session 
 
 
 

4:15pm Department of LYQ Presentation by Mr Aaron Glover 
  Questions regarding the LYQ Report (Report taken as read) 
  Other business/issues for discussion/resolutions 

 
4:55pm LWQ Presentation by Karen Bryce (LWQ President) 

  Questions regarding the LWQ Report (Report taken as read) 
  Other business/issues for discussion/resolutions 

 
5:10pm Election Results announced for Bishop, DCC members and        

Committees. Election of 1AB by Sandra Klingberg 
 
5:25pm **Synod travels from school hall to church building** 
 
5:30pm Closing devotion by Rev Wayne George (St Johns Bundaberg) 
 
5:50pm End of Session 
 

 
Dinner 
 

 

6.15pm Dinner function at The Bundaberg Services Club 

Guest Speaker: Noel Pearson 
 

 

Sunday Morning 1st Session 
 

Please be seated by 
8:15am 

 

 

Sunday 3 June 2018 
 
8.30am Worship Service with Holy Communion by Bishop Paul Smith 
 

10:05am **Synod travels from church building to outside under the tree** 
 

Morning Tea 
 

 

10:10am Morning Tea (30mins) 

 

Sunday Morning 2nd Session 
 
 

 

10:40am Announcement of election results of 1AB. Election of 2AB  
                 by Sandra Klingberg 
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10:55am Proposals from Congregations by Bishop Paul Smith 
 
11:10am Department of LS Presentation by Clare Seligmann 

 Questions regarding the LS Report (Report taken as read) 
 Other business/issues for discussion/resolutions 

 
11:50am Department of LEQ & QLECS Presentation by Mr Dennis Mulherin 

 Questions regarding the LEQ & QLECS Report (Report taken as read) 
 Other business/issues for discussion/resolutions 

 
12:30pm  Announcement of election results for 2AB by Sandra Klingberg 
 
12.35pm Announcements and Prayer by Chaplain 
 

 
Lunch 
 

 
12.40pm Lunch (1 hour) 

 
Sunday Afternoon 1st Session 
 
 
 

 
1:40pm  LLL Presentation & Mission Stimulus Grant Recipient  
                by Marie Pawsey 
 
1:55pm Unfinished Business (including vote of thanks) including 

  Hosting Congregation announcement for Synod 2019  
  by Bishop Paul Smith 

 
2:25pm **Synod travels from school hall to church building** 
 
2:30pm Closing Service by Bishop Paul Smith 
              (including installation of Bishop, AB and DCC members) 
 
3:00pm End of Convention of Synod 
 

 
Afternoon Tea 
 

 
3:00pm Afternoon Tea  

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 3 
 
 
 
 

2018 Convention of Synod 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Detailed Agenda 
 

Updated 30/05/2018 



 

 
Agenda 

51st Convention of Synod of the LCAQD 

Theme – “Graciousness to the thousandth generation” 

Bible text: Exodus 20: 1-21. 

Venue: St John’s Lutheran Church and School, Bundaberg. 

1st – 3rd June 2018 

 
Friday 1st June 2018 
 

1. Delegate registration from 5:00pm 

2. Opening formalities 

a. Welcome & greetings 

b. Acknowledgement of Country 

c. Constitution of Synod led by Rev Paul Smith, Bishop LCAQD 

3. LCA Departments presentation (light evening meal served) 

Proposal: That all reports of LCA Departments be received. 

4. Opening Service led by Rev Paul Smith, Bishop LCAQD 

5. Devotion, including Rite of Welcome to New Pastors to the District  

 Rev Stephen van der Hoek Maryborough-Childers Parish 

 Rev Doug Fitzpatrick  Immanuel, Buderim  

 Rev Simon Cooper  Good Shepherd Lutheran College, Noosa 

 Rev Brenton Fiedler  Faith Lutheran College, Plainland 

 Rev Mark Lieschke  South Burnett Parish 

 Rev Andrew Neumann  Lowood Parish 

 Rev Roelof Buitendag  Ipswich Parish 

 Rev Ray Roehm   Retired pastor now resident in Qld 

 Rev Peter Laihia   Bethania 

6. Canapés, Supper and fellowship. 
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Saturday 2nd June 2018 
 

7. Opening Devotion Rev Mark Vainikka, 1st Assistant Bishop 

LCAQD 

8. Greetings from special guests 

Mr David Batt MP,   Member for Bundaberg 

Venerable Keith Dean-Jones,  Anglican Archdeacon of Burnett 

Archdeaconry, Rector of Bundaberg Parish 

Rev Dr Russell Briese  President, Queensland Churches Together 

Rev Kate Dix representing Uniting Church Moderator, Rev David Baker 

9. Preliminaries and Welcome from Chair of Congregation & DCC Secretary 

10. Apologies – listed in Appendix A 

11. Adoption of Minutes 

Proposal: That the minutes of the 50th Convention of Synod held at Grace 

Lutheran College, Rothwell, be adopted. 

12. District Bishop’s Report – Rev Paul Smith, Bishop LCAQD 

Proposal: That the Bishop’s Report be received. 

13. DCC Proposal 

Proposal: That all positions, excluding those of the Bishop and Assistant 

Bishops, to be elected during the 2018 LCAQD Convention of Synod will 

be for one Synodical term only. 

14. Reading of Nominations (Bishop, Assistant Bishops, District Church Council & 

Committees) - Electoral Officer Sandra Klingberg 

If necessary, reading of or calling for nominations for any other position that is 

elected by Synod, not identified when the Book of Reports was prepared. 

Proposal: That the published list of nominations together with the 

announcement of alterations presented in accordance with the rules 

governing the reading of nominations be received: and that 

The Electoral Officer be authorized to conduct the necessary ballots 

during the business proceedings of Convention. 

15. Announcements, Morning tea 

16. DCC Report – Margit Hubbers, District Church Council Secretary 

Proposal: That the Report of the District Church Council be received. 
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17. DCC business – Late business / additions to the agenda 

18. DCC resolutions 

19. Department of Ministry & Mission presentation  

– Rev David Schmidt, Director & Rev Dirk Willner, Council Chair 

Proposal: That the report from Department of Ministry & 

Mission be received. 

20. Budget presentation & RAFC Report  

– Michael Klatt, Chair RAFC & Michael Turner, District Executive Officer 

Proposal: That the report from the Risk Audit and Finance Committee be 

received. 

Proposal: That the LCAQD Budget for 2019, as presented, be approved. 

21. Nominations (2nd reading of nominations for Bishop, Assistant Bishops, District 

Church Council & Committees) - Electoral Officer Sandra Klingberg 

Proposal: That nominations be closed. 

22. In memoriam 

 Ivan Albert Vonhoff O.A.M.  25th December 1931 - 28th June 2017 

DCC member for 40+ years plus service on numerous committees and 

councils 

GCC member for 15 years 

 Theophila Philippi (nee Stolz) 17 July 1930 - 30 October 2017 

Wife of pastor emeritus Rev Leon Philippi 

 Rev Dr Leslie (Les) Grope 

19 December 1920 - 28th January 2018 aged 97 years 

North Coast Home Mission Field, which included churches and preaching 

places at Gympie, lmbil, Pomona, Nambour, Caloundra, Nitta, Wamuran, and 

Caboolture. 

Executive Secretary of the Lutheran Youth Association of Queensland 

Instrumental in purchase of Luther Heights property,  

Highfields Parish 

Instrumental in acquiring Koojarewon youth camp 

Secretary and later Vice President of LCAQD 

LCA President 1972-1987 

 Rev David John Larsen  29 January 1937 - 24 February 2018 

Southern Suburbs Mission (later Eight Mile Plains) 

St Pauls Toowoomba  

Nundah  

Vice President, LCAQD 



 

5 
 

 Rev Keith Scholz  14 March 1929 - 4 April 2018 

Gin Gin QLD 24/01/1960 – 30/11/1963 

Dalby QLD 1/12/1963 – 29/07/1967 

Woodridge QLD 23/02/1975 – 1977 

Bethania QLD 1977 – 1978 

23. Announcements, Lunch 

24. Election of Bishop, members to District Church Council & Committees 

- Electoral Officer Sandra Klingberg 

25. Governance Review discussions 

Proposal: That Synod 2018 give in-principle support for the governance 

model, as tabled to Synod in the book of reports, as the preferred option 

for governance in the LCAQD. 

Proposal: That District Church Council will develop an implementation 

plan and other processes required to move to the proposed governance 

model. 

26. Announcements, Afternoon Tea 

27. Department of Lutheran Youth of Queensland presentation  

– Aaron Glover, Director & Ian Grieshaber, Council Chair 

Proposal: That the report from Department of Lutheran Youth of 

Queensland be received. 

28. Lutheran Women of Queensland presentation 

Proposal: That the report from Lutheran Women of Queensland be 

received. 

29. Announcement of election results for Bishop, District Church Council & 

Committees, Election of 1st Assistant Bishop - Electoral Officer Sandra Klingberg 

30. Closing Devotion / End of Saturday session 

31. Synod Dinner at The Bundaberg Services Club – guest speaker Noel Pearson 
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Sunday 3rd June 2018 
 

32. Worship Service with Holy Communion 

33. Announcements, Morning tea 

34. Announcement of election results for 1st Assistant Bishop, 

Election of 2nd Assistant Bishop, - Electoral Officer Sandra Klingberg 

35. Proposals from Congregations and Departments 

The following proposals were submitted by Lutheran Youth of Queensland, and 

endorsed by District Church Council: 

Proposal 1: That the LCAQD express to GCC its concern that the current 

LCA Safe Training delivery and availability is preventing the LCAQD from 

training key office holders and congregation members who serve in 

ministry with children in a timely manner, creating an unacceptable risk 

for the LCAQD. 

Proposal 2: That the LCAQD Synod request that GCC, through the LCA 

PSD, develop a Safe Ministry Training system that meets the safe ministry 

needs of LCAQD congregations and departments, and that this be 

finalised through the LCAQD DCC by 31 December 2018. And that this 

training be: 

a. Accessible in a timely manner for all LCAQD members 

b. Flexible in delivery and assessment AND 

c. Consistent and portable across all LCAQD ministries 

Proposal 3: That if GCC is unable to implement an accessible, flexible and 

consistent Safe Ministry Training system for the LCAQD by 31 December 

2018, that DCC develop a Safe Ministry Training system for the LCAQD 

congregations and departments by 2019 Synod. 

36. Department of Lutheran Services presentation  

– Jacqueline Kelly, Director & Clare Seligmann, Council Chair 

Proposal: That the report from Department of Lutheran Services be 

received. 
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37. Department of Lutheran Education Queensland & QLECS 

presentation  

– Dennis Mulherin, Director & Tim Kotzur, Council Chair 

Proposal: That the reports from Department of Lutheran 

Education Queensland & Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services 

be received. 

38. Announcements of election results for 2nd Assistant Bishop 

Electoral Officer Sandra Klingberg 

39. Announcements, Lunch  

40. LLL Presentation – Marie Pawsey 

Mission Stimulus Grant recipient 

Proposal: That the report of the Lutheran Laypeoples League be received. 

41. Final matters 

a. Invitation re 2019 Convention of Synod 

Proposal: That Synod accepts with thanks the invitation received from 

………………………………… to be the host the 2019 Convention of Synod. 

b. Unfinished business  

Proposal: That any unfinished business be referred to District Church 

Council for appropriate action. 

c. Vote of thanks – Margit Hubbers, DCC Secretary 

Proposal: That Synod records its sincere appreciation to those who, 

either as a result of election or retirement, will no longer serve. 

Proposal: That Synod records its comprehensive vote of thanks by rising. 

42. Closing service – including installation of Bishop, Assistant Bishops and DCC 

members 

43. End of Convention of Synod 
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Appendix A – Apologies 

 

Pastors: 

Rev. Roelof Buitendag Ipswich parish 

Rev. Simon Cooper Good Shepherd Lutheran College, Noosa 

Rev. Mark Demmer Salem Residential Aged Care, Toowoomba / Northridge 

Rev. Nathan Glover St Andrews Lutheran College, Tallebudgera 

Rev. Robin Hoffmann Crows Nest Parish 

Rev. Mark Lieschke South Burnett Parish 

Rev. Ray Morris  St Marks Congregation, Caloundra 

Rev. Andrew Neumann Lowood Lutheran Parish 

Rev. Stephen Nuske Leave of absence 

Rev. Lester Reinbott St John's Lutheran Church, Corinda 

Rev. Ray Roehm  Retired 

Rev. Martin Scharnke Trinder Park Aged Care, Woodridge 

Rev. Kevin Spilsbury Prince of Peace Congregation,/ Parish  Everton Hills 

Rev. Ed Szabo  St Pauls Lutheran Church, Toowoomba 

Rev. Stephen van der Hoek Maryborough-Childers Lutheran Parish 

Rev. Dirk Willner  Trinity Congregation, Ashmore 

College Principals: 

Adrian Wiles Concordia Lutheran College, Toowoomba 

Jodie Hoff  Lutheran Ormeau Rivers District School (LORDS), Ormeau 

Elizabeth Fenske  Peace Lutheran College, Cairns 

David Bliss  St Andrews Lutheran College, Tallebudgera 

Luke Schoff  St James Lutheran College, Hervey Bay 

Jill Lange-Mohr St Peters Lutheran College, Springfield 

Tsae Wong   Trinity Lutheran College, Ashmore 

Congregation / Parish delegates 

Fassifern Parish     Renee Noe 

Redeemer Lutheran Church, Miles  Steven Stiller 

St Andrew's Lutheran Church, Cooyar  Christine Duncombe 

St John's Lutheran Church, Eight Mile Plains Isaac Stiller & Colin Vietheer 

St Matthew's Lutheran Church, Maclagan Royce Jensen 



Minutes 
50th Convention of Synod of the LCAQD 

Theme – One Faith… Our Future Ephesians 4:4-6 
Venue: Grace Lutheran College, Rothwell. 

2nd – 4th June 2017 
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Friday 2nd June 2017 
1. Delegate registration from 5:00pm 
2. Opening formalities from 6:00pm 

a. Welcome & greeting from Grace College Council chair 
b. Acknowledgement of Country from Michael Connolly 
c. Constitution of Synod led by Rev Paul Smith, Bishop LCAQD 

3. LCA Departments presentation 
3.1 Tania Nelson – EO, Local Mission 

Oversight of new/renewing churches, cross-cultural ministry, committee 
for ministry with the ageing, Grow Ministries, Lutheran Media 

3.2 Peter Schirmer, EO of the Church 
Spoke about LCA Governance Review, Prevention of Violence 
Campaign, Review of the Call System, Professional Standards, Royal 
Commission on Institutional Child Abuse, Church Worker Support, 
Lutheran Archives, Communication –including copyright, Finance & 
Admin incl Human Resource System & Longest Lutheran Lunch 

3.3 Emma Graetz, Australian Lutheran College on behalf of James Winderlich 
SALT – Stay/Adapt/Lead/Transform 

3.4 Glenice Hartwich – Assistant to the Bishop – International Mission 
Related the stories of three individuals in SE Asia who are spreading the 
gospel message. 

3.5 Susan Hawke – ALWS 
Theme – Walking in the footsteps of Jesus 
Plight of famine affected people in East Africa 
Walk My Way fundraiser 
Work in Syria, Cambodia, PNG, Nepal 

Resolved that all reports of LCA Departments be received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:01 

4. Evening Devotion led by Rev Paul Smith, Bishop LCAQD 
Sermon based on Ephesians 4:11-16 
Rite of Welcome to New Pastors to the District  

 Rev Murray Thomas, retired - apology 

 Rev Ron Buchold, serving SWQL Parish (Dalby ministry area) 

 Rev Ray Pace, serving Good Shepherd Congregation Toowoomba 

 Rev Mark Hansen, serving Good Shepherd Lutheran Church Noosa 

 Rev Chris Janetzki, serving Emmanuel Fellowship Toowoomba - 
apology 

 Rev David Haak, serving Bethesda Congregation Beenleigh 

 Rev Greg Schiller, serving Cairns Lutheran Parishioners  

 Rev Mark Doecke, serving South Burnett Lutheran Parish - apology 
5. Apologies – listed in Appendix A 
6. Delegates enjoyed Canapes, Supper and fellowship. 
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Saturday 3rd June 2017 
7. Opening Service led by Rev Mark Vainikka, 2nd Assistant Bishop LCAQD, with 

sermon based on Hebrews 3:1-6 
8. Greetings were received from special guests 

Rev Richard Tutin – Queensland Churches Together 
Rt Rev Cameron Venables, Anglican Bishop for Southern Queensland 
Rick Williams MP, State member for Pumicestone 

9. Preliminaries and Welcome from Chair of Congregation, Keith Schultz, and 
Principal of Grace Lutheran College, David Radke 

10. Adoption of Minutes 

Resolved that the minutes of the 49th Convention of Synod held at Pacific 
Lutheran College, Caloundra, be adopted. 

Resolution 2017CoS:02 

11. District Bishop’s Report – Rev Paul Smith, Bishop LCAQD 
This report was taken as read. Bishop Paul highlighted various matters 
including the Strategic Charter, collaboration between Departments, the 
situation at Gladstone following the closure of the college and ongoing vacancy 
in the congregation, and with Rev Edgar Mayer and Living Grace 
congregation’s proposed withdrawal from the LCA. Disaster appeal. Proposed 
Queensland Government legislation re mandatory reporting. 
He also noted that he will be absent for the Saturday afternoon due to his 
daughter’s wedding. 
Rev Noel Noack , Bishop Emeritus, gave notice of a motion re Religious 
Instruction in Queensland State Schools. This will be addressed after the 
worship service on Sunday.  
Rev Mark Gierus spoke about the effect of Cyclone Debbie, and expressed 
thanks for the support from District at that time. 

Resolved that the Bishop’s Report be received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:03 

12. Reading of Nominations (District Church Council & Committees) 
- Electoral Officer Rev Lionel Rohrlach 
Rev Mark Vainikka, as the only nominee from Pastors Conference for the 
position of 2nd Assistant Bishop, was declared into that position. 

Resolved that the published list of nominations together with the 
announcement of alterations presented in accordance with the rules 
governing the reading of nominations be received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:04 

Resolved that The Electoral Officer be authorised to conduct the 
necessary ballots during the business proceedings of Convention. 

Resolution 2017CoS:05 

13. DCC Report – Margit Hubbers, District Church Council Secretary  
Margit highlighted the membership and work of the council and subcommittees – 
RAFC and Constitutions; DCC vacancies; strategic planning; future proofing. 
Rev Noel Noack, Bishop Emeritus, asked about the proposed governance 
changes are seen within DCC and how it will affect the Qld District. 
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Margit spoke about the different roles of governance and management. Bishop 
Paul advised that this will be a key matter over the next 12 months. 

Resolved that the Report of the District Church Council be received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:06 

14. DCC resolutions 

Resolved that the By-Laws Part B Schedule IV Advisory Committees of 
the District, Nominations Committee, be amended as recommended by the 
Constitutions Committee. 

Resolution 2017CoS:07 

15. Department of Ministry & Mission presentation – Rev John O’Keefe, Director & 
Rev Dirk Willner, Council Chair, together with other members of M&M Council. 
15.1 Sarah Turner was welcomed as the new assistant to Rev O’Keefe in M&M 

Department. 
15.2 Rev Matthew Wilksch spoke about the opening of the “Arise” worship 

centre at Springfield, and requested prayer for this ministry. 
15.3 Rev David Spanagel spoke about the ministry of Hope Vale, Wujal Wujal, 

Cooktown, Coen and surrounding areas, and the many difficulties faced. 
15.4 Rev Brian Shek reflected on Rev 7:9-10 “every tribe and every nation” and 

spoke about Asian ministry. Challenge – lack of ministry workers. 
15.5 Danielle Robinson spoke about National Church Life Survey (NCLS) – 

data from 2016 is available for use. 
15.6 Rev Rob Edwards spoke about his book “Unscary Evangelism”, and Joy 

Edwards introduced her book about the topic of brain injury – “Tim, can 
you say “Mum”” 

15.7 Rev John O’Keefe spoke about having a M&M resource in each zone. 

Resolved that the report from Department of Ministry & Mission be 
received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:08 

16. Budget presentation & RAFC Report  
– Michael Klatt, Chair RAFC & Michael Turner, District Executive Officer 

Resolved that the report from the Risk Audit Finance Committee be 
received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:09 

Resolved that the LCAQD Budget for 2018, as presented, be approved. 

Resolution 2017CoS:10 

17. In memoriam   Bible readings: John 10:27-29;  Romans 6:3-4  

 Rev Richard (Rick) Zweck   2 May 1953 – 11 July 2016 
Sunshine Coast Parish / Caloundra 1995 - 2013 

 Ora Pohlner     17 August 1932 – 28 Feb 2017 
Wife of Rev Howard Pohlner 

 June Stolz     30 June 1940 – 26 Feb 2017  
Wife of President Emeritus Rev Dr David Stolz  

 Rev Horst Gesswein   28 February 1933 – 5 March 2017 
Brisbane North Suburbs Home Mission Front 1970 – 1980 

 Rev Alan Dahms     22 June 1942 – 21 April 2017 
Bethania Congregation, Qld 2000 - 2007 
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 Rev Russell Weier   25 March 1933 – 21 May 2017 
Retired to Queensland  

18. Nominations (2nd reading of nominations for District Church Council & 
Committees) - Electoral Officer Rev Lionel Rohrlach 

Nominations for DCC: (* currently serving member) 
Pastor members: (2 required) 

Rev Thomas Bohmert 
Ren Mark Brinkmann 
Rev Ben Hentschke 

Lay members: (5 required) 
Margit Hubbers * 
Michael Klatt * 
Richard Pietsch 
David Radke * 
Danielle Robinson 
Andrew Spyropoulos * 

Nominations for other committees were read. Elections were required only for 
DCC positions. 

Resolved that nominations be closed, and ballot papers be drawn up. 

Resolution 2017CoS:11 

19. Department of Lutheran Youth of Queensland presentation, introduced by  
Ian Grieshaber, LYQ Council Chair 
19.1 Sarah Calder spoke about the Luminate program, and interviewed Sarah 

Turner, 2016 Luminate participant, about her experience with the program. 
19.2 Peter Schilling spoke about how LYQ camps continue with the legacy of 

camp ministry, and sought financial support for development of the Luther 
Heights master plan. 

19.3 Aaron Glover, Director thanked people for their support of LYQ. 

Resolved that the report from Department of Lutheran Youth of 
Queensland be received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:12 

20. Strategic Chartering 
Margit Hubbers introduced the Strategic Charter document. Aaron Glover 
outlined how the document was formulated. 
Delegates were given the opportunity to reflect and identify specific actions 
under headings: Growing Together, Reaching Out, Success & Sustainability, 
Other. 

Resolved that the Strategic Charter document be received as a guide for 
mission planning in the LCAQD. 

Resolution 2017CoS:13 

21. Lutheran Women of Queensland presentation 
Karen Bryce presented an overview of the LWQ report. 

Resolved that the report from Lutheran Women of Queensland be 
received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:14 

22. Election of members to District Church Council – 2 pastor positions, 5 lay 
positions - Electoral Officer Rev Lionel Rohrlach 
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23. Reformation / Luther 50/500 
Rev Mark Vainikka & Rev James Haak led a session prepared by Rev Thomas 
Bohmert and St Peters Lutheran College re the history and significance of 
Luther and the Reformation. 

24. Closing Devotion led by Rev James Haak, based on Psalm 46 
End of Saturday session 

25. Synod Dinner at Golden Ox restaurant – guest speaker Roman Catholic 
Archbishop of Brisbane, The Most Reverend Mark Coleridge, focussing on the 
topic “Creative Ecumenism and the Reformation”. 

 
Sunday 4th June 2017 

26. Worship Service with Holy Communion – held in Grace College Chapel 
Liturgists: Rev Paul Smith, Rev James Haak, Rev Mark Vainikka, Rev Mark 
Brinkmann. Sermon from LCAQD Bishop, Rev Paul Smith, based on Ephesians 
4:4-5 and 1 Corinthians 12:3b-12 

27. Announcement of DCC election results for District Church Council & Committees  
- Electoral Officer Rev Lionel Rohrlach 
Pastor Members elected:  

Rev Mark Brinkmann (2 years),  Rev Ben Hentschke (1 year),  
Lay Members elected:  

Michael Klatt (2 years),   Andrew Spyropoulos (2 years),  
Danielle Robinson (2 years), Margit Hubbers (2 years),  
David Radke (1 year) 

28. Proposals from Congregations 
a. From St Peters, Indooroopilly 

Resolved that the Queensland District of the LCA endeavours to meet the 
intended delegate representation at the next General Synod, namely: one-
third pastors and two-thirds lay persons and encourages other Districts 
and the National Church to do likewise. 

Resolution 2017CoS:15 

Resolved that the Queensland District seeks clarification from GCC of 
voting rules for the 2018 General Synod. 

Resolution 2017CoS:16 

b. From Asian congregations 
The proposal “that the preaching centres and preaching places of: 
  Bethlehem Chinese Lutheran Church, Rochedale 
  Queensland Asian Lutheran Church (St Peters) Indooroopilly 
  Grace Chinese Lutheran Gold Coast, Tallebudgera 
merge into one congregation (Queensland Asian Lutheran Church), with 
multiple campuses.” Was referred to DCC for implementation, including 
engagement with the Constitutions Committee. 

29. Department of Lutheran Education Queensland & QLECS presentation  
introduced by Dennis Mulherin 
29.1 Tim Kotzur, Council Chair “Sharing the Good Stuff” highlighted 10 

successes, and “Facing the Challenges” highlighted 3 challenges; 
increased completion from Government schools, affordability/sustainability 
and the challenge for schools to remain authentically Lutheran. 

29.2 TT Reuther award for School Excellence – 2017 to St Andrews Lutheran 
College, accepted by Principal, David Bliss 
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29.3 Rolph Mayer for teacher excellence – Gordon Ratley  
29.4 Monika Bennett, parent of student at Grace, past parent St Pauls LPS 
29.5 Laura Robbins, Lutheran school teacher and past Lutheran school 

student. 

Resolved that the reports from Department of Lutheran Education 
Queensland & Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services be 
received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:17 

30. Department of Lutheran Community Care presentation 
Dr Clare Seligmann, Council Chair, spoke to the report, highlighting the work of 
Intercept Youth Services, and also explaining on the rebranding to “Lutheran 
Services” and the opportunities which that brings. She expanded on the 
changing nature of ageing in our community. The need for dementia care is 
increasing. Sustainability has been a priority for Lutheran Services. All services 
will be redeveloped over the coming 15 years, over three phases. 

Resolved that the report from Department of Lutheran Community Care be 
received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:18 

Resolved that the By-Laws Part B Schedule III Standing Committees and 
Other Bodies C. Department for Lutheran Community Care, the By-Laws 
Part B Index and Section 7 and any other place in the By-Laws of the 
Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District where the name 
Lutheran Community Care is used, be amended by replacing the terms 
‘Lutheran Community Care’ and ‘LCC’ with ‘Lutheran Services’. 

Resolution 2017CoS:19 

31. Report from 2016 recipient of the Mission Stimulus Grant - Arise, Springfield 
Rev Matthew Wilksch 

32. Final matters 
a. Welcome to Country 

Resolved that, wherever possible, the indigenous person chosen to 
conduct the Welcome to Country, be a Christian. 

Resolution 2017CoS:20 

b. Proposal from Redeemer Congregation, Toowoomba re Aboriginal voting 
rights 

The proposal “that the aboriginal pastors/leaders and congregations of the 
LCAQD be granted the in-principle right to send representatives to pastors 
conferences and synodical conventions with the same rights to speak and vote 
as all the other delegates, commensurate with the level of representation that 
is granted to the other pastors and people of the LCAQD.” was referred to 
DCC. 

c. Religious Education in Queensland State Schools 

Resolved That the LCAQD expresses its sincere thanks to the Queensland 
Government for its support for the teaching of Religion and the Christian 
Faith in Queensland State Schools;  
and be it further resolved that Synod expresses sincere thanks to all its 
members who teach and support Religious Education in Queensland 
State Schools;  
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and that Synod further requests that all congregations of the LCAQD 
review local arrangements for the teaching of Religious Education in State 
Schools in order to continue to participate in teaching of Religious 
Education in State Schools and support this valued program. 

Resolution 2017CoS:21 

d. Executive Director of Lutheran Education Queensland 
Tim Kotzur announced that Dennis Mulherin has been appointed to the role of 
Executive Director of Lutheran Education Queensland. Dennis was greeted 
with acclamation. 

33. LLL Mission Stimulus Grant winner announced – Trinity Ashmore community 
Accepted with thanks by Arthur Behrendorff. 

34. LLL Report – Marie Pawsey, Promotions Officer 

Resolved that the LLL report be received. 

Resolution 2017CoS:22 

35. Final matters 
a. Invitation re 2018 Convention of Synod 

Resolved that Synod accepts with thanks the invitation received from St 
Johns Bundaberg to be the host the 2018 Convention of Synod. 

Resolution 2017CoS:23 

This invitation was accepted with acclamation 
 
b. Vote of thanks – Margit Hubbers, DCC Secretary 

Resolved that Synod records its sincere appreciation to those who, either 
as a result of election or retirement, will no longer serve. 

Resolution 2017CoS:24 

Resolved that Synod records its comprehensive vote of thanks by rising. 

Resolution 2017CoS:25 

36. Closing service – including installation of DCC members – in the Grace College 
Chapel, led by LCAQD Bishop, Rev Paul Smith – Message based on Ephesians 
4:1-7 

37. End of Convention of Synod 
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District Bishop’s Report 



 

Bishop’s Report 

Rev Paul M Smith, 

LCAQD Convention of Synod, 

St John's Lutheran Church and School, Bundaberg 1-3rd June, 2018 

Convention Theme: Graciousness to the 1000th Generation (Exodus 20) 

  
1. Youth Summit 2018. 

On November 1st, in 2017, we officially commemorated the 500th Anniversary of the 

Reformation with sisters and brothers in Christ of the various Christian Churches in 

Queensland. At the end of that evening's commemoration, we commissioned youth 

leaders of Queensland Christian Churches, to convene a Youth Summit in April 2018. 

That night, the youth leaders were given the charter to meet together in the new year, 

as young people representing the Churches of Queensland to discuss what they 

believe their Churches would or should look like in the future. This charter was given 

to them by the Queensland Heads of Churches with the request that the Youth 

Summit would report back to the Heads of Churches, who would then to bring this 

report to the various Christian denominations in our State. Aaron Glover, Director for 

Lutheran Youth Queensland is both a participant at the Summit and a lead organizer. 

 

As I write this report for our 2018 Book of Reports, the Youth Summit is yet to occur 

so I hope to be able to verbally report on its work when my Bishop's report is 

presented during our Convention agenda in Bundaberg.  

 

2. Royal Commission investigating Institutional Responses to Childhood Sexual 

Abuse. 

It was on Thursday December 14th, 2017, that the Hon. Justice Peter McClellan AM 

delivered his final address as the Chair of the Australian Royal Commission into 

Institutional Responses to Child Sexual Abuse. The Royal Commission’s final report 

was subsequently delivered to the Governor General the next day. 

 

Since then, both Government and non-Government groups have been working 

through the Report's 409 recommendations, many of which specifically addressed the 

life and work of Christian Churches as "Religious Organizations". The core message 

is essentially twofold: (a) we will work together to sure that our communities are safe 

places for children; (b) we will work together to make sure that any harm caused to 

children is properly addressed. 

 

In Queensland, our Lutheran Church is working through the recommendations as part 

of the wider Lutheran Church of Australia's commitment to this work. We are also part 

of the Queensland State Government's engagement with communities, including the 

LCAQD, to address the recommendations.  
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Our Queensland Premier's first "round table" engagement for religious organization 

leaders was held on March 28th and I represented the Lutheran Church of Australia 

Queensland District at that gathering. 

 

It is important for our Lutheran Communities in the LCAQD to be actively engaged in 

working through the recommendations. We have opportunity to reach out to groups in 

our local communities who may not have our resources, to help those groups 

determine how best they might address the recommendations. 

 

If you know a person or persons who need help regarding their own personal situation 

of abuse within the ministries of our Church, then you should provide them with 

details regarding our Queensland Officer for the work of Safe Place: Elizabeth 

Kloeden: Elizabeth.Kloeden@lca.org.au  phone 3512 7284. You would also need to 

confirm that the person has access to pastoral care. 

 

3. Ecumenical matters – Working with our Sisters and Brothers across the 

Christian Churches. 

Last year, I notified Synod that one of our pastors, Dr Russell Briese had been 

elected as the President of Queensland Churches Together. We continue to maintain 

an active and robust presence in Ecumenical engagements at this level, including my 

regular participation in the meetings of the Queensland Heads of Churches as the 

LCAQD Bishop. Bishop Emeritus Noel Noack is a leading influence in Queensland's 

work of Religious Instruction in our State Schools. 

 

But there is also the same active and robust engagement at the local level where 

across the District, the people of our Lutheran communities collaborate with other 

Christians in the work of the Gospel. This is often shown in rural communities where 

the Christian Churches share in charity work both formally and informally, providing 

much needed support for people in trouble. 

 

4. Congregations planning alternative futures including a formal closure at 

Moura. 

On Saturday March 3rd, I visited with Pastor Graham Pfeffer and the people of Our 

Saviour's Lutheran Church in Moura, which is part of the Biloela Parish. On that day, 

we formally resolved to close the congregation as a "constituted entity" and they 

resolved to transfer relevant matters to the Biloela Parish with the parish's blessing. 

The heart of this decision was the conviction that although the "constituted" form of 

Our Saviour's changed, the mission of God continued. Our Saviour's Lutheran 

Church, Moura, will now be a preaching place of the Biloela Parish. 

 

A number of our congregations are currently considering similar options. As in the 

case of Our Saviour's Moura, our core conviction in these considerations, is the Lord's 

promise in Matthew 16, " I will build my church, and the gates of Hades will not prevail 

against it. I will give you the keys of the kingdom of heaven, and whatever you bind on 
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earth will be bound in heaven, and whatever you loose on earth will be loosed in 

heaven.’"  

For many of our congregations undertaking these considerations, there are a number 

of common issues. These include: the aging of their community; the financial capacity 

to meet their budgeting commitments; the changing nature of their region; 

accessibility to services in neighbouring regional centres. 

 

Our new Ministry and Mission Director, Pastor David Schmidt is working with our DEO 

Michael Turner and myself, to develop a programme of visitations across the Zones of 

the District to work with our Lutheran communities to determine the best forms of 

collaboration in the Mission of our God in the LCAQD. 

 

5. Lutheran Church of Australia - Governance Review Programme. 

From the General Church Council of the LCA, there are three major governance 

reviews underway. Firstly, there is the review of the governance of the LCA itself, 

including the General Church Council. The goal is to bring proposals to General 

Convention of Synod in Sydney in October this year.  

 

Secondly, there is the review of governance of Lutheran Education Australia. This 

governance review is especially exploring options to provide to greater resource 

sharing in our work of Christian schooling. LEQ and QLECS and our DCC are actively 

involved in this review.  

 

Finally, there is the review of Aged and Community Care across the LCA. Again, this 

review is especially exploring options to provide to greater resource sharing in our 

aged and community care agencies. DCC and Lutheran Services is actively involved 

in this review. The two reviews from LEA and from Aged and Community Care may or 

may not provide proposals to General Synod this year. 

 

6. Australian Lutheran College and Training for the ministries of the Church. 

In 2018, we saw three new Queensland students arrive in Adelaide for training at 

ALC. These include Peter Cass and Edwin Shoesmith from Toowoomba and Jeremy 

Smith from Corinda. Last year, Queenslanders Joseph Graham, Roelof Buitendag 

and Darryl Shoemith graduated and were ordained to serve as pastors of the Church. 

Joseph was assigned to Dubbo NSW, Roelof to Ipswich and Darryl to Christchurch in 

New Zealand. 

 

Australian Lutheran College has undergone significant changes in the past year, with 

the adoption of a new strategic plan in 2017 and the reorganization of its programme 

structure at the beginning of this year. I expect that these changes will help address 

the need to provide, outside of the South Australian District, training for the ministries 

of the Church. 
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7. Ministry and Mission Department Changing its Director. 

Synod 2017 was the last time we received a report from Pastor John O’Keefe who 

has had to discontinue his work in the District due to health matters. Please pray for 

John and for his wife Adrienne, as they walk together on the journey ahead, under the 

gracious care of our Lord. 

 

By the end of 2018, the Council for Ministry and Mission had asked that DCC call 

Pastor David Schmidt to take up this work. Having accepting this call, with all it's 

wonderful challenges, David began his work this year. He welcomes contact from any 

of the ministry communities of the LCAQD. David is passionate about ongoing 

education for growing local mission capacity. He is also eager to work with our 

communities to explore options for team ministries where they are workable and 

possible. David comes to this wider District work from his prior service in the Prince of 

Peace College and Congregation at Everton Hills. David's work also takes him 

beyond the LCAQD as the Mission Directors of the LCA Districts are regularly 

engaged by the National Office both for discussion and meetings. 

  

8. Ordination of Women Papers Required by General Synod 2015. 

The Commission on Theology and Interchurch Relations (CTICR) has finished its 

document entitled "A theological basis for the ordination of women and men: draft 

doctrinal statement" which it was required to produce for the Church, by our 2015 

General Synod. The CTICR has also finalized a second document required by the 

same synod, entitled, "A theological basis for why the ordination of women and men 

need not be Church divisive." Both of these documents will be available so that 

groups such as our District Pastors' Conference to enable them to consider the work 

before General Pastor's Conference in South Australia in July 2018. 

 

CTICR has also collated materials from the 2017 Consultations which has been 

included in document designed as a commentary of the "Draft Doctrinal Statement". 

There is also is a paper that is designed to engage the "Draft Doctrinal Statement" 

with the teaching on the LCA regarding the ordination of men only. These two 

documents will only be available in the published Book of Reports to the General 

Synod. 

 

9. Australian Lutheran World Service (ALWS) and Mission Overseas. 

You may be aware that our ALWS Executive Director Chey Mattner has relocated to 

Geneva, Switzerland, to serve in the Lutheran World Federation there. Subsequently, 

the Executive Director's role has been taken up by Ms Jamieson Davies. In 

Queensland, the "familiar face" of ALWS Schools work, Susan Seng has completed 

her work and handed it on to Christian Stern. Christian has previously served 

amongst us on the staff of St James Lutheran College in Hervey Bay. We pray God's 

blessing on Chey and Susan as they serve elsewhere, and upon Jamieson and 

Christian as they take up their work within ALWS. 
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From our beginnings as a Lutheran Church in Queensland, we have been active in 

world mission. I thank God for the efforts locally and at the wider Church level, across 

the LCAQD, to promote the cause of overseas mission. Local mission and overseas 

mission are like two handles on a wheel-barrow. As a Church, we need to firmly hold 

onto both. 

 

10. Reformation Anniversary Thank You. 

I had the privilege of participating in a variety of events both in Queensland and in 

Adelaide to commemorate the 500th anniversary of the Reformation events. I want to 

express my deep thanksgiving to God for the various lay people and pastors of our 

LCAQD who creatively set about a diverse array of commemorative events including 

worship, study programmes, displays, ecumenical gatherings, choral festivals, and 

reformation publications. The opportunity is ahead for us to build on this past year, for 

greater mission collaboration in the work that our Lord gives us to do. 

 

11. Hopevale and Ongoing Pastoral Service. 

Often when I hear conversation about Australian Lutheran contributions to mission 

amongst Indigenous Australians, I notice that Queensland does not get much of a 

profile, whilst Central Australia is commonly the greater focus. Despite that, our 

sisters and brothers in Christ in the Lutheran communities around Hopevale, Coen 

and Wujal Wujal continue to serve and witness in the name of our Lord in North 

Queensland with the faithful oversight of Pastor David Spanagel. David is now closing 

on retirement and it is important for us to establish the best form of transition to 

enable David to pass on this vital ministry of Word and Sacrament in the Far North. 

 

12. Luminate LYQ and faithful service of so many volunteers. 

You will read elsewhere, that the LYQ "Gap Year" programme "Luminate" continues 

in 2018 and the programme leaders, Sarah Calder and Tom Schmidt faithfully serve 

the young people who take up this opportunity for a year of Christian reflection, study 

and service. Many folk don't realize that there is some financial support available for 

young people who might be considering this programme - with details of that support 

at the LYQ office. Across the LCAQD, we are continually blessed by an enormous 

entourage of LYQ volunteer servants who offer their gifts to the Lord and his Church, 

to take up vital roles which enable LYQ activities to succeed and grow. I thank God 

for the dedication and humility of Aaron Glover and his LYQ team in the development 

of the work of LYQ amongst us. 

 

13. Governance Review in the LCAQD. 

Elsewhere in this Book of Reports you have the materials from the Departments of 

the District and from the District Church Council concerning the outcomes of the 

2017-2018 Governance Review Discussions amongst our LCAQD Departments. 
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This work of Governance Review began after the formal adoption of the 2017-2021 

Strategic Charter at the Convention of District Synod at Rothwell last year. There 

have been two stages of the review work, all of which has been conducted at the level 

of our Governance Councils: District Church Council; Council for Ministry and 

Mission, Council for Lutheran Services; Council for Lutheran Education Queensland. 

Through LEQ, our District College Councils have been engaged. Also through LEQ, 

the Council for Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services has also been 

engaged. 

 

The two stages have been guided by external facilitators, both of whom are Christians 

from within the expertise of Governance review in Australia and they have helped our 

governing councils work through matters that are core to good governance in a 

Church organization which is formed for the sake of the mission of God. 

 

The work of the Councils in these two stages is now handed over to the Synod for 

consideration across the wider communities of the District. From the beginning this 

work there has been no "preconceived" outcome. Rather the agenda has been for the 

District Governing Councils to do preliminary thinking and then to present to the 

Synod, issues and considerations for the best way for the Synod to design the 

structures of the LCAQD to enable us to do the work we are called to do. Since our 

formation in 1966, we have not undertaken such a broad governance review. 

 

14. Living Grace Toowoomba Peaceful Dismissal. 

On Sunday the 27th of August in 2017, I conducted a "Rite of Peaceful Dismissal" for 

the Living Grace Community Church in Toowoomba and received Pastor Edgar 

Mayer's resignation from the Roll of Pastors of the LCA which I forwarded on to 

Bishop John Henderson. This was preceded by their formal meeting on Thursday 

August 24th to take the final decision to discontinue their participation in our Synod. 

The congregation believes that it is travelling in a different direction to that of the LCA. 

I ask our people to pray for the Living Grace folk who remain our sisters and brothers 

in Christ but now in a different Christian denomination. Living Grace does not use the 

word "Lutheran" in its name, but includes Lutheran doctrine in its confession of faith. 

 

15. Strategic Priorities Reminder:  

At District Synod last year, we adopted the Strategic Charter with these priorities that I 

have included here in my report. I have included them for you, to invite you to reflect 

on them and pray through them.  

 

"As the people of the Lutheran Church of Australia, Queensland District, our mission 

charter is guided by the following strategic priorities: 

[A] Growing Together 

We engage people with God’s love in everyday life by working together and growing 

as God’s people. St Paul uses the image of the “body” to explain how God’s Church is 
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made up of many parts working for the common good. 

(i) Strengthening our identity – celebrating what we’ve received and growing as a 

church of the Lutheran witness to Christ. 

(ii) Working together effectively as the people of the Church with common purpose 

(iii) Ensuring that our Lutheran communities are known as places which celebrate 

God’s love 

(iv) Growing as a church which inspires collaboration amongst Christian Church 

denominations  

 

[B] Reaching Out Together   

We engage people with God’s love in everyday life by developing our outward focus 

to the communities where God places us. The Risen Lord send us to his witnesses “to 

the ends of the earth.” 

 

(i) Expressing ourselves in contextually relevant ways (making theology & worship 

relevant) 

(ii) Ensuring that the Church is known as a place of trust and care 

(iii) Growing intergenerational church communities 

(iv) Each person growing through their participation in the care of our Lutheran 

communities 

(v) Developing a strong sense of being a thriving church which is always increasing in 

mission work 

(vi) Establishing a strong presence in new communities   

 

[C] Success & Sustainability 

We engage people with God’s love in everyday life by ensuring that we are resourced 

and organised for growth and outreach. In the book of Acts we learn in the sixth 

chapter, that the early Church established resourcing strategies to provide for the 

work of the Gospel. 

 

(i) Enabling all people for stronger participation in the mission of the church 

(ii) Developing pathways for leadership development and for the ongoing formation of 

the people of the Church 

(iii) Ensuring effective governance which includes equipping governance leaders, 

establishing succession planning and the ongoing review of District Structures 

(iv) Ensuring every worker has a fulfilling vocation 

(v) Communicating purposefully internally and externally. 

 

16. Nomination as Bishop. 

On March 23rd this year, our Pastor's Conference elections officer Pastor Lionel 

Rohrlach informed me that I had been nominated by some pastors to serve as Bishop 
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for a second term. I commended this nomination to the Lord of the Church and 

resolved that I would allow my name to go forward for consideration by the Pastors 

and the Synod. It has been a tremendous privilege to serve amongst you as LCAQD 

Bishop in these past years. I have witnessed the extraordinary treasure of the Gospel, 

shining out of earthen vessels across Queensland.  

 

17. Thank you. 

Thank you for offering your gifts in service to our Lord and for the work of the Church 

of Jesus Christ. I give thanks to God for all our people who give service in meetings; 

at rallies, conferences and retreats; at CLWs and Camps; at the Pulpit and Altar; in 

bands and choirs and other worship activities; in schools or care communities; at 

bedsides and grave-sides; in small and large Early Childhood Centres; in urban and 

not-so-urban places; in offices and outdoor centres. I have previously shared with 

Synod delegates, that I often think of the Church as a wonderful wide "husky-sled" 

with all of us tethered together. We bark and urge each other on in the common 

mission we share. Importantly, it is the work of the Gospel that is on the sled (not the 

bishop.) 

 

As Bishop, I receive wonderful blessing from our District Office folk including my Exec 

Assistant Neil Kube; Michael Turner, our DEO and his assistants, Crystal, Calvin, 

Lynnette and Tara; Pastor David in M&M; Pastor Brian in our Asian ministry; Aaron 

and the great group of LYQ Workers including Tom and Sarah, Rebecca, Jules and 

Amy and many others who come and go from time to time; and never forgetting Marie 

of the LLL. 

  

Finally, as a husband, I am blessed to share my journey as bishop with my beloved 

wife, Heidi. She is a rural Lutheran girl from southern New South Wales and she loves 

the Lord and the Church in which we serve. Whilst Heidi works full-time as the lay 

chaplain to Zion Aged Care in Nundah, she purposefully supports my calling to serve 

as Bishop of the LCAQD and you will often find her with me on local Church visits. 

Our wedding text was from Ecclesiastes, "A threefold cord is not quickly broken". We 

wanted to highlight how a Christian man and woman are bound together in Christ. 

Heidi daily reminds me of the presence of our Risen Lord with us and for us.  

 

Let me end this 2018 Bishop's Report with St Paul's witness to the Christians in 

Corinth regarding passing on what we have received: 

 

“For I handed on to you as of first importance what I in turn had received: that Christ 

died for our sins in accordance with the scriptures, and that he was buried, and that he 

was raised on the third day in accordance with the scriptures, and that he appeared to 

Cephas, then to the twelve. Then he appeared to more than five hundred brothers and 

sisters at one time, most of whom are still alive, though some have died. Then he 

appeared to James, then to all the apostles. Last of all, as to someone untimely born, 
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he appeared also to me. For I am the least of the apostles, unfit to be called an 

apostle, because I persecuted the church of God. But by the grace of God I am what I 

am, and his grace towards me has not been in vain.” (1st Corinthians 15). 

 
 
In Christ, 

 
 

Paul + 
Bishop, Lutheran Church of Australia, Queensland District 
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Appendix 2: Pastoral Transfers and Events since the 2016 Convention of Synod 

 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 

Pastors in full time 

Parish/Congregational 

Ministry (Incl SMPs) 

56 57 57 68 66 68 

Full time SMP Pastors – 

Chinese 
1 1 1 3 3 3 

Full time SMP Pastors – 

Other 
3 2 2 1 1 1 

Part time SMP Pastors – 

Other 
1 x 0.5 1 x 0.5 1 x 0.5 3 x 0.5 2 x 0.5 2 x 0.5 

Full time School Chaplains  10 9 11 8 9 10 

F/T Other Chaplaincy Aged: 3 

Police: 1 

Uni: 1 

Aged: 3 

Police: 1 

Uni: 1 PT 

Aged: 3 

Police: 1 

Uni: 1 PT 

Aged: 3 

Police: 1 

Uni: 1 PT 

2 2 

Mixed role – 

Congregational/School 

chaplain 

1 2 1 2 2 2 

Administration 4 4 4 4 4 4 

ALC Lecturer 1 1 1 1 1 1 

Total, full time, active 79 80 73 69 84 86 

Total, part time, active 2 2 2 3 4 2 x 0.5 

Average age of active 

pastors 
53.5 53.2 52.4 53.2 53.3 52.3 

Median age of active 

pastors 
55.7 58.7 54.1 54.2 54.3 53.1 

Pastors eligible to retire in 

the next 3 years 
18 16 16 18 20 16 

Leave of Absence 6 4 5 5 4 4 

Part Time - no salary 0 0 0 1 1 1 

Retired Pastors  50 51 53 48 48 52 

Pastoral Vacancies in 

LCAQD 13 8 13 5 5 4 



LCA (not incl. permanent vacancies) >30 total  ~26 total ~22 total  ~20 total  ~20 total  ~24 total  

ALC graduates for 

ordination (Estimated) 

2018 - 3 

2019 – 7 

2020 - 4 

2017 - 6 

2018 – 6 

2019 - 5 

2016 - 7 

2017 - 8 

2018 - 7 

2015 – 4 

2016 – 6 

2017 – 9 

2014 – 5 

2015 – 3-4 

2016 – 6-8 

2013 – 7 

2014 – 7 

2015 – 4 

 

Vacancies in Qld 

Bethania     Call accepted but still vacant – waiting for visa 

Brisbane - St Andrew the Apostle  

Everton Hills - Prince of Peace congregation 

Everton Hills - Prince of Peace Lutheran College 

Gladstone - St Martins Congregation 

Hervey Bay – St James Congregation  

Highfields – Christchurch Congregation 

Lockyer Valley Parish (Gatton ministry area) 

Mt Gravatt - St Marks Congregation    

Oakey/Norwin Parish 

Redlands Parish 

Rothwell - Grace Lutheran College 

Tingalpa-Mt Cotton Parish 

Congregations – change of LCA membership 

Living Grace, Toowoomba – peaceful dismissal from LCA – 27 August 2017 

Pastors Transferring to another District of the LCA  

Rev Peter Hage   St Marks, Mt Gravatt to St Johns, Perth, Western Australia. 

Rev James Haak  Peace, Gatton to NSW District as Bishop 

Rev Stan Rudowski  Oakey/Norwin Parish to Portland-Heywood Multi-site Congregation, 

Vic 

Rev Milton Fritsch  Ipswich Parish to Geelong Parish, Vic 

Rev Boyd Briese  Tingalpa-Mt Cotton Parish to Our Redeemer Lutheran Church, 

North Geelong, Vic 

Rev Brenton Fiedler  Good Shepherd, Toowoomba to Yirara College, Alice Springs 

Pastors coming into the LCAQD  

Rev Stephen van der Hoek Leave of Absence to Maryborough-Childers Parish, installed by 

Bishop, Rev Paul Smith, 11 June 2017 

Rev Doug Fitzpatrick  Ordained at Immanuel, Buderim by Bishop, Rev Paul Smith,  

16 July 2017 

Rev Simon Cooper  Luther College, Croydon Vic to Good Shepherd Lutheran College, 

Noosa, installed by Bishop, Rev Paul Smith, 21 July 2017 



Rev Brenton Fiedler  Yirara College, Alice Springs to Gladstone as locum, then to Faith 

Lutheran College, Plainland, installed by Bishop, Rev Paul Smith, 

25 January 2018 

Rev Mark Lieschke  NSW District (Bishop) to South Burnett Parish, installed by Bishop, 

Rev Paul Smith, 28 January 2018 

Rev Andrew Neumann  Graduate to Lowood Parish, installed by Bishop, Rev Paul Smith, 

28 January 2018 

Rev Roelof Buitendag  Graduate to Ipswich Parish, installed by Bishop, Rev Paul Smith,  

4 February 2018 

Rev Ray Roehm  Retired pastor now resident in Queensland. 

Pastors moving within the District  

Rev Michael Grosas  Pastor without call 

Rev Andrew Schulz  Redlands Parish to Rosewood District Parish, installed by Bishop, 

Rev Paul Smith, 10 December 2017 at Zion, Minden 

Rev Damien Martin  Redeemer Lutheran College to Locum Call to LCAQD 

Rev Russell Briese  Beaudesert (0.2) & Griffith Uni Chaplain (0.8) to Griffith Uni 

Chaplain (Full time) 

Pastors who have ceased active service  

Rev Jim Strelan  Grace Lutheran College – Retired 

Rev Edgar Mayer  Resigned from LCA 

Rev John O’Keefe  Director, Ministry & Mission Department to Leave of Absence 

Rev Neil Guthrig  Trinity congregation, Southport to Leave of Absence 

Pastors of the LCAQD who have been called to their heavenly home 

Rev David Larsen  29 January 1937 – 24 February 2018 

Rev Keith Scholz    14 March 1929 - 4 April 2018 
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DCC Report – Convention of Synod, LCAQD, 2018 

After a year of celebration in 2017 when we remembered the 500th anniversary of the 

Reformation, we turn to the future – of the church universal and the LCAQD in 

particular. The theme for this year’s Synod, “Graciousness to the 1000th generation”, 

reminds us that God is, was and ever shall be with the Church. God was with the 

Lutheran Church in Australia long before 1966 when the LCA formed. Those of us 

who have memories of that time and even before realise that the task we have of 

mission and ministry to our ‘neighbour’ now exists in a very different world to the one 

in which Martin Luther lived; and also is very different to the Australia of 1966. The 

humans are the same – sinful, in need of God’s grace. But the world we inhabit 

brings with it challenges never before faced by the Church and the Christians who 

have Christ’s mission to go and tell. 

And what is the relevance of this for the District Church Council who sits as Synod 

between Synods. We are your elected body seeking to be faithful to our mission of 

Governance in this District. 

One of the strengths of the Synod in 2017 was the launch of the Strategic Charter, 

setting the course of the LCAQD until 2021. Putting those words and phrases into an 

operational form for all of the Departments of the District was one of the challenges 

for DCC this past year. 

It also became apparent, that the way in which governance was happening at all 

levels in the District was no longer fit for purpose. The structure was one that had 

been useful in 1966, but it was becoming more and more apparent that it no longer 

fitted the tasks in governance today. 

Much of the past 12 months of District Church Council’s energy has been harnessed 

to assist with the Governance Review and Restructure. This has been in 2 parts – 

until the end of 2017, all Councils of the District were engaged in reviewing how they 

operated. This was done with the assistance of a facilitator, Les Stahl, who has 

previously worked with the LCA to review national structures. Les also sought the 

opinion and wisdom of leaders in the District (including Directors of the Departments) 

to put forward some new models for governance structures from the vast material he 

had gleaned. 

In 2018 we have ‘workshopped’ these models with another facilitator, Terence 

Corkin, to ascertain a process that will assist us into the future. Whatever is decided 

(and at the time of writing, a proposal for this Synod is not yet completed), we will 

move on together because the process has listened to and valued the input of every 

person involved. Members of governing councils have collaborated to find the most 

practical outcome for our District. Be assured that nothing is changing yet! But we 

have some new and exciting ideas for you to reflect upon.  

The outcomes of the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual 

Abuse have also infiltrated our world. Each congregation knows that the Professional 

Standards Department has a program for all parishes and congregations to become 

involved with, and your assistance in this is strongly encouraged. The need for 
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people involved in any form of child, youth and family ministry to have current Blue 

Cards also adds a layer of intrusion that we sometimes find unsettling. The ‘world’ is 

holding us to account, rightly or wrongly. Churches and denominational schools in 

particular have recommendations from the outcomes of the Royal Commission to 

enact as best we can and to the best of our ability. Keeping the vulnerable safe and 

caring for the survivors of abuse are the charter given to us by Christ. The District 

Executive Officer has been of valuable assistance to the Council in dealing with 

these matters. 

The work of the District Church Council in receiving of Departmental Minutes, 

Reports and financials, and dealing with items pertaining to ongoing financial, 

property and legal matters, continues. But our core business remains the ministry 

and mission of the Church in Queensland in all its forms and functions. This is why 

we exist. Some of our ministries may look like businesses, but they are businesses 

with a purpose – to serve others as Christ has served us. Whether in education or 

aged care, our mission is to serve as best we can for the other, not ourselves. And 

that is foolishness to the world at large. 

The current District Church Council is: 

District Church Council 
(end of March 2018) 

Congregation 
DCC 

Sub Committees 

Bishop Paul Smith St Peters, Indooroopilly 

Executive 
The Bishop is a member 
of all sub-committees and 
Departments 

Rev Mark Vainikka 
1st Assistant Bishop 

School Pastor/Chaplain, 
Redeemer Lutheran 
College, Rochedale 

Executive 

Rev Ben Hentschke 
2nd Assistant Bishop 

Senior Pastor, Ipswich 
Parish 

Executive 

Margit Hubbers 
Secretary 

Our Saviour, Rochedale 
Executive 

Rev Mark Brinkmann 
Grace Congregation, 
Redcliffe 

 

PASTOR VACANT  

Michael Klatt St Pauls, Nundah 
Constitutions 
RAFC 

Helen Mibus St Johns, Ipswich   

Danielle Robinson 
Grace Congregation, 
Redcliffe 

 

Andrew Spyropoulos St Marks, Mount Gravatt Constitutions Committee 

Cheryl Steinhardt Redeemer, Laidley  

Michael Stolz 
Prince of Peace,  
Everton Hills 

DCC rep on GCC 

LAY MEMBER VACANT  
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You will note the vacancies! Rev James Haak (previously 1st Assistant Bishop) has 

journeyed south to take up the call as Bishop of the NSW District. David Radke has 

also resigned this year due to his commitments at Grace Lutheran College. We 

thank Pastor James and David for their dedication to our Council while they were 

with us. Their insight and wisdom was appreciated by the members of DCC. 

District Church Council continues to seek God’s guidance at each meeting where we 

begin with prayer and reflection. Our chaplain for the meeting prays regularly for the 

work we have before us and for guests who present to us. We have continued to 

practice of an annual retreat time where we set time apart as a group to listen to 

God’s still, small voice of encouragement and guidance. 

The ongoing work of District Church Council could not be achieved without the 

assistance of Neil Kube, the Bishop’s Executive Assistant who continues to provide 

more support than can be acknowledged here to the Council and also to me as 

Secretary.  

As always I ask that you all continue to uphold the Bishop and the members of DCC 

in your prayers as you return to your congregations. We are one family in this District 

– the parishes and congregations, the Departments and committees, our education 

facilities (not merely schools), our places of care for the elderly and marginalised, our 

extended ministries to children and young people. Pray for our ongoing work of 

restructure. Pray for those who have no voice, but who we serve in the name of 

Christ. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Margit Hubbers 

Secretary DCC 
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Risk Audit and Finance Committee  
Report to Convention of Synod 2018 

 
The Risk Audit and Finance Committee (RAFC) duties are described in the LCAQD By-Laws 
Part B, Schedule V (pages 76 to 79).  Its membership includes men and women from a wide 
variety of professional backgrounds and in a significant change this year expanded to include 
members nominated from the Councils for Lutheran Youth Queensland, Ministry and Mission, 
Lutheran Education Queensland and Lutheran Services. 
 
The purpose of the committee is to provide advice and recommendations to the District Church 
Council on matters pertaining to policy and practice in the management of risk, audit and 
finances of the District 
 

The RAFC is accountable to the District Church Council. It is required to promote best 
practices in risk, audit and financial management practices for all LCAQD entities. We are 
indebted to the contributions of the following RAFC members: 
 

 Michael Klatt (Chairperson) from Nundah St Pauls Congregation 

 Michael Turner (Secretary) from Rochedale Our Saviours Congregation 

 Darryl Muller (Member) from Middle Park Good News Congregation 

 Allen Truslove (Member) from Indooroopilly St Peters Congregation 

 Mark Brinums (Member) from Brisbane City St Andrews Congregation 

 Kerryn Simpfendorfer (Member) from Rochedale Our Saviours Congregation 

 Andrew Stanke (Member) from Raceview Bethany Congregation 

 Richard Pietsch (Member) from Millmerran St Johns Congregation 

 Rob Braunack (Member) from Ashmore Trinity Congregation 

 
The RAFC is authorised to receive, review and comment on risk registers, financial affairs and 
audit reports of:  
a. Congregations/Parishes,  
b. all Standing Committees of the District,  
c. Departments of the District. 
 

Risk. The RAFC seeks to ensure that Congregations, Parishes, Standing Committees and 
Departments of the District establish, maintain and practice the use of suitable systems for 
identification, management and mitigation of risk. 
 

Audit.  The RAFC seeks to ensure:  
a. That Congregations, Parishes, Standing Committees of the District and Departments 
establish and maintain suitable systems for internal control and risk management;  
b.  That these systems comply with the law, regulation and best practice management;  
c. That the relevant entities subject to audit take suitable actions based on audit 
recommendations. 
 

Finance.  The RAFC is concerned with promoting the adoption of best practice financial 
management in the District and all its entities.  
a. It seeks to protect the LCAQD from unacceptable costs or losses associated with its 
operations.  
b.  It seeks to ensure opportunities to promote sound investments are presented to District 
Church Council.  
c. It monitors the budget of the LCAQD on a regular basis  
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d. It advises District Church Council on various strategies for generation of income sufficient, 
in addition to regular congregation giving to meet the adopted budget of the District 
Parishes and congregations are encouraged to ensure they examine their assets to ensure 
they are used to generate income that may support mission goals.  
 

In the past year the Committee has dealt with numerous loan applications, reviewed and 
commented on budgets, and provided advice to DCC of many and varied topics.  The 
Committee will continue to continue to work closely with the DCC in assisting in the 
implementation of the Strategic Charter and achievement of its goals. 
 

Yours faithfully, 
 

 

 

 

Michael Turner 
Secretary, Risk Audit Finance Committee - LCAQD 
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May 3rd, 2018 

 

Dear Delegates, 

  

In the following document, you have the summary of the comprehensive Governance Review work 

undertaken since last Synod by our District Church Council and the Departmental Councils of our 

District. This is the proposed model for a revision of our District Church's governance structures. 

  

This model was supported by the final March 24th workshop of representatives of our Governance 

Councils and DCC members. Your District Church Council resolved then, to include this proposal in 

the Book of Reports for Synod 2018. 

  

At the Synod there will be a presentation of this model including the presentation of the journey that 

has been taken by our Governance leaders in working through a variety of issues, options and other 

models. 

  

Relevant proposals for Synod to consider regarding this governance model are being finalised 

through DCC. Synod would need to consider how important matters such as Authorities and 

Delegations, By-Laws and elections and nominations would need to be developed to enable the 

formal consideration at a future Synod for any possible change to governance in our District Church. 

  

DCC commends this proposed model to you. 

  

  

Sincerely, 

  
Margit Hubbers 

District Church Council Secretary, LCAQD 
 

Margit Hubbers 
District Church Council Secretary,  
LCAQD 



 

THE PROPOSED GOVERNANCE MODEL 
(Finalised at the last Governance Workshop of DCC and LCAQD Departmental Representatives 

March 24th, 2018) 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

BASIC SUMMARY OF ELEMENTS OF PROPOSED MODEL 
 
1. MEETINGS: 

Full DCC meets at least twice a year. 
DCC Executive meets six times per year. 
Each Oversight Council meets at least six times per year. 

 
2. FULL DCC MEMBERSHIP:  

The DCC includes all members of Oversight Councils plus Bishop, 2 Assistant Bishops. 
 
3. EXECUTIVE MEMBERSHIP: 11 members. 

The DCC Executive is made up of the LCAQD Bishop, the two LCAQD Assistant Bishops  
and 2 representative persons from each of the four Oversight Councils. 

 
4. OVERSIGHT COUNCIL MEMBERSHIP: 7 members. 

Each Oversight Council is made up of six members and one pastor. 
 
5. SYNOD SECRETARIAT: 

Includes Bishop and Executive Officer. Other office staff as required from time to time. 
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LCAQD STATISTICS REPORT SUPPPLEMENT FOR 2017 
 
Since 2009, the completion rate of Congregations filling in LAMP statistics has 
improved significantly.  In order for statistics to be presented to Convention of Synod 
in a timely manner, it is the responsibility of Congregations and their Pastors to have 
the statistics entered by 28 February of each year. However, for 2017 we have seen a 
drop in congregations that have submitted their statistics on time.  Congregation 
Pastors, Chairpersons and Statistics collectors who submitted statistics in a timely 
manner are applauded.  All are encouraged to put the LAMP deadline in their diary. 
 
The following few pages are made up of data completed for the year 2017.    Data from 
statistics entered for years 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016 
(obtained from LAMP on 21st of April 2018) have been entered in order for trends to be 
identified.    
 
This year 105 congregations submitted statistics. There has been no attempt to make 
up for congregations who haven’t filled in their returns. 
 
 
A Year in the life of the LCAQD 
 
In 2017, in the life of the LCAQD we: 
a. Baptised 381 children and 31 adults 
b. Confirmed 148 children and 9 adults 
c. Conducted 1 child funerals and 242 adult funerals; 
d. Communed 107 1st Communions; and 
e. Performed 51 wedding ceremonies 
 
We conducted 6,320 worship services. 
There were 4,266 Holy Communion services. 
There were also 3,637 Private Communion services; and 694 ‘Other’ services  
 
In 2017, the total people attendance at all services was 320,927 of which 173,345 were 
for attendances at Holy Communion services. 
 
Income.  From a financial perspective, offerings were $6.52M; Donations were $0.63M 
and income from other sources was $3.35M.   Overall income from all sources to 
congregations was $10.18M. 
 
Expenditure.  Reporting on expenditure is generally not recorded as well as income.  
However, Congregations and Parishes for 2017 reported a spend $6.41M on business 
as usual activities; $729K in donations to support the operations of the District; $67K 
on Synod Appeals; and $1.8M on ‘other’ items.  Overall expenditure reported was 
$10.08M 
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Analysis 
 
Rural, Regional and Metro Congregations 
 
This year, each congregation has been assigned to a certain area. The congregations 
were assigned according to location. These locations were split into rural, regional and 
metropolitan areas. This has been conducted to give a better insight into the 
relationship between pastoral and financial activities, depending on the congregation’s 
remoteness and the nature of the location in which it is situated. Assigning each 
congregation in this manner, will result in new and additional insights that will help in 
future decision making.   
 
After completing the segmentation, it can be confirmed that: 
 

 34 Congregations are in metropolitan areas with a total of 4061 confirmed 
members 
 

 48 Congregations are in regional areas with a total of 4243 confirmed members 
 

 24 Congregations are in rural areas with a total of 1277 confirmed members 
 

Below is a list of all congregations segmented into the correct area. 
 
Metro: 

 Alberton St Peters Congregation 

 Ashmore Trinity Congregation 

 Beenleigh Bethesda Congregation 

 Bethania Congregation 

 Brassall St Marks Congregation 

 Brisbane City St Andrews Congregation 

 Brisbane Valley Congregation 

 Buderim Congregation 

 Caboolture St Pauls 

 Caloundra St Marks Congregation 

 Cleveland St James Congregation 

 Coopers Plains Bethlehem Congregation 

 Corinda St Johns Congregation 

 Eight Mile Plains St Johns Congregation 

 Everton Hills Prince of Peace Congregation 

 Gold Coast (Tallebudgera) St Andrews Congregation 

 Indooroopilly Asian Worship Centre 

 Indooroopilly St Peters Congregation 

 Ipswich St Johns Congregation 

 Middle Park Good News Congregation 

 Mount Cotton St Pauls Congregation 
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 Mount Gravatt St Marks Congregation 

 Murrumba Downs Living Faith Congregation 

 Nundah St Pauls Congregation 

 Nundah Zion Lutheran Home Worship Centre 

 Raceview Bethany Congregation 

 Redcliffe Grace Congregation 

 Riverview Grace Congregation 

 Rochedale Bethlehem Chinese Worship Centre 

 Rochedale Our Saviour Congregation 

 Southport Trinity Congregation 

 Springfield St Peters College Worship Centre 

 Tallebudgera St Andrews Chinese Worship Centre 

 Thornlands Faith Celebration Worship Centre 

 Tingalpa Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Woodridge St Luke’s Congregation 

 Woodridge Trinder Park Aged Care Worship Centre 

 Woolloongabba Nazareth Congregation 

 Woolloongabba Nazareth Finnish Congregation 

 Woongoolba Bethlehem Congregation 

Regional: 

 Beaudesert St Pauls Congregation 

 Boonah Trinity Congregation 

 Bundaberg Gracehaven Worship Centre 

 Bundaberg North Faith Congregation 

 Bundaberg St Johns Congregation 

 Childers Grace Congregation 

 Coolana St Johns Congregation 

 Crows Nest St Lukes Congregation 

 Dalby St Marks Congregation 

 Gatton Peace Congregation 

 Gladstone St Martins Congregation 

 Glasshouse Country Calvary Congregation 

 Glencoe Bethlehem Congregation 

 Goombungee St Matthews Congregation 

 Gympie Zion Congregation 

 Haden Holy Trinity Congregation 

 Harrisville St Matthews Congregation 

 Hervey Bay St James Congregation 

 Highfields Christ Congregation 

 Kalbar St Johns Congregation 

 Kingaroy St Johns Congregation 
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 Kulpi St Johns Congregation 

 Kumbia Taabinga Peace Congregation 

 Laidley Redeemer Congregation 

 Lismore East Goodnews Congregation 

 Lockrose Green Pastures Congregation 

 Lowood Trinity Congregation 

 Mackay Community Congregation 

 Maryborough St Matthews Congregation 

 Millmerran St Johns Congregation 

 Minden Zion Congregation 

 Mount Sylvia Cross Congregation 

 Nambour St Lukes Congregation 

 Nanango Immanuel Congregation 

 Nobby Holy Trinity Congregation 

 Noosa Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Norwin Bethlehem Congregation 

 Oakey St Pauls Congregation 

 Pittsworth St Peters Congregation 

 Rockhampton Calvary Congregation 

 Ropeley Immanuel Congregation 

 Rosevale St Pauls Congregation 

 Rosewood St Matthews Congregation 

 Toowoomba Emmanuel Fellowship Congregation 

 Toowoomba Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Toowoomba Living Grace Congregation 

 Toowoomba Our Saviours Congregation 

 Toowoomba Redeemer Congregation 

 Toowoomba St Pauls Congregation 

 Toowoomba Trinity Congregation 

 Warwick St Peters Congregation 

 Wilsonton St Johns Congregation 

 Witta Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Yarraman Calvary Congregation 

 Yeppoon Living Waters Worship Centre 
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Rural: 

 Atherton Our Saviour Congregation 

 Baffle Creek St Pauls Worship Centre 

 Biloela Redeemer Congregation 

 Biloela Redeemer Congregation 

 Chinchilla Trinity Congregation 

 Cooyar St Andrews Congregation 

 Downfall Creek St Johns Congregation 

 Emerald St Johns Congregation 

 Gin Gin Redeemer Congregation 

 Glenarbon St Pauls Congregation 

 Goondiwindi Living Waters Congregation 

 Hope Vale St Johns Congregation 

 Ingham St Marks Congregation 

 Macalister Redeemer Congregation 

 Maclagan St Matthews Congregation 

 Miles Redeemer Congregation 

 Milguy St Johns Congregation 

 Moree Grace Congregation 

 Mount Isa St Pauls Congregation 

 Moura Our Saviour Congregation 

 Murgon St Pauls Congregation 

 Rosedale Community Worship Centre 

 Theodore Bethlehem Congregation 

 Townsville St Pauls Congregation 

 Wondai St John Trinity Congregation 

 Wujal Wujal Living Waters Congregation 

 Yandilla St Pauls Congregation 
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Pastoral Activities and Attendance per Area 

 

Data examination highlights some trends that stand out. Regional and metropolitan 
areas are generally decreasing in most pastoral activities, whereas rural areas are 
either decreasing at a lower rate, remaining the same, or even increasing.  
 
Even though attendance and membership have not drastically decreased over the 
years, pastoral activities such as baptisms, weddings and confirmations have. These 
are interesting points to consider which could mean that rural congregations are far 
more consistent in their activities in the church.  
 
Whereas for congregations in metropolitan and regional we are seeing a shift in 
engagement for most of these activities where members may be less engaged.  
 
An area to highlight however, is the fact that attendance in all three areas has 
increased for 2017 per capita. Meaning that members are still attending services even 
though they are becoming less engaged in some pastoral activities. 
 
 
Income Trends per Area 
 
Income and expenditure generally always increase as the years go by, this can usually 
be explained by inflation and growth in the country. This trend is evident for the three 
segmented areas. The Income was analysed on a per capita basis where it was found 
that metro areas received the most income per capita, regional areas receive the 
second most and rural areas received the least. 
 
 
Congregations have three general income streams which are income by offerings, 
donations and other.  
 

 Metro areas received $3.2M from offerings, $415K from donations and $1.9M 
from other income 

 
 Regional areas received $2.6M from offerings, $185K from donations and 

$874K from other income 
 

 Rural areas received $694K from offerings, $32K from donations and $217K 
from other income  

 

Financial Surplus and Deficit 
 
It is important to be aware of when congregations are running on a financial surplus or 
deficit. It is unhealthy for a congregation if it has been running on a deficit for an 
extended period. However, it is also inefficient when it has been running on a surplus 
for a longer period of time since this means that there has been lower use of the 
congregation’s financial assets. 
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Since 2009:  
 

 Metro congregations have run on a deficit for 66.6% of the time and have run 
on a surplus for 33.3% of the time 

 

 Regional areas have run on a deficit for 55% of the time and have run on a 
surplus for 45% of the time 
 

 Rural areas have run on a deficit for 33.3% of the time and have run on a surplus 
for 66.6% of the time 

 
 

Generosity per Area 
 
Generosity per area was calculated to give an indication of which areas do people give 
the most in offerings and donations.  
 
For 2017: 
 

 Metro areas gave $892 per confirmed member for the year 
 

 Regional areas gave $662 per confirmed member for the year 
 

 Rural areas gave $568 per confirmed member for the year 
 

Top 80% of Membership 
 
An analysis was also conducted to determine which congregations in certain groups 
hold the highest number of members. Where around 50% of congregations in 
Queensland contribute to 80% of the total membership across the state. 
 

 Metro areas contribute to 41% of the top 80% of total membership 

 Regional areas contribute to 44% of the top 80% of total membership 

 Rural areas contribute to 15% of the top 80% of total membership 
 
 

 
For your consideration. 
 
Yours in Christ, 
 
 
 
 
Michael Turner 



 

 

 

 

Lamp Statistical Analysis 2018 

Prepared by Gabrielle Vainikka 
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Executive Summary 

This report has been prepared by Gabrielle Vainikka, data analyst for LCAQD. 

The report will outline data and statistical trends for 2017, with some trend 

analysis from previous years. Pastoral activity participation and congregation 

financial performance are the focus points for analysis, which are discussed 

throughout this report. This year, similar to last year, an analysis has been 

conducted to obtain a better understanding of congregational activities and 

performance, based on the location of the congregation.   
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Introduction 

The Lutheran Church of Australia, Queensland District (LCAQD), had 105 

congregations submit LAMP statistics to be analysed for 2017. The data that 

has been submitted will give valuable insight to the activities of congregations, 

allowing for an accurate analysis. Due to lower submission numbers for 2017 

some of the data may appear lower than 2016, however, there has been no 

attempt made to make up for the missing congregation statistics. A list of 

congregations that did not submit their 2017 statistics is listed in Appendix 1. 

Again, this year each congregation has been assigned to a certain area. The 

congregations were assigned according to location. These locations were split 

into rural, regional and metropolitan areas. This has been conducted to give a 

better insight into the relationship between pastoral and financial activities, 

depending on the congregation’s remoteness and the nature of the location in 

which it is situated. Assigning each congregation in this manner, will result in 

new and additional insights that will assist in future decision making.   
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Methods and Analysis  

Data Manipulation Method: 

The analysis conducted in this report, has been completed using Microsoft 

Excel 2016. Data from 2017 and from previous years, has been analysed and 

manipulated within this program. Most of the analysis has been conducted 

using Pivot tables. Where appropriate, calculations have also been made. Each 

component of data that has been analysed, has been put into graph or chart 

format, to give a better understanding of data and statistical trends. 

Congregation Segmentation Method: 

As mentioned earlier, the congregations have been segmented into different 

area groups. The congregations were assigned to different area groups 

depending on their location. These areas were separated into metro, regional 

and rural areas. The segmentation was conducted last year, by using the 

Australian Standard Geographical Classification (ASGC) Remoteness Structure 

(Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2014). This structure is used to determine the 

remoteness of different areas, depending on their postcode. The ABS has an 

interactive map for this structure, which was used to assign each congregation 

to its respective area.  
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Discussion and Results 

Submitted Congregations Per Area 
 

Metro: 

 Alberton St Peters Congregation 

 Ashmore Trinity Congregation 

 Beenleigh Bethesda Congregation 

 Bethania Congregation 

 Brassall St Marks Congregation 

 Brisbane City St Andrews Congregation 

 Brisbane Valley Congregation 

 Buderim Congregation 

 Caboolture St Pauls 

 Caloundra St Marks Congregation 

 Cleveland St James Congregation 

 Coopers Plains Bethlehem Congregation 

 Corinda St Johns Congregation 

 Eight Mile Plains St Johns Congregation 

 Everton Hills Prince of Peace Congregation 

 Gold Coast (Tallebudgera) St Andrews Congregation 

 Indooroopilly Asian Worship Centre 

 Indooroopilly St Peters Congregation 

 Ipswich St Johns Congregation 

 Middle Park Good News Congregation 

 Mount Cotton St Pauls Congregation 

 Mount Gravatt St Marks Congregation 

 Murrumba Downs Living Faith Congregation 

 Nundah St Pauls Congregation 

 Nundah Zion Lutheran Home Worship Centre 

 Raceview Bethany Congregation 

 Redcliffe Grace Congregation 

 Riverview Grace Congregation 

 Rochedale Bethlehem Chinese Worship Centre 

 Rochedale Our Saviour Congregation 

 Southport Trinity Congregation 

 Springfield St Peters College Worship Centre 
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 Tallebudgera St Andrews Chinese Worship Centre 

 Thornlands Faith Celebration Worship Centre 

 Tingalpa Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Woodridge St Luke’s Congregation 

 Woodridge Trinder Park Aged Care Worship Centre 

 Woolloongabba Nazareth Congregation 

 Woolloongabba Nazareth Finnish Congregation 

 Woongoolba Bethlehem Congregation 

Regional: 

 Beaudesert St Pauls Congregation 

 Boonah Trinity Congregation 

 Bundaberg Gracehaven Worship Centre 

 Bundaberg North Faith Congregation 

 Bundaberg St Johns Congregation 

 Childers Grace Congregation 

 Coolana St Johns Congregation 

 Crows Nest St Lukes Congregation 

 Dalby St Marks Congregation 

 Gatton Peace Congregation 

 Gladstone St Martins Congregation 

 Glasshouse Country Calvary Congregation 

 Glencoe Bethlehem Congregation 

 Goombungee St Matthews Congregation 

 Gympie Zion Congregation 

 Haden Holy Trinity Congregation 

 Harrisville St Matthews Congregation 

 Hervey Bay St James Congregation 

 Highfields Christ Congregation 

 Kalbar St Johns Congregation 

 Kingaroy St Johns Congregation 

 Kulpi St Johns Congregation 

 Kumbia Taabinga Peace Congregation 

 Laidley Redeemer Congregation 

 Lismore East Goodnews Congregation 

 Lockrose Green Pastures Congregation 

 Lowood Trinity Congregation 

 Mackay Community Congregation 
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 Maryborough St Matthews Congregation 

 Millmerran St Johns Congregation 

 Minden Zion Congregation 

 Mount Sylvia Cross Congregation 

 Nambour St Lukes Congregation 

 Nanango Immanuel Congregation 

 Nobby Holy Trinity Congregation 

 Noosa Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Norwin Bethlehem Congregation 

 Oakey St Pauls Congregation 

 Pittsworth St Peters Congregation 

 Rockhampton Calvary Congregation 

 Ropeley Immanuel Congregation 

 Rosevale St Pauls Congregation 

 Rosewood St Matthews Congregation 

 Toowoomba Emmanuel Fellowship Congregation 

 Toowoomba Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Toowoomba Living Grace Congregation 

 Toowoomba Our Saviours Congregation 

 Toowoomba Redeemer Congregation 

 Toowoomba St Pauls Congregation 

 Toowoomba Trinity Congregation 

 Warwick St Peters Congregation 

 Wilsonton St Johns Congregation 

 Witta Good Shepherd Congregation 

 Yarraman Calvary Congregation 

 Yeppoon Living Waters Worship Centre 

 

Rural: 

 Atherton Our Saviour Congregation 

 Baffle Creek St Pauls Worship Centre 

 Biloela Redeemer Congregation 

 Biloela Redeemer Congregation 

 Chinchilla Trinity Congregation 

 Cooyar St Andrews Congregation 

 Downfall Creek St Johns Congregation 

 Emerald St Johns Congregation 
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 Gin Gin Redeemer Congregation 

 Glenarbon St Pauls Congregation 

 Goondiwindi Living Waters Congregation 

 Hope Vale St Johns Congregation 

 Ingham St Marks Congregation 

 Macalister Redeemer Congregation 

 Maclagan St Matthews Congregation 

 Miles Redeemer Congregation 

 Milguy St Johns Congregation 

 Moree Grace Congregation 

 Mount Isa St Pauls Congregation 

 Moura Our Saviour Congregation 

 Murgon St Pauls Congregation 

 Rosedale Community Worship Centre 

 Theodore Bethlehem Congregation 

 Townsville St Pauls Congregation 

 Wondai St John Trinity Congregation 

 Wujal Wujal Living Waters Congregation 

 Yandilla St Pauls Congregation 
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Membership Figures per Area 
 

 

 

By looking at the charts we can conclude that: 

 34 Congregations are in metropolitan areas with a total of 4061 

confirmed members 

 

 48 Congregations are in regional areas with a total of 4243 confirmed 

members 

 

 24 Congregations are in rural areas with a total of 1277 confirmed 

members 
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80/20 Analysis: 

After undertaking an analysis, it can be confirmed that the smallest 50% of 

congregations, do not make up 20% of overall LCAQD membership. The figure 

however is not too far from this, with the actual figure for 2017 being 14.5%. 

This means that the smallest 50% of congregations, make up 14.5% of total 

membership in LCAQD.  

 

An analysis was also conducted to determine which congregations in certain 

groups hold the highest number of members. Around 50% of congregations in 

Queensland contribute to 80% of the total membership across the state. These 

members, as seen in the graph above, are mainly from regional areas which 

make up 44% of the top 80% of membership. The second highest membership 

density are in metro areas and the third largest are in rural areas. This means 

that we can conclude that larger congregations with larger membership 

density are mostly in regional areas.  
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Membership Number Thresholds 

After analysing different membership number characteristics, there are no 

distinctive characteristics other than the fact that congregations with larger 

membership numbers tend to be participating more so in pastoral activities. 

There is also a direct relationship with membership size and the level of 

income and expenditure. It was found that as the membership size of a 

congregation increases the level of income and expenditure also increase.  
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Metro, Regional and Rural Pastoral Activities 

 

Baptisms: 

 

 

The data shows that child baptisms have been decreasing in overall numbers 

in metro and regional areas. There have, however, been a couple of years 

where numbers have spiked, but the trend is downwards sloping. On average, 

the numbers of children being baptised in metro and regional areas, is 
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decreasing. This is not the same in rural areas, however, where there has been 

a small growth, with the number of children being baptised slightly increasing 

each year or staying relatively the same. Therefore, the number of baptisms of 

children is slightly growing in rural areas but is decreasing in metro and 

regional areas. 

Adult baptisms show a different trend. They have been decreasing in numbers 

overall consistently except for 2010 (immediate post-GFC period). For 2017, 

however metro areas have had a slight increase in adult baptisms and regional 

have decreased at a lower rate. Rural areas show a slight increase in the 

trendline overall, however, 2017 saw a drop in adult baptisms. This means that 

the trend shows a higher increase in activity for baptisms in metro areas in 

2017 and a decrease in activity in regional and rural areas.  
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Confirmations: 

 

 

Confirmations for both adults and children, have varied over the years. When 

we examine both graphs, the trendlines show a decrease in activity for all 

areas.  

Confirmations for children in rural areas have been decreasing more in 

previous years except for 2017 where there has been an increase. 

Confirmations for children are consistently higher in regional areas where we 

only see a slight decrease in numbers for 2017. Child confirmations vary 

largely in metro areas, where there has been a spike in activity for 2016 and 
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then a drop in 2017. However, overall child confirmations have been 

decreasing. This means that we can conclude that child confirmations have 

been decreasing in all areas overall but have been decreasing the most in 

metro areas for 2017. 

For 2017 regional and metro areas performed virtually the same adult 

confirmations and rural areas performed a little less. Adult confirmations were 

at their highest in metro areas between 2012 – 2014 but have decreased in 

recent years. The population size, however is quite small to begin with, which 

means that if the figures drop or rise only by a small number it will spike or 

drop at a greater amount. Adult confirmations in regional areas have also 

largely varied, with a few spike years, however we have seen only a slight 

variance in numbers for 2017 where there is a slight increase in numbers 

compared to the previous year. Confirmations for adults in rural areas for 2017 

have increased slightly from the previous year and have been more consistent 

in numbers than the other areas over the years but are also consistently lower 

in numbers.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



pg. 17 
 

 

Funerals: 

 

 

By examining the graph, it can be concluded that child funerals are decreasing 

in numbers in all three areas. These numbers appear to be more consistent in 

rural areas, where there was a slight increase in 2015. In regional areas, these 

numbers vary quite largely from one year to the next. Once again, the 

population size is very small which could be a contributor to this. In 2017, 
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however, the figure was the same as the number of child funerals in rural 

areas. Metro child funerals have also varied, but have been more consistent 

than regional areas, where the numbers have shown a decrease in the last few 

years.  

Adult funerals have not varied as much as child funerals in numbers but have 

shown a decrease in numbers for regional and metro areas. The numbers have 

varied more in regional areas, where some years they show the highest 

activity, whereas in other years they dip below the metro figures. Most recently 

for 2017, metro figures dipped below regional figures. Regional figures 

however stayed very consistent in comparison to 2016. Adult funerals in rural 

areas show a similar trend, where they have varied over the years with a slight 

increase in numbers for 2017. Therefore, we can conclude that rural figures 

have stayed relatively consistent and regional and metro areas have varied 

with a slight decrease in overall numbers. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



pg. 19 
 

 

Marriage Ceremonies: 

 

 

When examining the graph for marriage ceremonies, it is evident that there 

has also been a decrease in numbers for regional and metro areas. For 

marriage ceremonies, metropolitan areas have generally had a higher activity 

level, than regional or rural areas. Marriages in rural areas have generally been 

consistent over the years, where 2017 saw a slight increase in numbers 

compared to 2016. It can be concluded, therefore, that the numbers of 

marriage ceremonies are decreasing in all areas in regional and metro areas 

and rural areas are remaining relatively consistent.  
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Attendance: 

 

 

 

When we examine both attendance graphs, it is evident that total attendance 

in metro and regional areas are similar in numbers and are also showing an 

overall decrease in attendance numbers. In rural areas, however, the slope 

appears to be horizontal, meaning that attendance over the years has 

remained roughly the same.  
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Holy Communion service attendance shows a similar trend for rural areas; 

however, this is slowly increasing on average with a slight increase in numbers 

from 2017. For regional areas, this attendance is downward sloping. Metro 

area Holy Communion attendance has shown a slight upwards slope in 2016 

and then has dipped for 2017. Even though attendance has been increasing or 

decreasing in certain areas, the change has been only proportionally 

moderate, meaning that attendance is consistent across the board.  
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Membership: 

 

The membership graph shows that membership numbers over the years have 

been reasonably consistent. For regional and metro areas, there was a spike in 

2011 (immediate post-GFC period). Both, however, have been decreasing in 

numbers since, but at a relatively low rate. For rural areas, there was a spike in 

2010 (also immediate post-GFC period). Since 2010, numbers have been 

slowing increasing, however there has been a dip in numbers for 2017. 

Therefore, we can conclude that membership across all areas have been 

relatively consistent, with a slow decrease in metro and regional areas and a 

slight decrease in rural areas. 
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Child Baptisms per Capita: 
 

  

Child baptisms were analysed on a per capita basis to give a better 

understanding of which areas are baptising the most children depending on 

their membership size. When we examine the graph, it is evident that metro 

areas have had the most baptisms per capita since 2009, rural areas have had 

the second most since 2011 and regional areas have had the least since 2011. 

In recent years rural baptisms have seen a spike in numbers per capita, almost 

as high as they were back in 2009. Meaning that for 2017 rural areas were 

performing the most baptisms per their membership size. For 2017 metro 

areas have dipped in numbers and regional areas have seen a slight increase.  
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Child Confirmations per Capita: 

 

Child confirmations were also analysed on a per capita basis to gain a better 

understanding of which areas are confirming the most children depending on 

the membership size. Because the population size generally tends to be 

smaller than child baptisms, the trends are not so clear. Metro, regional and 

rural areas tend to show similar figures when it comes to child confirmations 

per capita. When we look at 2017, rural areas had the most, when only the 

year before they had the least amount. Regional areas had slight less child 

confirmations per capita than rural areas and then metro areas had the least 

amount. Therefore, we can conclude that each year all three areas generally 

have similar numbers of confirmations per capita, apart from 2009. 
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Total Attendance per Capita: 

 

 

Lastly, total attendance has also been analysed on a per capita basis 

comparing it to membership size. When we analyse the graph, we can see a 

clear trend that metro areas have held the highest attendance numbers per 

capita, regional areas have held the second most and rural areas have held the 

least. For 2017 all three areas saw an increase in total attendance per capita 

with rural areas seeing the highest increase.  
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Summary for Pastoral Activity 

Data examination highlights some trends that stand out. Regional and 

metropolitan areas are generally decreasing in most activities, whereas rural 

areas are either decreasing at a lower rate, remaining the same, or even 

increasing. Even though attendance and membership have not drastically 

decreased over the years, pastoral activities such as baptisms, weddings and 

confirmations have. An area to highlight however, is the increase in attendance 

that we have seen for all areas per capita.  
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Metro, Regional and Rural Financial Data 
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Surplus and Deficit: 

It is evident that certain areas are more likely to be running on a financial 

surplus or a deficit. For over half of the years since 2009, metro areas have run 

on a financial deficit, whereas regional areas have run on a deficit for 

approximately 55% of the time and on a surplus for the other 45%. Rural areas 

have consistently run on a surplus since 2011, with the exception of 2014 and 

2015. This means that metropolitan areas are most likely to run on a deficit, 

regional areas are less likely to run on a deficit than metropolitan areas and 

rural areas are least likely to run on a financial deficit.  

For 2017 metro areas finished on a surplus, regional areas finished on a small 

deficit and rural areas also finished on a small deficit.  

Income and Expenditure Growth and Decline: 

Income and expenditure has generally been upwards sloping, which can 

usually be explained by inflation and growth. Over the years, however, income 

and expenditure have not always been increasing. For metro areas, there has 
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been some years that have had a decrease in expenditure, with the exception 

for 2015. For example, 2016 expenditure for metro areas decreased and even 

further decreased for 2017.  

For regional areas, both income and expenditure have decreased in 

comparison to the previous year by quite a large factor. Rural areas have seen 

a dip in expenditure and income from the previous year where 2016 had high 

income and expenditure. 
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Income Types and Trends: 

 

It is evident that offerings are the primary source of income for all three areas. 

Metro areas receive the most income per capita from offerings out of all the 

segmented areas, where regional areas receive the second most and rural 

areas receive the third most.  

Donations tend to be a low source of income across all areas, where they show 

a similar trend to offerings. Metro areas received the most donations per 

capita, regional areas received the second one and rural areas received the 

least donations.  

The last category of income, ‘income other’, gives all areas a reasonable 

amount of income where metro areas receive the most per capita, regional 

areas receive the second most and rural areas receive the least.  Therefore, it 

can be concluded that per capita metro areas receive the most income overall, 

regional areas receive the second most and rural areas receive the least.  
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Expenditure Types and Trends: 

 

It is evident that congregation parish expenditure is the highest type of 

expenditure for all three areas. Metro areas spend the most on this per capita, 

regional areas spend the second most and rural areas spend the least. 

Expenditure ‘other’ is the second highest expenditure area where metro areas 

spend the most per capita, regional areas spend the second most and rural 

areas spend the least. Synod expenditure is the third highest expenditure area 

where regional areas spend the most per capita, metro areas spend the 

second most and rural areas spend the least. The last area of expenditure is 

Synod appeals which is quite low in expenditure for all three areas. Therefore, 

it can be concluded that per capita metro areas spent the most overall, 

regional areas spent the second most and rural areas spent the least for 2017. 
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Generosity per Area: 

 

 

Generosity per 

Area 2017 

Donations + 

Offerings / 

Confirmed Members 

Metro $                        892.20 

Regional $                        661.60 

Rural $                        567.77 

 

To calculate generosity per area, donations and offerings were added together 

and were then divided by the number of confirmed members for each area. In 

2017, metro members were the most generous out of the three areas, 

followed by regional and then rural.  

Over a longer period, metropolitan members are generally most generous. 

Hence, we can conclude that metro members are generally the most generous, 

followed by regional members and then rural.  
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Appendices 

Appendix 1 

Congregations and Worship Centres that did not submit statistics by the due 

date: 

 Ayr St James Worship Centre 

 Biggenden Worship Centre 

 Brisbane Latvian Congregation 

 Buderim Immanuel Age Care Worship Centre 

 Bundaberg Gracehaven Worship Centre 

 Cairns Trinity Congregation 

 Cannonvale St Martins Congregation 

 Charleville Fellowship Worship Centre 

 Chinchilla St George Worship Centre 

 Coen Morning Star Chapel Worship Centre 

 Everton Hills Prince of Peace Chinese Worship Centre 

 Gold Coast St Andrews Chinese Worship Centre 

 Goondiwindi Living Waters Congregation 

 Indooroopilly Asian Worship Centre 

 Kamerunga Mountain View Worship Centre 

 Kingaroy Orana Age Care Worship Centre 

 Laidley Redeemer Congregation 

 Laidley Tabeel Chapel Worship Centre 

 Lockrose Trinity Congregation 

 Lowood Trinity Congregation 

 Maryborough St Matthews Congregation 

 Meandarra Worship Centre 

 Millmerran St Johns Congregation 

 Mount Isa St Pauls Congregation 

 Nundah Zion Lutheran Home Worship Centre 

 Redcliffe Grace Congregation 

 Rockhampton Calvary Congregation 

 Roma Congregation 
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 Ropeley Immanuel Congregation 

 Southport Trinity Chinese Worship Centre 

 Springfield St Peters College Worship Centre 

 Stanthorpe Holy Trinity Congregation 

 Tallebudgera St Andrews Chinese Worship Centre 

 The Can Bay Worship Centre 

 Toowoomba Salem-Northridge Age Care Worship Centre 

 Woodgate Worship Centre 

 Woolloongabba Nazareth Finnish Congregation 

 Yeppoon Living Waters Worship Centre 
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LCAQD 2019 Budget - Commentary

The 2019 Budget is presented for your approval.

Your District Church Council commends this budget to you.

Background
In framing of the LCAQD budget for 2019 significant influencers are:            
(1)  LCAQD Strategic Charter adopted at the 2017 Synod
(2)  Our LCAQD Governance Review
(3)  Issues that arise from ongoing financial and membership changes in congregations
(4)  A flat commercial rental environment meaning rental income has 'flat lined'
(5)  an above inflation rate continued increase in fees, expenses, and charges from all sources
(6) The broader conversations in the District regarding governance and collaboration especially 
input from our Senior Managers meetings

District Office - The Office of the Bishop (OOB) 
The Bishop of the LCAQD is a position of oversight established by the Church for the "general 
oversight" of the Queensland District including Congregations, Pastors and LCAQD Agencies 
operating under the umbrella of the LCAQD. In the By-Laws, the Bishop is described as the "Chief 
Administrative Office of the District"

The significant tax and other benefits enjoyed by Schools, Aged Care Services, Kindergartens, 
Camps and so on are by virtue of them operating as mission trading agencies of  the letters patent 
incorporation of the LCAQD.                                                                                                                              

The Bishop and District Church Council have significant legal responsibilities with regard to the 
operation of and trading activities of all the 'incorporated by the LCAQD' mission agencies.                   

The LCAQD has 119 separate ABN's and trades under more than 119 different names (not 
including Congregations and Parishes) with the District Executive Officer being the legally 
recognised Public Officer for all businesses trading under the identity of the LCAQD

For many years, the District Office - Office of the Bishop was funded entirely through the LCAQD 
District Office Budget. However, during 2013 all Agencies began to share the cost of maintaining 
the District Office - Office of the Bishop by way of monthly financial support, where the monthly 
contributions were set based on a significantly discounted rate against the actual cost of funding the 
provision of Governance and Management Services. This is continuing at present. The funding of 
DCC, RAFC, and other Governance Committees is from the District Office - Office of Bishop 
budget. 
In 2019, it is budgeted that Departments will contribute about 15% of the costs of the Office of 
Bishop.   Notwithstanding contributions from Congregations and Departments, over 50% of the 
income used to fund the Office will be from its trading activities in managing a property portfolio.  In 
short, the Office draws very lightly on resources available to it. The only Department that does not 
provide this "District Office Support" is the Ministry and Mission Department

Sustainability of the District Office - Office of Bishop has been major ongoing concern for many 
years. The demands on the office personnel's time and resources for support of all types have 
continued to increase. For the first time in five years, last year there was a staff increase to the 
office to support an Office Junior.  
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This budget continues funding for an Administrative Assistant (office junior) and a Church Worker/ 
Personnel Support Officer to support the operation of LCAQD as the common employer.

The LCAQD Strategic Charter includes a requirement to undertake a wide variety of activities in all 
areas of mission, governance and administration.  

HRM Services
The LCA project to implement a Human Resource Information System project aimed at 
implementing a national payroll and human resource management information system was largely 
delivered at the end of 2016.  In 2017 all but 6 remaining Parishes were migrated onto the system.   
In 2018 various HR management elements of the system will be progressively enabled.  As the 
system to be implemented has a large and useful personnel management system that is of 
considerable value to all Congregations and the LCAQD, a Church Worker / Personnel Support 
Officer has been taken on to assist all congregations and the Office in ensuring all legally required 
and best practice requirements are met in the management of staff, volunteers and pastors. 
Provision has been made for an increase in Pastor and Lay Worker Salaries and Allowances during 
2019 from 2018 figures plus 3%. 

Lutheran Youth QLD

Allocation of funds from LCAQD to LYQ continued in 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 in support the 
transfer of responsibility of the university chaplaincy from M & M to LYQ.  The budget continues to 
provide support to a Lay Worker Level 2 Pay Point 5 in 2019.

Up to and including 2016, LYQ  enjoyed extra support from the District in the form of a subsidy for 
District Support Fees and Rent.  As reported in this budget the need to continue to support LYQ for 
rent ended in December 31, 2016. District Support fees are now not completely 'forgiven' in this 
budget as at last years budget the Department received a year's notice.  It is pleasing to see the 
Department operating in a sound financial position.  LCAQD continues to contribute to CLW camp 
leadership costs and a number of other 'cash and non-cash benefits.
Up until this budget, LYQ has also received support from District Office for District Support Fees.  In 
this budget the support for fees is cut by 50% and it is expected all support will cease in 2020

In 2019 the benefits to LYQ will total approximately $122,025.

Congregation support for the LYQ Luminate program is strongly encouraged.       

Ministry & Mission
The LCAQD is truly blessed with the way congregations generously and willingly contribute to the 
work of the wider church. In the past, the payment of a congregation’s voluntary contribution was 
left to the initiative and action of each congregation.

In a change of practice for the Queensland District and as directed by the 2015 LCAQD Convention, 
the District invoiced congregations for their synod approved voluntary contribution in 2016. The 
provision of an invoice to congregations, provided an administration process that was in line with 
computerised accounting systems and it also provided enhanced visibility in regards to 
congregations’ support of District mission objects and projects. In general, this has been well 
received. 
Voluntary offerings, however, are incredibly hard to plan for. If each District had to wait to see what 
people were willing to give, before they could go forward with any plans for mission and ministry, 
then almost nothing would get done. This would add considerable stress to those administering 
finances. We could only be reactive in our Christian mission instead of proactive. 
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An effort to redress the imbalance between congregation contributions is again being put forward in 
this budget.  An analysis of Congregation contributions still shows a significant disparity between 
congregations in the amount they contribute to the LCAQD to support the mission of the District. 

Taking this into account, the 2017 budget proposed a LCAQD Minimum Target Levy of $70 per 
adult communing member (18+) that would further enhance the provision of a more consistent and 
planned contribution to the church’s work.                                                                                                                      
In 2018 this was increased to $71.40;  a 2% or $1.40 increase.                                                                                 
In 2019 this is increased by a further 2% to $72.85 per adult communing member 18+.

The invoiced amounts aren’t to limit the amount of giving by some very generous congregations; 
congregations currently giving in excess of $72.85 per adult communing member, are encouraged 
to continue to do so. Nor is the target amount designed to stretch struggling congregations to 
breaking point. The amount is designed to provide a simple formula to help us work together 
financially as a District that walks together as ‘synod.’ Individually we may struggle to achieve much, 
but together we can cheerfully serve many people, in many areas of need.  

Congregations that are currently contributing above a $72.85 per Adult Communing Member 18+ 
amount are being asked to continue to do so (with CPI adjusted increases).  

Congregations that are below the $72.85 per adult communing member 18+ target amount are 
asked to increase their giving to meet the target in the next year.  This budget assumes all 
congregations currently below the $72.85 target will increase their contribution to reach the target.  

It is expected the LCA levy will increase to $36 per Adult Communing Member 18+ in 2019.                   
That LCA total ($36) added to a LCAQD target contribution of $72.85 in 2019 means congregations 
should budget for a total contribution and levy of $108.85 per Adult Communing Member 18+ 
in 2019.

In 2019  the District again strongly encourages congregations to budget and plan to meet the 
LCAQD Minimum Target Levy of $72.85 for each adult communing member, the target amount may 
be negotiated between congregations and the District, in order to provide a clear indication for 
future planning. 

As a historical note … In 1967 Congregations gave $260,511 to the work of the district.  In CPI 
adjusted terms that would be equivalent to Congregation contributing $3,000,140 in 2016 
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For the record, in another change of practice agreed in 2015 and implemented in 2016, 
Congregations were expected to, as a minimum, contribute $300 p.a. to the District.  Invoices for a 
voluntary contribution for this have commenced in 2016 and have generally been supported.   
largely, in accordance with CPI changes the minimum amount set for 2019 is $325.  

Equity in Giving to District from Congregations.
Data shows faithful large and small congregations and many congregations not able to contribute as 
much. Every circumstance is different. There is no consistency.   

Congregation delegates are reminded that in approving the budget  with congregation contributions 
as entered in the book of reports (this budget) they are committing their congregations to support 
the amount so entered. 

Senior Managers Forum and Collaborative Initiatives

This budget does not include "off-budget" items that are currently being developed through the 
newly formed "Senior Manager's Forum". This group includes the Chief Executive Officers and the 
Chief Financial Officers of our Departments, meeting with the Bishop as Chair.  

These items were tabled to the Senior Managers by the Bishop and DEO after consultation with the 
Department Councils and the DCC following the 2016 Synod. The task before this group is to 
develop these items from within the resources available to us in the LCAQD, with a view to working 
together to achieve long term benefit for our common ministry and mission in the District. These 
include items: Event Management Services; Education & Training Services; Personnel Management 
Services; Communications & Marketing Services; Information and Communication Technology 
Services; Legal & Risk Services; Property Management Services

M & M Mission Projects
In the 2017 budget, ministry and mission projects were rolled into the M&M budget.
The LCAQD Strategic Charter gives support to the training and development of Key Office Holders, 
Pastors and other people holding significant positions of responsibility in Congregations, Parishes, 
and associated entities.  Initiatives to meet requirements for assistance as gathered in synod 
feedback surveys will continue in 2019. 

Professional Standards Unit
The Professional Standards Department is funded by LCA.  The LCA pays for rent and outgoings 
with minor (20%) office expenses being met by the District Office.

Financial Results - LCAQD
For the first time a Consolidated Financial Report for the LCAQD is being presented to Convention.  

Subsidies to Congregations
The budget makes no provision for a subsidy for congregations.  Where congregations find that 
through financial hardship they cannot meet the minimum $325 amount, they are requested to 
correspond to the Secretary, District Church Council.  

Events
The budget covers the following:
The Annual Convention of Synod
Pastors Conference
Regional conferences
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District Office
The District Office Budget includes sundry other activities that do  not fall directly within the ambit of 
the Office of Bishop.  e.g. Buchholz scholarship activity 
The 2016 budget included a Capital Replacement target of 2% of the current value of the asset (in 
addition  to depreciation).  This was advised by the Risk Audit and Finance Committee.  The target 
is set so that in due course when the asset must be replaced, there are funds available to do so.  
This item is now included in the budget for the fourth time.

Property Services
The Property Services budget includes the management of a mixed District property portfolio 
including  24 McDougall Street, and eight cemeteries.   
Key points to note:
1. No rental subsidy for LCAQD entities within 24 McDougall Street.
2. Outgoings are in line with industry practice.
3. Rent adjustments for 24 McDougall Street tenancies have been factored in.
4. Surplus Funds will supplement District Budget projects and LCA contribution
5. The Key tenant lease continues.
Legal.  Legal advice is that District Church Council is 'trustee' for the large amount of property 
congregations have.  Lawyers advise there is significantly more that must be done by the trustee to 
ensure all property assets are properly maintained and risks, especially risks to the health of people 
from asbestos is managed.

Numbers to manage.  In various forms, and arrangements, the LCAQD is owner or trustee of 
approximately 450 individual titles. 

Value.  The market value of property the LCAQD District Church Council as owner or trustee is 
unknown.
Condition.  The physical condition of property the LCAQD District Church Council is responsible for 
as trustee or owner is unknown.

Staff.  DCC has no-one whose primary role is the management, protection, maintenance, 
development or other of all property in the LCAQD

Risk. The risk of failing to diligently  exercise trustee roles over property is considerable in terms of 
potential loss of asset value due to uncontested rezoning actions from local councils, litigation for 
asbestos related injury (no insurance protection), opportunity cost as opportunities to use property 
to derive income are foregone, and a run down in condition and value of the asset  

Contingent Liabilities
Several claims for compensation resulting from previous misconduct of individuals associated with 
the Church have occurred and a number of substantial payments have occurred.  Fortunately a 
significant amount has been reimbursed from the LCA insurance pool.  Members should note that 
the operations of the Professional Standards Department and its ability to manage complex 
complaints has contributed significantly to keeping contingent liabilities low. This has also 
contributed to keeping insurance premiums low.    The auditor has provided advice on when to show 
a contingent liability and this will be acted upon as the need arises.    

Capital Reserves
Interest received from general LLL deposits will supplement the district budget. An interest rate of 
2.50% on deposits has been assumed for 2019.
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Key points to note:
Auditors recommendations being acted on include improved internal reporting
Governance improvement projects undertaken  ('The Modern Office')
Legislative and Regulative changes impacting on the budget include treatment and reporting on 
Deductible Gift Recipient funds.  DGR Company 'Queensland Lutheran Giving' operations continue.

Borrowings.  In the budget period the Office of Bishop is not planning any additional borrowings.  

Significant Projects.  In the budget period the following significant projects will commence, be 
ongoing, or completed :  

Review of the Governance Structure of the LCAQD
Authority and delegation revision
The modern office governance improvements - governance and legal office portal
Implementation of service support projects

Other projects to complete as funds become available are:
Efficiency review
Legal support KSO/WHS
Improve Fiduciary Duty Financial Reporting Compliance
Develop and run leadership development Course for Congregations  in 2019
Disaster Management and Recovery training.

Staff.  In the budget period an increase in staff or service providers to administrative and personnel 
services is included.   

DCC Oversight
The budget has been considered by DCC in March 2018
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LCAQD Budget 2019 2023 Budget 
Projection

2022 Budget 
Projection

2021 Budget 
Projection

2020 Budget 
Projection

2019 Synod 
Rec Budget

2018 Approved 
bySynod 2017 Actual Notes

301

Income District Office
Congregations Contributions 623,000$       635,000$       647,000$       659,000$       671,000$          697,680$          691,052$     302

District Office Support 303
District Office Support - LEQ 161,066$          156,375$          153,308$     
District Office Support - LS 161,066$          156,375$          153,308$     
District Office Support - LYQ 45,879$            44,543$            43,670$       
District Office Support - M&M 17,083$            16,586$            16,260$       
District Office Support 416,838$       408,665$       400,652$       392,796$       385,094$          373,878$          366,546$     304
Interest 75,176$         73,702$         72,257$         70,840$         69,451$            79,108$            88,756$       305
Property 1,467,402$    1,438,630$    1,410,421$    1,382,766$    1,355,653$       1,414,070$       1,386,343$  306,307
Events 93,089$         91,264$         89,474$         87,720$         86,000$            94,814$            75,929$       
Grants & Donations 27,061$         26,530$         26,010$         25,500$         25,000$            86,326$             $      22,624 308
Recoverable Expenses 43,297$         42,448$         41,616$         40,800$         40,000$            29,137$             $      44,622 309

Other Income 21,649$         21,224$         20,808$         20,400$         20,000$            1,020$              1,056,267$  310                  
Total Income District Office 2,767,512$    2,737,463$    2,708,238$    2,679,822$    2,652,198$       2,776,031$       3,732,138$  

Expenditure 311
Contribution - LCA 382,895$       375,387$       368,027$       360,811$       353,736$          346,800$          340,000$     312
Support to LYQ 132,083$       129,494$       126,954$       124,465$       122,025$          150,067$          145,411$     313
Ministry & Mission 449,894$       441,072$       432,424$       423,945$       415,632$          377,893$          370,482$     314,315
Support to Office of Bishop 1,312,154$    1,286,425$    1,261,201$    1,236,472$    1,212,227$       1,083,250$       1,062,009$  
Events 97,419$         95,509$         93,636$         91,800$         90,000$            94,375$            83,840$       
Property - All Expenses (includes outgoings) 410,669$       402,617$       394,723$       386,983$       379,395$          278,572$          249,630$     

District Office Expenses 81,182$         79,591$         78,030$         76,500$         75,000$            281,771$          210,798$     316
Total Expenditure District 2,866,297$    2,810,095$    2,754,995$    2,700,976$    2,648,015$       2,612,726$       2,462,169$  317

District Balance Before Depreciation & Capital Replacement Fund 
Provision 98,785-$         72,632-$         46,757-$         21,154-$         4,183$              163,305$          1,269,969$  
Less -$                  

Depreciation 343,333$       343,333$       343,333$       343,333$       343,333$          299,000$          325,441$     
Capital Replacement  Fund 275,000$       275,000$       275,000$       275,000$       275,000$          239,000$          318

Balance After Expenditure, Depreciation & Capital Replacement 
Fund 717,118-$       690,965-$       665,090-$       639,487-$       614,151-$          374,695-$          944,528$     

Capital Repayments -$               -$               -$               -$               -$                  115,738$          1,560,802$  319

This office provides support to the LCAQD in accordance with LCAQD Constitution and By-Law requirements. 

District Office Support
15%

Congregations Contributions
25%

Interest
3%

Property
51%

Events
3%

Grants & Donations
1%

Recoverable Expenses
1%

Other Income
1%

Income 2019

District Office Support Congregations Contributions Interest Property Events Grants & Donations Recoverable Expenses Other Income
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Congregation Giving for 2018

Congregation 
Communing 
Membership 
18+ in 2017

2019 
Recommende

d to 
Convention of  

Synod                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
     i  

2018 Synod 
approved 
and Cong 
confirmed                                

since                                           
 ti   

 2017 
Actual  2016  Actual 2015 

Actual 2014 Actual 2013 
Actual 

 2012 
Actual  

 2011 Actual  2010 Actual  2009 Actual  2008 Actual  1967 
Actual 

 District Contributions 
 Zone 1 Contributions 
 Alberton St Peters (Alberton-Woongoolba Parish)               47 3,978          3,978        3,900 9,146              1,950 4,850       2,850     3,700     3,600        3,500        3,400        3,300        644          

 Woongoolba Bethlehem (Alberton-Woongoolba Parish) *               55 4,007          1,698        9,362 10,767            9,744 9,588       9,455     8,780     7,985        8,400        8,230        7,910        2,860       

 Tallebudgera St Andrews             131 9,543          5,000        5,000 3,400            10,000 12,422     12,422   12,060   11,540      12,873      10,036      10,036      
 Ashmore Trinity  *             153 11,146        2,000        6,495 5,820              2,900 5,650       2,000     1,320     5,000        5,000        3,750        7,500        
 Beaudesert St Paul's *               30 2,925          2,868        2,738 1,836              2,160 1,800       689        3,623     2,030        2,000        2,000        2,000        507          
 Bethania Evangelical               89 7,140          7,000        6,000 6,000              5,115 10,000     10,000   8,260     8,000        9,660        9,200        8,400        2,194       
 Brisbane Finnish Nazareth              40 2,914          1,578        350 250           -           321        -         -            -            -            800           
 Beenleigh Bethesda             101 7,358          6,000        6,000 6,000              5,500 6,000       4,500     8,500     3,500        7,200        7,375        8,400        4,027       
 Corinda St John's             122 9,884          9,690        9,500 10,000          15,000 15,000     15,000   15,000   15,000      12,000      12,000      12,000      1,835       
 Cleveland St James (Incl Faith Celebration 
ThornlandsWC) *              122 9,291          9,109        8,930 8,712              8,544 -           -        5,928     -            -            10,395      3,642        2,309       

 Eight Mile Plains  St Johns (Eight Mile Plains Parish)             102 8,323          8,160        8,000 7,650            10,000 10,000     15,750   15,300   14,400      14,000      14,000      14,000      3,827       

 Coopers Plains Bethlehem (Eight Mile Plains Parish)  *               36 2,623          2,570        4,170 4,080              3,996 3,996       3,942     3,117     4,375        2,625        2,625        6,671        189          

 Lismore Goodnews *               27 1,967          1,972        1,933 1,836        12,000     1,800     -         5,000        -            1,500        1,500        
 Middle Park Good News *             216 15,736        13,920      13,546 13,924          11,600 14,232     8,436     10,920   10,450      10,000      10,000      9,000        
 Mt Cotton St Pauls (Mt Cotton -Tingalpa Parish)               28 4,079          3,999        3,921 7,650        3,750       3,375     -         3,140        5,000        3,000        3,000        1,665       
 Tingalpa Good Shepherd  (Mt Cotton -Tingalpa Parish)               64 4,662          3,690        2,955 1,500              5,315 -           1,500     4,600     4,600        4,600        4,600        4,225        
 Mt Gravatt  St Marks *             157 16,555        16,230      15,912 15,912          20,000 20,000     16,860   17,000   25,392      25,392      25,331      24,540      1,292       
 Rochedale Our Saviour  *             344 31,992        31,365      30,750 30,000          41,904 41,904     47,962   33,400   57,988      60,000      55,000      55,000      
 Southport Trinity               68 8,378          8,391        8,214 5,508        -           12,500   20,000   -            -            -            -            2,535       
 Woodridge St Lukes  *              50 3,643          3,570        2,856 2,856              2,799 2,760       2,712     2,628     2,520        2,400        3,960        3,000        99            
 Woolloongabba Nazareth               77 15,744        15,435      15,132 14,760          14,400 13,920     13,620   13,200   10,500      10,445      10,170      10,170      
 Total Zone 1 Contributions 2,059        181,887      158,223    165,664   167,607    170,926  187,872   185,694 187,336 195,020    195,095    196,572    195,094    23,984     
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Congregation Giving for 2018

Congregation 
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18+ in 2017

2019 
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     i  
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since                                           
 ti   
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Actual  2016  Actual 2015 

Actual 2014 Actual 2013 
Actual 

 2012 
Actual  

 2011 Actual  2010 Actual  2009 Actual  2008 Actual  1967 
Actual 

-              -            
 Zone 2 Contributions -              -            
 Brisbane City St Andrews               85 9,943          9,748        9,557 6,993              8,500 9,135       9,000     8,736     8,360        6,000        7,000        7,000        
 Buderim Immanuel *             265 19,305        17,004      25,092 24,480          24,000 24,109     36,000   36,020   36,000      36,000      35,175      33,500      1,328       
 Caloundra  St Marks *               92 6,702          2,712        2,712 2,717              2,719 2,719       2,719     2,640     2,400        2,040        2,040        1,800        405          
 Caboolture St Pauls *             211 19,914        19,524      19,140 20,004          20,916 20,916     20,600   20,000   20,000      20,000      20,000      22,000      426          
 Everton Hills Prince of Peace             237 17,265        14,366      13,525 16,554          25,016 9,708       18,868   21,480   17,500      17,800      16,500      15,100      
 Glashouse Country Calvary               27 1,967          480           432 300           -           400        828        370           360           350           300           
 Indooroopilly St Peters *             103 14,158        14,076      13,880 13,776          12,375 13,500     13,500   14,500   8,000        12,000      12,313      15,000      
 Murrumba Downs Living Faith *             176 17,317        16,977      16,644 16,644          16,315 16,315     16,315   6,600     15,160      15,000      20,875      24,200      
 Noosa  Good Shepherd *             151 11,000        9,770        9,045 7,800              7,584 7,461       7,115     11,550   6,900        5,500        6,000        6,000        
 Nambour St Lukes (Nambour Parish)  *             117 8,523          1,200        3,630 8,455            13,800 13,800     13,596   9,900     12,000      14,400      13,800      14,200      2,043       
 Witta Good Shepherd (Nambour Parish)  *               25 1,821          1,139        780 300           -           -        1,600     1,600        1,600        1,600        1,601        760          
 Nundah St Pauls *             142 16,969        16,636      16,310 15,912          15,600 15,000     14,000   9,750     13,000      14,100      13,000      18,000      3,897       
 Redcliffe Grace *            151 22,176        21,741      21,315 21,315          21,315 21,000     20,400   13,950   18,290      17,021      15,767      16,733      623          
 Total Zone 2 Contributions 1,782        167,061      145,373    152,062   155,250      168,140 153,663   172,513 157,554 159,580    161,821    164,420    175,434    9,482       
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 Zone 3 Contributions 

 Brisbane Valley Lutheran (Lowood-Brisbane Valley Parish)               15 1,093          720           660 600                    592 578          568        -         -            -            500           500           3,160       

 Lowood Trinity (Lowood-Brisbane Valley Parish) *             106 16,310        15,990      15,990 15,600          10,337 15,300     15,345   15,310   15,310      14,760      14,400      14,400      1,864       
 Coolana St John's (Lowood-Brisbane Valley Parish)               33 3,951          3,874        3,798 3,798              3,798 3,798       3,798     2,532     3,660        3,504        3,504        3,504        1,860       
 Brassall St Mark's  *               20 1,671          1,676        1,638 1,596              1,584 1,560       1,560     780        4,535        1,560        780           1,560        700          
 Gatton Peace (Lockyer Valley Parish)             264 19,232        11,004      11,000 9,996              9,816 9,617       9,425     13,449   12,803      11,704      11,873      11,027      7,470       
 Laidley Redeemer  (Lockyer Valley Parish)            125 18,041        17,687      17,687 17,256          16,920 16,680     16,440   15,636   14,892      14,175      13,500      12,840      2,454       
 Lockrose Green Pastures (Lockyer Valley Parish)  *              31 2,258          1,809        1,497 1,404              1,377 1,377       1,377     1,377     1,377        1,377        1,377        1,377        600          
 Mount Sylvia Cross (Lockyer Valley Parish)  *               16 1,166          796           780 300                 1,000 -           
 Ropeley Immanuel (Lockyer Valley Parish)               31 5,655          5,544        3,690 3,254              3,287 3,662       4,059     3,677     4,154        5,404        4,400        5,648        5,007       
 Harrisville St Matthew's (Fassifern Parish)               17 2,483          2,434        2,386 2,330              2,250 2,283       2,250     -         -            2,000        3,250        3,250        
 Kalbar St John's (Fassifern Parish)  *               47 6,398          6,273        6,150 6,000              6,000 6,000       6,000     6,192     8,300        8,292        8,200        8,200        1,273       
 Boonah Trinity (Fassifern Parish)  *               63 8,365          8,201        8,040 14,292          13,990 13,800     13,596   13,145   12,595      12,000      12,240      16,800      1,157       
 Ipswich St Johns (Ipswich Parish)             185 13,477        13,859      13,366 12,280          15,000 11,250     9,613     28,000   27,470      26,780      26,340      24,408      6,293       
 Raceview Bethany (Ipswich Parish)  *             122 19,339        18,960      18,480 18,000          16,800 16,517     15,600   14,640   13,290      10,500      10,500      9,300        
 Riverview Grace (Ipswich Parish)                 25 1,966          1,928        6,000 6,000              5,000 3,200       5,000     800        2,800        2,500        2,450        3,100        
 Minden Zion (Rosewood Parish)  *              31 2,472          2,424        2,376 2,376              2,333 2,328       2,299     2,140     2,107        2,040        2,040        2,040        3,037       
 Rosevale St Pauls  (Rosewood Parish)               14 1,020          928           1,204 -            -           986          
 Rosewood St Matthews (Rosewood Parish)               24 1,748          928           588                    575 575          1,075     550        1,050        1,000        840           720           778          
 Total Zone 3 Contributions 1,169        126,647      115,035    114,742   115,670    110,659  108,524   108,005 118,228 124,343    117,595    116,194    118,674    36,638     
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 Zone 4 Contributions 
Cooyar St Andrew's  (Crows Nest Parish) 13             947             1,067        1,046 1,020              1,000 1,000       1,000     1,000     1,000        800           800           800           187          

 Crows Nest St Lukes (Crows Nest Parish)               63 4,590          3,000        3,500 3,500              3,500 4,370       4,306     4,180     4,100        4,000        4,000        4,000        3,412       
 Haden Holy Trinity (Crows Nest Parish)               19 1,384          714           -            -           3,473       
 Toowoomba Redeemer (Toow-Redeemer Parish)             130 10,877        10,664      10,455 9,350        10,000     -        13,667   19,633      28,000      28,000      28,000      6,888       
 Glenarbon St Pauls (Toow-Redeemer Parish)  *                 8 583             643           600 601                    600 240          240        220        240           240           240           180           861          
 Stanthorpe Holy Trinity (Toow-Redeemer Parish)              10 729             605           300 300           -           300        -         -            -            250           250           -          
 Goombungee St Matthews                                
(Goombungee-Maclagan Parish)               64 4,662          2,494        2,445 2,000        1,200       1,750     2,028     -            -            1,500        1,200        2,246       

 Maclagan St Matthew's                                      
(Goombungee - Maclagan Parish)  *               45 3,945          3,868        3,891 3,792              3,720 3,606       4,987     2,009     3,300        3,150        3,150        3,150        751          

 Kulpi (Goombungee-Maclagan Parish)               16 1,166          943           745 300                    520 -           525        -         500           500           450           450           576          
 Goondiwindi Living Waters  (Moree Parish)                8 583             1,040        2,041 1,530        1,000       -        350        -            255           250           250           13            
 Milguy St John's (Moree Parish) Closing in 2018               -   -              -            605 150           -           -        -         -            -            -            500           3,669       
 Moree Grace (Moree Parish)               16 1,166          921           700 -            553          
 Pittsworth St Peters (Pittsworth Parish)               47 3,424          1,677        2,448 1,536              2,238 1,800       3,300     1,240     600           50             -            1,920        2,017       
 Millmerran St John's(Pittsworth Parish) Closing in 2018               -   -              1,408        1,380 1,344              1,300 1,250       1,200     1,100     1,100        1,000        1,000        1,000        330          
 Nobby Holy Trinity (Pittsworth Parish)               28 2,040          2,710        2,657 2,592              4,035 1,236       2,436     1,200     2,400        2,400        4,400        -            6,483       
 Yandilla St Paul's (Pittsworth Parish) Closing in 2018               -   -              2,986        2,927 2,856              3,300 3,425       3,624     3,276     3,140        3,000        3,000        3,050        8,839       
 Norwin Bethlehem (Oakey Parish)               38 11,198        10,978      10,763 10,500          10,300 10,300     10,000   10,875   10,125      10,000      10,000      12,000      2,910       
 Oakey St Pauls (Oakey Parish)               42 3,060          1,854        1,854 1,854              1,810 1,719       1,693     2,084     1,584        1,667        2,500        2,520        1,115       
 South West Qld Parish (Includes Chinchilla Trinity Cong  
77,  St George Lutheran WC, Dalby St Marks Cong 150, 
Miles Redeemer Cong  8, Downfall Creek St John's Cong 
25, MacAlister Redeemer 32,  Roma Fellowship Cong 9,  
Charleville Fellowship WC) 

            301 30,600        30,000      50,000 66,000          64,200 64,200     71,840   49,600   57,192      55,200      53,300      51,500      19,603     

 Toowoomba Emmanuel Fellowship             120 8,742          4,680        4,680 4,680              9,280 -           4,600     4,500     4,200        4,000        4,000        -            
 Toowoomba Good Shepherd             300 24,480        24,000      24,000 34,944          35,300 34,260     33,743   31,350   31,350      32,500      30,000      30,000      
 Toowoomba Living Grace  (peacefully dismissed from 
LCAQD in 2017)               -   -            2,600 5,200              5,200 5,200       5,200     6,200     8,000        3,000        9,000        8,000        

 Toowoomba Our Saviour's  (Toowoomba Cornerstone 
Parish)               93 6,775          5,136        5,136 5,040              5,040 4,800       4,722     4,290     5,137        4,498        4,200        4,200        

 Warwick St Peter's (Toowoomba Cornerstone Parish)  *               36 2,623          3,660        3,588 3,500              3,900 3,200       3,000     2,800     2,600        2,500        2,400        2,300        1,658       

 Toowoomba St Pauls             155 15,300        15,000      15,683 15,000          15,000 15,000     22,500   7,500     22,500      7,500        15,000      7,500        10,927     
 Toowoomba Trinity (Toow Trinity-Christ Church Parish) 
(Closed in 2017)               -   -              -            5,556              5,448 5,448       5,647     5,628     7,400        6,160        5,160        5,160        2,980       

 Highfields Christ Church *               60 4,371          2,962        2,355 300           -           2,000     -         1,500        1,250        1,250        1,500        1,637       
 Toowoomba Wilsonton St Johns (Wilsonton-Glencoe 
Parish)  *             107 7,795          6,839        7,396 6,240              7,142 7,060       6,765     7,564     8,700        6,693        6,385        8,000        1,700       

 Glencoe Bethlehem (Wilsonton-Glencoe Parish)  *               36 5,875          5,760        5,640 5,520              5,520 5,400       5,280     5,525     4,620        11,880      3,960        3,600        373          
-              

 Total Zone 4 Contributions 907           156,913      145,609    169,435   195,205    188,353  185,714   200,658 168,185 200,921    190,243    194,195    181,030    83,200     
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Congregation Giving for 2018

Congregation 
Communing 
Membership 
18+ in 2017

2019 
Recommende

d to 
Convention of  

Synod                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
     i  

2018 Synod 
approved 
and Cong 
confirmed                                

since                                           
 ti   

 2017 
Actual  2016  Actual 2015 

Actual 2014 Actual 2013 
Actual 

 2012 
Actual  

 2011 Actual  2010 Actual  2009 Actual  2008 Actual  1967 
Actual 

-              -             
 Zone 5 Contributions -              -            
 Bundaberg St Johns  (Bundaberg Parish)  *             247 24,970        24,480      24,000 23,460          23,004 22,500     22,500   34,450   42,385      39,120      36,000      32,400      7,865       
 Bundaberg North Faith  (Bundaberg Parish               47 3,424          2,906        2,671 2,052              2,016 1,920       1,860     1,800     920           720           1,320        1,320        375          
 Gin Gin Redeemer (Bundaberg Parish)  *               15 1,093          998           711 372                    360 360          350        300        300           300           300           300           435          
 Childers Grace (Maryborough-Childers Parish)  *               32 2,331          800           200 -                  3,720 3,660       3,900     3,290     3,010        2,940        2,880        2,640        540          
 Maryborough St Matthew's                                           
(Maryborough-Childers Parish)              96 6,994          3,502        1,000 150           -           2,818     -         230           2,500        2,000        3,500        901          

 Gympie Zion  *               88 6,411          2,000        2,109 1,485              1,980 200          400        3,640     6,240        6,240        6,240        6,240        1,218       
 Hervey Bay St James *             143 10,418        8,309        6,193 1,536              1,500 1,500       1,500     9,047     1,120        1,200        1,200        2,400        1,714       
 Kingaroy St Johns (Sth Burnett Luth Parish) *               88 6,411          5,172        4,275 2,040              2,030 2,000       12,980   9,350     11,513      10,000      12,500      7,500        6,646       
 Kumbia/Tabinga  Peace Cong                                                    
(Sth Burnett Luth Parish)  *               37 5,960          5,843        5,843 6,000              6,180 6,180       7,180     6,000     6,270        6,000        6,000        8,000        5,746       

 Murgon  St Pauls (Sth Burnett Luth Parish)  *               45 3,724          3,651        3,579 3,492              3,420 3,420       3,360     3,000     6,023        2,500        2,500        2,500        6,430       
 Nanango Immanuel (Sth Burnett Luth Parish)  *               17 1,238          780           756 756                    742 742          742        690        680           660           660           660           390          
 Wondai St John (Sth Burnett Luth Parish)  *               30 2,186          2,292        300 300           -           -        -         -            -            -            500           1,883       
 Yarraman Calvary  (Sth Burnett Luth Parish)  *               22 1,603          600           450 450                    450 450          444        -         420           400           400           400           990          
 Total Zone 5 Contributions 907           76,761        61,333      52,088     42,093      45,402    42,932     58,034   71,567   79,111      72,580      72,000      68,360      35,132     
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Congregation Giving for 2018

Congregation 
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Convention of  

Synod                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
     i  
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confirmed                                

since                                           
 ti   

 2017 
Actual  2016  Actual 2015 

Actual 2014 Actual 2013 
Actual 

 2012 
Actual  

 2011 Actual  2010 Actual  2009 Actual  2008 Actual  1967 
Actual 

 Zone 6 Contributions 
 Biloela Redeemer (Biloela Parish)  *               49 3,570          2,904        2,904 2,904              3,050 2,850       2,700     3,156     2,400        2,400        12,520      13,440      7,163       
 Moura Our Saviour (Biloela Parish) Closing in 2018               -   -              511           308 300           -           321        -         350           630           840           840           107          
 Theodore Bethlehem  (Biloela Parish)  *               11 2,619          2,567        2,522 2,460              2,407 2,368       2,336     1,512     2,180        2,148        2,148        2,000        58            
 Emerald St John's               47 3,424          2,452        1,550 225           -           -        -         -            -            1,300        1,300        221          
 Gladstone  St Martins *               67 4,881          1,200        300 325           -           1,632     1,584     1,520        1,500        -            1,200        25            
 Rockhampton Calvary *               55 4,007          3,856        2,148 2,148              2,100 2,064       2,028     1,968     1,883        1,800        1,800        1,680        294          
Total Zone 6 Contributions 229           18,500        13,490      9,732       8,362        7,557      7,282       9,017     8,220     8,332        8,478        18,608      20,460      7,869       
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Congregation Giving for 2018

Congregation 
Communing 
Membership 
18+ in 2017

2019 
Recommende

d to 
Convention of  

Synod                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
     i  

2018 Synod 
approved 
and Cong 
confirmed                                

since                                           
 ti   

 2017 
Actual  2016  Actual 2015 

Actual 2014 Actual 2013 
Actual 

 2012 
Actual  

 2011 Actual  2010 Actual  2009 Actual  2008 Actual  1967 
Actual 

 Zone 7 Contributions 
 Cairns Trinity (Cairns Parish)            109 7,941          300           300 275           -           2,500     5,900     13,330      12,750      12,250      12,000      160          
 Atherton Our Saviour (Cairns Parish)               12 874             348           324 325           -           -        2,700     -            2,500        2,500        2,000        -          
 Hopevale St Johns (includes Coen Morning Star WC, 
Wujul Wujul Living Waters WC 125)             250 3,060          1,010        3,000 300           -           -        -         -            -            -            -            792          

 Ingham St Marks *               30 2,186          1,856        1,814 1,776              1,745 1,719       1,693     1,308     1,570        1,500        1,500        1,200        202          
  Mackay Community                                          (includes 
Cannonvale from mid 2015) *             143 10,418        10,463      10,258 10,008          14,400 20,100     18,000   21,840   21,840      21,840      20,850      19,950      2,642       

 Mt Isa St Pauls *              25 2,447          2,399        2,411 2,352              2,304 2,301       2,388     2,850     2,308        2,400        2,400        2,400        412          
 Townsville St Pauls             155 11,292        8,760        8,760 7,980              7,020 6,920       6,160     5,720     6,000        5,880        5,520        5,040        883          
Total Zone 7 Contributions 724           38,217        25,136      26,867     23,016      27,569    33,139     32,842   43,040   46,597      48,300      46,330      43,790      5,173       

-              -            
 Total District Contributions 7,777        765,985      664,199    690,590   707,203    718,606  719,127   766,763 754,130 813,903    794,111    808,318    802,842    201,479   
 Note: Italics are estimated membership number as congregation has not entered details in LAMP
 Note: * = Contribution is via Direct Debit

 Year 

 
Pledge/act
ual/expecte
d 

1967 201,479    
2004 814,968    
2005 801,216    
2006 784,806    
2007 800,461    
2008 802,842    
2009 808,318    
2010 794,111    
2011 813,903    
2012 754,130    
2013 766,763    
2014 719,127    
2015 718,606    
2016 707,203    
2017 690,590    
2018 697,680    

2019 671,000    
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Budget 2019 Notes
Notes:
301. Synod approved 2017  2016, 2015, 2014, 2013 and 2012 actual numbers entered

302. Past budgets (2009 to 2018) have assumed an overall a decline trend of congregation 
contribution to District in real terms.  The 2019 budget assumes a decrease in contributions as the 
LCA Levy increases by $2 p.a. to $36 per adult communicant member and therefore congregation 
support to District will decline by over $2 per adult communicant member. i.e. $20,000 .   
Congregations have been  based on asked, where they are currently giving below a target of 
$72.85 per adult communing member 18+ to increase giving to meet that target; whilst 
congregations giving above the $72.85 target are asked to maintain that extra giving.  

303.  Presumes contributions from all District Entities to support governance requirements
304. Governance Fee in operation from 2013 to 2016 incl was replaced with a District Office 
Support item in 2017.  

305.  Interest income is increased as an assumption of a .25% increase in rates is factored in.  
306.  Income from property flat lines as rent reviews show the commercial property market in the 
area is highly competitive.
307.  District Office does not pay itself rent but various departments are charged rent
308.  Includes Lenten mission appeal and board for local mission grant
309.  Includes recovery of expenses in printing, phone
310. Includes income from rebates and refunds
311.  Major expenditure groups are identifed from a functional perspective.
312.  Contribution to LCA was based on 50% of congregation contribution being passed to the LCA 
for the period 2009 to 2016 incl.  This formula linkage ceased in 2017 and the contribution to LCA 
is now greater than 50% of expected congregation contributions. 

313. Support to LYQ includes support for Young Adult Ministry and Mission co-ordinator and CLW 
related activities.  LYQ pay rent, outgoing, carpark charges in 2017 and in 2019 contribute to the 
District Office Support budget line item.
314.  Support to M&M increased slightly. See Budget Comments.
315. The M&M Project line item expenditure item was moved to M&M Department in 2017

316. District Office Expenses includes a. Donations and Scholarships -  Buchholz Estate at 
$55,000 
317. Due to some restructuring of chart of accounts not all 2013 and 2016 Synod approved budget 
figures have been entered.
318.  The 2016 budget included a Capital Replacement target of 2% of the current value of the 
asset (in addition  to depreciation).  This was set by Risk Audit and Finance Committee and 
approved by DCC.  The target is set so that in due course when the asset must be replaced, if 
there are funds available to do so.  This 2019 budget includes this item but presently it is not 
funded.
319.  The capital component of loan repayments included loans for Office Refurbishment, 
Purchase Level 3.  The District budget is currently debt free.
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Constitutions Committee Report for Synod 2018 
 

1 Corinthians 14:40        Everything must be done in a proper and orderly way. 

 
Brothers and Sisters in Christ, 

Greetings in the name of our Lord and Saviour, Jesus Christ, from the Constitutions 
Committee of the LCAQD. Our Committee is made up of six members, including a 
Pastor who joined us recently. Congregations and Parishes often find difficulty in 
working through the sometimes tedious process of Constitution review and we work 
diligently with them to try to ease the burden. On occasion, our members have even 
met face-to-face with their contacts. 

In the last twelve months the Committee has worked on: 
 

a) 22 x Congregational Constitutions and By-Laws 
b) 6 x Parish Constitutions and By-Laws 

Of these, six Congregation and one Parish were approved for submission to District 
Church Council and were subsequently signed by the Bishop and DCC Secretary. 
There are a few currently that we are waiting on confirmation that their AGMs have 
passed approval. 

Again, the Committee has worked in co-operation with the LCA’s Standing Committee 
on Constitutions to establish updated versions of the Models for Constitutions and By-
Laws. These documents were for: 
 

a) Congregations (not Incorporated) 
b) Separately Incorporated Congregations  
c) Unincorporated Parish  

 
Three members attended a Forum in Adelaide along with the District Executive Officer 
to address areas of difference between each of the States and New Zealand. 
Representatives from the various Districts were able to discuss issues relevant to them 
and reach some agreement on wording. 

We still have a schedule of 26 Congregations/Parishes that we are working with, some 
progressing and others stagnating.  Sometimes, the groups we are working with lose 
momentum and we have to take them off our list. However, it is important that all 
Congregations and Parishes are working within a current set of Constitutions and By-
Laws to ensure they are operating within legal benchmarks. So we urge you all to 
review your Constitutions and By-Laws on a regular basis. An annual check-up may 
not take long and will help identify any areas that may need to be worked on. 

In addition, the Committee was given a number of special tasks by DCC. These 
included: 
 

a) Establishment of documentation for the various Chinese based ministries in SE 
Qld,  

b) Change of name from Lutheran Community Care to Lutheran Services, 
c) Review of the various Constitutions and By-Laws for College Foundations. 

https://www.biblegateway.com/passage/?search=1+Corinthians+14%3A40&version=ESV
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We reported last year that Working Parties were requested with the Departments to 
work through a process of reviewing their By-Laws to bring them into a degree of 
uniformity. This has been put “on hold” pending the review of the Governance Structure 
of LCAQD which will be presented to this Synod. Once completed, our Committee will 
most likely be charged with developing suitable By-Laws for the whole District. 

Our Constitution and By-laws are necessary to ensure we have a structure and the 
practical opportunity to deliver the highest Governance and Management 
accountabilities. It is vital that we all have current documents (Congregations, 
Parishes, Departments and the District as a whole) to provide the Church and us all 
with the protection and reassurance that we are operating within the Law. 

The members of our Committee are: 
 
Andrew Spyropoulos (Chair)   
Graeme Drapper (Secretary)  
Michael Klatt   
Helen Howard     
Kerryn Simpfendorfer   
Pastor Carl Thiele 
 
In addition, we have the services of Jakob Reinbott who acts as our Minute Secretary, 
allowing all members to participate fully in the meetings. 

In closing, I invite you all to consider anyone who may have suitable skills and interest 
in participating in this area to make contact with us to find out more about our work. 
We have vacancies for one more lay member and one Pastor. 

 
Yours in Christ, 
 
Andrew Spyropoulos 
Chair of the Constitutions Committee 
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NOMINATIONS FOR 51st QUEENSLAND DISTRICT SYNOD 2018 

OFFICIALS 

BISHOP Pastor Paul Smith 

FIRST ASSISTANT BISHOP Pastor Mark Vainikka 

SECOND ASSISTANT BISHOP Pastor Ben Hentschke 

SECRETARY Margit Hubbers 

* denotes sitting member; numbers in brackets indicate the number of years to serve)   

COMMITTEE  
 

Pastors 
Sitting Members NOT up for 
election 

Pastors 
Nominees 

Lay Members   
Sitting Members NOT up 
for election 

Lay Members 
Nominees 

District Church Council (DCC) 

5 Pastors + 8 Lay Members  

Pastor Mark Brinkmann Bishop 
First Assistant Bishop 
Second Assistant Bishop (1) 
Vacant 
 

Secretary 
Michael Klatt 
Andrew Spyropoulos 
Danielle Robinson 

Cheryl Steinhardt* 
Helen Mibus* 
Adam Richardson* 
Vacant 

Constitutions (8) 
2 or 3 Pastors + 5 or 6 Lay Members 
 

Pastor Carl Thiele Vacant (1) Michael Klatt 
Kerryn Simpfendorfer 
 

Graeme Drapper* 
Helen Howard* 
Vacant (2) 
Vacant (1) 

Council for Ministry and Mission (CMM) 
Council (13) – 5 or 6 Pastors 

 6 appointed by DCC 

 1 nominated by LYQ 

 6 elected by Synod – Council Executive 
(3), comprising a chair, vice-chair and 
secretary; three (3) additional 
members, including a pastor, a lay 
worker and a lay member. 

Pastor Noel Burton 
 
 

 

 
 

Lay Person– Robert Knock 

 
 
 
 

Chair – Pr David Schuppan* 
Vice-Chair – Vacant (1) 
Secretary – Vacant 

Lay Worker- Carl Eckermann 
Grant Cummins 

 
(Benjamin Lyons – 
ratification only as LYQ 
nominee only) 
 

Council for Lutheran Education QLD (CLEQ) 
Schools Council, Administration & Governance 
(6) - members shall be actively involved in school 
or early childhood services administration or 

  Jodie Hoff 
Anthony Dyer 
Debbie West-McInnes 
 

Gary Fulton* 
Tim Kotzur* 
 Ray Ebert 
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COMMITTEE  
 

Pastors 
Sitting Members NOT up for 
election 

Pastors 
Nominees 

Lay Members   
Sitting Members NOT up 
for election 

Lay Members 
Nominees 

governance in Lutheran SCHOOLS. 

Parish Pastor (1)  Michael Neldner   

Classroom Teacher (3)   Brenton Altmann 
 

Vacant (2) 
Vacant (1) 

Parent of Student (2) – not professional 
educators 

  Katrina Hibberd 
 

Mark Newton 

Lutheran Services Council (LSC) 
 (10, 2 Pastors only) 
At least eight (8) of these positions shall be 
reserved for people who are Active 
Communicant Members. Up to two (2) Council 
members may be non-Lutheran but shall be 
active members of other Christian 
denominations 

 Vacant (2) 
Vacant (1) 
 

Clare Seligmann 
Leena Vuorinen 
Andrew Stanke 
Bobby Rolison 
 

Stuart Jaeschke* 
Simon LaBlack* 
Jennifer Danslow* 
Mark Gierus* 
 
 

Council for Lutheran Youth of Queensland 
(CLYQ) 
(1 Pastor and 8 Lay plus Director of M&M) 

Michael Mayer  Ian Grieshaber 
Jill Shepherdson 
David Truss 
 

Keziah Sydes* 
Jodie Hoff* 
Meagan Dull* 
Janelle Anderson* 
Vacant (2) 

Nominations (at least 5, min. 3 Lay) 
Nominated by DCC and elected by Synod 

 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Vacant (2) 
Vacant (2) 
Vacant (2) 
Vacant (1) 
Vacant (1) 

Parish Alignment (6) 
1 appointed by DCC 
To be held dormant until resolved by DCC 

  Adrian Muller 
Norm Auricht 
 

Colin Donges* 
A Foster* 
R Unverzagt 
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NOMINEE INFORMATION FOR DISTRICT CHURCH COUNCIL (DCC) 

PASTOR MEMBERS  

One Vacancy 

LAY MEMBERS 

 

Cheryl Steinhardt 

 Current Lay Member DCC 

Personal profile:  Married to Ross Steinhardt (Chair of Redeemer Laidley and former Chair of 
Faith Lutheran College Plainland).  Three married children and five grandchildren.  Multiple 
business owner/partner with husband.  Living outside of Gatton on cattle property at 
Woodlands Road. 
 
Service to the Church:   
Current – Member of LCAQD Church Council since Synod 2010, DCC Representative on LYQ 
Council, Vice Chair (former Chair) of Lockyer Valley Lutheran Parish, Member of Redeemer 
Laidley Council, Worship Committee, Stewardship Committee and Family/Youth Committee. 
Past – Baptised and confirmed at Redeemer Laidley, Sunday School teacher for 19 years, 
various church committees and choirs. 
 
Service to Community: 
Various sporting and school committees in numerous executive positions since 1986 and 
member of local council of commerce. 
 
Governance and Skill Set training and experience: 

 LCAQD Councilor since 2010 

 Governance training with LCAQD 

 Chair of Lockyer Valley Lutheran Parish three year (constitutional change) 

 Delegate numerously for Synod 

 Delegate numerously for Parish council 

 Served as LCAQD Disaster representative and delegate (personal hardship both 2011 

and 2013) 

 Business owner since 1985, Multiple business owner since 2008 

 Various work related certificates for the hospitality industry 

 Diploma of Business with working to study for MBA (Management) 
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Helen Mibus 

 Occupation – LYQ Business Manager 

 Current service: 
o Lay Member DCC 
o Treasurer, St John’s Ipswich 

 Past service 
o DD Zone Youth President 
o Secretary LYA 
o Treasurer Luther Heights Youth Camp 
o Assistant secretary LYQ Executive 
o Karalee Community Kindergarten Treasurer 

 Skill set 
o Accounting 
o Business management 
o Community Organisation experience 
o Church involvement 

 

Adam Richardson 

 Current service: 
o Lay Member DCC since April 2018 
o Principal, Good News Lutheran School 
o Secretary, Lutheran Principals Australia (Qld) 
o Worshipping at Good News, Middle Park & Living Faith, Murrumba Downs 

 Qualifications 
o Graduate Diploma of Theology (Education) – ALC 1997 
o Bachelor of Education (Honours) – QUT 1994 
o Associate Diploma Applied Science (Chemistry) – QUT 1988 

 Skill set: 
o Leadership 
o Management 
o Education 

 
 
 
NOMINEE INFORMATION FOR COUNCIL FOR MINISTRY & MISSION (CMM) 

Vice-Chair (1 year), Secretary positions vacant for 2-year term 

 

Pastor David Schuppan 

 Nomination to CMM as Chair 
 Current CMM Vice Chair 
 Lead Pastor Living Faith, Murrumba Downs 
 Skill set – pastor, board experience and training 
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Carl Eckermann 

 New nomination to CMM as Lay Worker 
 Member Our Saviour, Rochedale 
 Occupation - Ministry Development Coordinator, Our Saviour Rochedale 
 Previous roles in community and local church: 

o Director Lutheran Youth of Queensland 
o Previously employed in outdoor education centres – Googa, Ballon 
o Good Shepherd Lutheran Church Middle Park – Youth ministry leader, youth 

advocacy team chairman, congregation chairman, church councilor, worship director 
 Skill set – extensive experience in church ministry and governance, community 

development, sales and marketing. 

 

Grant Cummins 

 New nomination to CMM 
 Member Emmanuel Lutheran Fellowship, Toowoomba 

o Current Church Council member  
o Former Vice-Chair 
o Active council member since 2010 
o LCAQD Synod Delegate 

 Occupation – Senior Youth Worker with Safe Places 
 Roles in community and local church  

o Leader and Director Christian Life Week; 15 years’ service to CLW including 
establishing CLW at Koojarewon 

o Youth Leader 
o Child Safety Officer with Department of Communities Child Safety 
o Advocate for foster carers with Foundations Care 

 Skill set – Public speaking, organisation 
 

 
 
NOMINEE INFORMATION FOR CONSTITUTIONS COMMITTEE 

 

Graeme Drapper 

 Current member Constitutions Committee - Secretary 

 Member St John’s, Corinda 

 Occupation – Semi retired   

 Corinda Ministry Team 

 Chair QLECS 

 Secretary Good News Lutheran College Council  

 Skills- accounting, governance, leadership 
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Helen Howard 

 Current member Constitutions Committee  

 Member St Andrew’s, Tallebudgera 

 Occupation – Retired 
 Assist with various duties at St Andrew’s – kitchen & upkeep of altar vestments 

 Skills – management positions for 30 years 

 

 

NOMINEE INFORMATION FOR COUNCIL FOR LUTHERAN EDUCATION 
QUEENSLAND (CLEQ) 

 

Timothy Kotzur 

 Current member CLEQ – Administration and Governance 

 Member Our Saviour Lutheran Church Rochedale 

 Occupation – Head of College, St Peter’s Lutheran College (Indooroopilly and Springfield) 

 Current Chair CLEQ 

 Chair LEQ IR/HR Committee 

 Member Bond University Medical Program admissions panel 

 Hard Skill set – Education, governance, leadership, finance, human resources, industrial 
relations  

 Soft Skill set – critical thinking, listening, effective decision making, common sense 

 

Gary Fulton 

 Current member CLEQ – Administration and Governance 

 Member Living Faith Congregation, Murrumba Downs 

 Occupation – Solicitor, Notary Public, Company Director 

 President Elect Rotary Club, Pine Rivers 

 Vice Chair Grace Lutheran College Council (member for 20 years) 

 Past Chair Living Faith Lutheran Church Council 

 Past Councilor Living Faith Lutheran Primary School Council 

 Director of QLECS 

 Legal Officer Pine Rivers RAAF Sub-branch 

 Past Secretary Pine Rivers Agricultural, Horticultural and Industrial Association 

 Past President Society of Notaries Inc. 

 Honorary Solicitor Meals on Wheels Pine Rivers Inc. 
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Ray Ebert 

 New nomination to CLEQ Governance and Administration 
 Member Living Faith, Murrumba Downs 
 Occupation – Public servant (Sports Adminstrator) 
 Chair Living Faith Lutheran Primary School Council 
 Former Chair Our Saviours Lutheran Church Dayboro 
 Member Queensland Olympic Council – Executive Board member 2001-05; Vice 

President Executive Board 2005-16 
 Former member Rowing Queensland Inc (Deputy Chair), Rowing Australia Board 

member, Life member Pine Rivers Rowing Club, Manager Australia senior rowing team 
 Skill set – 24 years working in governance environment 

 

Rev Michael Neldner 

 New nomination to CLEQ – Parish Pastor 

Service to LCAQD: 

 St Paul’s Congregation, Caboolture, Qld, May 2016 – present 

 Bethania Lutheran Congregation, Qld, 1 July 2009 - 2016 

 Ashmore, Trinity Lutheran College Qld, 2003 – 2009 

 Novar Gardens, Immanuel Lutheran College, SA, 1998 – 2003  

 Rothwell, Grace Lutheran College, Qld, 1990 – 1998 

 Sandgate Lutheran Parish, Qld, 1985 – 1990 

Governance Experience: 

Participation in the following Councils in the years of service to those communities: 

 Bethania Lutheran Primary School Council 

 Trinity Lutheran College Council 

 Immanuel College Council 

 Grace Lutheran College Council 

Council member: 

 St Andrews Lutheran College Council, Qld, 2004 - 2015 

 

Mark Newton 

 New nominee to CLEQ – Parent representative 

 Member Redeemer, Laidley 

 Occupation – Office/Sales Manager 

 Chair Faith College Council, Plainland 

 Former Elder Redeemer Laidley 

 Finance and Education Committee member 

 Primary School Investigative Team 

 Vice President Laidley squash club 

 Skills – strategic planning, risk management, succession planning, finance, business 
management  
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NOMINEE INFORMATION FOR LUTHERAN SERVICES COUNCIL (LSC) 
 

Jennifer Danslow 
 Current Member LSC 

 Member St Peter’s Indooroopilly 

 Occupation – Process Engineer 

 Bach Engineering (Chemical); Grad Dip in Business Administration 

 St Peter’s Lutheran College Foundation Director 

 Girl Guides and Scouts Activity leader 

 QLD Performing Arts Team 

 Member St Peter’s Lutheran College Council 

 Skills – HR, business development, project management 
 

Simon LaBlack 
 Current Member LSC 

 Member St Peter’s Springfield 
o Play drums in church band 
o Assist with communion  

 Occupation – Lawyer / Business Owner 

 Bachelor of Journalism, Bachelor of Law, Graduate Diploma in Legal Practice 

 Admitted to QLD Supreme Court and High Court of Australia 

 Current QLS Principal Practicing Certificate 

 Member of Greater Springfield Chamber of Commerce 

 
Stuart Jaeschke 
 Current Member LSC (Vice Chair) 

 Member Prince of Peace, Everton Hills 

 Occupation – Bookkeeper and Business Owner 

 BTech (Mech Eng); Grad Dip (Control & Measurement Systems); MBA (Technology 
Management); Diploma in Project Management; Cert IV in Financial Services 
(Bookkeeping) 

 Current Treasurer Prince of Peace Lutheran Church 

 Current Treasurer and Foundation member Pine Rivers Municipal Brass Band 

 Current member and previous Treasurer of The Hills & District Chamber of Commerce 

 Current Chair Finance Audit & Risk Management Committee of DCC 

 
Pastor Mark Gierus 

 Current Member LSC 

 Pastor Mackay Community Lutheran Church 
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NOMINEE INFORMATION FOR COUNCIL FOR LUTHERAN YOUTH OF 
QUEENSLAND (CLYQ) 

 

Jodie Hoff 

 Current Member CLYQ 

 Member Bethlehem Lutheran Church, Woongoolba 

 Principal LORDS 

 Member of CLEQ 

 Recently held the position of Chair Curriculum Committee CLEQ 

 Member of ALWS Advisory Group 

 Skills – education, leadership, governance 

 

Keziah Sydes 

 Current Member CLYQ  

 Member Our Saviour Lutheran Church, Rochedale 
o Youth leader 
o Worship leader 

 Current Occupation - Marketing and Communication Officer 

 Skills – music, marketing, communication 

 

Meagan Dull 

 Current Member CLYQ Vice Chair 

 Member Good News Lutheran Church, Middle Park 

 Current Occupation – Merchandise marketing planner 

 Skills – honest, reliable  

 

Janelle Anderson 

 Current Member CLYQ  

 Member Lockyer Valley 

 Principal Faith Lutheran College 

 Skills – Leadership formation, organisational management, master planning, strategic planning 

 
 
NOMINEE INFORMATION FOR NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE 
 

Nil 



In - Confidence

LCAQD DCC Decision Required  
Council or Committee Appointment / Re- Appointment

 NOMINATION FORM

 I,…………………………………….……………………………………………………………………....

hereby nominate: ……………………….…………...........................................................................

For the following Committee/Council 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

 For the position of:

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….

Signed by nominator: ………………………………………....

I hereby accept nomination for the above: …………………………………………….…… (Nominee)

Details of Nominee: (All Sections are to be completed)

Name: ………………………………………………………………………………………………………..  

Phone: …………………...….…     eMail ……………………………………………………………….…

Address: ………………………………………………………………………………………….……….…

Postcode: …………..…………………………………..…

Congregation: ……………………………………… Pastor Signature (1)……………………………… 

Occupation: (2) ……………………………………………...

Positions (in community and local church) .....................................................................................

........................................................................................................................................................

Positions presently held: ……………………………………………………………………………….….

Skill set (2)   ………………………………………………………………………………………………..

Note:   1. The pastor in signing the form is certifying the nominee is an active communicant member 
of the congregation and is of good standing within the congregation. 
2.  A short biography of the applicant should be attached to this form

In - Confidence
150619 Council_appointment_nomination_form_standing_committee_V1 12.docx  Version 1.12 Approved at DCC   
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DEPARTMENT OF MINISTRY AND MISSION – 2018 

 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

Where God is working faith, there the church will be! God is the one who works faith 

in people.  

Luther was damning of faith that relied on human effort. He called it “a delusion”. And 

to be honest, there are many subtle iterations of such faith in Christendom today. 

In his introduction to Romans, Luther writes, “They think that, when you hear the 

gospel, you start working, creating by your own strength a thankful heart which says, 

“I believe.” That is what they think true faith is. But, because this is a human idea, a 

dream, the heart never learns anything from it, so it does nothing and reform doesn’t 

come from this `faith,’ either.” In contrast, Luther says “Faith is a living, bold trust in 

God’s grace, so certain of God’s favour that it would risk death a thousand times 

trusting in it. Such confidence and knowledge of God’s grace makes you happy, joyful 

and bold in your relationship to God and all creatures. The Holy Spirit makes this 

happen through faith.” 

I find these words both beautifully profound and profoundly condemning! If God is the 

one working faith in me, to the extent that it fills me with a boldness in my ‘relationship 

to God and all creatures’, then why does the church appear to be in decline? Is there 

something wrong with God? Or have I let the transforming power of God’s grace be 

lost in other agendas? Or lost in my own anxieties about the future of the church? 

Where God is working faith, there the church will be. Yes, the church is filled with 

broken and messed up people, with anxious people, with people who have difficulty 

separating their agenda from God’s, but faith informs us that God enters those 

communities to forgive, to bless, and to draw them back to faith so that they can have 

“such confidence and knowledge of God’s grace (that it) makes (them) happy, joyful 

and bold in (their) relationship to God and all creatures”. This is what the Synodical 

theme “Graciousness to the thousandth generation” is all about. God’s heart is to 

shower all people with his grace (John 12:32; 1 Timothy 2:4). Grace provides one thing 

– peace of heart and mind (Philippians 4:7) and that IS so much what the world needs. 

That is our mission!  

Sometimes, the Christian message of ‘grace to the thousandth generation’ gets lost in 

the cacophony of political, religious and social debate. In turn, this can lead the world 

to become antagonistic towards the Christian message, or at least ambivalent.  What 

needs to happen? 

The apostle Paul wrote it plainly, “But how can they call on him to save them unless 

they believe in him? And how can they believe in him if they have never heard about 

him? And how can they hear about him unless someone tells them?” (Romans 10:14, 

NLT). The message that we share is a message of hope and peace and life and 

transformation, a message that the Creator of this world wants to connect with every 

person, so that they too can live confident in God’s grace! 
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The LCAQD is a rich tapestry of ‘service and witness communities’. God calls each of 

these communities to “engage people with God’s love in everyday life”. This 

happens… 

a) as faith energizes us,  

b) as we remain outwardly focussed,  

c) as we continue to be open to the Spirit’s leading,  

d) as we embrace the cost of change,  

e) as we live life as community,  

f) as we reflect God’s inclusivity,  

g) and as we avoid distraction and proclaim the gospel. 

The future begins with a faith that is a living, bold trust in God’s grace, so certain of 

God’s favour that it would risk death a thousand times trusting in it.  

In the coming 12 months, it is the intention of the Department of Ministry and Mission, 

to continue to provide support, training and resources for the various ‘service and 

witness communities’ in the LCAQD to grow in grace and faith so that they can grow 

in their mission of sharing God’s grace to the thousandth generation. 

Church Planting 

The Department of Ministry and Mission works alongside the LCA Board for Local 

Mission in promoting and supporting mission opportunities within the LCAQD. The 

Director currently sits on the LCA Council for New and Renewing Churches. Through 

the support and work of Dr Noel Due and Dean Eaton, so far three LCAQD churches 

have formally completed the three year sending church/church planting journey; these 

are Our Saviour, Rochedale, Living Word, Ashmore, and Living Faith, Murrumba 

Downs. 

Service and witness entities 

Earlier in this report I used the term ‘service and witness communities’. This phrase 

reflects our function… to be engaged in the world, and to bear witness to God’s grace. 

As the LCA notes “Love comes to life when God’s people grow in his grace and go out 

into their world with his love”. God has provided a number of specific opportunities for 

us (as part of the wider church) to engage in serving others and bearing witness to 

God’s grace. These include, but are not limited to Lutheran Education Queensland, 

QLECS, Lutheran Services, LYQ. These entities provide additional ways for 

congregations, and individuals within congregations, to develop an outward-looking 

focus that sees faith impacting all of life. 

Council for Ministry and Mission 

At the time of writing this report, I have been in the role of Director for 5½ weeks. I 

wish to acknowledge the wonderful welcome and support of every department that 

operates out of Milton, and especially those who continue to ‘pick up after me’.  
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Additionally, I wish to formally thank and farewell the previous Director, Pastor John 

O’Keefe, whose administrative skills I can in no way emulate, and the members of the 

Council for Ministry and Mission; 

Rob Braunack 

Pastor Noel Burton 

Aaron Glover 

Robert Knock 

Kathy Matuschka 

Pastor David Schuppan 

Sandra Wilksch 

Pastor Dirk Willner 

I particularly thank Pastor Dirk Willner and Mrs Sandra Wilksch, who are retiring from 

their positions this year. 

 

Shalom in Christ 

Pastor David Schmidt 

LCAQD Director, Ministry and Mission 
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St John’s Hope Vale 

Living Waters Wujal Wujal & Morning Star Coen 

 

2018 Report to LCAQD Synod 

Dear Delegates & Friends 

This year has held many challenges and many joys. None of these could have been 

achieved or had successful outcomes without the love of God surrounding us, the 

prayer support of many people and the supply of material goods for our Pre Loved 

Good’s shop. The unexpected financial responses and support from a wide cross 

section of the District have been sincerely appreciated.                                                                                                                              

The faithful people in our communities always respond with the words ‘the Lord will 

provide’ when we reach a mere $10 in the bank! And He does – every time! These                                                                                                                      

are some of our ministry WOW! moments! However, we do expect to ‘do our bit’ to                                                                                                                                     

reach our goals as we have done again this year. 

The Pre Loved Good’s shop has provided a ministry and service to the community and 

also an income stream for the church to serve Hope Vale, Coen and Wujal Wujal. The 

Pastor’s wife has faithfully conducted this service on behalf of the church raising 

$45,000 in 2017. This result has been achieved through the generosity of 

congregations in the LCAQD, they know who they are, and we thank them so very 

much for sharing in our ministry in this way.                                                                       

The donations received unexpectedly, the support of secular organisations and 

individual people and the most gratefully received ongoing support of the Lutheran 

Women of Queensland and Australia. Combining all of these has enabled a positive 

ministry to continue in the far north of Queensland, where people say ‘we want to be 

Lutheran’.                                                                                                                                              

The reason we have delegates here at this synod is only due to the generous and 

compassionate support from one family in our District. We thank God from deep within                                                                                                                                     

our hearts for all those who have been on our ministry journey in 2017.                                                                                                                                                                                        

Even in today’s world with the social media we have and the instant communication, 

people from all walks of life welcome a Pastoral visit in their homes. To have an 

individual relationship with as many people as possible allows a very tangible and 

effective ministry to unfold. This doesn’t mean people flocking to Sunday services but 
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it does give a connection to the church and an opportunity that creates the basis for 

friendship ministry, a winner every time.   

Beyond 2020 

With the planned retirement of our Pastor in the year 2020 we are seeking God’s 

guidance in finding our next Pastoral leader for this special ministry. This is where the 

wider church can help again; perhaps you know someone who may be the ideal ‘fit’. 

Let us know and we’ll do the rest. Take it to the Lord in prayer. 

YouTube 

The remainder of our report will be presented to you via YouTube at synod. Be there 

to see what God is doing through His gift to people in our town.  

 

Respectfully Prepared and submitted by 

David Spanagel – Pastor 

Cheryl Cannon - Chairperson 
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2017 MISSION STIMULUS RECIPIENT,  
LIVING WORD LUTHERAN CHURCH, ASHMORE. 

 

 
 
The LLL grant of $25,000 was approved for a project called: ‘Church to College – 
Community Engagement’ and gratefully received by the congregation worshipping on 
the campus grounds of Trinity Lutheran College, Ashmore. The congregation has 
been involved with Dean Eaton to become part of the ‘SENT’ project for local 
evangelism and church planting. For our church members living on the Gold Coast 
that means doing ministry in a context that is often transient in population, fluid in 
participation, and mostly secular in orientation. In the foundational years (establ.1981) 
there was a high level of involvement between the congregation and the project to 
build the college. Today the College is successful on all levels, but the congregation 
has become aged, filled with empty-nesters and early retirees. The youth have grown 
up and pursued their careers elsewhere. Apart from the memories, there is very little 
interaction with the college from the congregational side, although our Pastor is heavily 
involved and upholds this as a high priority for the congregation.  
 
Our attempts to create a new generation for the church focused on the Junior School 
community and especially in the early years. A version of ‘Messy Church’ was 
introduced and has developed into a regular event during term time. The 
representation are a mix of young churched families and those with an un-churched 
background, but are open to exploring the Christian faith along with their children. This 
opening was the inspiration behind the idea of establishing a church plant and applying 
for this stimulus grant. 
 
Having received this grant at the 2017 LCAQD Synod, propelled us to further research 
and investigate all options. With guidance given by Dean Eaton, we formulated an 
approach that takes his insight seriously, appreciates training input of possible 
candidates, and incorporates his advice into our next steps. That has taken most of 
last year. 
 
Plans are now moving us from the investigation-development phase to the anticipation 
of having a church planter on campus as a practitioner of this new venture in campus 
mission. This Mission Stimulus Grant has made a bigger picture possible and allowed 
for a bigger project to be realized. The excitement of this possibility has also infected 
the college community to investigate with LYQ the formation of a campus student 
youth group facilitated through the college staff and volunteers, that likewise is 
envisioned to grow to form their own worshipping community. In effect this church 
planter will be a practitioner of our ‘Love/Life community’ using the LCA mission 
resources (New Life, New Love) and initiate a new chapter in ‘church to college 
community engagement’ for years to come. 
 
 
Rev. Dirk Willner 
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LUTHERAN YOUTH QUEENSLAND 
 
It is a joy to share with you the way that God is using Lutheran Youth of Queensland to 
impact children, youth and families across our state. Through our training, camping and 
coaching ministries we are now blessed to connect with over twelve thousand young 
people every year; sharing with the Good News of the Gospel and encouraging them in 
their journey of discipleship.  
 
As we serve in this ministry we are continually humbled by the incredible generosity of 
individuals, congregations, the District and our colleague departments who partner with 
us in ministry. Thank you for the incredible encouragement, prayer support, volunteer 
support and financial contributions that you share with us every year. We are indebted to 
your partnership and we feel incredibly blessed to be serving alongside you! 
 
The following Synod Report outlines the key ministry activities of the last 12 months. There 
is obviously only so much that we can share through a report like this so please don’t 
hesitate to contact us if you have any questions about our ministry. You can contact our 
office on 3511 4080 or alternatively you might like to visit our stand or talk to one of our 
team at Synod. We’d love to hear your story and the opportunity to tell you more about 
what God is doing to impact young lives through our District. We hope that you enjoy 
reading about all that our church is doing to impact young lives.  
 
 

HOLIDAY CAMP MINISTRY 
 
We were blessed with another powerful year of holiday camps during the last synodical 
term. Whilst registrations were lower than expectation, the ministry was as impactful as 
ever with campers and leaders growing in faith and returning home with renewed passion 
and confidence. It is a blessing to be involved! 
 
In the last synodical term we facilitated 12 holiday camps. Over the last six years our 
camping ministry has expanded beyond our popular Christian Life Week (CLW) and Kids 
Camps to also include our ‘Adventure style’ camps called Blast, Junior Blast, Explode and 
Junior Explode which we offer during the summer holidays. Our Summer season has 
grown significantly in recent years, with a new Kids Camp recently added at Koojarewon, 
and is now our busiest camping period.  
 
In 2018 we’re excited to announce two changes to our holiday camp ministry. After years 
of wrestling with rising camp prices we’re thrilled to be offering our Winter CLW Camps at 
a reduced price. Our events team have worked closely with our campsite team to identify 
cost savings (an advantage of our church owning our own sites) and we hope that the 
reduction in price will make camp more accessible to the children in our churches and 
schools.  
 
We’re also excited to announce the launch of a new Winter Kids Camp which will be held 
at Luther Heights at the same time as CLW. We’ve had a number of parents request a 
Winter Kids Camp and we’re thrilled to be able to finally offer this opportunity.  
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Camping Ministry Support – THANKYOU!! 
We cannot thank enough the incredible congregations and Lutheran schools that 
sponsor children, teenagers and young adults to attend our holiday camps. Every 
year a number of congregations and schools provide substantial discounts - some pay the 
entire cost – so that the young people in their communities can grow closer to God through 
our holiday camps (either as campers or leaders). Thank you for investing so strongly and 
clearly in the faith of the young people in your community! 
 
 

IN-SCHOOL TRAINING 
 
A highlight of the last Synodical term has been the tremendous growth in our In-school 
Training ministry. Every year we are blessed to equip hundreds of students through our 
leadership and personal development workshops facilitated in Lutheran, Catholic and 
Independent schools. In the last twelve months this exciting ministry has grown 60% with 
our team now facilitating, on average, a workshop every week of the school year.  
 
The workshops that we facilitate typically focus on key topics for senior students including 
team development, conflict resolution, gender specific matters, leadership development, 
culture development and time management. We facilitate both short-term (1/2 day, full-
day, camp) or long-term (six month coaching for key student leaders) training at the 
school’s choice of location. We’re also able to partner with schools to deliver ‘pathway’ 
programs that provide an integrated and consistent training program across multiple year 
levels.  
 
Importantly we find that these workshops are a great opportunity to present the Gospel to 
students. Our workshops are facilitated in Christian schools so our team are able to 
promote Jesus as the perfect servant leader and model the Christian faith to participants 
in word and action. 
 
 

CAMPSITE MINISTRY 
 
We’ve been blessed with another great year of ministry at our Koojarewon Youth Camp 
and our Luther Heights Youth Camp. We love the opportunity that campsite ministry 
provides to share God’s love with a diverse group of young people (and adults!).  
 
A key part of our ministry success at Koojarewon and Luther Heights is the tremendous 
support that we receive from our church community. Thank you to all the amazing 
volunteers who contribute every year through our Work and Fellowship Camps and in 
other ways to enhance our facilities and the experience we can provide campers – thank 
you! 
 
Koojarewon Youth Camp 
Our ministry at Koojarewon Youth Camp continues to develop in a steady manner and 
after 3 years of subsidy, and a lot of hard work by our team, we are thrilled to advise that 
Koojarewon recorded a modest surplus in 2017.  
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What is more exciting, however, is the opportunity that Koojarewon offers to bless the 
hundreds of guests who visit every year. Our team love the chance to encourage and 
challenge students when they visit on school camp… it’s special to see the children grow 
in confidence and understanding of themselves as they attempt new activities and step 
out of their comfort zone. We’re also blessed to host Emmaus and we love the opportunity 
to be involved with this powerful ministry.  
 
There is still a lot of work ahead of us to make the ministry at Koojarewon sustainable but 
we’re on the right track. Thank you to everyone who has helped us reach this point… 
we’ve received tremendous support from Lutheran members, churches and schools, 
particularly in the Darling Downs region – thank you! We also want to acknowledge the 
great work of our onsite team coordinated by Jodie Hauser. Thank you for all your hard 
work shaping this exciting ministry.  
 
Luther Heights Youth Camp 
Our Luther Heights Youth Camp ministry continues to grow and be a strength of our 
ministry.  We’re blessed to host more than 12,000 people at Luther Heights every year 
and honored to be able to share the Gospel with so many. 
 
Visitors come to Luther Heights for many reasons (i.e. school groups to community 
groups, church groups and corporate events) and most only stay for a short time (3 days, 
2 nights) but the ‘escape’ of camping means that all of them are open to growing, open to 
experiencing something new and open to creating lifelong memories. We’re thankful for 
the opportunity that this gives our team to share God’s love with thousands of people who 
wouldn’t normally visit a church.  
 
As reported in our last Synod report we’ve been working on the development of a new 
masterplan for Luther Heights. The new masterplan was approved by LYQ Council at our 
March 2018 meeting and we’re in the process of seeking approval from District Church 
Council to lodge a development application for Stage 1 of the masterplan. God willing we 
should be able to lodge a Development Application before Synod in the hope that we 
might be able to commence construction in 2019. We would appreciate your prayers as 
we progress through this process.  
 
 

YOUNG ADULT MINISTRY 
 
Over the last five years our District’s Young Adult Ministry has become a real strength. 
The ground-breaking research we conducted in 2014 has helped us to develop a layered 
ministry approach that has built a strong network of peer support and encouraged young 
adults in their discipleship.  
 
Every year our ministry kicks off with our annual young adult’s conference, The Gathering, 
which seeks to connect young adults in community and inspire/challenge them in their 
faith walk. We then launch our weekly ‘homestyle’ dinners designed to help young adults 
(particularly those new to Brisbane) to find a community of support and faith 
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encouragement. Since 2016 we’ve also facilitated a new monthly Surrender evening that 
seeks to encourage the practice of prayer and worship amongst young adults.  
 
The purpose of this ministry activity is not to be busy with events but to provide a platform 
through which young adults can connect with each other, and can meet to discuss matters 
of faith and life… it’s all about fostering relationships and developing discipleship. That’s 
why our Young Adult Ministry Coordinator works alongside and through these events to 
individually mentor and encourage young adults in faith. He also works closely with local 
churches to equip and coach them in their local ministry with young adults.  
 
Young Adult Discipleship Retreat 
A particular highlight for our team in the last year was the opportunity to facilitate another 
12 day Young Adult Discipleship Retreat. First held in 2015, our Young Adult Discipleship 
Retreat provides a small cohort of up to twelve young adults with an intensive discipleship 
experience that equips them to be leaders amongst their peers and in their congregations. 
Participants receive personal development, ministry training and theological insights from 
a number of experienced pastors, leaders, and practitioners that stretch their 
understanding of themselves, the church and God.  
 
We’ve found our Young Adult Discipleship Retreat to be a powerful way to disciple and 
encourage the faith of young adults. The 12 day experience is extended through on-going 
coaching and mentoring by our Young Adult Ministry Coordinator and it has developed a 
cohort of young leaders who are actively contributing to their local churches.  
 
 

LUMINATE  
 
Our District’s Luminate [verb: To illuminate] discipleship gap year commenced its third 
year in January with a cohort of four participants. Luminate is a 12 month experience for 
young adults (18-23) that fosters faith through formal learning, a strong peer community 
and ministry experience. The purpose of Luminate is to grow life-long disciples that live a 
life of service wherever God calls them. 
 
Luminate is an action-packed year that includes the completion of a Certificate IV through 
ALC, serving in a local church, a 2 week cross-cultural mission trip, serving on camps and 
exposure to a range of different ministry contexts and experiences. The average week for 
a Luminate participant involves 2 days together in study (at St Paul’s Lutheran Church, 
Nundah) and 2 days voluntary service in the local church… with time left for a part-time 
job or extra study.  
 
This year we were thrilled to offer scholarships to participants for the first time with 
scholarships ranging in value from one term ($2500) to two terms ($5000). Whilst we’ve 
been blessed every year to be able to arrange support for Luminate participants through 
the LCA study grants, the scholarships are a great way for young adults to confirm their 
support before they commence the program. We encourage potential Luminate 
participants to apply for the 2019 scholarships when applications open in June 2018. 
Details about the Luminate experience and scholarship information is available at 
www.luminate.org.au. 
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Luminate remains an investment for LYQ. The program will be sustainable when we are 
able to secure 10-12 participants per year. We’ve seen the transformative impact of the 
program and are hopeful that participation will grow over the next two years.  
 
We’d like to extend our thanks to congregations and individuals who have generously 
donated to assist Luminate participants over the last two years. We also want to extend 
our thanks to Lutheran Women of Queensland for their important support in this area too 
– thank you! 
 

CONGREGATIONAL SUPPORT 
 
An important part of LYQ’s ministry is the support that we provide to congregations. We 
believe that congregations are the heartbeat of our Church and we’re proud to support 
local congregational ministry through the provision of training, networking opportunities 
and coaching.  
 
An example of this is our annual Elevation training day (3rd Saturday of March) which has 
become an important way to support and equip leaders in children, youth and family 
ministry. This one-day event is now one of the largest training days of its type in Australia 
with 200 ministry leaders (Sunday school teachers, youth leaders, Pastors and teachers) 
equipped and resourced every year through practical training delivered by experienced 
trainers.   
 
We also facilitate regular Ministry Morning Teas for children, youth and family ministry 
workers in SE Queensland. These networking events, which incorporate an expert guest 
presenter, have been a very effective way to support local ministry workers (volunteer and 
paid) and grow connections between churches. Our Ministry Morning Teas are open to 
everyone (and they’re FREE!) – please make sure your Pastor, Sunday school teachers 
and youth leaders know about this great networking and professional development 
opportunity 
 
 

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 
 
Synod delegates would be aware that our ministry has grown and developed substantially 
over the last decade. As we’ve grown we’ve sought to develop a ministry model that is 
sustainable into the future. We’ve been incredibly blessed by significant support during 
this time from individuals, congregations and the LCAQD. That great support has enabled 
us to build a strong foundation that we hope will continue to grow into a sustainable 
ministry that lasts for generations.  
 
In 2017 LYQ started to pay rent for the office space we use at the LCAQD Milton Office. 
In the long-term District Church Council have indicated that they would like us to also 
contribute a governance fee or equivalent. This is an on-going conversation and we’re 
grateful to District Church Council for their understanding in slowly implementing these 
charges over a number of years so we can absorb the impact. We will obviously continue 
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to rely on the generous support of our ministry partners (individuals and congregations) 
as we navigate the way forward.  
 
 

HOW YOU CAN SUPPORT THIS IMPORTANT MINISTRY 
 
The vibrancy and influence of LYQ’s ministry is only possible because of the incredible 
support that we receive from members of the Queensland District – thank you! 
 
You and your congregation can continue to grow the effectiveness and reach of this 
important Lutheran ministry in the following ways: 
 
1. Pray for us – Please add us to your congregational prayer list. In particular we’d love 

prayers for our various ministries: 
a) Koojarewon Youth Camp  
b) Luther Heights Youth Camp 
c) Luminate Gap Year 
d) Holiday camp ministry 
e) Young Adult ministry 
f) In-school workshops 
g) Congregational support ministry  
 

2. Volunteer Support  
a) Join one of our upcoming Work Camps at Luther Heights or Koojarewon (July 2018 

and March 2019). Help us reinvigorate the buildings and grounds while having lots 
of fun. We provide the food, accommodation and the projects… you provide the 
hard work and the laughs! Our Work and Fellowship camps are a great 
intergenerational activity with all ages sharing their gifts and experience together 
to benefit others.  
 

b) Administration Support  
We are always looking for volunteers to assist with administrative tasks in our four 
offices (Milton, Ipswich, Highfields and Coolum). Contact us to find out more.  
 

3. Financial Support 
You and your congregation could provide one-off or monthly contributions. Donations 
can be made at www.lyq.org.au/donate.  

 
To find out more about how you can help or to register your support please contact Aaron 
on 3511 4080 or aaron.glover@lyq.org.au.  
 
Thank you for your on-going support.    
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Ian Grieshaber  
Lutheran Youth of Queensland – Chairperson 
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COUNCIL FOR LUTHERAN EDUCATION QUEENSLAND 
 
We note that there is a separate report from the Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood 
Services branch (QLECS) of Lutheran Education Queensland (LEQ) specifically with 
regard to the early childhood services and, therefore, this report focuses almost 
exclusively on the schools and colleges of the Department. 
 
LEQ submits this report for Synod’s information and as a record of our 2017 activities. 
 
1. Staffing  

The LEQ Secretariat comprised the following staff in 2017:  

 Role  Role 

Dennis Mulherin Executive Director Meg Noack Director – Identity 
& Formation 

Darren Pope  
(from Oct) 

Director – 
Leadership & School 
Improvement 

Dominique 
Jacqueline 

Education Officer 
– I & F (p/t) 

Maria Spina/  
Sandra McCullough 

Executive Assistant Stephanie 
Maher   

Education Officer 
– I & F (p/t) 

Kerryn 
Simpfendorfer 

Chief Financial 
Officer 

Kellie Ogg Archiving (p/t ) 

Peta Heit Accountant/Financial 
Analyst   

Eric Wilson Risk Services 
Manager 

Joseph Chia Systems Financial 
Analyst 

Paul 
Pantelimon 

ICT Technical 
Support  

Christina Spacie Accountant Val Lycho Admin Officer - 
Compliance 

Danielle Schneider Accountant / Payroll Derek Bartels  Director – 
Innovation & 
Technology 

Jean Acutt Payroll (p/t) Tracey Dalton Admin Officer  
– I & F 

Hannah Doecke Receptionist Alex Wong XTech (charge out)  

Scott Richens XTech (charge out) 
(p/t) 

Asif Wasseen XTech (charge out)  

 
This level of staffing equates to a head count of 22, an FTE of 18.5, of which 16.0 was 
funded through the Secretariat budget. As way of comparison, in 2014 the Secretariat 
had a head count of 23, an FTE of 21.1, of which 19.1 was funded from the Secretariat 
budget. (See table 1 below.) I present this to reinforce the belief that the Secretariat is 
running as efficiently as possible as it aims to support schools without duplicating 
services offered by other agencies such as ACARA and ISQ.  
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Year Head Count FTE Funded from 
Levy 

System 
Enrolments 

2014 23 21.1 19.1 18,256.5 

2017 22 18.5 16.0 18,107.5 

Table 1. Comparison of Secretariat staffing levels 2014 and 2017 

 

Each year we review our services by way of an anonymous survey and at the end of 
2017, the satisfaction levels were generally between high and very high.   Whilst we 
are able to track much of the general satisfaction levels longitudinally, for the first time 
in 2017, we asked for specific feedback on the quality of service offered by the 
individual members of the Secretariat leadership team. A summary has recently been 
supplied to CLEQ and also forms one tool in cyclical appraisals for individual staff. 

 

2. Enrolment Trend  

Overall, total enrolments for the 26 schools at 2017 Commonwealth Census was 
18,107, up 18 students on the corresponding 2016 figure (27 schools). This includes 
the loss of 163 enrolments with the closure of St Stephen’s Lutheran College at the 
end of 2016. Excluding these enrolments, the remaining schools achieved combined 
growth of 181 students. This is quite pleasing given the challenging environment in 
which schools are currently operating. There is a nationwide shift back from Non-State 
education to government schools for a variety of reasons.  

A number of schools grew in enrolments between 2016 and 2017 Commonwealth 
Census’. St John’s LPS Bundaberg and St Peters LC Springfield achieved 15% 
enrolment growth, LORDS and Good Shepherd 11% and Immanuel LC 7%. Overall, 
16 schools grew or held enrolment levels over the 12 months whilst the other 10 
experienced some level of enrolment decline. Early signs from the start of 2018 
indicate a worsening of this situation. 

 

3. School Leadership Changes 

Principal changes in 2017 

a) David Bliss commenced at St Andrews LC, having left the Executive Director role 
at LEQ at the end of 2016.  

b) Trudy Moala commenced at Grace LPS.  

c) Rev Mark Blackwell filled the Acting Head of College role at Concordia LC from the 
start of Semester 2 following the retirement of Michael Kaiser after 13 years of service. 

d) Shane Altmann commenced at Faith LC Redlands. 

e) David Radke commenced at Grace LC. 

f) Anthony Mueller filled the Acting Principal role at Peace LC whilst Elisabeth 
Fenske was on 12 months leave. 

g) Tanya Crooks commenced at Redeemer LC. 

h) Luke Schoff commenced at St James LC. 

i) Tim Kotzur commenced at St Peters LC Indooroopilly and Springfield. 
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Business Manager changes in 2017 

a) Gavin Lindenmayer commenced at Concordia LC.  

b) Leanne Wheeler commenced at Faith LC Redlands in mid-2017. 

Council Chair changes in 2017 

a) Kyal Osborne commenced at Concordia LC. 

b) Sue Langlands commenced at Faith LC Plainland. 

c) John Howard commenced at St Andrews LC.  

 

4. Business Services 

Three strategic goals captured the focus for Business Services during 2017. These 
were: 

a) Sustainability – establishing value in an increasingly competitive market. 

b) Financial Risk Management – Ensuring quality data for sound decision making. 

c) Strategic Development – Identifying efficient models of operation. 

Along with the continuous cycle of reporting and compliance monitoring, and support 
for Business Managers and their learning, there has been significant progress 
throughout 2017 in a number of projects that align with the strategic goals above and 
are a direct response to changing market factors for Non-State schools. These include: 

a) Automation of Financial Reporting Project 

b) John Black’s Demographic School Profiling Tool 

c) Finalisation of the St Stephens LC business discontinuation 

d) Post-2017 System and Individual School Funding Transitions and Model 

e) Supporting the LCAQD Budgeting process 

f) Marketing Strategy Project 

As a system, we are blessed to have the expertise of our CFO, Kerryn Simpfendorfer, 
and a team of financial analysts and accounting staff who are second to none.  

 

5. Innovation & Technology 

Highlights for the year included:  

a) Learning (Study) Tours focused on agile learning spaces and contemporary 
pedagogy  

b) National and International Accolades with three schools being named again by 
EducatorOnline as among the 30 most innovative in the country, offers by LEQ 
school educators and leaders to resent at national and international conferences. 
Visitors from intrastate, interstate and overseas are touring LEQ schools. 

c) Strengthening ‘buy in’ for contemporary transformation through innovation in 
relevant pedagogy and learning environments 

d) Introduction of Entrepreneurship Programs for students in a number of schools. 
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e) Growth in collaborative approaches to teaching and learning as schools leverage 
the strengths of being part of a system of schools. 

f) Increase in the use of technology to open up new ways to deliver educational 
programs in rural and remote locations. 

Derek Bartels has developed a significant profile outside Lutheran education circles 
with Catholic Education in Queensland in particular tapping into his expertise as they 
look to innovate and generate contemporary learning environments and practices. 

 

6. Identity & Formation 

Following feedback from schools in 2016, the focus of the work of Meg Noack, 
Dominique Jacqueline and Stephanie Maher moved from general curriculum support 
to Lutheran Identity & Formation. In particular, five areas of essential practice for 
Lutheran schools was supported.  

These are: 

a) Formation and LEA Accreditation of Staff through the delivery of Pathways and 
Equip courses. Overall, in 2017, 47 offerings of Equip modules were attended by 
559 teachers of Christian Studies. In addition, more than 300 staff members 
attended a Pathways module delivered by LEQ.  

b) The teaching of Christian Studies was further supported through CS Key Leaders 
network days and the effective use of the Ruth Murray Bequest to develop 
resources and share practice. 

c) Service Learning continues to be a vital ingredient to the Lutheran schooling 
experience for staff and students. Mini-conference, mentoring and a resource 
development were offered in 2017. 

d) Pastoral and Restorative Practices have been embraced by LEQ schools as a 
true reflection of our theology in action. 3-Day training in RP and networking days 
were initiated again during the year. 

e) Supporting chaplaincy in our schools, ordained and lay workers, remains a key 
focus for the LEQ team. 

 

7. IR and Risk Services 

With the departure of Lisa Walker early in 2017, the vacancy gave the Secretariat the 
opportunity to reflect on the way we support schools in the area of Industrial Relations. 
Employer Services, through Gil Muir and John Redsell (until his retirement in October), 
continue to support schools with IR advice in relation to our Enterprise Agreement. 
This occurs on a retainer basis with additional hours invoiced to respective schools 
where significant work is needed to be undertaken.  

A review will occur during the coming year to determine the nature of support in the 
areas of IR and HR, with staffing determined as a result of the review.  

In the area of risk services, Eric Wilson delivered First Aid and Resuscitation courses 
that included over 500 staff from our schools completing their certification or 
recertification. 
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8. Leadership and Governance 

With 9 new Principals or Acting Principals serving 10 schools appointed some time 
during 2017, there was a significant challenge to provide the support needed, 
especially to the four serving in the Principal role for the first time. Add to that the 
departure of David Bliss from the Executive Director role at LEQ after 2 years, and 
Dennis Mulherin’s appointment as Acting Director until appointed to the Executive 
Director role in mid-2017, it is fair to say that the resources to support leadership and 
governance were severely limited for most of 2017. 

As a consequence, the successful governance training workshops were placed in 
mothballs for 2017. This was unfortunate as governance support for School Council 
volunteers is a high priority for CLEQ and for the wider Church. They have been 
reinstated in 2018 and we would encourage all School Council members to avail 
themselves of opportunities to learn more about the important role of delegated 
governance responsibilities. 

With the addition of Darren Pope, since late October in the role of Director – Leadership 
& School Improvement, we have three current graduates of the Company Directors 
Course offered by the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD) to deliver 
quality governance training. ISQ and a number of Not-For-Profit companies offer 
governance resources and training for other NFP’s. 

 

9. Accountabilities and State Government matters 

The following schools conducted successful cyclical reviews in 2017:  

 Faith Lutheran College, Plainland 

 Good News Lutheran School, Middle Park 

 Good Shepherd Lutheran College, Noosaville 

 Pacific Lutheran College, Meridan Plains 

 St Paul’s Lutheran Primary School, Caboolture 

Whilst, running this process consumes significant resources on the part of the 
Secretariat, the ability to do so, with the approval of the State government, allows this 
compliance measure to be conducted in a supportive environment, allows Church 
requirements and expectations to be confirmed, and accommodates capacity building 
and collaboration between schools.  

Changes through the Education (Accreditation of Non-State Schools) Act 2017 and 
Regulation 2017 will mean the 2018 plan will need to be adjusted and approved by the 
government. The changes will be communicated at Schools Assembly and directly to 
school Principals. 

 

In conclusion, I thank the Secretariat for their ongoing work; they bring a high degree 
of professionalism and great commitment to all they do. 
 
I also want to acknowledge and sincerely thank the members of the Council of 
Lutheran Education Queensland for their untiring work not only on the Council but 
also on a number of sub-committees. They are all unpaid volunteers who work with 
great enthusiasm, and energy and bring much experience and expertise to their 
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leadership and support of Lutheran Education in Queensland. I thank them and look 
forward, with them, to serving you in this next synodical term. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
Tim Kotzur 
Chairman 
Council of Lutheran Education Queensland 
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LUTHERAN EDUCATION QUEENSLAND 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS TO 31 DECEMBER 2017 

 

 

Please refer to Appendix 1 for LEQ’s Financial Statements to 31 December 2017. 
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Service Types - 61 

a) Centrally Managed Services are known as QLECS Plus Services  

b) Locally Managed Services are known as QLECS Services 

QLECS Services QLECS Plus Services 

Long Day Care Centres 

1. Immanuel Early Learning Centre 1. Grace Crèche & Kindergarten, Redcliffe 

2. Little Lambs Early Learning Centre 2. Living Faith Early Learning Centre 

3. Pacific Lutheran Early Learning 3. Nazareth Lutheran Early Learning Centre 

4. St Andrew’s Early Learning Centre (L) 4. St Pauls Child Care Centre Mount Isa 

5. St Marks Early Learning Centre 5. St Pauls Child Care Centre Mysterton 

6. St Pauls Child Care Centre Nundah 
6. Good Shepherd Early Childhood 

Services; Hamilton, VIC 

7. Trinity Early Learning Centre  

Occasional Care/Limited Hours Care 

8. Goombungee Little Folks group 7. Trinity Occasional Care Centre, 
Southport 

Family Day Care Scheme 

9. Beenleigh Family Day Care Scheme 8. Amana Family Day Care Scheme 

Kindergartens  

10. Gatton Kindergarten ( Management & 
CGB) 

9. Bethania Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Bethania (L) 

11. Living Faith Lutheran Kindergarten (L) 10. Bethany Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Raceview (L) 

12. LORDS Little Wonders Kindergarten (S) 11. Centenary Christian Kindergarten (S) 

13. St James Kindergarten, Hervey Bay (L) 12. Concordia Lutheran Kindergarten (L) 

14. St John’s Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Geelong, Vic (S) 

13. Faith Lutheran Kindergarten, Victoria 
Point (S) 

15. St Pauls Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Caboolture (L) 

14. Grace Lutheran Preschool, Moree NSW 

16. St Paul’s Kindergarten, Grovedale, Vic 
(S) 

15. Martin Luther Kindergarten, 
Toowoomba (S) 

 16. Peace Lutheran Kindergarten, Cairns (L) 

 17. Prince of Peace Kindergarten, Everton 
Hills (L) 

 18. St James Kindergarten, Cleveland (S) 

 19. St John’s Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Bundaberg (L) 

 20. St John’s Lutheran Kindergarten, Eight Mile 
Plains (S) 

 21. St John’s Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Kingaroy (S) 

 22. St Peters Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Springfield (L) 

 23. St Stephens Lutheran Kindergarten, 
Gladstone (L) 

S= Sessional 

L= Long day Care model 
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School  Congregation  QLECS               External Management 

 

 

QUEENSLAND LUTHERAN EARLY CHILDHOOD SERVICES 

BRANCH 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Our Mission 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Outside School Hours Care (OSHC) 

17. Faith Redlands OSHC 24. Bethania OSHC 

18. Good News OSHC 25. Bethany Lutheran Primary OSHC 

19. Good Shepherd OSHC 26. Living Faith OSHC 

20. Grace OSHC 27. LORDS OSHC 

21. Immanuel OSHC 28. Martin Luther OSHC 

22. Pacific OSHC 29. Peace Cairns OSHC 

23. Peace Gatton OSHC 30. Prince of Peace OSHC 

24. Redeemer Rochedale OSHC 31. St Andrews OSHC 

25. St Peters Indooroopilly OSHC 32. St James Lutheran College OSHC 

26. St Peters Springfield OSHC 33. St Johns Bundaberg OSHC 

27. Trinity OSHC 34. St Pauls Caboolture OSHC 

QLECS is 

Committed to providing excellence in 

Early Childhood programs, Governance and 

Administration within a Christ-centred framework. 
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QLECS Staff 

Team Summary responsibilities 

Leadership 
Chief Executive Officer: Lyndal Mayer  
Senior Manager: Peter Soper  
Personal  Assistant: Ruth Payne 

Leadership and management of the Branch 
Staff; leadership and oversight of all Lutheran 
Early Childhood Services; advocacy and 
liaisons at all government levels and across 
sectors; accountability / compliance on behalf 
of the Approved Provider. 

Business Office 
Business & Financial Manager (BFM): 
 Reg Gulley  
Financial Accountant: Caroline Wilson 
Assistant Accountants: Elyse Mullins  
Finance Officers: Alexia St Clair 
 Sarah Jones 
 Caren Cadman 
 Lynne Christie 

Financial accountability and sustainability of 
Centrally Managed Early Childhood Services 
and the Branch. 

Oversight of accounts payable, reconciliation 
of financial results, production of and analysis 
of accounting reports, GST, FBT PAYG 
payments 

Monthly financial reports for all Centrally-
managed services 

Accounts Payable and Receivable, parent 
payments and fee statements, invoices, data 
entry. 

Children’s Services Managers 
Maryann Sword 
Deborah Wraight  (WHS) 
Carolyn Noonan 
Ann-Marie Davis  (Gold Coast) 
Julie Ker (Sunshine Coast) 
Mary-Anne Rowett    (0.8) 
Christine Hartung   (0.8) 
Bev Schneider (Toowoomba Region) (0.8) 

Advice, support and training for Service 
leaders and staff, programs and their delivery; 
management of financial, regulatory and 
accountability requirements (ECEC, NQF). 

Child Care Management Software (CCMS)      
Administration Support 
Someya Variava 

To provide quality CCMS administrative 
support to the QLECS team and Service 
Leaders of QLECS Services in all aspects of 
CCMS (and the providers). 

IR/HR/Legal Consultant 
Gemma Sharp 

 Provide advice to the CEO regarding 
general legal matters regarding the 
operations of QLECS; 

 Provide general legal advice on matters to 
QLECS Council; 

 Prepare and review employment contracts, 
policies, procedures for employees within 
QLECS Head Office and Services in 
conjunction with the CEO; 

 Conduct workplace related investigations 
regarding breaches of policies and 
procedures; 

 Act for QLECS in any unfair dismissal 
claims or other matters; 

 Seek external legal advice on various 
matters when necessary and work with 
external legal providers; 

 Provide advice to CSMs regarding various 
employment related matters. 
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Throughout 2017, QLECS Branch continued to provide support, management and 
advice to our services across Queensland, and northern NSW, as well as Consultation 
and Training for the Victorian District.  
 
National Quality Framework (NQF): 
a) The revised NQF came into effect on 1st February. All Services will now be 

assessed against the new standards. 
b) At the end of 2017, of the 57 services that come under the NQF, 86% received a 

rating of Exceeding or Meeting National Standards and 14% received Working 
Towards. (Exceeding – 27 services; Meeting 22 services, Working Towards 8 
services). 

 
Achievements 
a) Continuing to support services and staff to understand and implement a Christian 

Curriculum.  
b) Training of staff in ‘Lutheran 101’ to assist in their understanding of the Church 

and how it relates to our Early Childhood Services. 
c) Successfully managed non-compliance issues on behalf of all Services, to the 

satisfaction of the Early Childhood Education and Care Department, ensuring that 
no Service or District Church Council, faced fines or prosecution. 

d) St Paul’s ELC Townsville – work is progressing on a new building for the Service. 
It is scheduled for completion in December. The current Centre will revert back 
to the congregation for their use. 

e) Grace Preschool Moree was successful in receiving a NSW government grant for 
extensions to the existing Service to create an extra room and promote 
indigenous participation in early childhood education. 

f) QLECS was the beneficiary of the 2017 Lenten Appeal. The funds are being used 
to provide Christian resources to Services and further training around staff 
development and Christian Studies. We are very grateful to those who 
contributed and made this possible. 

g) From a successful LLL Special Mission grant, QLECS has been able to use 
the funds to contribute to the appointment of a part-time Chaplain, to provide 
pastoral care/chaplaincy assistance to Services where this is not presently 
available. 

 
Challenges: 
In December 2017, two Child Care Services of the LCAQD, New Life at Hillcrest and 
St James Child Care Centre Cleveland, were closed. The New Life property and 
buildings were sold, which saw the Child Care Centre close and Amana Family Day 
Scheme relocate to new premises at Shailer Park. The St James Child Care building 
was termite damaged and will be demolished in the middle of the year. The 
Kindergarten, sited in a different building, continues to operate. 
 
Summary 
QLECS staff strive to work ethically, diligently and honestly as they oversee the 
Services within QLECS and act on behalf of the LCAQD, as the Approved Provider, to 
ensure quality and Christian service is being delivered.  We endeavour to be good 
stewards of God’s resources as we work in partnership with local communities, 
regulatory authorities, congregations and schools to provide the very best in quality 
environments and programs for young children and their families. 
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I would like to thank all who support our operations and services, giving selflessly of 
their gifts, talents and time. 
 
a) the Committees and Advisory Groups at each Service 
b) Congregations, schools and colleges who support Services and QLECS staff 
c) Pastors/Chaplains and congregation members who visit and support the Services 

on their Christian journey; 
d) our services’ staff for their dedication to provision of quality early childhood programs;  
e) the QLECS Operations Team  
f) the QLECS Council members for their professional governance and guidance  
g) The support of LEQ and the District Office 
 
Lyndal Mayer 
Chief Executive Officer 
QLECS 
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BETHANIA LUTHERAN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
BETHANIA 

 

INTRODUCTION 
2017 was a very exciting year for our school as we continued to develop and grow as 
an innovative learning environment where students are involved in real world learning 
in a deep and meaningful way. Professional learning in contemporary pedagogy was 
a key driver for the year with teaching staff attending both national and international 
education tours. 2017 saw our school win two more national awards and regularly host 
visitors from other schools around Australia. Sarah Schnetker, the Deputy Principal, 
was recognised as a ‘Rising Star’ for her role as a bright, young professional leader 
and our Principal, Catherine Eyers, was recognised as one of the top school leaders 
leading the way in education. At the centre of the three national awards we have won 
over the last two years are our students. Our desire to provide the best possible 
education and an engaging, caring learning environment for all our students is the key 
driver for all our staff. At Bethania we want all our students to enjoy coming to school 
and to be engaged in learning in a deeply personal way. With the world rapidly 
changing it so important for our students to develop a flexible mindset, be able to 
manage change and be able to work and communicate in a collaborative setting.  
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Our school theme for 2017 was ‘Do justice, show mercy, walk humbly with our God’. 
Micah 6:8 
 
School Worship remains a central and unifying feature of our school. As well as 
Chapel, the children join together in their classes each day for class devotion. 
Throughout the year, across school activities and chapel, we emphasised and 
unpacked our theme verse in a way which students could relate to. This bible verse 
shaped all of our chapel services with the themes for the term being: 
a) Do justice – Term 1 
b) Show mercy – Term 2 
c) Walk my way – Term 3 
d) Walk humbly – Term 4 
 
Chapel is a vital part of our school week and is very well supported in parent attendance.  
 
2017 saw the connection between our school and the work of ALWS in Kakuma 
refugee camp. This year, our project was to raise money to pay for primary aged 
children to attend school in the camp.  
 
Student Council organised fund raising activities and Year 5 held a very successful 
Walk for Kakuma with the theme ‘walking together to spread God’s love’. In the end 
the school raised over $9000 which was a wonderful result.  
 
We were blessed to again this year receive Commonwealth funding for a Chaplain 
which enabled us to provide this valuable service to our students.  
 
Each morning staff join together for a devotion, prayer time or Bible Study. This is an 
important time of reflection and spiritual support for our staff. During the pupil free week 
in the middle of the year all school staff participated in a retreat which for 2017 was 
held at Victoria Park Golf Club Brisbane. The theme for the retreat was ‘Walk humbly 
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with our God’. This is a wonderful time, during which staff can take a breather from the 
hectic life of school, spend time with the Word, reflect and enjoy each other’s company. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
The focus for 2017 has been the continuation of our journey to best meet the learning 
needs of 21st century learners who will exit school into a world that is rapidly changing 
and into jobs that have not yet been invented.  
 
The physical learning environment inside our classrooms has had a very positive 
impact on our students and the way they engage in their learning.  Flexible mind set, 
self-direction, problem solving, collaboration and thinking creatively are skills which are 
being developed right across our school. In 2017 all classes from Prep through to Year 
6 engaged with project based learning. Watching and hearing our students present 
their learning to an audience, has been a highlight for our parents this year. Learners 
who often need teacher support to show their learning have thrived as their creativity 
and problem solving skills have allowed them to shine in this style of learning.  
 

STAFF 
Staff encourage students to take control of their own learning and be curious about the 
world they live in. In order for this to happen we believe that it is vital for our staff to be 
provided with high quality professional learning. To this end the school has committed 
large amounts of time and resources to access experts in their field to guide and 
mentor our staff. High quality professionals are engaged to conduct workshops and 
professional learning programmes in the school. Our school is also committed to 
sending every classroom teacher on the LEQ Sydney learning tour. 
 
The continuing growth of our staff professional culture as one of collective support and 
expertise has been a priority.  
 

CURRICULUM 
Some of our distinctive curriculum offerings are as follows: 
 
a) Play is the Way 

Play is the Way is a practical methodology for teaching social and emotional 
learning using guided play, classroom activities and an empowering language. 
It is a process that gives our school a way to develop, improve and entrench the 
personal and social capabilities of students. 

 
b) Coding and Robotics 

All students from Prep through to Year 6 study coding and robotics. 
 
c) Outdoor education 

Outdoor education is an important part of the school program. This wide ranging 
program has an educational focus while also aiming to develop independence, 
resilience, a sense of personal achievement, and team skills within our students. 
The program begins in year 3 with a day camp and sleepover in the Worship 
Centre. Camping experiences begin with a camp of three days in Year 4 and 
culminates with a weeklong experience in which the children in Year 6 visit Sydney, 
Canberra and the snow.  
 

d) Music 

http://playistheway.com.au/content/36-sel
http://playistheway.com.au/content/36-sel
http://playistheway.com.au/content/37-personal-and-social-capabilities
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The music program is a vibrant addition to our school day with over 70 students    
involved in individual or group music lessons. All students in our school receive 
one class lesson in music led by our music specialist teacher. 
 
Music performance is a vital part of our school culture with our musicians being 
given many and varied opportunities to perform. This year we also staged a very 
successful musical ‘Eye Eye Captain’ which was written and directed by our 
Principal, Catherine Eyers.  

 

COMMUNITY 
The school is blessed to have a very strong parent community who are actively 
involved both inside and outside the classroom. The Bethania Lutheran Community 
Church congregation are also very involved in the school, volunteering their time to 
help our children. We also have a very strong connection with the QLECS operated 
OSHC and the Kindergarten with our three organisations working closely together as 
part of the wider community.  
 
Visits by National and International Educators. 
In 2017 we again received many requests from teachers and leaders, from across the 
country and globally, wanting to visit our school to see the work we have been doing 
in transforming learning to meet the needs of learners in the 21st century. This ranged 
from tours to whole day activities. 
 

CONCLUSION 
In an ever changing world, we look forward to meeting the needs of our community 
through the provision of a Christ centred education where every student is regarded 
as a unique creation of God.  
 
Ian Rub 
Chair 
Bethania Lutheran Primary School Council 
  



Page 23 of 87 

BETHANY LUTHERAN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
RACEVIEW 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Bethany is a stand-alone, Lutheran, double stream primary school in Raceview, 
Ipswich, and is part of Ipswich Lutheran Church. Our school supports a wide range of 
student needs, including 18 students with verified learning disabilities in the context of 
a vibrant Christian community. As a learning community we explore the positive impact 
we can have on the lives of others and how others support us in making our own lives 
better too. God invites us to understand that constructive, healthy relationships support 
us in becoming our best selves. Where teachers, students and parents help each other 
grow, and build a community based on God's love for them, celebrated and shared 
actively with each other, we have opportunity to thrive. God created people to help 
each other and to provide us with companionship to enjoy the awesomeness of the 
world he gave us.  He also gave us gifts and talents that are unique and varied in order 
that all people can participate in the life of his creation to their fullest capacity and care 
for it. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING AND CURRICULUM 
At Bethany we are continuing to research what needs to happen in teaching and 
learning to develop children’s capacity to be able to be successful employees in an 
entrepreneurial society. It begins with the recognition that students need the following 
capacities specified in the Teaching and Learning Framework for Lutheran Schools. 
As we look at what is necessary for work in a technologically advanced workplace we 
see students need the following skills: 
a) self-directed, insightful investigators and learners  
b) discerning, resourceful problem solvers and implementers  
c) adept, creative producers and contributors  
d) open, responsive communicators and facilitators  
e) principled, resilient leaders and collaborators  
f) caring, steadfast supporters and advocates  
 
These skills do not come from being directed on what to do and how to do it (direct 
teaching). They come from being challenged, from using strategies and testing our 
ideas, through experimenting and trying different approaches, through trial and error 
(yes – through making mistakes and eliminating possibilities), through communicating 
with others and doing problem solving and being creative in our thinking. Using such 
skills, we move beyond what we call knowledge to new knowledge for new purposes 
to design new products and ways of achieving our desired goals. Agile Pedagogy is 
about active learning. In many respects it is like what children naturally do early in life 
when they observe, think, experiment and test the environment. Using an agile 
mindset, they use this approach to learn to crawl, walk, make noises, talk and this is 
all done without parents having a curriculum and teaching.  
 
It is also the approach taken in Kindergarten and the Early Years where children 
experience the world around them. Brain Neuroscience in the last decade has made 
tremendous discoveries and tells us that the brain is different from what we have 
believed in the past. The brain has amazing plasticity and can use different parts to 
compensate for areas which have been damaged. We now know that it is from more 
complex functioning in problem solving and using higher level communication that 
brain functioning is strengthened and capacity grows. 
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In 2017, we moved forward with Agile Learning Strategies driven by the Curriculum 
and more effectively using the tools technology has provided. Agile Pedagogy 
progressed in its journey in our school to transform teaching and the classroom 
environment from Years 4 and 5 to also be adopted in Year 6. At the same time subtle 
changes were taking place in Prep to Year 3. 
 
Bethany also prepared to complete NAPLAN online and was deemed by ISQ to be 
excellently prepared. However, due to the withdrawal of Education Queensland and 
other systems from the trial, this did not occur, but was delayed until 2018. 
 

BLIPS MAINLY MUSIC  
(Bethany Lutheran Ipswich Parish and School) began in Term 2 of 2015. It has 
continued strongly and provided care and support to families with young children. The 
group meet on Wednesday morning after our whole school chapel worship time. The 
children love the music and movement sessions and time playing together afterwards 
while the adult carers enjoy talking with each other and having morning tea. Families 
from the wider community are involved in this group and enjoy being part of our 
community. 
 

BETHANY LUTHERAN COMMUNITY KINDERGARTEN 
The long daycare Kindergarten caters for an enrolment of 22 students and had close 
to a full enrolment in 2017. The staff work together as an excellent team and the Centre 
has received the highest rating available by the registration authorities. The setting is 
excellent and many of the children go on to school at Bethany. The Kindergarten, 
managed by QLECS, has been operating for over 10 years and has an excellent 
reputation in the wider community.  
 

OSHC  
Bethany OSHC became a long awaited reality at the beginning of Term 4, 2017 and 
the children love going. After only one term, the OSHC in the afternoons usually has 
only a couple of vacancies for 2018. Maryanne Sword, our QLECS Service Manager, 
has already indicated, that we will soon need to look at finding another space to add 
to the current one to accommodate more children. The mornings are not as busy. 
QLECS are certainly happy with the set up and we have been blessed to have a great 
team operating our centre! Jody Burdett, our Co-coordinator and her team were 
installed at the Staff Installation Service on the 11th February 2018 along with staff 
from the Kindy and the school. The OSHC operates in a double Journey room space, 
equipped with a kitchen area, and is used during the school day as the Arts Centre 
until our new centre for the arts is built during 2018. 
 

PASTORAL CARE 
At Bethany we have a part-time Chaplain supported through the Commonwealth 
Chaplaincy Program. The Chaplain, Amanda Rogers, is available to provide help and 
support to students, parents and staff. Her role in the school is valued and like all 
support personnel there is never enough time to service all the needs in our 
community. As with any school community we have children and families involved in 
family breakdowns, custody issues, bereavement and the suffering that goes with 
terminal illness in the family. Amanda runs a parent education and discussion group 
for School Mums, which incorporated a playgroup. She also works with children 
throughout the school who need support in social and emotional areas, individually and 
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in groups. In 2017, the ‘Kids Hope’ mentoring program was investigated and began to 
be introduced. Amanda is a qualified Lutheran teacher and has a Diploma of 
Counselling through the Australian Institute of Professional Counsellors. 
 

WORSHIP 
Our two Parish Pastors have a strong involvement with our school. Pastor Milton 
Fritsch and Pastor Ben Henschke are rostered on leading chapel worship each 
Wednesday morning along with the Principal and two of the teachers. Each of the 
pastors also lead staff Bible Study, doing a study term about. Our Pastors also enjoy 
going on camp with the students, and occasionally visiting with classes to talk about a 
special topic of interest. From time to time we also have guests lead Chapel. Susan 
Seng from ALWS is a regular visitor and Bible Joe from the Bible Society. 
 
The theme for our worship for the week is also the theme of the devotion on the front 
of our newsletter, which is written by the worship leader. In 2017, the theme of LOVE 
was explored in depth. The Principal also writes a paragraph in the newsletter on how 
the topic is applied and lived out in our school. Our teachers all undertake Equip 
through LEQ to become fully qualified as Lutheran Teachers. 
 

STAFF 
Our enrolment at the commencement of 2017 was 269 students. The teaching staff 
included 21 teachers caring for 13 classes. The staff continued to build on the good 
work that has been done in curriculum over the last four years and the planning that 
has been done through the Self Improving Schools Project (SIS). The ongoing spread 
of leadership and empowering people to use their skills in areas of interest and strength 
has been great. We are seeing our staff grow through the opportunities they have had 
to focus their PD on specific curriculum areas. We now have teams working across the 
school and teachers on staff are upskilling each other through sharing their knowledge 
and skills. The SIS ISQ Funded Project and the School Council Strategic Planning in 
2016 has been maximized by the staffing and budget work of Peter Hollett in planning 
as we move forward. 
 

CAPITAL PROJECTS 
The highlights of the year in this area were the  installation and opening of a new Prep 
Playground at the beginning of Term Two, completing the process of applying for a 
BGA application for a Centre for the Arts and our 14th classroom space, purchasing 
128 Cascade Street (the home to the east of the school entrance), and fencing northern 
boundary of the school property and the western boundary of the school carpark. Late 
in the year we were advised that our BGA application was successful and that the State 
Government have allocated $610,000 to our Building Project.  
 

GOVERNANCE 
Bethany has been blessed with a strong, supportive School Council led by a team of 
skilled people with a passion for serving the children of our school community. The 
Council is both visionary and focused in empowering the school staff to carry out its 
mission and vision for excellence in Christian education. Recently, a highly 
experienced Lutheran Primary School teacher came into our school to provide relief 
teaching for the first time. I was delighted to hear the comment made by the teacher, 
who said what a wonderful surprise it was to be in a classroom with such enthusiastic 
students who enjoyed their learning in new and exciting ways; different from what the 
teacher was used to and certainly making teaching more fun! 
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CONCLUSION 
I am proud of our teachers, our School Council and our parents for having the courage 
to move forward and be committed to Lifelong Learning, Continuous School 
Improvement and Innovation. Best of all it is in the context of building in children hope 
for the future based on Christian values and beliefs supported by 21st Century 
Learning Skills that will give them the creative problem solving tools to adapt and thrive 
in a changing world. In September 2017, our school was recognized publically by 
receiving an “INNOVATIVE SCHOOLS THE FUTURE OF EDUCATION AWARD” for 
our work in the areas of Agile Learning driven by the curriculum. 
 
Andrew Stanke 
Chair 
Bethany Lutheran Primary School Council 
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CONCORDIA LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
TOOWOOMBA 

 

INTRODUCTION  
In 2018, a new chapter in the history of Concordia Lutheran College commences as 
Mr Adrian Wiles is installed as the Head of College. Mr Wiles was appointed to the 
position in late 2017 after the retirement of outgoing Head of College Mr Michael 

Kaiser. Another key appointment for 2018 was Concordia’s new Director of Boarding, 

Mr Jim Tamvakis. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND MINISTRY AND WELLBING 
Rev Mark Blackwell (College Pastor) leads the Ministry Team and is supported by 
Mrs Nicola Heuschele as the College Chaplain. Together they coordinate and lead the 
worship life of the College across the three campuses. They work with the student 
Ministry Captains to support the faith of students and to also provide opportunities for 
all students to hear of God’s love for them through his Son, Jesus Christ.  
 
The Ministry Team sets the Chapel theme for each year and in 2017 celebrated and 
promoted the 500th anniversary of the Reformation, culminating in a worship service 
on 31 October attended by all students from across the College. Students raised funds 
to support the purchase of ‘AudiBibles’ – solar powered MP3 players that contain God’s 
Word and are distributed to remote parts of Papua New Guinea.  
 
In 2018 the theme is CREATION as students and staff explore the depths of God’s 
creation, the gift of it, and our task in being advocates and good stewards of it. The 
Ministry Team continues to support the spiritual wellbeing of students, staff and 
families and works in partnership with Emmanuel Lutheran Fellowship to care for 
members of the College community. 
 
Mr Jason Smith, Director of Student Wellbeing, leads a Pastoral Care team that has a 
breadth and depth of experience that allows it to deliver a timely and effective program. 
Student Counsellor (Mrs Sonia Siebenhausen) and the Junior College Chaplain 
(Mrs Carmen Walmsley), provide support, guidance and care to students.  
 
Every effort is made to foster an environment where students can flourish. This 
involves championing individually, diversity, community and respect. Students are 
encouraged to explore their talents and interests and to celebrate in the achievements 
of their peers. Restorative practices alongside high expectations provide an 
environment where students feel valued, confident to be themselves and empowered 
to achieve. 
 
The team works hard to create and nurture an environment that reflects who we are 
as a Christian community.   
 

STUDENTS 
There are just over 600 students studying across all three campuses at Concordia 
Lutheran College in 2018. Of this, approximately 50 students are boarders, 20 of whom 
are international students. 
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STAFF 
At the end of 2017, the College had a total staff group of approximately 170 across the 
three campuses and boarding student communities. Staff appointments extend from 
Academic staff, including Music Tutors, Sports Coaches and Teacher Aides, to a 
variety of Support staff in Administration, Boarding, Catering, Grounds and 
Maintenance, as well as Laundry. The College continues to welcome and encourage 
a variety of volunteers, most often parents, who support classroom and extra-curricular 
activities. An increasing number of staff are engaged in a part-time capacity.  
 
The College Council and Leadership Team are both appreciative and grateful for the 
contribution of all staff members, particularly those who serve the College community 
over and above the expectations of their position.  
 
Several retirements and staff transfers occurred at the end of 2017, and we 
particularly acknowledge the extended service and dedication of the departing Head 
of College, Mr Michael Kaiser, and the support of the College Pastor, Rev. Mark 
Blackwell for acting as Head of College in Semester 2. We extend God’s richest 
blessings to all College staff, past and present. 
 

CURRICULUM 
The most dramatic change in four decades is currently occurring in the Queensland 
education system with the introduction of the New Senior Syllabus. The new syllabus 
will commence in 2020 for our Year 12 students. Queensland will move from the 
current OP system to an ATAR (Australian Tertiary Admission Ranking) system which 
will see students in Queensland sitting an external exam. The new syllabus will use a 
numerical system to weigh each subject. This will bring Queensland into alignment 
with the southern states of Australia in using the ATAR system to gain a university 
placement.  
 
This change has been very challenging and significant as we consider the 
transformation of every senior subject being offered, the multitude of QCAA documents 
required to implement the process and the new syllabus workshops with each senior 
teacher attending to gain the understanding needed to proceed forwards with the 
necessary changes.  
 
While the Year 12 students of 2020 will sit their first external exams at the end of that 
academic year, many of the changes will commence in 2019 as they undertake their 
Year 11 studies. Students are being prepared in these new subjects in both the content 
and the skills required for each subject.  
 
This change also has ramifications for our whole school curriculum direction and 
documents. Work has commenced with the current Year 10 curriculum documents in 
preparation for the change for Year 11, but this will need to continue over the course 
of the next year as we amend, adapt and expand on what currently exists to make sure 
our students are equipped with the skills required for them to achieve to the best of 
their ability. 
 
Throughout this journey our teachers have always been aware of our core business, 
to deliver quality teaching practice within a framework where the Gospel of Jesus Christ 
informs everything we do.  
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Our teaching practices continue to evolve as we recognise the need to develop a whole 
school approach to building a professional learning culture at Concordia Lutheran 
College. 
 
Concordia is moving towards using data to inform our teaching practice. If we wish to 
be viewed as innovative and exciting, then we need to focus on how we advance our 
knowledge about learning and teaching. We need to work towards improving our 
students learning in our classes and look at how the learning of students has improved 
because of the input of syllabus, teaching methods and pedagogy.  
 
Concordia Lutheran College is using the Visible Learning Framework which comes 
from the research of John Hattie to assist the school in this task. We have employed 
the Corwin Group to undertake the Professional Learning required. This is an exciting 
and challenging time to be involved in education and curriculum transformation. 
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
The College annually carries out an intensive maintenance program during the 
Christmas vacation period. Included in this program the College carried out classroom 
air conditioner installations, carpet laying and painting in the girls boarding area. 
 
Throughout 2017, major renovations were made to the College houses located at 352 
and 354 South Street. There were also minor renovations to the remaining three rooms 
of the Clubhouse to accommodate Queensland Cricket. 
 
Ongoing architectural and engineering plans to upgrade the Aquatic Centre also took 
place to include a warm air extraction air conditioning system, glazing, painting, foyer 
area and sealed car park. It is envisaged that works will commence mid-2018. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
The role of College Council is to determine long term strategic planning and initiatives, 
which is concerned with the aims, priorities and future developments of the College.  
 
It is through these activities that we shape the overall ethos and purpose of the College. 
Our other key role is to provide support and encouragement to the Head of College 
and the Leadership Team in their daily operational activities. 
 

CONCLUSION 
The support of families for our College is overwhelming. There are many parents, who 
given their own busy schedules, still find time to assist around the campuses; being 

part of P&F committees; attending parents’ and grandparents’ days, sporting and 

cultural events and so on. Our students, in their own unique ways, contribute greatly 
to College life in academic, sporting and cultural pursuits. 
 
May God bless all who give so much of themselves to educating our children and 
teaching the everlasting love of Jesus. 
 
Kyal Osborne 
Chair 
Concordia Lutheran College Council 
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FAITH LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
PLAINLAND 

 

INTRODUCTION 
The 2017 school year was a time of consolidation for the College and we were able to 
celebrate successes with a vast array of students in activities ranging from equestrian, 
robotics, sport and our College musical, “The Wiz”. The year’s focus was on 
Transformation based on Romans 12:2 “Do not conform any longer to the ways of this 
world but be transformed by the renewing of your mind.  Then you will be able to test 
and approve what God’s will is – His good, pleasing and perfect will.” 
 
Because 2017 was the five hundredth anniversary of the Reformation, we investigated 
some of the history of the Lutheran Church and its ability to be shaped and molded by 
God, even five hundred years later.  Though we spent some time focussing on Luther, 
the man, we also went through a series of scriptures that allowed us to understand 
how God formed us as individuals, as families, as communities and as countries, and 
how we are blessed to be shaped like clay in the potters hand.  Once formed, even the 
greatest potter knows that the same materials which made the clay vase can be 
reshaped and repurposed.  Thus, the reformation of the church in the mid-16th century. 
Even though the reformation took place, we wanted to create a focus on continued 
newness – thus, transformation after reformation.   
 

STUDENTS 
The College continues to build clear pathways for students and there was a solid 
academic performance across all areas. Our Year 12 students performed as expected. 
We had some very pleasing results and the majority of students have moved forward 
with their preferred study, traineeship and employment. Out of the 108 graduating Faith 
Lutheran students, 98 attained a Queensland Certificate of Education. Eighty-five 
students received a certificate, ranging from a Certificate I through to a Diploma level 
qualification whilst at the College. This is on par with last year’s results, where 97% of 
students attained a QCE, completed a school based traineeship or vocational 
qualification. Forty-six students achieved a Certificate III with an additional 54 
Certificate II’s being completed by students in the cohort. Slightly above last year 8.1% 
of OP eligible students received an OP 1-5. 20.4% received an OP 1 -10 and the year 
noticed a significant dip in OP eligible students, a reduction from 60% to 45%. Out of 
the 39 students who applied to attend university, 89.7% received an offer and 66.7% 
received their first preference in course and location. The College continues to work 
very hard to offer clear pathways into post-schooling study or work. 
 
We have been very pleased with the success of our Year 10 preparation for senior 
programs which have provided significant opportunities for students to receive a range 
of VET certificates as well complete some competencies for Certificate II and III Senior 
VET offerings. Staff have provided OP level pre-preparation content and pedagogies 
for their subject areas. 
 

STAFF 
Our focus on enhancing staff skills and training saw a significant change to meeting 
structures and scheduling. Staff meetings included essential PD requirements as well 
as staff engaging in specific curriculum team meetings. All teaching staff also 
participated in Professional Transformation Teams which were available in areas as 
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diverse as ICT, ASoT, Values, RP, Circle Chat, Service Learning and others. We have 
been blessed with a team of very dedicated staff and they serve the community with 
dignity and pride. 
 

CURRICULUM  
Our College continues to focus on effective quality teaching and learning to ensure 
each student can achieve to their potential. We have continued implementing our 
Framework based on the Art and Science of Teaching, as well as the areas of 
Differentiation, Data and an introduction to the Essential Skills of Teaching in 
preparation for our 2018 focus on Coaching and Mentoring. We have been able to 
retain the breadth of curriculum offerings inclusive of significant VET courses as well 
as QCAA courses and this has ensured students can complete their studies in their 
preferred areas of interest. 
 

BUS TRANSPORT 
The College continues to maintain the fleet of 13 buses, ranging from 58 seats to 15 seats. 
The College buses now transport over two-thirds of the College’s student body. A focus 
on driver training in respect to our College Restorative Practices and other pastoral 
processes have been a feature this year. We realise the vital role they play as the first 
contact for so many students. We are grateful for the vital role they play in the College. 
 

WORSHIP & PASTORAL SUPPORT 
The College was unable to secure the services of a full time Pastor for 2017 so we 
utilised the abilities of a wide range of people. Pastor Reid and Father Brown had left 
for us an excellent year long overview of our theme, with a full weekly schedule of bible 
verses and theme analysis to follow. We were also blessed to appoint Miss Danica 
Hass for Semester One as a Pastoral Ministry and Youth Support person. She assisted 
with weekly chapel, supported our student ministry leaders and liaised with the 
Worship Band. We also enjoyed the voluntary hours offered by Mr David Klinge who 
gave many hours to assist with day to day activities as well as chatting with students 
and giving staff support. For Semester Two, we welcomed the arrival of Miss Sloane 
Crawshaw, a Pastoral Ministry student from Concordia University in the USA who was 
completing her course internship. She continued the work of Danica, as well as 
assisting in the Parish, working with the Ladies Guilds’ bible studies and assisting with 
the youth programs at Peace Church in Gatton. Many staff volunteered to share the 
weekly messages for devotions and worship. We were very grateful that Pastor 
Brenton Fiedler accepted the call in the later part of the year, allowing us to put in place 
all the plans for our Earth Care theme for 2018. 
 

PASTORAL CARE 
Our Director of Students Services, Middle Years Coordinator, Year Level Coordinators 
and House Coordinators all enhanced the ongoing programs for our students. With 
further student training in the understanding of restorative approaches to their 
behaviour, and Circle Chat to develop their communication skills, we have seen some 
enhanced positive resolution skills. Each Year Level have developed some wonderful 
programs and engaged students in skill development in regard to conflict resolution, 
career development, personal development, road safety, cyber safety and many other 
topics. The overarching team work of the students and their Year Level Coordinators 
and staff saw many enjoyable and rewarding events. The camp program was again a 
highlight with our Year 9’s moving to a week-long program at our sister school campsite 
at Mt Binga, owned by Immanuel College.  
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CO-CURRICULAR 
2017 saw some significant involvement by our students in a broad range of activities 
for the College. Allowing students to use their God given talents is a key component of 
the College Vision and therefore providing a very diverse range of activities is critical. 
We enjoyed further success in our Greater Brisbane Conference sport competition, 
Chess, Debating and the new, but very successful, Robotics team called the Hotshots. 
We entertained many community members with four shows and a matinee dress 
rehearsal for our local primary schools of our musical, “The Wiz”. This was an 
outstanding show and showcased many students and their talents. We also enjoyed 
the many and varied talents of our student body through our “Faith’s Got Talent”.  
 

CONCLUSION 
Faith Lutheran College, Plainland, has been generously supported this year through 
our membership in the Lockyer Valley Lutheran Parish. In a year without a Pastor, we 
were grateful for the other Parish Pastors and Parish members’ involvement at our 
closing services and staff worship at the end of each term, as well as their support for 
our Lutheran Longest lunch event. As a member of this vital group, we have worked in 
tandem to prepare the Parish Strategic Plan and strive to include our student body in 
various ways to serve the Parish. During 2017, we will fully examine the potential for 
greater experiences under the umbrella of service learning and we pray this will further 
link our communities in the service of our Lord. We continue to be grateful to all those 
who support the education provided to our young people at Faith through our staff, as 
well as those who assist through financial means, including the Lutheran Church of 
Australia, Lutheran Education Queensland, and both Federal and State Governments.  
We are also thankful to the many volunteers and staff who contribute time, energy and 
wisdom to all levels of our school community. Finally, we are blessed by the leadership 
from our College Council in partnership with the College Plenary team.  
 
Sue Langlands 
Chair 
Faith Lutheran College Council, Plainland 
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FAITH LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
REDLANDS 

 

STRATEGIC VISION 
The college remained true to its strategic vision of becoming a dynamic Christian 
learning community embracing service, innovation, global thinking and excellence.  A 
new principal began the year and over the course of 2017 changes in administrative 
structures occurred to enable the vision to be more readily met.  2017 was a 
challenging year for Faith Lutheran College Redlands.  The college continued to work 
through its 4th consecutive year of enrolment decline with enrolments sitting at around 
840 students for most of the year.   
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Pastoral Care and Worship remain at the heart of college life at Faith Lutheran College 
Redlands.  Throughout 2017 students continued to enjoy morning devotion as part of 
their daily routine as well as regular chapel and community worship times.  Staff 
established a Welfare Committee whose intention is to monitor and support both 
students and staff well-being in 2017 as well.  Rearrangement of various ministry, 
pastoral care and similar sub-committees into a new Community Committee sees all 
key parties working regularly together towards the integration of these important 
elements of the work of the college. 
 

STUDENTS 
Student enrolment as at the August 2017 Census was 842 students in Prep Year to 
Year 12. Enrolments have continued to decline with noted impacts from the diminishing 
school age demographic, financial pressures, the move back to government schools 
and less expensive Catholic schooling and changing societal priorities and attitudes 
towards Christian schooling. There is further significant decrease in student 
enrolments in 2018 which the College is managing. 
 

STAFF 
As part of the management program around enrolment decline staffing at Faith 
Lutheran College Redlands was reduced by around 10% in 2017.  Redundancies were 
offered across the college to assist in this process with a total of 10 employees leaving 
the organisation through this method.  Administrative and timetabling structures were 
altered to allow for a more efficient method of staffing the college to be put into place 
as well.  Rationalising staff around non-core areas such as cleaning and grounds 
assisted. At every stage of this change process staff members were kept well-informed 
and offered levels of pastoral and professional support to the best of the college’s 
capacity. 
 

CURRICULUM 
Faith Lutheran College Redlands has begun a journey of establishing a more 21st 
Century approach to Learning in the school.  Learning Programs are being adapted 
and developed to use best practice in the implementation of the Australian Curriculum 
and QCAA Senior Courses.  Students enjoy a more integrated, project based approach 
to learning which is student centred and makes use of flexible learning spaces for 
better outcomes.  OP results were improved in 2017 on the previous year and there 
was pleasing improvement in NAPLAN results, particularly in the Junior School 
Classes. 
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FINANCE AND CAPITAL WORKS 
Finances remain a challenge at Faith Lutheran College Redlands.  2017 saw the 
college return a slight deficit due to enrolment, and subsequent income, decline.  
Redundancies reported above created a more efficient staffing model for the 2018 year 
but had a residual effect in creating extra costs across 2017 due to associated 
expenditure on entitlements.  Debt per student remains manageable and within 
appropriate benchmarks. 
 
There were no significant capital works in 2017. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
College Council were primarily occupied across 2017 with responding to changes 
inherent with the enrolment decline of previous years.  Updating of the College’s 
Strategic Plan and Risk Management Register are set as major tasks for 2018 as well. 
College Council continues to meet each month.  One key emphasis in 2017 was to 
ensure that a plan for Governance Training was in place for the new year, this has 
been established. 
 

POLICY 
The support of LEQ and ISQ is acknowledged as they assist to ensure that the policies 
of the College are current and relevant. A systematic approach to the renewal of 
policies is part of the College Council Meeting regular agenda. 
 
Faith Lutheran College Redlands made minor changes to the Uniform Policy in 2017 
and renewed its Child Protection Policy as legislated and directed. 
 

EXTRA-CURRICULAR 
Extra-Curricular opportunities continue to be offered as part of the program at Faith 
Lutheran College Redlands.  The college has two affiliations for weekend sport.  The 
Junior Campus participates in JTAS sports with other independent schools and our 
Secondary students are part of the newly instituted GBC sports group. 
 
Music Programs remain a priority in the extra-curricular area with tuition offered across 
all traditional instruments.  The college was involved with other Lutheran Schools in 
2017 to workshop and perform with The Idea of North at Redeemer Lutheran College.  
The Senior College also performed The Wiz as their annual musical as well. 
 
 
Rod Cormack  
Chair 
Faith Lutheran College Council, Redlands 
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GOOD NEWS LUTHERAN SCHOOL 
MIDDLE PARK 

 

GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 
The School Council and Executive Management have continued to share and 
implement the Strategic Plan with the community.  Promotion of the Mission, Vision 
and Graduate Qualities has also been prominent. 
 
As part of our rebranding focus, new student uniforms were introduced at the start of 
this year.  They have been positively received.  The transition period will run until 2022, 
though the current take up rate suggests the actual timeline will be shorter. 
 
The school continues to seek opportunities to connect with wider community 
organisations, people and resources.  This includes groups such as the RSL, 
Boomerang Bags and the United Nations Association of Australia, with service learning 
for students being a prime focus. 
 
Budget constraints remain a strong focus as government funding declines for Good 
News under the Gonski 2 arrangements.  We continue to work hard at balancing our 
points of difference and parental expectations without increasing fees beyond the 
reach of our target demographic. 
 
The School Council has a diverse and rich spread of skills amongst its members but 
continues to actively review practices and policies to ensure good governance is 
maintained through the succession of members.  The Council is also exploring alumni 
and marketing opportunities, as well as reviewing the long-term structure of the school 
to assist with Good News’s future sustainability. 
 

STUDENTS AND CURRICULUM 
Enrolments have remained steady within a highly competitive environment.  2017 saw 
an increase in enrolment enquiries for future years. 
 
Many of our learning spaces are becoming more “agile” in their layout and operation.  
Students are responding well as they can move more easily to match the task at hand 
and their preferred learning style and position.  They also report feeling safer in 
classrooms that are more inviting and flexible.  A larger focus on having a Growth 
Mindset has commenced through the school. 
 
Teachers continue being involved in the Self-Improving Schools, Strategy and 
Coaching projects coordinated through ISQ.  We have also partnered with USQ to 
develop a school wide pedagogical framework.  2017 saw all stakeholders complete 
the ACEL DISA survey and we’re using the results to determine how best to engage 
staff and the community more effectively. 
 

STAFF 
Three staff retired during 2017 and two new staff commenced in 2018.  Teachers 
continue to work on professional goals and participate in peer observations and 
assessment through a formalised coaching partnership program. 
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CAPITAL WORKS 
During 2017 our Prep centre received a significant refurbishment both inside and out, 
providing greater flexibility and connectivity between the variety of learning spaces.  
Early 2018 has seen construction of a new seating area and shade sails to enhance 
the outdoor space.  The Junior Learning Support room and Resource Centre have had 
new cupboards and shelving installed to make the spaces more useful for teaching, 
learning and the display of student work. 
 
Charmaine Harch 
Chair 
Good News Lutheran School Council 
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GOOD SHEPHERD LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
NOOSAVILLE 

 

INTRODUCTION   
Good Shepherd Lutheran College has been providing “Quality Christian education in 
a caring environment” to the Noosa and surrounding district communities since 1986. 
2017 saw a continuation of the enrolment growth experienced since 2013, with a 2017 
enrolment of 1006 students from Prep-Year 12.  
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
In the parent and wider community, Good Shepherd is known for having a caring 
campus. The Pastoral Care and Worship program includes age specific Chapels, 
assemblies and Pastoral Care programs. In 2017 LYQ staff delivered a number of day 
and part day workshops focusing on identity, relationships and leadership.  Individual 
student care and well-being across the campus is supported by our College Pastor, 
College Counsellor and Student Coordinators. Pastoral Care programs based on 
‘Values for Lutheran Schools’ and ‘Positive Education’ have been developed to support 
students across P-12.  
 

STUDENTS   
Academically, GSLC 2017 NAPLAN results were at or above state and national 
averages. In a very strong result, approximately 63% of all Year 12 students received 
an OP of 1-10 with almost all 2017 Year 12 students who applied for tertiary courses 
receiving an offer. In 2017 the College was recognized as leading independent school 
in terms of academic gain during the senior years of schooling. 
 
Students represented Good Shepherd at regional, state and national levels in a diverse 
range of sporting and cultural pursuits.  
 

STAFF   
Developing staff ‘digital literacy’ is a continued focus. Staff are increasing in their 
capacity to use high level IT infrastructure and support in ways that enhance teaching 
and learning, and organization communication and management.  
 
Teachers were involved in a range of professional development and planning in 
support of the ongoing implementation of the Australian Curriculum and new QCAA 
courses for Year 11&12 commencing in 2019. 
 

CURRICULUM   
In 2017 the College decided to transition from the International Baccalaureate Primary 
Years Program to a school-based approach to inquiry based learning that is a better 
fit for our context. Several targeted projects are in place including support for literacy 
and staff mentoring. Senior Years teachers engaged with a range of professional 
development at networking opportunities in support of the new QCAA Senior Courses 
and the shift from OP to ATAR for tertiary entrance. 
 

CAPITAL WORKS   
The valued support of the Parents and Friends Association has again been evident 
this year in their concerted efforts to fundraise to provide resources. The focus in 2017 
was on a large number of smaller projects and the provision of resources requested 
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by college staff. In 2017 additional modular classroom capacity was added. A review 
of the masterplan commenced to inform the nature, location and sequence of major 
projects in the coming years.  
 

GOVERNANCE   
Our College is blessed with the voluntary input of our college Council members and 
we thank God for both their availability and expertise. 
 

CONCLUSION 
With thanks to all who pray for, work in and support our College in any way.  May God 
continue to bless our campus. 
 
Chris Roche 
Chair 
Good Shepherd Lutheran College 
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GRACE LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
ROTHWELL AND CABOOLTURE 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Grace Lutheran College is a stand-alone secondary school (Years 7-12), located north 
of Brisbane on two campuses – Rothwell and Caboolture.  The College retains strong 
relationships with three local Lutheran primary schools, Grace (Clontarf), Living Faith 
(Murrumba Downs) and St Paul’s (Caboolture).  This enables families to access a 
seamless Lutheran education through to Year 12.  In 2017 the College attracted 
students from a total of 61 primary schools.  At the August Census, 2017 the total 
enrolment was 1361 students, 1071 at Rothwell and 290 at Caboolture. 
 

COLLEGE LEADERSHIP 
In January 2017, Mr David Radke took up the position of Principal of Grace Lutheran 
College.  His appointment followed the retirement of Mrs Ruth Butler in 2016.  David 
brings considerable depth and breadth of leadership experience in senior leadership 
positions.  His style has ensured a smooth transition at the Principal level.  He has 
supported and strengthened initiatives already underway and has encouraged an 
enhanced level of entrepreneurship particularly among senior leadership staff. 
 
Pastor Jim Strelan announced his retirement at the end of 2017.  Pastor Jim served 
the last four years in a significant role as College Pastor.  In all, Pastor Jim’s 
outstanding servant leadership spanned 34 years, in congregations, schools and 
mission fields.  In these settings Pastor Jim brought to life an inspiring engagement 
with Christian counselling, teaching and service. 
 
The College has a long established practice of encouraging and supporting staff who 
are aspirational and have potential leadership qualities.  This continued through 2017.  
Not only does the College benefit, but the System benefits as staff move to take up 
senior leadership positions in other Lutheran schools. 
 
The wider community, anecdotally and frequently, recognises the character, 
independence and leadership of Grace students.  This community perception is a 
powerful affirmation of the effectiveness of Grace programs and is a strong reflection 
of the Mission Statement. 
 

SPIRITUAL GROWTH, PASTORAL CARE & SERVICE 
The past year, 2017, saw more student active engagement in year level chapels than 
in previous years.  This was reinforced by high participation in voluntary events such 
as camps eg Unblock Senior Retreat.  Faith and Service Captains played a powerful 
role in encouraging and supporting peers as they worked with the wider Faith and 
Service Team. 
 
The Googa experience, in a four week outdoor education program, provides students 
with probably their single most significant highlight of Grace.  The program has an 
emphasis on both working as part of a group and on accepting individual responsibility 
while developing leadership skills.  Each participant is challenged physical, mentally, 
socially and spiritually through the experience. 
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Service Learning continues to be a great strength of the College with students having 
a wide range of opportunities for participation.  In heightening awareness of someone’s 
struggles being faced on a day to day basis, often things that are invisible and that 
even small things can make a difference, students become increasingly empathetic, 
passionate and motivated, giving more of themselves to serve others. Grace students 
embrace service learning! 
 

STAFF AND GOVERNANCE 
Teaching staff in 2017 numbered 93 full-time and 29 part-time with support staff being 
29 full-time and 89 part-time.  Staffing numbers continue to be stable with low turn-
over rates.  It is a dedicated and well qualified staff.  Extensive professional 
development opportunities were provided for all teachers in 2017. 
 
Grace College Council has begun an in-depth review of its policies and procedures 
with the establishment of a small working party of Council Members in 2017.  Further 
to the work of this group, informal discussions began consideration of the Council 
structure, contemporary strategic value statements, strategic intent statements and 
their underpinning theology.  This is scene setting for developing a comprehensive 
Master Plan not just for facilities but for a much broader range of headings. 
 
College Council has a pattern of high participation of Members in professional 
development through conference attendance.  The highlight for 2017 was ACLE.  The 
number of Council delegates attending was sufficient to be able to provide a quorum 
for a Council meeting in Adelaide.  ACLE – what a great opportunity for the coming 
together of the wide Australian education family! 
 

FACILITIES 
The 2017 year saw further development in the ability of students to access technology.  
Relevant server infrastructure at both campuses was renewed to ensure the latest 
equipment serves as a quality backbone to support delivery of the College’s core 
Information Technology digital services.  Detailed planning and design began for 
significantly upgrading the Health Centre facilities at Rothwell to be operational for the 
beginning of the new year.  Development of a new Library and Senior Studies space 
at the Caboolture Campus have been completed. 
 

CURRICULUM 
Grace Lutheran College offers a wide and diverse curriculum at all levels catering for 
students with a variety of abilities and interests. Grace has implemented the Australian 
curriculum (ACARA) and has been able to retain and enhance the range of elective 
choices from Years 8-12. 
 
The high ratio of staff and quality facilities provides learning support for special needs 
students.  Students and families are able to access unique pastoral and academic 
mentoring that is centered on the specific needs and challenges of students. 
 

Curriculum delivery is enriched through a variety of structured programs and 
provisions, particularly through the Ignite Excellence programs: STEM, English 
Literature and GAME ON! Music Extension.  The Bright Minds Festival is also popular. 
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The College’s Pineapples Robotics Team’s successes have brought national and 
international recognition.  Accolades were acknowledged in ABC news, the Courier 
Mail, CNN, Washington Post and the New York Times.  The innovative nature of the 
College’s robotics’ program has made a significant contribution towards Grace 
Lutheran College being listed as one of the top 12 Innovative Schools in Queensland 
by the Courier Mail in November 2017. 
 

CONCLUSION 
Grace Lutheran College is a large complex organisation and this report only provides 
an overview.  More detailed information is available from other sources. 
 
May God continue to bless the work being done in His name at Grace Lutheran 
College. 
 
John C Gerlach 
Chair 
Grace Lutheran College Council 
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GRACE LUTHERAN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
CLONTARF 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Engage, Educate, Excite!  That’s what we at Grace want to do and through the grace 
of God, that will be the experience of all of our students and their families.   
Too often, when faced with the challenges of life, we might think we have the answers.  
But then we’re prompted to remember God’s question to Job and to us: “Where were 
you when I laid the foundations of the earth?” Then we remember who it is that made 
us, who loves us, who gave His son that we would have life in all its fullness, forever. 
How could that not engage you? How could that not change you?  How could that not 
excite you? Our God is an awesome God! 
 

PASTORAL CARE & WORSHIP 
Some key highlights for the past year were the “Together With…” services that each 
year level take turns in leading in the local Grace congregation.  These services were 
very well attended and enlivened by such wonderfully talented students and staff. 
 
2017 also saw our school host Reformation Sunday, celebrating 500 years since that 
momentous day in Wittenberg. This again was an event very well attended by both 
school and congregation families. 
 
Service learning is as important as ever in our school and we continued to support 
initiatives such as Australian Lutheran World Service (ALWS), “Stepping Stones” 
School in Cambodia, our World Vision sponsor child, Samaritan’s Purse and many 
other local and overseas service opportunities. 
 

STUDENTS 
Our school’s annual Melbourne trip was again a highlight for our year 6 students with 
all who attending enjoying themselves immensely.  All other grades also enjoyed their 
year level camps and many great experiences were had that will stay with the students 
forever. 
 
Our students took part in in many cultural, environmental and sporting events with 
some very commendable results.  We contributed well to the Redcliffe show with many 
prizes won.  Many awards were also won at local and district sporting events and we 
continued to grow our positive environmental outlook through involvement with the 
“Eco Marines.” 
 
Our Parents & Friends are a wonderful group of willing workers and many excellent 
events were staged through the year.  Manned entirely by willing and able parents, the 
P&F brought us another wonderful Christmas event in the “Carols on the Green.”  The 
‘Winter Wonderland’ dinner was also a great success and reflects the true community 
spirit engendered by the P&F. 
 

STAFF 
In 2017, we were blessed to welcome Mrs. Trudy Moala as our new Principal and in 
her first full year at Grace, Trudy has made great strides in building an excellent, 
cohesive team.  We look forward to a number of new initiatives bearing fruit in coming 
years. 
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Development of staff remains vital and seeing the growth of staff members through the 
year in their leadership, emotional and spiritual development has been stunning and is 
a tribute to the positive influence that Trudy has had in such a short timeframe. 
 

CURRICULUM 
During 2017, Grace undertook a comprehensive curriculum review and we continue to 
work with ACARA in updating all subject areas. 
 
“Play is the Way” a new social and emotional development program has been 
introduced and many positive outcomes have been evident from that. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
This year we have completed our strategic review and have implemented our strategic 
plan for the next 3-5 years. The eight dimensions we’re focused on are spiritual, 
student and staff culture, teaching & learning programs, co-curricular programs, 
population and enrolment, physical campus and community interface. 
 
We have also begun work on our master plan which will underpin the future 
development of our school as we move into the next decade and beyond. 
 
We also welcomed Grace Outside School Hours Care (GOSHC) into our governance 
structure and already the benefits of this are flowing. 
 

CONCLUSION 
And so we move forward confidently living each day safe in the promise that if God is 
for us (and He IS for us!), who can be against us.  I pray blessing on all at our school 
and thank sincerely members of school council, leadership, staff, students and 
families.  I pray for renewed excitement, for invigorated learning and deep engagement 
through Christ our Lord.  Our God truly is an AWESOME God!!! 
 
Martin Fenwick 
Chair 
Grace Lutheran Primary School Council 
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IMMANUEL LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
BUDERIM 

 

INTRODUCTION 
We are fortunate to have a committed team of Council members who provide their time 
freely and bring a range of skills to its decision-making processes.  Their ‘skill set’ 
covers a range of critical functions including College ethos and Christian stewardship, 
financial, education, marketing and legal.  An important focal point this year has been 
the finalisation of the Strategic Plan for 2016-2019, which provided an opportunity to 
review and refocus on the direction of the College in the next quadrennium. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
During 2017 our Chaplaincy team was joined by Immanuel Lutheran College’s second 
Youth Intern, Joshua Carrier (Class of 2016) who was working on several initiatives in 
both the Primary and Secondary School, nurturing student well-being through positive 
interactions and his musical gifting. A productive partnership with the Immanuel 
congregation’s Youth Intern, Anna Volejnikova (Class of 2016) and their Youth Ministry 
Coach, Ben Lyons also saw the joint Get into God (GIG) program flourish. While these 
Interns have completed their tenure, the growth of GIG has been maintained. 
 
Recommendations from the 2016 Pastoral Care review have continued to be put into 
place. One such recommendation being the appointment of a Pastoral Care 
Coordinator in the Secondary School; with Lynn Druery taking up this role. Additionally, 
the Rite Journey has been embedded in the Year 9 pastoral program, seeing an 
increased emphasis on support of students at this pivotal time of life. 
 
The worship and devotional life across both sub-schools continues to be enhanced by 
student and staff input; with the P-12 community meeting five times a year to mark 
significant times of celebration in Worship and Thanksgiving.  Our newly appointed 
Worship Band leader, Stefan Volejnik, will work with students this year to share music 
during Worship times and foster supportive relationships within the Band itself.  
 
In the Primary School, the roles of Worship Captains continue to prove effective, with 
the students taking active leadership roles throughout the year. 
 
In the Secondary School, the positions of Social Justice Captains are providing a 
platform to heighten service-learning goals, social awareness and community 
action.  Support of our Compassion Children, particularly through our Compassion 
Week activities is heartening to witness. This, together with our support of fellow 
Christians in North Sumatra (through our Mission program) and support of 
neighbouring Lutheran initiatives (though the Soup Kitchen in Nambour) is 
encouraging faith in action within our community. 
 
Opportunities to develop relationships with our neighbours at Immanuel Gardens 
Retirement Village continue to be fostered. During 2017 both Secondary classes and 
Primary classes regularly visited, bringing and receiving God’s love. 
 

STUDENTS 
Student academic outcomes were exceptional for the class of 2017 with 13% of the 
group received an OP 1–3, and 20% of graduates achieved an OP 1–5.   The College 
was exceptionally proud of the students, not just for producing these outstanding 
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OP results, but for the meaningful contribution they made to the Immanuel and wider 
community throughout the year. Significant achievements by vocational students also 
saw them rewarded in the completion of the QCE, an equivalent OP result and the 
attainment of a national qualification. For which we honour the outstanding contribution 
from our staff to our students’ successes.  
 
We commenced the 2018 academic year with 933 students, compared to 927 in 
2017.  We are pleased that our numbers have increased, given that the current 
economic situation on the Sunshine Coast continues to be fluid.  We also service 139 
children through our Early Learning Centre. 
 

STAFF 
The College’s teaching and support staff complement were once again very stable, 
with very little turnover or attrition.  In 2018 the total staff numbers approximately 
116.42 FTE. 
 

CURRICULUM 
At Immanuel, we encourage our students to become the very best they can be in all 
aspects of their lives.  A culture of ‘life-long’ learning and service is fostered throughout 
the College to enhance the growth of the whole person. Our learning community is 
preparing students to be positive community role models who care for others and the 
environment. We build critical and creative thinkers, skilled collaborators and excellent 
communicators.  
 
Our relevant and contextual curriculum is engaging and student-centric, allowing a 
variety of learning pathways.  With flexible physical learning spaces, contemporary 
virtual learning spaces and access to digital technologies, we use a blended learning 
model to deliver our curriculum. This allows timely feedback and opportunities to reflect 
on learning and address learning diversity.  Assessment is rigorous, imaginative and 
diverse, reflecting the variety of learning that has preceded it.   
 
An emphasis on literacy and numeracy across the College provides a firm foundation 
on which critical and creative thinking skills are built. Immanuel students’ academic 
outcomes are excellent with our NAPLAN and OP results well ahead of national and 
state measures and amongst the best on the Sunshine Coast.  While the majority of 
our students go on to university studies, we are also proud of those who undertake 
alternate pathways and graduate ready for direct workplace entry after attaining 
nationally 45rganizing vocational qualifications. 
 
Relationships are the heart of an Immanuel education. Effective communication 
promotes a positive home-school partnership in which students’ academic, social and 
physical development is best fostered. SEQTA, our Learning Management System, 
provides an interactive, global view of each student’s journey enabling meaningful 
conversations about wellbeing, learning and targeted support. 
 
A broad range of co-curricular and outdoor education activities enrich the Immanuel 
experience and encourage each student to understand the importance of resilience, 
relationships and reflection.  
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Notable curriculum innovations include: 
a) The provision of seamless P-12 curriculum and assessment practices 

continues as a major focus, harnessing professional collaboration across sub-
schools. Students benefit from consistent, coordinated academic and pastoral 
strategies throughout their time at Immanuel. 

b) Our Early Years program focuses on the development of oral language to 
underpin early literacy and the use of guided inquiry to assist concept 
development in early numeracy. 

c) New, flexible learning spaces across the primary and secondary campuses 
promote contemporary approaches to teaching and learning. Digital devices with 
multimodal interfaces are provided as the best tools to promote collaboration and 
expression of complex cognitive processes. 

d) Our vibrant P-12 Arts program provides opportunities for broad exposure to 
and engagement with a wide range of creative and cultural experiences.  

e) A Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) focus 
permeates our P-12 curriculum through the use of inquiry learning, coding, 
robotics and electronic data collection as tools to stimulate engagement with real-
world contexts and the development of analytical, critical and computational 
thinking. The co-curricular ‘Immanuel Coding Academy’ complements this 
initiative. 

f) Our beautiful rainforest setting inspires in students an appreciation of God’s 
creation and provides a readily accessible natural laboratory for our new 
Environmental Education Centre (under construction). Our community models 
responsible environmental citizenship with systems for waste reduction, 
recycling, energy efficiency, water harvesting and solar power generation. Our 
Eco Club leads many of these initiatives. 

g) Community Engagement is important to us with the College 46rganizing the 
Fruehlingsfest Spring Carnival, the Immanuel Arts Festival and the Voices on the 
Coast Youth Literature Festival. Service Learning opportunities are provided 
through mission work with our partner school in Indonesia, Red Cross Blood Bank 
donations, Homeless Soup Kitchen work, Child Sponsorship and interactions with 
members of the Immanuel Aged Care facility. Our Interact Club also provides 
many service opportunities.  

 

CAPITAL WORKS 
2017 marked the commencement of the Primary School redevelopment.  This included 
the construction of a $3.5M GLA building for Years 1 and 2 and the major renovation 
($750,000) of O Block, which will accommodate the Year 4 students.  These major 
changes will ensure the physical teaching spaces align more closely with the changes 
in the primary teaching pedagogy.  In the Secondary School, we refurbished the Year 
7 Precinct to create classrooms, which promote flexibility and collaboration within and 
across classrooms.  This is the first stage of what will be a major change in the physical 
and functional space for Year 7 students. 
 
At the Mt Binga campus, we completed an expansion of the student accommodation, 
which increased our student capacity from 48 to 72.  This increase was necessitated 
by increased demand for long stay programs from other Lutheran schools.  In addition 
to these two new buildings, we also upgraded the dairy and bakery kitchen.   
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Capital works planned for 2018 includes a major renovation ($2.6M) of both H & N 
Blocks.  This upgrade will transform the upper level of N Block into a purpose-built 
Student Services hub, which will accommodate the Chaplains, Counsellor, Learning 
Enhancement Department, First Aid and Students Services.  N Block will be become 
the new Primary School Administration building and this project will be followed by the 
demolition of the original Primary Administration building (R Block) later in the year.  
This will make way for the construction of a new GLA building to accommodate Year 3 
students, which is planned for 2019.   
 
The $2.0M Environmental Centre is planned for construction in the first Semester of 
2018.  This new building will enable students to have direct access to the forest and 
provide authentic opportunities to study ecology and sustainability in a living context.  
This is a very exciting project and this will strengthen our commitment to Environmental 
education.    
 

GOVERNANCE 
Having developed and ratified the College’s new Strategic Plan in 2016, in 2017 
College Council worked closely and collaboratively with the College Executive to 
translate the elements of the Strategic Plan into a detailed and comprehensive 
Operational Plan, to provide the framework for the practical delivery of the priorities.  
 
The 2016-19 Strategic Plan is built around four key priority areas: 
a) Teaching and Learning 
b) Community and Connections 
c) Spirituality and Wellbeing 
d) Environmental and Financial Sustainability 
 
College Council carried out its governance role in the College with enthusiasm, diverse 
experience and strong common goals.  They continued to have a close working 
relationship with the Principal and his executive management team, along with the 
other elements of the Immanuel community – students, their families, staff, ELC, P&F 
community and Immanuel Lutheran Church. 
 
Council emphasized the strong financial position of the College and College Council’s 
commitment to the exciting building, expanding and refurbishment phase at both the 
Buderim and Mt Binga campuses. Council continue to work with the Principal and 
Business Manager to solidify the financial security and prosperity of the College into 
the future, to the benefit of all stakeholders.  
 

CONCLUSION 
God’s grace is present in abundance in the Immanuel community.  We are continually 
blessed as we strive to lead through service.  There is a deep sense of joy for all as 
we produce graduates who are identified by their confidence, optimism and respect for 
healthy relationships.  They are prepared to serve and are well grounded in a sense of 
who they are in the world and a set of values that is founded on faith, reason and 
knowledge. 
 
Roger Morris 
Chair 
Immanuel Lutheran College Council 
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LIVING FAITH LUTHERAN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
MURRUMBA DOWNS 

 

GOVERNANCE 
Blessed with a broad range of skill-sets, yet sharing a passion for creativity and 
innovation, in 2017 our School Council developed a new approach to strategic direction 
and labelled it a Strategic Drive. Underpinned by Proverbs 6:3 and 1 Corinthians 
6:13-14, the rationale of our Strategic Drive reads as follows. 

We live in exciting yet uncertain times. Our world is changing at a phenomenal pace. In this era 
of exponential change, we have no desire to be constrained to a schedule that is rigid or has a 
ceiling. Rather, we yearn to shape an educational landscape that has the freedom and flexibility 
to navigate a path that is accepting of unknown futures and knows no boundaries, yet is grounded 
in the celebration of a life lived from the victory we share in Christ. We are driven by a preferred 
future hinged on delivering gospel-centred and forward-thinking education to families seeking 
these same ideologies. 
As such, we present our Strategic Drive. It is aspirational and dynamic, and serves to stir up 
dialogue and action. It aims to agitate, to be disruptive and to inspire innovation. It chooses unity 
over uniformity, and transformation over transaction. This Strategic Drive sees a shift away from 
an era of compliance and dives into an era of overwhelming engagement and empowerment … 

 

ENROLMENTS 
Living Faith is triple-streamed. It is equipped with facilities and resources to serve the 
families of 550 students. In 2017 the student population hovered around 520. 
 
Competition amongst local schools is increasingly fierce. Multiple strategies are 
currently being established to bolster our ministry opportunities. One such strategy is 
the introduction of a loyalty discount for families with children enrolled simultaneously 
at Grace Lutheran College and Living Faith. 
 

PASTORAL CARE 
Our congregation views the school as its primary mission field and the support received 
by our school from our congregation is strong. Pastor David Schuppan and Principal 
Jane Mueller maintain their strong relationship through peer mentoring, mutual support 
and friendship. Their steadfast relationship is fertile ground for dreaming big dreams 
for the spiritual growth of our wider community. 
 
A team of school and congregation staff attended the LEA National Ministry 
Conference. This sparked a desire to develop three ‘go groups’ to grow pastoral care 
and ministry specifically targeted at our staff, students and parents. Movement in this 
area has been slow, and we seek your prayer as we listen to God’s call in this space. 
Meanwhile, discussions have commenced in regard to the development of prayer 
spaces for students. We hope to see these dreams come to fruition in 2018. 
 
Congregational members and parents brew coffee during HOP (Hearts of Praise / 
student worship) each week. While initially intended to be a form of gentle outreach to 
the parent body, this initiative has evolved into a support and much-appreciated 
caffeine-fix for staff. What’s Brewing? Is another initiative, whereby parents are invited 
to ‘take a load off’ at morning drop-off to indulge in a cup of tea and a pastoral chat. 
 

ALL ARMS OF LIVING FAITH UNITE 
Black Duck Family Fun Day (affectionately named after Black Duck Creek, which runs 
through the school) was a highlight on our 2017 school calendar. Run by school 
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parents, and with significant support from the congregation, kindergarten, ELC and 
OSHC, it was both a fundraising and fun-raising experience for our wider Living Faith 
community. 
 

SERVICE LEARNING 
Our students continue to take part in a service learning culture which includes formal 
projects such as performing for residents at local retirement villages, participating in 
the Australian Lutheran World Service Walk-a-Thon, and driving Living Faith for Love 
Day, as well as informal opportunities such as peer buddy systems, ambassadorial 
service and The Clubhouse initiative. 
 
Leadership staff showed its support for the wider LCAQD community in 2017 through 
its attendance at and contributions to the Lutheran Youth Queensland Appeal Dinner. 
 

LEARNING 
Our learning philosophy has been driven by our school improvement plan, entitled The 
Learning Landscape. The Learning Landscape has been grounded in the development 
of three distinct spaces: the physical space, the virtual space and the cultural space. 
The collaborative construction of The Learning Landscape Phase 2 has commenced, 
with a focus on three new spaces: inspiring minds, illuminating hearts and igniting 
service. The Learning Landscape Phase 2 is being developed through a design 
thinking process. 
 
Living Faith continues to use visible learning in every classroom. Learning intentions, 
success criteria and anchor charts are developed to guide student success. Daily 5 
and project-based learning are in effect school-wide. 
 
Our school continues its agile learning spaces journey, underpinned by a strong 
pedagogical approach. Continuing on from our Year 6 Learning Plaza, Year 5 Learning 
Hub and Year 4 Learning Portal, in 2017 we opened our Year 3 Learning Gym. This is 
a highly kinetic classroom environment that takes into account students’ sensory 
needs. Fit out with pedal stations, wobble stools, balance boards, and mezzanine-level 
reading lofts accessible only by scaling a 36-degree ramp with a rope, students have 
opportunity to unobtrusively fidget in order to assist them in concentrating on the 
learning taking place. This space was created following significant research into 
concerns regarding today’s children’s core strength, balance and ability to sit still, while 
also addressing the increasingly documented positive association between physical 
activity and academic performance. An unintended but much celebrated consequence 
of this space so far has been a significant reduction in behavioural challenges. 
 
Play is the Way was implemented in full in 2017. The concepts of the program, 
described as ‘behaviour education using wisdom, not force’, align strongly with Biblical 
principles and have been used to develop themes for weekly HOP (Hearts of Praise) 
worship services. 
 
The learning of staff is valued just as highly as learning for students in our culture of 
improvement. Our professional learning model promotes risk-taking, prototyping, 
observation and sharing. It requires our team to work within the parameters The 
Learning Landscape, but gives individuals freedom to grow in areas of interest and 
passion. 
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Educators and the media continue persistently to descend upon our school to learn of 
our contemporary approach to education; and our leadership and teaching staff are 
regularly invited to share the Living Faith story at major events. Living Faith was 
awarded a 2017 Innovative Schools award by The Educator. 
 

CONCLUSION 
What better way to conclude, than with an excerpt from an email sent to our Principal 
by a school parent ‘… I am honoured to be able to serve the school that got me and 
my family to Christ, thank YOU!’ 
 
Ray Ebert 
Chair 
Living Faith Lutheran Primary School Council 
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LUTHERAN ORMEAU RIVERS DISTRICT SCHOOL (LORDS)  
PIMPAMA 

 

INTRODUCTION 
In its sixth year of operation, LORDS continued to grow in 2017 with 535 students from 
Prep–Year 12. LORDS Little Wonders Kindergarten, which is co-located on the school 
site, reached capacity with 44 students. We continue to draw students from Beenleigh 
through to Helensvale / Pacific Pines. Our committed staff, council and parents ensure 
the Alberton Parishes vision to establish a Lutheran School in the Ormeau / Pimpama 
area over 20 years ago is now a reality.  
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
LORDS NAPLAN results were strong for 2017. We continue to focus on developing a 
whole school approach to service-learning where students have the opportunity to 
meet the needs of the community while also achieving learning outcomes. It has been 
exciting to form partnerships with our local aged care facility, ALWS and Rosie’s 
(Friends of the Street).  
 
We have also seen our Inclusive Sports Program grow and develop with over 50 young 
people from the community joining the program and 25 students from LORDS 
volunteering their time to ensure the program runs successfully. This program offers 
sporting and social opportunities for students in the broader community who may have 
additional needs (e.g. intellectual or physical impairment). 
 
Our graduating class of 2017 achieved excellent results, with our first OP 1 and 100% 
of our students receiving an OP1-15 and 100% receiving their QCE. Most importantly, 
the focus is on students engaging with a pathway (OP or vocational) that meets their 
needs.  
 

PASTORAL CARE 
Staff in the Junior School received training in Play Is The Way (PITW). This program 
uses games and a consistent positive approach to develop social and emotional 
competency in students.  
 
We also continue to train staff in the processes of restorative practices which aims to 
rebuild relationships by ‘putting things rights’. LORDS also embeds the LEA Values 
and our LORDS Learner Profile into our chapels, staff and class devotions and 
assemblies throughout the school. 
 
Our Buddy Program (multi-age across the school) and our Alternate Day Program 
(pastoral care focus) allows us to meet student needs, while also developing positive 
relationships across the school for students and staff. 
 
We have also had a team of teachers developing approaches to ensure the well-being 
of both staff and students including a focus on growth mindset and mindfulness.  
 

WORSHIP 
LORDS Family Worship continued with fortnightly Sunday services held at the school. 
Throughout 2017 we averaged 15-30 people every service. We are grateful to a 
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committed group of parents and members of the Alberton Parish who plan and lead 
these services. 
 
Weekly sub school chapels are a highlight of the school week, with daily devotions 
being held in classrooms. Staff have the opportunity to reflect and start the day with 
God together before classes commence. We hold three Prep-12 services each year 
celebrating the start and end of year, as well as Easter. 
 
Students from Year 7-12 have initiated their own bible study and prayer group held at 
lunchtimes. This is attended by our Chappy or Parish Pastor. We also have a group of 
community members who meet each week to pray for the school. 
 

STAFF 
With increased student numbers, so the teaching and support staff continued to grow.  
 
We started the year with a spiritual retreat that focused on service-learning. Our new 
and continuing staff participated in CS Equip Modules.  
 
In 2017, we established Professional Learning Teams. These teams have 
representatives from across the school on them and focus on our vision for learning 
and teaching and pastoral care.  
 
LORDS is blessed with a passionate and collaborative team of teachers.  
 

CURRICULUM 
2017 saw a focus on continued implementation of the Australian Curriculum across 
Prep-10. The range of subject choices in the Middle and Senior School continued to 
grow. 
 
STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics) classes occur in the 
Junior School and are part of the elective program in the Middle School. We are also 
developing our approach to Social Enterprise in the curriculum.  
 
We continue to develop our approach to service learning across the school with the 
introduction of Service Learning Champions to support the work of staff with this area 
of school life.  
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
2017 saw the completion of a double story building for our Year 7-12 students. LORDS 
Council also started the process of reviewing the master plan.   
 

CONCLUSION 
God continues to bless the LORDS community, and we look forward to seeing our 
community grow from strength to strength in the future, while educating our students 
with the skills they need to ensure they can successfully serve and engage with the 
world. 
 
Dr Ian Marks 
Acting Chair 
LORDS Council 
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PACIFIC LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
MERIDAN PLAINS 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Pacific Lutheran College's theme for 2017 of Quality, A Focus For Life, challenged 
members of our community to not just to live with exterior quality but to live lives of 
high worth.   
 
We recognised that quality starts from within.  It means having the courage and 
hopefulness to not settle for being or giving our second best.  There is intentionality, 
choice and an uncompromising pursuit of worth through always giving of our best.  
Every time we begin something, or interact with someone, we have a choice.  The 
mindfulness and courage to make a choice and the persistence to see it through will 
determine the quality of the outcome.  Throughout 2017 we took up the challenge as 
a College to be people of quality who together have enhanced a quality community 
where people have had the opportunity to thrive.  We have done so in response to 
God’s love for us, with love for other people and a desire to utilise our gifts to make a 
difference for each other and for those beyond our community.   
 
Teachers have been committed to providing opportunity for young people to be 
immersed in a quality learning culture that prepares them well for a future where the 
21st century skills of creativity, innovation, entrepreneurship, life-long learning, critical 
thinking, communication, collaboration and highly developed information 
communication and technology and interpersonal skills are essential.  There has been 
intentionality in the design of a cohesive developmental learning experience that 
encompasses growth in the intellectual, spiritual, cultural, physical and social and 
emotional dimensions of life with each part playing an important role in growing these 
capacities and more within our young people. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Pastor Tim Jarick and the Pastoral Care team leaders continued to strengthen the 
incorporation of reflective stillness into the life of the College.  This included expanded 
use of the labyrinth and the ongoing development of a three year P-12 devotional and 
worship program, which links the learnings of positive psychology with Lutheran 
theology and included reflections around the capabilities included in the Growing Deep 
document.  As part of the Positive Schools group, the College also continued to 
incorporate Lutheran theology, positive psychology and emotional intelligence 
research into an intentional personal development program aimed at growing social 
and emotional capacities of staff and students. 
 
Our partnership with the St Mark’s congregation saw the celebration of different 
milestones for children at the College as part of the Sunday services throughout 2017. 
 

STUDENTS AND PARENTS 
The College enrolment at Census in August 2017 was 948 across P-12. Our Year 12 
students of 2017 performed very well, particularly in the OP 1-5 range with three 
students achieving an OP 1 and 29% of OP eligible students achieving an OP 1-5. The 
College was recognised in the top 50 schools in Queensland for the percentage of 
OP eligible students achieving in the OP 1-5 range. It was a point of celebration to 
see students move into diverse pathways including medicine, highly competitive 
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performing arts courses, various degree courses and vocational education and training 
pathways. 
 
Students enjoyed being part of a variety of outdoor education, sporting, cultural and 
service experiences. These included the staging of the musical Sideshow by our 
Middle and Senior College students and The Lion, The Witch and Wardrobe by our 
Junior College students. Students continued their support for the Salvation Army, the 
Centaur Retirement Village and our Year 5 students connected with the residents of 
the newly completed Woodlands IRT residential care facility on a weekly basis. 
 
We continue to benefit from a highly supportive parent community who played key 
roles in the co-curricular life of the College.  
 

STAFF 
A key to a successful learning culture is the ongoing learning of teachers.  To this end, 
teachers have engaged in their own learning through involvement in Inquiry Action 
Group research projects under the guidance of Harvard Consultant, Mr Mark Church 
and enhanced differentiation skills through participation in externally and internally 
provided professional development.  Senior teachers have also been intensely 
engaged in professional development provided by the QCAA in preparation for the new 
senior certification process, which will be in place for students entering Year 11 in 2019. 
 

CURRICULUM 

New special programs for gifted and talented students including Future Problem 
Solving and the Da Vinci Decathlon has seen students enjoy opportunities to extend 
their thinking through collaborative problem solving activities.  We were delighted when 
our Year 7 team won the Mathematics Challenge at the Da Vinci Decathlon and our 
staff team came second in the national final of the Future Problem Solving competition.  
Junior College students have also enjoyed the opportunity to be part of the OPTI-minds 
competition once again in 2017. 
 
Students performed well in the NAPLAN testing with all year levels being above 
National and State means and in many cases well above, with the exception of Year 9 
Grammar and Punctuation. It was particularly pleasing to see the improved 
performance in writing, which has been a focus for the past two years.   
 
Year 9 students have enjoyed expanded opportunities in their experience subjects.  
The new subjects and semester structure provided opportunity for deeper learning and 
development of 21st century skills as students pursued areas of passion in a variety of 
areas.  New offerings included inquiry based learning in Science, Technology, 
Engineering and Mathematics (STEM), Philosophy and Reasoning, History and Media 
Studies. Literature, STEM and Design have been also been added to the Year 10 
offerings for 2018 to provide a strong platform for students as they move into the new 
senior certification processes. 
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
The College was awarded $130k from each of the Federal and State Governments for 
the construction of a commercial kitchen and outdoor restaurant area and the fit out of 
a fourth science lab using agile designs which were completed early in 2017.  The 
construction of the final phase of our Early Learning Centre was also completed by the 
end of Term 1 2017.  Ongoing implementation of our temperature control strategy, 
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which has a focus on environmental and financial sustainability, saw all rooms in the 
College being fitted with air conditioning by the end of the year.  Over the 2017 
Christmas holidays, the Year 1 classrooms were refurbished to support the learning of 
three classes in an agile learning environment. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
Encouraged by the College’s theme for the year of Quality, A Focus For Life and the 
intentional pursuit of quality, the Council underwent a formal self-appraisal process 
early in the year. As a result of this process, a Professional Learning Plan has been 
developed and is now a regular feature of our monthly meetings. Areas of focus have 
included Board Effectiveness, Defining Governance Roles, Key Board Functions and 
Improving Board Processes. Another regular feature of our monthly meetings is 
presentations from leadership teams within the College. Throughout the year the 
College Council also made good use of resources provided by Independent Schools 
Queensland to enhance their governance capacity.  A highlight for the year was to be 
part of the College’s Accreditation process, which saw a strong celebration of the life 
and learning culture of the College.  
 
We thanked and farewelled long standing member, Mr Peter Asher.  The Asher family 
have been strong supporters of the College and the College Council since its inception 
and we have appreciated Peter’s input into Pacific life through his involvement in 
Council, the Finance and Risk Management Committee and service within the 
community.  We have welcomed new member Mr Phil Thamm.   
 
We thank Dr Dolling, the senior leadership team and staff for their leadership and 
encouragement to the whole Pacific community. May the God of green pastures and 
still waters continue to guide and reassure us as we strive to make wise choices which 
focus on quality in the years to come. 
 
Mrs Ruth Zerner 
Chair 
Pacific Lutheran College Council 
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PEACE LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
CAIRNS 

 

INTRODUCTION 
At Peace, we cater for a diverse range of students from a variety of backgrounds and 
cultures. Our boarding facilities allow us to serve students from a wide-ranging area 
including North Queensland, the Torres Strait and Papua New Guinea, as well as 
families from further afield. We believe a balanced education includes academic, 
physical, cultural, spiritual and emotional dimensions. Developing the whole person is 
at the heart of what we do, ensuring that Peace is a place where everyone feels valued; 
a place where everybody is somebody. The College is highly regarded in the Cairns 
community and our strong enrolment trends reflect this.  
 

STUDENTS 
Our enrolments have remained stable from last year and the currently sit at 680 
students, 91 of which are boarders. We have a strong student leadership team who 
are actively involved in the community, building positive relationships within both the 
College and wider community. Student morale is high and is reflected in both the way 
students present themselves and interact positively with others.  
 
The College provides an array of opportunities for students to be involved in diverse 
extracurricular activities. Extracurricular activities on offer include; camps, sport 
representation, Drama Club, STEM Club, choirs, instrumental music lessons, debating, 
academic competitions, Duke of Edinburgh Award, community service activities such 
as Relay for Life and Rosies, Adventure Under Sail, ski trips to New Zealand, cultural 
language trips to both Italy and Japan and service trips to Borneo. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
The students at Peace are diverse, with a wide range of abilities and aspirations. We 
cater for academic students whose aim is to go to university, as well as those students 
who are undertaking a vocational pathway. Our academic results show that students 
with a strong work ethic excel at Peace. In 2017, 23% of our OP eligible students 
achieved an OP between 1 and 5 and 100% of our students received their QCE. 96% 
of our QTAC applicants were offered a place at university.  
 
In 2017 the College employed a Career Guidance Officer and we have seen an 
increase in students taking VET courses as a result.  
 
There is a focus in Junior and Middle School on agile learning and best practice in 
flexible spaces, to ensure students have the optimal preparation for future professions.  
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Peace is widely recognised in the community as a caring school and our focus is on 
developing the whole person. We recognise that whilst academic achievement is 
important, the total well-being of each student involves ensuring their spiritual, 
physical, social and emotional needs are also met. Our Pastoral Care Program is 
design to target the particular needs of each age group. In 2017 we welcomed 
Miss Barkus, an intern with Young Adults in Global Mission, who has worked closely 
with the College Pastor and our Boarding staff. Boarders’ attend worship at 
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Trinity Lutheran Church every fortnight and at the College on each alternate Sunday. 
The Junior School classes take part in worship on a rotational basis.  
 

STAFF 
We continue to be blessed with long serving staff members who are committed to their 
calling. A focus throughout 2017 has been on building a collaborative culture through 
the establishment of Professional Learning Teams, which focus on specific areas of 
interest, including STEM, Indigenous Education, Effective use of Data etc. 
 

CURRICULUM 
Peace Lutheran College offers a broad range of learning opportunities, catering for 
students with different abilities, interests and goals. Junior and Middle School staff 
have worked to incorporate STEM into the curriculum. The Senior School staff have 
started to prepare for the new Senior Syllabus that will take effect in 2019.  
 
The College’s educational model is a progressive approach to learning, adopting 
modern-day educational transformations. This approach is particularly evident in our 
Junior School’s transition to Agile Learning Classrooms. The agile environment 
represents an energetic, flexible and stimulating learning space, assisting teachers to 
promote collaboration and enquiry; engaging students to ask questions, think critically 
and problem solve. The aim of this learning style is to connect classroom learning to 
real life, better preparing students for their future after school. 
 
CAPITAL WORKS 
In 2017 we constructed a Performing Art Centre, a much-awaited project that will 
enable us to develop and grow this area of our curriculum and offer extended 
extracurricular activities. Throughout 2017 the College Oval was also upgraded, and 
fitted with an AFL oval and two soccer courts. The Junior School classrooms have 
undergone refurbishment and become vibrant Agile Learning Areas.  
 

GOVERNANCE 
The College continues to be blessed by a committed governance council. We have 
two sub committees, a Finance Committee and Building & Facilities Committee who 
work effectively to support the future growth of the College.  
 

CONCLUSION 
The College has strongly established itself as a nurturing, vibrant and progressive 
educational environment with an excellent reputation in the local and wider community. 
We continue to strive for excellence and look forward with confidence to the future. 
Enrolment numbers are stable and we continue to invest in new building projects 
necessary to ensure we keep up with future demands and enable us to deliver a quality 
program.  
 
Bernie MacKenzie 
Chair 
Peace Lutheran College Council 
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PRINCE OF PEACE LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
EVERTON HILLS 

 

INTRODUCTION 
During 2017, the College grew its enrolments, developed new initiatives and continued 
strong academic results. The College is well positioned to continue to develop to be 
the school of choice for families seeking quality Christian education in North West 
Brisbane.  College Council in turn has budgeted responsibly with a view to balance 
fiscal responsibility and increasing capacity at the College.  The College has been well 
supported by the local community and congregation to strengthen its position in the 
Northern Suburbs.  
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Our College continues to enhance and enrich the lives of students, families and 
community through student and teacher led daily devotions, staff led chapel services 
and Worship Bands across both campuses.  Worship is based upon the LEA core 
values and has had a healthy attendance from parents, particularly at the Friday Junior 
Campus worship.  
 
In 2017, the College continued to support a Village Partnership with Kompoksteav in 
Cambodia, facilitated through ALWS. This has provided many opportunities for the 
College to tangibly support a community in need and we raised just over $7,000 to help 
build infrastructure for their community.   
 
As a College, we have embedded new pastoral care initiatives based around mental 
health into the P-12 curriculum, along with other Restorative Practice based 
relationship management techniques. 
 

STUDENTS 

Students have continued to embrace all of the opportunities presented to them.  They 
enjoyed both individual and team success across all areas of academic achievement, 
service learning, music and sporting endeavours. The College launched its five-year 
Strategic Plan at the start of 2017, with a strong emphasis on improved outcomes for 
students. This has meant that the College has focused on the fundamentals of quality 
education, such as strong planning, quality assessment and good feedback based 
upon very visible success criteria.  
 
Our graduating class also performed well academically with 20% of the OP eligible 
students receiving an OP1-5. We are especially proud of the fact that 95% of our 
students that applied received their first or second preference from QTAC. 59% of our 
students received and A or B grade in their QCS test.  
 

STAFF 
A number of new staff joined our College community across areas such as grounds 
and maintenance, Teacher Aides and Classroom Teachers. They have all made a 
positive contribution to the College and have fitted in well to the culture of the 
community. 
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In 2017, we continued Professional Learning Plans for all teachers, documenting and 
planning how they will raise student outcomes in their classroom. This has proven to 
be a very positive initiative with many staff really developing their teaching capacity 
and engaging in the professional conversation around raising achievement.  This is a 
significant part of the College’s Strategic Plan.  
 

CURRICULUM 
Having implemented the Teaching and Learning Framework for the College, the focus 
in 2017 has been to implement the latest ACARA P-10 Australian curriculum and 
broaden the depth of subjects offered at the College.  
 
The College has started the process of planning for the new QCE and has been a 
significant focus of Professional Development with staff. This is an opportunity to 
review the current Senior Secondary subject offerings and establish clear pathways for 
all students.  
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
In 2017, the College refurbished the Year 3, 4 and 5 classrooms including a complete 
new set of agile furniture and interactive whiteboards. There was a significant amount 
of grounds upgrades on both campuses, including a substantial increase of Shade 
Sails around the grounds. 
 
On the Senior Campus, a new transportable building has been completed, which has 
one general-purpose classroom and specialist music facilities for both the academic 
subject and the instrumental program. This has increased our capacity, allowing the 
College to continue to grow.  
 

GOVERNANCE 
2017 provided stability in governance and the financial position of the College 
significantly improved. New members joined the Council and added to the current 
depth of skills.  The College is still currently seeking a Pastor to join the Council.  
 

COMMUNITY 
The College is blessed with a very active Parents and Friends Association that raises 
a large amount of money for student resources and organises many community 
events. The College has placed a significant emphasis on continuing the strong 
relationship between the College and the congregation that share the Prince of Peace 
name.  
 

CONCLUSION 
We pray Our Lord continues to bless our mission at Prince of Peace Lutheran College. 
 
Mr David Ebbott 
Chair 
Prince of Peace Lutheran College Council 
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REDEEMER LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
BILOELA 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Redeemer Lutheran College, Biloela, is located in the Callide Valley, Central 
Queensland. The College was established as a Primary School by the Redeemer 
Lutheran Congregation Biloela in 1978, received approval to extend its educational 
service to Year 10 in 2012, and thus currently offers a P-10 Educational Program. We 
are privileged to be well resourced and have modern well maintained facilities in our 
idyllic bush environment. The College offers families in the Callide Valley an alternative 
choice for their child’s primary and secondary education and we look forward to 
continuing the provision of this smaller Christ-Centred and student focused educational 
option. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Redeemer Lutheran College, Biloela is a caring community that aims to R.E.A.C.H out 
to our students and their families as we share the love of the Jesus.  Respect, Effort, 
Appreciation, Christlikeness and Humility are our shared values.  The staff start their 
work day with devotional time and prayer for individual families and enjoy regular bible 
study with our Parish Pastor, Graham Pfeffer. The staff devotional time and Bible study 
follow the same three-year worship plan that is used for student worship. Year 1 – Old 
Testament Stories, Year 2 – New Testament Stories and Year 3 – Who is Jesus and 
Catechism. This three-year cycle was developed by the College with the aim to ensure 
that staff, students and parents are exposed to the biblical background and knowledge 
that was previously taught in homes and Sunday Schools. Accessing the scripture 
through music has been added once a week to our staff devotions and for many is a 
highlight for the week. 
 
Students begin their days with class devotions and attend weekly worship.  Both the 
Primary P-6 and Secondary 7-10 worship have a high level of student interaction and 
staff enjoy this opportunity to openly share their faith. Our weekly worship is well 
attended by parents and extended family, and for many, Chapel is their weekly worship 
place and time. The Lutheran Christian Studies Curriculum framework has been used 
to develop our Christian Studies program throughout the College. Pastor Pfeffer 
willingly offers his support of the Christian Studies Program with attendance and 
participation in classes when requested.  
 
The College has begun a Sunday Service and Supper at the College Chapel. Twice a 
term a Sunday Evening Service is offered to the College and broader community. Year 
Levels are rostered to prepare and lead the services along with Pastor around what 
they have been learning in Christian Studies. After the service Congregational 
members provide a simple supper. Attendance at our first service this year was in 
excess of 150 people. Praise God! Encouragingly attendance was from throughout the 
College families, the Congregation and families of past students. 
 
Whilst all the staff at Redeemer Lutheran College, Biloela view pastoral care as an 
important part of their job, we also have a Student Wellbeing and Pastoral Care 
Coordinator, specifically dedicated to this area. Our Deputy Principal, Mrs Eureka 
Coetzee, has this role along with her administrative duties. This support is an identified 
need for our community and is very well accessed by students, staff and parents. This 
service is partially funded by the Australian Government Department of Education 
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under the National School Chaplaincy and Student Welfare Program. In 2016 we were 
blessed to be able to also provide the services of a trained counsellor as part of our 
staff team. At the beginning of 2018 this became a fulltime position. It is such a blessing 
to be able to provide this service but such sadness that it is needed so much by so 
many.  
 
As a College community, staff and families voluntarily contribute to a College Care 
Fund that is used to support families in times of need.  It has provided such things as 
assistance with medical expenses, a meal when families are in crisis, a new uniform 
or stationery supplies when finances are low.  
 

STUDENTS 
Redeemer’s current enrolment total is 232 students. The student population is drawn 
from a broad spectrum of socio economic backgrounds with 11% of students from 
Lutheran backgrounds.  A large percentage of the student population have no church 
affiliation and are seeking an educational facility, with a clear behavioural policy, that 
will cater for their child’s individual learning needs at each end of the spectrum.   
 
As we start the 2018 year our overall enrolment numbers show a decrease of 20 
students. Although this decrease requires budget adjustment it is not of great concern. 
Part of the decrease has resulted from a small number of families having conflicting 
values and the greater part can be explained by a population anomaly with fewer 
eligible prep students in the Biloela Community in 2018. This was predicted as we 
observed the student numbers in the local Kindergarten facilities last year.  
 
We continue to work hard to maintain and grow our total enrolment across P-Year 10 
by offering an exemplary educational program that caters for each child that we have 
in our care. A focus this year is increasing the social capacity in our smaller Middle 
School. This is being addressed with vertical Pastoral Care groups, cross year level 
Entrepreneurial Projects and regular Middle School Social Nights.  
 
The Community – in and out of the College - continue to ask for the College to provide  
six years’ consecutive secondary education.  
 

STAFF 
The total Redeemer Staff stands at 39. This includes Principal Jenni Krenske, Deputy 
Principal Eureka Coetzee, Teaching, Learning & Behaviour Coordinator Sandra Wass, 
sixteen classroom teachers and two fulltime Educational Support Teacher Specialist 
teachers include Physical Education, Library, Music and Art.  The Music teacher 
conducts both classroom music and the Instrumental program.  These teaching staff 
are supported by the Office Administration team consisting of a fulltime Receptionist, 
Bursar, Business Assistant and Administration Assistant. We are privileged to have an 
ICT Technician and his knowledge and support are invaluable. Seven Teacher 
Assistants, a counsellor and two wonderful cleaners complete the team.  This Christian 
staff is passionate about their vocation and mission within the College and the broader 
community.  Of these 40 staff members 5 are Lutheran.  
 

CURRICULUM 
The College offers a holistic student focussed curriculum differentiated at each year 
level to cater for the needs of individual students.  The curriculum has been developed 
using the new Australian Curriculum (Science, History, Geography, English, Mathematics, 
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Health and Physical Education, The Arts, Technologies), College Based programs 
(Spelling, Phonics, Sight Word and Number Fact Recall) and the Lutheran Christian 
Studies Curriculum Framework.  Whilst the major educational focus remains the 
development of strong literacy and numeracy skills, the community highly values the 
development of ICT skills, performance skills in numerous areas of The Arts and 
physical activity.  Individual Learning is supported with 2 to 3 adults in all Literacy 
blocks throughout the College.  The Secondary students enjoy the more practical 
subjects of Home Economics (Fabrics and Textiles and Food Technology), Manual 
Arts (Woodwork and Metalwork), and Agricultural Studies along with opportunities in 
The Arts like Music, Dance and Drama. 
 
After significant professional development for staff in 2017 around inquiry based 
teaching and learning methods the College has started a focussed journey into Project 
Based Learning to assist students develop the essential soft skills (Collaboration, 
Communication, Personal and Social Skills, Creative and Critical Thinking) required to 
live and work in the increasingly automated world. We look forward to the Year 7-9 
Entrepreneur Project exhibition in late June and the Whole of College Exhibition night 
in September. With the Whole of College Musical planned for September it is going to 
be a busy and exciting time within the College. 
 
An extensive Extra Curricular program is offered at the College which includes Dance 
and Cheer, Chess, Robotics, Catering and Writers’ Club. The strength of these extra 
programs is the dedicated staff.  
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
Construction for 2017 included a much needed storage shed, fencing around the 
Junior Playground and a shelter at the Stop Drop and Go in the Archer Street Carpark.  
Painting continued with the Preparatory Building, Library, Chapel and Arts Room all 
having exterior painting completed. This means that all buildings through the school 
have been repainted in the one consistent colour scheme…the last will be part of a 
BGA Application submitted in 2018.  
 
Special Play spaces were developed throughout 2017. The Preparatory Yard has been 
doubled in size and a more natural play area developed. Prep students now enjoy 
investigating and imagining as they climb and roam through the wet/dry creek, squelch 
in the mud patch, observe the changes in the frog pond oasis, care for the chickens 
living in their special home, hide in their Teepee covered with a luscious passion fruit 
vine and plant, then harvest veggies in their raised garden. It is a special and 
appropriate way to be learning. 
 
New play equipment – a basket swing and towering climbing frame – were added to 
the Junior Primary play area. These new items are popular and well used but the newly 
developed Experiential Play Space is the favourite place to play.  The Experiential Play 
space is a shady area in and around the sand pit with large stepping logs, a 4 metre 
log to climb and play on and logs, sticks, rocks, tubes, reels etc. for the students to 
move and construct as their imaginations lead them. The area changes each day. 
 
BGA Applications for 3 projects have been submitted this year. 
Project 1: Year 11 and 12 Precinct – required if approval to extend is granted. 
Project 2: Extension and Refurbishment of Block D to add an Educational Centre for 
Educational Support and Specialist Support Staff including the Counsellor.  
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Project 3: Extension of Library Block to provide a Performing Arts Studio for Dance, 
Drama and Music.  
 

GOVERNANCE 
The College Council meets monthly. Although we struggle to get the required 
membership the collegial group, with members drawn from the Redeemer Lutheran 
congregation support the Principal and staff with long term planning. 
 
The major focus for the College Council in 2017 was investigating the feasibility of 
expanding to Year 11 and 12. With a positive response, a request has been made to 
CLEQ to consider approving this expansion. Strategic planning and overview of policy 
and procedures feature regularly in our meetings. 
 

CONCLUSION 
Our College has continued to be blessed in many ways and we are thankful for each 
opportunity to reach out to students and their families. The support and oversight of 
Lutheran Education Queensland Secretariat is greatly valued and we continue to pray 
for God’s direction and that He blesses us with wisdom as we make decisions about 
future developments. 
 
Gavin Lotz 
Chair 
Redeemer Lutheran College Council, Biloela  
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REDEEMER LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
ROCHEDALE 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Redeemer Lutheran College has had a smooth start to the year, with Mrs Tanya 
Crooks in her second year as Principal, and with the support of the new Deputy 
Principal, Mrs Nicole Gregory.  We thank Ms Rosilyn Frieberg for her dedication and 
professionalism in her role as Assistant to the Principal.  We wish her well in her 
retirement after serving the Redeemer community for 27 years.  Our theme for 2018 is 
Community – every face has a place and we strive to ensure students, staff and 
parents have a voice and that it is heard.   
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
The Redeemer Community was very pleased to welcome Rev Mark Vainikka as the 
new College Pastor and honoured to have Rev Paul Smith, Bishop LCAQD, undertake 
the rite of installation at the college service in March. Mark is a wonderful addition to 
the team. We are looking forward to his enrichment of the spiritual life of the College 
with his own gifts and experience. 
 
The pastoral care and support of our students and staff is of the utmost importance.  
The Learning Mentor Time (LMT) program was introduced to the Year 7–12 timetable 
in 2017 to support student learning and to assist future preparation for students sitting 
the new ATAR from 2020. Whilst still a developing program 88% of students and 78% 
of parents felt that LMT had benefited students’ learning and wellness. 
 
Redeemer has long been committed to offering students a variety of pathways to best 
prepare them for their future, be it university, vocational, traineeships, apprenticeships, 
work, travel or adventure.  We were incredibly proud of the results of our 2017 
graduating class who had strong results, with all receiving offers for their chosen 
pathway.  This is a good measure of success.  We were also very pleased to receive 
news from the Federal Minister and Chair of the Standing Committee on Employment, 
Education and Training, Mr Andrew Laming MP, that the results for our Seniors placed 
Redeemer Lutheran College as 6th out of 370 Queensland high schools, based on 
ICSEA, OP Proportion and OP Mean.  
 
Our Performance Music Program continues to impress, offering a broad range of 
musical and instrumental opportunities for students of all experience levels. Over 50% 
of all students in the College from Prep through to Year 12 are involved in one or more 
instrumental or vocal ensembles.  Our award-winning ensembles are designed to 
enrich students culturally, develop their musical skills and also provide a source of 
enjoyment and teamwork. 
 
Our new Sport structure has been positively received and we are already seeing great 
outcomes as a result of our dedicated team of specialist sports coaches.  We will 
continue to compete in the Greater Brisbane Conference and JTAS competitions, with 
students able to play at a variety of ability levels through our START, STRIVE, SELECT 
sports program and elite mentoring program, PACE.   
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Serving the Community is always at the centre of who we are at Redeemer, as well as 
our students undertake fundraising activities for causes they are passionate about, 
they are encouraged to look locally and globally to see beyond themselves and 
consider how they contribute and partner with people locally and globally. 
 
Last year our Year 6 students showed leadership in raising awareness of the work of 
Australian Lutheran World Service, helping to raise $5000 towards a community 
partnership project in Cambodia through Gifts of Grace. This story was recently 
featured in ‘The Lutheran’.  In December last year, our Year 6 Robotics team competed 
in the National Championships of the FIRST LEGO Competition in Sydney, where they 
placed 44th out of a total of 200 teams nationally! 
 

STAFF 
In caring for our staff the College has an active Staff Wellness Committee that includes 
representatives from across the college. One of their first projects this year has been 
to promote the new Access EAP plan provided by Redeemer. This service allows any 
staff member to access up to three independent counselling sessions a year in any 
aspect of their life. Staff continue to actively engage in their own professional learning, 
looking at best practice abroad in countries such as China and the USA, as well as 
nationally with visits to schools that are innovative and forward focused. 
 

TEACHING AND LEARNING 
In delivering its academic program, Redeemer remains committed to providing 
rigorous academic instruction in a manner which is supportive of all ability levels so 
that students can maximize their learning according to their ability. With the 
introduction of ATAR in 2019, College executive alongside curriculum leaders and 
teaching staff have redeveloped subject offerings for the senior school. The college is 
also currently undertaking a redesign of the middle year’s program to align with 21st 
century competencies and future career pathways. In line with the OECD emphasis on 
global competence, in 2018 Redeemer has introduced Mandarin as a subject for all 
students from Prep to Year 6, continuing in to Senior School from 2019 alongside 
Japanese. 
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
We were excited to launch the College’s Master Plan to the community in March.  The 
plan is a re-vision toward 2030 and beyond, as we look to support how and what 
learning and schools should look like into the future.  The Master Plan includes the 
construction of numerous brand new exciting buildings as well as the refurbishment 
and renovation of existing ones.  The plan includes a Pastoral Care Centre, Health and 
Wellness Centre, Innovation Hub, Humanity Zone and a possible Community Village.  
The plan was well-received by the College community and we are excited about where 
it will take us, as we look to the future. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
The implementation of the various stages of the Master Plan will keep the College 
Council busy well into the future, as our focus turns to the timeline for the fundraising 
and construction of the first stage.  We are blessed to have a variety of talent and depth 
of skills and knowledge on the College Council, as we strive to maintain strong 
governance. 
 



Page 66 of 87 

CONCLUSION 
At Redeemer, every face has a place.  We are part of a community and we are here 
because God has a plan and Redeemer will help us achieve find the best in ourselves, 
and guide us to serve our family, our friends, our school and our community. 
 
Ross Warbrooke 
Chair 
Redeemer Lutheran College Council 
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ST ANDREWS LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
TALLEBUDGERA 

 

INTRODUCTION 
The community of St Andrews Lutheran College continues to recover from the arson 
attack on the College of April, 2016.  Though all facilities have now been re-built, at an 
approximate cost of $8m, students and particularly staff continue to feel the emotional 
scars. Four alleged offenders are currently before the courts, providing an ever-present 
reminder of the violation experienced by many. 
 

ENROLMENTS 
St Andrews continues to grow. A record 1216 students attended the College in 2016, 
from Prep to Year 12. (2018 commenced with further growth at 1240 students) The 
College is in the fortunate position of having strong interest in its key intake years of 
Prep and most particularly Year 7, and is now the second largest single-campus school 
in the LEQ System. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
St Andrews students in 2017 continued to build upon growing tradition of academic 
scholarship at the College. The College’s NAPLAN results were excellent, with 99% of 
students meeting or exceeding the national benchmark. The 2017 Year 12 results were 
also most pleasing- with more than 28% of students achieving an OP between 1 and 
5, the best ever result for St Andrews on that benchmark. 97% of students seeking 
Tertiary Entrance received a first-round offer in their top 2 preferences. 100% of 
students received their QCE.  
 

PASTORAL CARE 
St Andrews is a Positive Education School. In many respects it is leading its 
implementation in schools across the nation. A highlight of 2017 was again a growing 
number of schools, including other Lutheran Schools, visiting St Andrews to learn firsthand 
what the College is doing in this important area of proactively building Student Well-being. 
 

WORSHIP 
Regular corporate worship is central to the life of the College. The College is blessed 
by the work of two Chaplains, and numerous other staff who are prepared to lead 
worship in our community. Considerable focus is placed on student feedback in 
ensuring that both the message and delivery mode are of greatest significance and 
relevance to students. Throughout 2017, developing the music component of Chapel 
continued to be a focus. The willingness of student leaders to lead Chapel was also a 
feature of 2017, with student led “voluntary” Chapel, beyond that “required” in our 
routine, was regularly attracting 50-60 students. 
 

STAFF 
In 2017 the College maintained a deliberate and intentional focus on building teacher 
capacity. All senior leaders were trained as coaches, and it will be their application of 
what they have learnt as they coach St Andrews teachers that will be critical to ongoing 
teacher growth.  St Andrews staff actively practise the College’s Mission Statement of 
Celebrating the Gospel, Nurturing the Individual, Empowering Lifelong Learners, 
modelling all facets, with a focus in 2017 in engaging in a broad range of ‘Action 
Research’ projects. 
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TEACHING AND LEARNING 
The College’s major Teaching and Learning focus for 2017 was the ongoing roll out of 
Dimensions 2 and 3 of the College’s Teaching and Learning Framework- Dimensions 
of Learning. The implementation of this framework means that students and teachers 
alike are operating with an intentional learning focus in their classes with the benefits 
clearly evident in the improved academic outcomes. 
 

EARLY LEARNING CENTRE 
Our Early Learning Centre, established in 2015, continues to thrive, with acclaimed 
programs, illustrated by a 99.8% occupancy rate.  Intentional efforts are made to 
incorporate the ELC into the ‘mainstream’ of the College, with the ELC Curriculum now 
enveloped in our International Baccalaureate Primary Years Program (PYP) structure.  
The ELC students, as has been customary for many P-12 groups, regularly visit the 
adjacent St Andrews Aged Care facilities. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
In 2017 College Council extended its focus on ‘The St Andrews of Tomorrow’. More 
than just a strategic planning exercise, the nature of Council’s work in this space really 
is about dreaming and visioning what a St Andrews Education might look like in 10 to 
20 years’ time, and how the College can position itself for this.  This not only informs 
curriculum and pedagogical design, but also Capital Works priorities.  Much of 2017 
was spent in forming the Strategic Plan 2018-2020 – A Lighthouse in the Community.   
 
Mrs Cecile Ryan took 12 months Leave of Absence from the position of Chairman 
(remained on Council) as she refreshed herself to lead us into the latter part of 2018, 
when we will mark our 25th Anniversary celebrations. 
 

CONCLUSION 
In 2017, we were pleased to welcome Mr David Bliss as our fourth Principal.  As an 
experienced Principal and the immediate past Executive Director of Lutheran 
Education Queensland, we were delighted that an educational leader of his calibre was 
able to lead St Andrews as an authentic Christian school, focussed on producing 
tomorrow’s leaders of society, today. 
 
John Howard 
Acting Chair 
St Andrews Lutheran College Council 
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ST JAMES LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
URRAWEEN / HERVEY BAY 

 

INTRODUCTION 
At St James, we continue to share God's love by seeking to provide an affordable, 
quality Christian education.  We offer learning opportunities that encourage the 
development of the whole child and enable students to maximize their potential for a 
life of service.  The College began its operation in 2003 with 64 students and now has 
612 students from Prep to Year 12 as well as a double stream Kindergarten with in 
excess of 60 children attending each week. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Letting our faith shine through three Chapel services per week with many College 
families joining us in the service, and for morning tea afterwards, is a way to bring 
families closer to knowing the Lord.  College students also regularly lead worship 
services at the College; this further encourages many of the parents with no church 
affiliation to attend and hear the Word of God. Our staff have many opportunities to 
support and care for students pastorally. They are well supported by their colleagues, 
the executive team and LEQ in a variety of ways. The College supports students by 
promoting positive relationships, restorative practices and ensuring that students feel 
safe in all that they do.  
 

STUDENTS 
College enrolments are currently 612 and we will have our 5th year of Year 12’s 
graduating in 2018. The College enrolls students from diverse backgrounds, reflective 
of the population in Hervey Bay. The College has a fully inclusive enrolment strategy 
across socioeconomic, cultural and faith traditions and works strategically to keep 
College fees within the means of working families.    
 

STAFF 
In 2018, the number of teaching staff at the College is at 45 Full Time Equivalents 
(FTE) and the non-teaching staff at 19 FTE. Our teacher’s dedication to their 
professional duties is exemplary and their enthusiasm to increase their level of 
qualifications is very high.  
 

CURRICULUM 
St James Lutheran College continues to be a regional leader in embedding 
contemporary practices and digital technologies into the curriculum.  With a strong 
emphasis on literacy and numeracy coaching that has shown a marked increase in 
student achievement.  We continue to build our Senior programs to include extra 
academic and vocational pathways. The College is establishing a pedagogical 
framework that is based on inquiry and builds learner agency, K-12. Students at 
St James are put at the centre of the curriculum with a focus on them ‘making a 
difference’ with what they learn. 
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
The St James Lutheran College building program will begin again after a year of no 
new construction works.  The College will be extending the Resource Centre, 
refurbishing the Years 4, 5 & 6 classrooms and an additional student amenities block 
to support our growing school. The College continues to work with its architects and 
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builders to bring to life the Masterplan for the College, planning future capital works 
aligned with our educational philosophy, while ensuring our fiscal responsibilities are 
met. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
The College Council continues to work effectively with the Principal in support of the 
students and families who attend the College.  Our understanding of the processes 
and responsibilities of a governing body continues to grow through regular interaction 
with the LEQ Directorate and staff.  Our mission statement and strategic plan has been 
updated and continue to introduce these to our wider community. We remain optimistic 
that our aim to seek stronger mission links with the local congregations will yield 
precious fruit and we remain committed to encouraging their involvement with our 
governance structures. 
 

KINDERGARTEN 
St James Kindergarten is a service operating under a local delegated authority. The 
3 and 4-year-old programs are already close to capacity. Strong leadership continues 
to be a feature and our families see the Kindergarten as a wonderful option to begin 
their K-12 journey at St James Lutheran College. The Kindergarten continues to grow 
and provides an excellent program for families wishing to access this part of the 
Colleges care and early learning curriculum. 
 

CONCLUSION 
As we press forward together through this time of growth and learning, we continue to 
acknowledge that the ongoing success and good reputation of St James Lutheran 
College is not attributable to ourselves, but is the work of our Lord acting in the 
community through the service of the College team. 
 
Mark Foster 
Chair 
St James Lutheran College Council 
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ST JOHN’S LUTHERAN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
BUNDABERG 

 

INTRODUCTION 
St John’s Lutheran Primary School has a proud history of providing a high quality 
affordable Christian education in the Bundaberg community. We nurture our students 
as individual unique creations of God, and aim to develop not just academic goals but 
social/emotional skills also. At St we aim to teach our students the skills they need to 
be functioning, caring, valuable, contributing members of their community. 
 
The school retains its close association with St John’s Lutheran Congregation, 
Bundaberg who originally founded the school, working with them in mutual cooperation 
to enhance the pastoral care and ministry of those in the community. 
 
A kindergarten, offering extended hours, operates from the school campus along with 
After School and Vacation care programs. The school is located in a central position 
in Bundaberg making it accessible to various bus services for which travel subsidies 
are available to eligible students. 
 
At the close of the school year our enrolment numbered 181 students, an increase of 
19 percent. 
 
2017 saw significant consolidations in our community after the launch our Strategic 
Plan – Soaring 2020 Vision. The school council and administration enlisted the help of 
Dennis Mulherin as lead consultant to help us shape our future. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Pastor Wayne George and Pastor Michael Jarick along with our Chaplain Jeanette 
Mann support our pastoral growth and Christian walk. Service learning continues to be 
an integral part of our school. We use a framework called 5 Rs – Respect, 
Responsibility, Random-Acts-of-Kindness, Resilience and Rigour to guide our 
expectations of students and staff at St John’s. Our children are often commended for 
their good manners and behaviour, for their respect and empathy for others, and for 
their general leadership and resilience. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
Education of the whole child is paramount at St John’s. The values that underpin our 
mission are listed in the Lifelong Qualities for Learners (LEQ Statement). We believe 
that every student is an individual who needs to be encouraged to develop to the best 
of their ability. With this goal in mind teachers utilise group rotations with activities 
targeted at ability or specific needs. St John’s has a learning support teacher who 
assists teachers in writing and implementing individual learning programs and to 
organise group work and extension activities. 
 
This year has also been a very busy year in developing our learning spaces in line with 
our vision to be a school built around the needs of contemporary learners. Our spaces 
encourage collaborative learning but also cater for the needs of individual learners. All 
of our school classroom spaces contain agile furnishings, which can be quickly 
configured to suit the learning that is taking place. With the introduction of these new 
spaces, student engagement has risen. 
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Music remains an integral part of the school with the offering of: Choir, Year 2 class 
melodica, Year 3 recorder and the Twilight Concert – a night for all music students to 
showcase their progress for the year. The purchase of a Lego Robotics Kit (valued at 
around $5000.00) in addition to the existing kits, has enabled us to further embed a 
robotics program for children across the year levels.  
 
All students across the school have access to iPads to support their digital learning. 
Students in Years 3 to 6 have a take-home device and Prep to Year 2 have class sets 
available throughout the school day. This is supported by access to Apple TVs in all 
learning spaces in Years P-6. 
 
2017 saw further refurbishment and development of some facilities in our school. 
a) Painting of a number of general classroom areas (including Hall) interiors 
b) Painting of a number of external walls and surfaces 
c) All new classroom furniture Prep – Year 6 
d) LED Computers-on-Wheels (COWS) Year 3 - 6 
e) Interactive LED Computers-on-Wheels (COWS) Years Prep – 2 
f) New fencing along George Street 
g) Fitout for additional Prep class 
h) Increased hardware to support iPad program 
i) Additional shelving in Library 
j) New storage room fitout in Junior school area 

 
STAFF 
Inquiry-Based Learning formed, and continues to form, a large focus area for teachers 
and students. Much effort and work had been put into scaffolding this pedagogical 
framework and philosophy within the community. Teaching focus has been on good 
pedagogy, specially focusing on reading and writing. 
 
The overall teaching and learning program of the school is based on guidelines 
provided ACARA. The school has a strong focus on literacy and numeracy with specific 
programs such as Words Their Way, 6+1 Writers Traits, Mathletics and Reading Eggs 
being used across all year levels. The Christian Studies Program of Lutheran 
Education Australia is also included in the curriculum program. 
 
As a result of the ISQ Self-Improving Schools Program efforts were focused in 3 main 
areas: 
a) ICT infrastructure capacity increased 
b) Assessment scoped across the year levels 
c) Pedagogy embedded Inquiry-Based Learning 
 
Professional Learning courses were undertaken by teaching staff using Kath 
Murdoch’s Power of Inquiry study guide and course. 

 
CURRICULUM 
The teaching and use of ICT and technology is used to enrich curriculum delivery with 
a number of new iPads and laptops being introduced to provide greater capacity. 
To that end, the school has a one-to-one iPad program in place for every child in Years 
P-6 as well as multiple laptops for use. The extension of active learning spaces and 
specialist teachers in Japanese, Health and Physical Education and library and 
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research support our curriculum delivery. Student participation in school camps is 
viewed as essential to enhance their development of skills in teamwork, independence, 
and resilience. Experiences range from one-night sleepovers to week-long trips. Day 
excursions are also planned by staff to enhance curriculum content and may include 
the Hinkler Museum, Mon Repos Turtle Hatchery for example. 
 
Our pedagogical framework, Inquiry-based learning, allows for deep and rich learning 
and is central to our learning vision for our students. We remain squarely focused on 
enhancing our children’s skills and knowledge in Literacy and Numeracy as well as 
preparing them for the future by way of teaching overt skills in communication, 
collaboration, curiosity, creativity and compassion. 
 
Apart from having a strong focus on music and physical education which is known to 
increase brain function and academic performance, we have an innovative approach 
to curriculum delivery, called ‘Core 4 Plus 1’, where four days of the week are dedicated 
to delivery of the core curriculum areas and on the fifth day children are exposed to 
different teachers and specialist subject areas including all of the Arts, Design and 
Digital Technologies, and LOTE (Language Other Than English).  

 
COMMUNITY 
Strong ties continue to be fostered between Church, school and the broader 
Bundaberg community. We have seen an increase in attendance at ‘Community 
Sunday’ services by parents and children from our school. 
 

CONCLUSION 
We are encouraged by the positive developments at St John’s Lutheran Primary 
School throughout the last year, and continue to be blessed by the dedication of our 
Staff. The support from our school families continues to be greatly appreciated. 
 
Delwyn Ainsworth 
Chair 
St John’s Lutheran Primary School Council, Bundaberg 
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ST JOHN’S LUTHERAN SCHOOL 
KINGAROY 

 

INTRODUCTION 
St John’s Lutheran Primary School was established by St John’s Lutheran 
congregation in 1989. Over the last 29 years the school has grown from a small primary 
school to a P- Year 9 school with 428 children. St John’s is situated on 5.7hectares in 
Ivy St on the north-eastern side of Kingaroy and serves residents of the town and 
outlying rural communities. We give thanks to God for his wonderful provision and pray 
His continued blessing upon the school community as it continues into the future.  
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
St John’s has a priority focus on Literacy and Numeracy achieving very pleasing 
NAPLAN results in our community.  These results reflect the commitment of the students 
to learning and the dedication of staff to work in an intentional way to develop educational 
programs and teaching strategies to enhance and enrich the learning environment.  
 
The Junior Secondary students participate in project based learning as part of the 
curriculum offering and this focus has assisted in the development of many skills that 
will be vital for the workplace of the future. In multi age groups students learn how to 
collaborate, cooperate, problem solve and reflect as part of a team to complete a 
project each term related to different core subject areas.  
 
Many extra curricula activities are also offered across the school as part of the 
opportunities for student learning. These include after school Sporting Schools, Life 
Education, Financial Literacy, skipping, gymnastics and camps. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Pastoral Care for families recognizes the need to support parents in the upbringing of 
their children. At St John’s Lutheran School it is our goal to provide services to assist 
parents in the development of the “whole” child, including the physical, intellectual, 
social, emotional and spiritual care. 
 
As a Christian School our focus is to provide pastoral care to all involved within our 
school community. Therefore we are intentional in participating in relevant daily 
devotional and worship times. Every second Sunday night term time school families 
participate in a Sunday Night Life devotional service lead by the students.  
 
St John’s endeavours to look for ways to engage parents with the school community. 
Some newer initiatives include the successful commencement of a school Playgroup 
and regular educational sessions and support programs for parents.  
 
There are also many ways the school community members are continued to be supported:  
a) Pastoral Care contact person who liaises with families in times of need. This may 

include provision of food, care of children, counselling etc. 
b) Organized informal activities for families 
c) Opportunities for worship at church/school  
d) Restorative practices 
e) Peer mentoring 
f) Shared devotional and prayer times 
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g) Incidental and formal sharing and meeting times 
h) Opportunities to meet weekly with parish pastor  
i) Social events 
j) Debriefing times after major events 
 
School Devotion and worship happens on a Monday morning just after everyone 
arrives for another week at school for Prep to Year 6. Secondary students meet later 
in the week. Classes assemble while parents and visitors gather and chat around coffee. 
 
Singing, You Tube clips, prayers, skits, bible stories and practical ideas for living out 
our Christian life are shared in a relevant way by both student leaders and the school 
devotional leader. The school theme for 2018 is “Together as One”. As a school we 
are a diverse community with many abilities and talents, varying backgrounds and 
situations in life but in Christ we can be one together!  With God’s grace may we 
embrace the opportunity this theme gives us to work together and celebrate our 
diversity, but also demonstrate our unity in Christ. Students and adults alike are 
encouraged in their spiritual journey in a practical life related way. 
The focus is followed through and built upon during the week via classroom devotions 
and playground interactions each day. 
 

STUDENTS 
At present there are 428 students enrolled at St John’s, catering for students from Prep 
age to Year 9. Many students travel distances to attend school from other local 
communities. The school has a Kindergarten located on the school grounds. This is 
administered by Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services. This facility has a 
capacity for 44 children to be enrolled.  
 

STAFF 
There are 69 staff serving in the St John’s School community.  
There are 21 full time teaching staff and 13 part time teachers. There are 2 full time 
and 1 part time Groundsmen and one Business Manager and approximately 27 part 
time ancillary staff. The QLECS Kindergarten employs 2 full time staff members and 2 
part time staff.  
 

CURRICULUM 
The curriculum program used at St John’s is based on the new National Curriculum 
documents and the Lutheran Education Australia’s Christian Studies Curriculum 
Framework. The school has a whole school curriculum framework and staff are 
involved in a peer coaching program that encourages professional dialogue and 
reflection of practice.  
 

GOVERNANCE 
The current school council is comprised of 5 members who are from St John’s Lutheran 
Congregation Kingaroy and 1 member who is from Peace Lutheran Congregation, 
Kumbia. The other council member is a practising Christian from the local Seventh Day 
Adventist Church.  
 
Warren Layt  
Chair 
St John’s Lutheran School, Kingaroy Council 
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ST PAUL’S LUTHERAN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
CABOOLTURE 

 

INTRODUCTION 
St Paul’s Lutheran Primary School is a co-educational school owned and operated by 
the Lutheran Church of Australia, Queensland District [LEQ], and is affiliated to 
St Paul’s Lutheran Congregation for the purpose of mutual ministry and service to the 
wider community. We nurture our students as individual unique creations of God, and 
aim to develop not just academic goals but social and emotional skills also. At St Paul’s 
we aim to teach our students the skills they need to be functioning, caring, valuable, 
contributing members of their community and citizens of the country. 
 
2017 saw the introduction and implementation of an Agile Learning philosophy across 
the whole school. 
 
The school community, over a number of workshops, did a review of our Mission Statement. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Our theme for 2017 was “Learn, Live, Grow”. This theme encompassed all aspects 
of school life as well as our spiritual lives. The following quote was presented to every 
staff member at the beginning of the year, “We are human. We are not perfect. We are 
alive. We try things. We make mistakes. We stumble. We fall. We get hurt. We rise 
again. We try again. We keep learning. We keep growing. And we are thankful for this 
priceless opportunity called life.” Our Bible verse for 2017 came from 2 Peter 3:18, “But 
grow in the grace of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ. To him be glory both now and 
forever.”  
 
The Christian ethos of the school and core values (love, forgiveness, compassion, 
justice, humility, appreciation, service, hope, courage and quality) promoted in the 
school are drawn from the educational Framework for Lutheran schools and support 
the Lifelong qualities of Learners. The values are the basis of the school’s code of 
conduct for students and staff and are supported in the school’s Christian Studies 
Program. 
 
We were blessed to find out that we would continue to receive Commonwealth funding 
for a Chaplain in 2017. This has enabled us to provide a very valuable and necessary 
service to our students. 
 
Because of the strong link with the local church community, there is a back-up of willing 
helpers to step in and help families in need. The St Paul’s congregation introduced a 
“Milk and Muffins” initiative in 2017 which provides a light breakfast and the opportunity 
to minister to the school students, on a Tuesday morning, before school. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
The school’s curriculum has a strong focus on Literacy [Daily 5] and Numeracy [Daily 3] 
development.  
 
A dedicated Learning Extension Program [RISE] has become embedded across the 
whole school [Prep – Year 6] with an emphasis on a growth mindset. Our Year 5 and 
6 Virtual Debating Team won their year level in this national competition. 
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Last year was also a very busy year in developing our Year 5 Agile Learning space, 
known as the Agile Learning Lab, and philosophy in line with our vision to be a school 
built around the needs of contemporary learners. Our Year 5 space encourages 
collaborative learning but also caters for the needs of individual learners. This learning 
space contains agile furnishings which can be quickly configured to suit the learning 
taking place. This learning philosophy will be extended into Year 6 in 2018. 
 
The teaching and use of ICT and technology by students and teachers enriches the 
learning environment and supports independent research, publication and learning. 
The school provides infrastructure and equipment to support and enhance the BYO 1 
to 1 iPad program from Year 1 – 6. Preps access school iPads on a 1 to 1 basis. 
St Paul’s is also a fully accredited eSmart school.   
 
Year 3 - 6 students have opportunities to compete in inter-school swimming, cross 
country and athletics competitions. Talented students were able to compete at district, 
regional state and national levels.  Years 5 - 6 students participated in local Friday 
afternoon inter-school gala sports days competing in soccer, netball, basketball and 
touch football. Prep – Year 1 students participated in a weekly Perceptual Motor 
Program to enhance their skills and coordination.  
 

STAFF  
All teachers working at St Paul’s are fully qualified and registered to do so. Many have 
post graduate degrees, certificates or diplomas. 98% of the teaching staff have 
bachelor degrees, 24% have additional diplomas and certificates and 9% have a 
master’s degree. 
 
This year the focus for professional learning for our staff has been Agile and Inquiry 
Learning, the Daily 5 Literacy Framework and the Daily 3 Numeracy Framework.  
Teachers collaborating with each other and learning from each other is a vital part of 
our staff culture. 
 

CURRICULUM 
Some of our distinctive curriculum offerings are as follows: 
a) Structured pastoral care and student management programs which link Christian 

teaching, LQL values and attributes and a whole school Behaviour Education 
Program based on the ABC Paradigm, Circle Time, the High 5 Program, the 
Chaplaincy Program and Restorative Practices. 

b) Year 3 – 5 Adventure and Challenging Camping. 
c) Year 5 and 6 Leadership retreat and Outback Queensland outdoor education 

Program. 
d) Specialist teachers in Music, PE, Library, Japanese, Learning Extension and 

Learning Support. 
e) An emphasis on Inquiry Pedagogy. 
f) An emphasis on Agile Learning. 
g) Robotics across Year 1 – 6. 
h) Instrumental Music Program [violin] for all Year 3 students. 
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COMMUNITY 
The school is blessed to have a very strong parent community who are actively 
involved both inside and outside the classroom through our P&F Group and Parent 
Consultative Committee. Strong Lutheran community ties are continually being forged 
in Caboolture amongst St Paul’s school, congregation, Grace Caboolture, the local 
St Paul’s Aged Care Village and Intercept. An annual Christmas Carols Community 
event is jointly hosted by these organizations.  
 

CONCLUSION 
St Paul’s provides a unique niche in the Caboolture region for those wishing to pursue 
a rich Christian primary school education of a high standard but with modest fees.  
 
Tim Powell 

Chair 
St Paul’s Lutheran Primary School Council 
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ST PETERS LUTHERAN COLLEGE  
INDOOROOPILLY 

 

ENROLMENTS 
Despite tough economic circumstances in the Queensland at present enrolments at St 
Peters grew throughout 2017, having commenced the year with 1963 students, and 
finishing the year with 2005 students. As such St Peters continues to be not only the 
largest Lutheran School, but the largest Independent School in Queensland. 
Enrolments in Boarding also grew to over 160 students by the end of the year, again 
defying the state trends where boarding numbers have actually declined across the 
state for the last 3 years.  
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
St Peters continues to maintain its reputation of fine academic scholarship, as reflected 
in the class of 2017 final results. 37.87% attained an OP or equivalent score of between 
1 and 5, the College’s best result on that measure since 2011; while 73.16% receiving 
an OP between 1 and 10, the College’s best result on that measure since 2010.  
 

STUDENT ACHIEVEMENT 
St Peters is blessed with outstanding students. The breadth and diversity of their 
achievements in Music, the Arts, Sport, Robotics, Service Learning and Outdoor Education 
is amazing. The College highly values its co-curricular program for the important role 
it plays in developing the whole child. What is most impressive is that our students 
involve themselves across an array of endeavours and not just one of two activities.  
 

WORSHIP 
Regular corporate worship remains central to the life of the College. The Chaplaincy 
team is focused on increasing the student voice in Chapel. The willingness of a number 
of students to share their faith with their peers in Chapel has been a feature.  
 

STAFF 
In order for students to continue to learn, so must the adults in the school community. 
As such the College devotes significant resources to the professional learning of its 
teachers and staff. The focus of professional learning amongst staff on a whole of 
College level has been Positive Education, preparing for the new Senior School 
Assessment System and Restorative Practices.  
 

TEACHING & LEARNING 
The focus of 2017 in terms of Teaching and Learning was the development of a School 
Improvement Agenda. Five areas were identified – Know Your Student, High 
Expectations, Improving Teacher Pedagogy, Literacy and Improving Student and Staff 
Well-being. A central strategy in implementing the School Improvement Agenda has 
been the introduction of a world class Teaching and Learning Framework, known as 
Dimensions of Learning. 
 

PASTORAL CARE  
The focus of 2017 was developing a well-tailored P-12 Academic Care and Well-being 
Program underpinned by Positive Education. The term ‘Pastoral Care’ has been 
changed to ‘Academic Care’ to emphasize that pastoral care occurs in academic 
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classes as well, and not just in the scheduled pastoral care lesson. Every moment at 
St Peters has the potential to be a pastoral moment.  
 

GOVERNANCE 
In 2017 the College Council continued to focus on developing its governance capacity. 
Innovations included a Governance Handbook, a process to recruit new members, ‘For 
Decision’ templates, and a Balanced Scorecard Report. An emerging focus for Council 
is the development of a coherent Master Plan to position the College for the next 50 
years. Jennifer Danslow, a long serving member of Council stepped down at the end 
the year, and we thank her for her significant service.   
 

CONCLUSION 
As St Peters nears its 75th anniversary, God continues to bless our College in 
unimaginable ways. The words of Mr Schneider, the founding Headmaster of St Peters 
in his opening address in 1945; ‘First and foremost it must be the aim of the school to 
train and develop Christian character so that young men and women go forth with 
Christ in their lives’ continues to ring true. We continue to give thanks to God for making 
this possible.  
 
Neil Clark 
Chair 
St Peters Lutheran College Council 
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ST PETERS LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
SPRINGFIELD 

 

ENROLMENTS 
Despite strong competition from other schools in the area, St Peters Springfield 
continues to grow at a significant rate. In 2017 Enrolments increased by 14.3% on 
2016 numbers, taking total enrolments to 519 by the end of the year. At the beginning 
of 2018 for the first time ever the College has three streams of Year 7s, a significant 
achievement. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
The College continues to produce excellent student outcomes. In the senior years the 
College has a real focus on helping each child follow a pathway that meets their needs; 
be it entry into tertiary study or the world of work.  
 

PASTORAL CARE 
Pastoral Care is a real strength of St Peters Springfield. The College has developed a 
strong reputation in the community for the quality of Pastoral Care it provides. The 
quality of relationships that staff form with their students is outstanding, and a culture 
where everyone is treated with care, dignity and respect is most evident.  
 

FACILITIES 
As the College continues to grow the need for more learning spaces also grows. The 
focus of 2017 has been around planning for a new facility to accommodate Upper 
Primary and Junior High. The facility, planned for construction in 2019 has 8 
classrooms, plus a flexible learning space, as well as staff spaces for key pastoral care 
personnel.  
 

WORSHIP 
An absolute highlight of 2017 was the start of a weekly Sunday worship service. Known 
as Arise Lutheran Church, a preaching place of St Peters Lutheran Congregation 
Indooroopilly, this church planting exercise is another piece in the jigsaw for the vision 
for St Peters Springfield. Approximately 45-60 people worship each week, under the 
leadership of Pastor Matthew Wilksch.  
 

STAFF 
At St Peters Springfield, we are blessed with hardworking and talented staff.  In a 
young and growing school much is expected of its staff, who must wear multiple hats, 
and go above and beyond in many spheres of school life. Thank you to our dedicated 
staff who help to make St Peters a special place for our students.  
 

GOVERNANCE  
College Council continues to govern Springfield diligently, with a continuing focus on 
paying down debt. This approach has enabled the Council to support development of 
the College in a responsible and sustainable manner, including planning for a new 
building for the Upper Primary/Junior High Years in 2019. 
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CONCLUSION 
2017 marks the 10th year of operations at Springfield. In 2018 we are marking this 
milestone with a number of celebrations, including the launch of the 10 year history 
book ‘Care, Dignity and Respect’.  Thank you to all who have played a part in helping 
to make St Peters Springfield a reality. So many, have given so much to make St 
Peters the flourishing learning community that it is today. There have been challenges 
along the way, and no doubt there will be others along the journey ahead, but God has 
truly blessed St Peters Lutheran College Springfield these past 10 years. 
 
Neil Clark 
Chair 
St Peters Lutheran College Council 
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TRINITY LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
ASHMORE 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Trinity is a Christ-centred community nurturing and empowering every learner to serve 
our world, anchoring our values on our college motto: “No other Foundation… Jesus 
Christ” (1 Corinthians 3:11). A key feature of our vision is to contribute to our 
community and society by being a globally connected and innovative learning 
community developing heart, head and hand for personal excellence.  
 

ENROLMENT 
The college held its enrolment with an increase in 2017 from 2016 in the very 
competitive Gold Coast independent schools’ environment. The college endeavours to 
retain its unique offering of being a small school with large school facilities. We also 
restructured our school fees, looking at the best value for money. 
 

STUDENT LEARNING 
Students achieved well academically in 2017 as evident by our 3, 5, 7, 9 NAPLAN 
testing results and Year 12 outcome reports. In excess of 90% of students achieved 
above benchmark results in NAPLAN and 100% of Year 12 students achieved an OP 
1-15. These set of results is a clear testimony of the excellent teaching and learning 
approach and outcomes at Trinity. 
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
The college has a strong reputation in the pastoral care of students. The teachers 
continue to use the relational management framework based on restorative justice 
principles to engage the students in their character development. The Pastoral Care 
program is supported by one full-time Pastor and two part-time Chaplains, Heads of 
Campus, Heads of Year and Christian Youth Group ministry. Pastoral care extends 
well beyond what occurs in the timetabled pastoral care group. Pastoral care of 
students is the responsibility of all teaching staff of the college. 
 
Messy Church, our Sunday school styled children service that is geared especially for 
primary students and their parents continues to be a fun, interactive and very relaxed 
environment for parents to share with their children and grandchildren. Messy Church 
is a combined ministry of Trinity Lutheran College and Trinity Lutheran Church, Ashmore. 
 
Through the support of LCAQD, Trinity was able to commence a Chinese Ministry with 
parents and students who are recent migrants to Australia. There are worship services 
once a term in Chinese Mandarin and fortnightly bible study of the Book of Ester for 
parents. 
 

STAFF 
The college continues to strengthen the college’s Lutheran ethos through the staff 
formation program. The college pastor and principal held workshops with the college 
corporate staff once-a-term to continue to further equip the corporate staff with the 
Lutheran theology and instill the college’s values through ongoing dialogues. The 
academic staff were supported with a wide range of professional learning activities 
organised internally or by external providers including CS Equip, vocational pathways, 
weekly bible studies and growth groups. 
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CURRICULUM 
The K-12 Teaching and Learning Framework was finalised in 2017 through the 
Independent Schools Self-Improving School initiative. It was anticipated LEA growing 
deep materials and growth performance approach will guide the implementation of the 
framework in 2018. 
 

CAPITAL WORKS 
Six of our middle years’ classrooms have been renovated based on both the teachers’ 
and the students’ input, so as to create a flexible and innovative learning environment 
that encourages out-of-the-box thinking and problem-solving skills. These classrooms 
are ready for use in 2018 Term 1. The science classrooms, senior campus staff and 
common rooms have been refurbished and new fencing has been erected along the 
remaining boundary of the Junior campus. 
 

GOVERNANCE 
The College Council continues to serve faithfully and cohesively. The College Council 
members attended professional learning opportunities offered by LEQ to further equip 
them for God’s work at Trinity. The College Council has been actively seeking new 
members to round off the skill set of the council.  The College Council will deliver 
another year of positive financial position for the college to secure further investment 
to the teaching and learning of the students and staff.  
 

CONCLUSION 
Trinity Lutheran College is entering into 2018 with gratitude and confidence in God, 
that He will continue to richly bless this college and its community. 
 
Paul Kleinschmidt 
Chair 
Trinity Lutheran College Council 
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PEACE LUTHERAN PRIMARY SCHOOL 
GATTON 

 

INTRODUCTION 
Peace Lutheran Primary School is located in the Lockyer Valley in south east 
Queensland between Toowoomba and Brisbane. The school was established by 
Peace Lutheran Congregation and still remains a school of the congregation.  2017 
saw the school enrolment numbers increase with 2 classes in each year level.  
 

PASTORAL CARE AND WORSHIP 
Peace continues to be thankful for the Federal Government funding we receive which 
assists us in the employment of our Pastoral Care Worker Mrs Scott. Pastoral care is 
not an item that is timetabled into a certain slot but is an integral part of the ethos of 
our school and an item that is taken to heart by every staff member.  Increasingly we 
are finding a greater need for the service of a person such as Mrs Scott to provide 
support for our students and their families. The school practices a restorative approach 
which focuses on the relationships of all in our community.  
 
Wellness of staff continues to be a focus with general team building activities 
undertaken, the Social Club organising various functions both in and out of school, and 
staff actively caring and praying for each other. 
 
Each day begins with devotions, worship or prayer for both staff and students. The 
school retains a strong relationship with the congregation with the minister usually 
leading weekly worship, each class participating in congregational worship one Sunday 
during the school year and the congregation continuing to present each Year 3 student 
with a Bible which belongs to the student and is used in class while they are at Peace. 
 

STAFF 
The School has a high retention of staff. The end of 2017 saw two teaching staff leaving 
after being on contract as two other staff were returning from maternity leave and a 
part-time teacher assistant being farewelled as their contract was not renewed. 
 
Staff were involved in continuing ISQ projects: Self-Improving Schools and Mentoring. 
In-school staff meetings focussed on our teaching and learning framework, spelling 
and ongoing implementation of the Australian Curriculum with mapping of our 
curriculum to ensure all areas were being covered. Data collection formed a part of the 
SIS project and continued to be a focus 2017. 
 

STUDENTS 
While the number of students with a verification continued to grow, so too did the 
number of students who are increasingly exhibiting anxiety issues or behavioural 
needs which may or may not be related to any learning needs. Throughout 2017 staff 
undertook training as a part of the Positive Partnerships Program which also included 
a parent training/participation day. While this program specifically is targeted at 
children with autism and is funded under them, strategies taught can be used with all 
students who have behavioural needs.  
 
The school took part in the BRAINGro program to enhance and supplement programs 
already being used in the school. 
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CURRICULUM 
The BYOD program remained in Years 5 and 6 with no extension into the lower year 
levels. 
 
Intensive investigation of data from the Naplan testing confirmed areas that needed to 
be focused on in 2018. Writing specifically was confirmed as an area of weakness and 
a new whole school program will implemented.  
 

GOVERNANCE 
2017 saw one new member coming onto council but the end of the year also saw one 
member resigning as he moved away from Gatton and the congregation minister called 
to become the Bishop of NSW. The council is presently looking at the best way forward 
to gain new members who have the specific skill sets to compliment those already held 
by existing members. 
 
2017 saw work continuing on the strategic plan and the overview of policies. 
 

PARENTS AND FRIENDS 
This very hard working group of parents continued with their variety of fund raising 
activities with the main focus once again being the annual Art and Craft Show. It is 
through this fundraising that our school is able to provide many of the resources our 
teachers and students are able to enjoy.  
 
2017 saw the purchase of: new furniture including shelving and movable whiteboards, 
marquees with the school name, and a considerable donation to purchase various 
items to supplement resources to be used for STEM and STEAM. 
 
The P & F also supported family community functions such a free family movie evening 
and the school art /craft evening. 
 
Once again in 2017, the School was able to maintain a minimal fee increase and return 
a positive budget.  
 
In 2018 the enrolment numbers are predicted to be lower but School Council has 
moved to retain two classes in each year level. 
  
We thank God for his guidance and the blessings he has given to our community 
throughout the year.  
 
David Haak 
Chair 
Peace Lutheran Primary School Council 
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Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council               
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Milton 

Statement of Profit or Loss 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017  
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
1 

 Note 
2017 

$ 
2016 

$ 
Grant revenue 2  72,326   213,428  
Fees revenue 2  2,152,148   1,873,657  
Other income 2  33,385   38,202  

Total revenue   2,257,859   2,125,287  

    
Employee benefits expense 5  (1,659,670)   (1,586,735)  
Depreciation and amortisation expense   (45,787)   (54,384)  
Other expenses   (485,243)   (371,428)  

Results from operating activities   67,159   112,740  

    
Finance income   41,745   122,830  
Finance costs   (17)   (16)  

Net finance income   41,728   122,814  

Revenue from outside ordinary activities    
Recoveries from sale of Trinity Child Care Centre 4  95,145   -  

Expenses from outside ordinary activities    
Debt forgiveness 3  (222,911)   -  
Impairment of advances expense 8  (343,721)   -  

Net profit/(loss) for the year   (362,600)   235,554  
 



Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council               
ABN 75 039 376 800 
Milton 

Statement of Financial Position 
As At 31 December 2017 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
2 

 Note 
2017 

$ 
2016 

$ 

ASSETS    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Cash and cash equivalents 6  344,354   731,961  
Trade and other receivables 7  210,848   113,870  
Advances to services 8  106,875   126,781  
Prepayments   22,687   20,627  
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   684,764   993,239  
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Property, plant and equipment 9  132,221   160,321  
Intangible assets 10  485   970  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   132,706   161,291  
TOTAL ASSETS   817,470   1,154,530  

LIABILITIES    
CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Trade and other payables 11  49,551   33,779  
Short-term provisions 12  223,431   226,904  
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   272,982   260,683  
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Long-term provisions 12  39,462   26,221  
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   39,462   26,221  
TOTAL LIABILITIES   312,444   286,904  
NET ASSETS   505,026   867,626  
 

EQUITY    
Retained earnings   505,026   867,626  
TOTAL EQUITY   505,026   867,626  
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
3 

2017    

  

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Balance at 1 January 2017   867,626   867,626  
Net profit/(loss) for the year   (362,600)   (362,600)  

Balance at 31 December 2017   505,026   505,026  
 
2016    

  

Retained 
Earnings 

$ 
Total 

$ 
Balance at 1 January 2016   632,072   632,072  
Net profit/(loss) for the year   235,554   235,554  

Balance at 31 December 2016   867,626   867,626  
 
 



Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council               
ABN 75 039 376 800 
Milton 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended 31 December 2017 

4 

Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council ABN 75 039 376 800 is not a separate legal entity and is part 
of the Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District.  It is a not-for-profit entity involved in the provision of child 
care services. 

1 Basis of Preparation  

(a) Compliance with Prescribed Requirements       

In the opinion of the members of the Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council, this entity is not a 
reporting entity because there are no users dependent on general purpose financial statements. The financial 
report of Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council ABN 75 039 376 800 has been drawn up as a 
special purpose financial report for distribution to the Council members and for the purpose of fulfilling the 
requirements of the Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District, the Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood 
Services Council and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. 

These special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement aspects of all applicable Accounting Standards adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB), except for AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with the significant accounting policies below.  

The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historic costs and does not take 
into account changing money values or, except where specifically stated, current valuations of non-current 
assets. 

The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless otherwise 
stated, have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report. 

(b) The Reporting Entity  

The financial statements of Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council ABN 75 039 376 800 
includes the value of all income, expenses, assets, liabilities and equity for the entity as an individual entity.  
Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council also controls the following services:  

Amana Family Day Care ABN: 65 212 635 927 
Bethania Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 15 965 528 641 
Bethania Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN:56 623 651 897 
Bethany Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 98 101 292 525 
Bethany Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 18 679 282 376 
Centenary Christian Kindergarten ABN: 36 183 648 527 
Concordia Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 98 422 851 574 
Faith Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 31 033 015 639 
Grace Creche and Kindergarten ABN: 34 948 155 263 
Grace Lutheran Preschool ABN: 17 590 321 265 
Living Faith Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 81 200 913 992 
Living Faith Early Learning Centre ABN: 56 192 927 928 
LORDS Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 33 749 934 974 
Martin Luther Kindergarten ABN: 68 298 401 198 
Martin Luther Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 76 672 840 797 
Nazareth Lutheran Early Learning Centre ABN: 51 822 832 517 
New Life Child Care Centre ABN: 51 075 070 708 
Peace Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 69 925 974 439 
Peace Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 46 269 415 665 
Prince of Peace Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 50 269 925 459 
Prince of Peace Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 72 196 255 130 
St Andrews Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 14 428 545 670 
St James Lutheran Community Kindergarten and Childcare ABN: 19 455 387 721   
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1 Basis of Preparation continued  

(b) The Reporting Entity continued  

5 

 

St James Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 69 265 438 021 
St John's Lutheran Kindergarten Eight Miles Plain ABN: 52 840 564 868 
St John's Lutheran Kindergarten Bundaberg ABN: 60 636 576 751 
St John's Lutheran Kindergarten Kingaroy ABN: 27 080 473 586 
St John's Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 72 241 386 153 
St Paul's Lutheran Child Care Centre Mt Isa ABN: 75 499 216 220 
St Paul's Lutheran Child Care Centre Townsville ABN: 78 390 017 486 
St Paul's Lutheran Outside School Hours Care ABN: 37 293 060 173 
St Peters Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 90 310 944 212 
St Stephens Lutheran Kindergarten ABN: 96 606 580 668 
Trinity Child Care Centre ABN: 92 247 692 746 
Trinity Occasional Child Care Centre ABN: 63 392 359 318 

Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council provides financial support to service that require 
assistance throughout the financial year. Although not required at the date of this report, Queensland Lutheran 
Early Childhood Services Council may seek financial support from managed services where allowed by the 
respective memorandum of understanding.  

These special purpose financial statements should be reviewed in conjunction with the Queensland Lutheran 
Early Childhood Services Council Consolidated Financial Statements as an accurate measure of the financial 
position and performance of this entity and the controlled services. A copy of the Queensland Lutheran Early 
Childhood Services Council full financial statements and auditor's report will be made available on request. 

(c) Other Presentation Matters     

Currency and Rounding 
Amounts included in the financial statements are in Australian dollars and are rounded to the nearest dollar. 

Comparatives 
Comparative information reflects the audited 2016 financial statements. 
 
Current/Non-Current Classification 
Assets and liabilities are classified as either 'current' or 'non-current' in the Statement of Financial Position and 
associated notes.  Assets are classified as 'current' where their carrying amount is expected to be realised 
within 12 months after the reporting date.  Liabilities are classified as 'current' when they are due to be settled 
within 12 months after the reporting date, or the service does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement 
to beyond 12 months after the reporting date.  All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 

2 Revenue and Other Income  

  

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Grant revenue    
  Child Care Benefit   72,326   213,428  

Total grant revenue   72,326   213,428  

Fees revenue    
  Early Childhood Levies   390,355   553,549  
  Financial Services   1,498,977   1,178,297  
  OSHC Locally Managed Fees   262,816   141,811  

Total fees revenue   2,152,148   1,873,657  
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2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Other income    
 Donations   690   2,613  
 Rental Income   -   (6,365)  
 Other income   32,695   41,954  

Total other income   33,385   38,202  

Total revenue   2,257,859   2,125,287  

 Accounting Policy   

Fees revenue  

Fees revenue is brought to account over the time period to which the fees relate, being as educational services are 
provided. 

Grant revenue 

Grant revenue is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the service 
obtains control of the grant, it is probable that the economic benefits gained from the grant will flow to the service and 
the amount of the grant can be measured reliably. 

Donations 

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. 

Finance income  

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested and dividend income.  Interest income is recognised as it 
accrues. 

Other income 

Other income is recognised on an accruals basis when the service is entitled to it. 

3 Debt Forgiveness  

During the 2017 financial year, New Life Child Care Centre and Trinity Child Care Centre closed. Upon closure 
advances remained outstanding to Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services however the amounts were unable 
to be repaid and the Council agreed to forgive the debt. 

4 Recoveries from sale of Trinity Child Care Centre  

Trinity Child Care Centre closed on 25 January 2017. The Council recovered $95,145 on the sale of the centre. As 
disclosed in Note 3, the Council provided debt forgiveness of $42,535 to the service on its closure. 
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5 Employee Expenses  

  

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Wages and salaries   1,389,825   1,365,157  
Superannuation contributions   147,370   138,279  
Other employee benefits and related expenses   47,924   47,237  
Staff training   49,270   29,201  
Staff on-costs   25,281   6,861  

   1,659,670   1,586,735  

 Accounting Policy  

Salaries, wages, employer superannuation contributions, annual leave costs and long service leave costs are regarded 
as employee benefits.   

Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an employee's total 
remuneration package. They are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as employee related expenses. 

Superannuation 

Employer superannuation contributions due but unpaid at reporting date are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position at the current superannuation rate. 

Annual leave and long service leave 

Provision is made for the service's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to the 
end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year have been 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.  

Employee benefits expected to be settled more than one year after the end of the reporting period have been measured 
at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining the liability, 
consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy vesting 
requirements. Cashflows are discounted using market yields on high quality corporate bond rates incorporating bonds 
rated AAA or AA by credit agencies, with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cashflows. Changes in the 
measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss. 

6 Cash and cash equivalents  

  

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Westpac bank deposits   75,238   76,950  
Lutheran Laypeoples League deposits   269,116   655,011  

   344,354   731,961  

 Accounting Policy   

For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position, cash assets include all cash and cheques receipted but not 
banked at 31 December as well as deposits at call with financial institutions. 
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7 Trade and other receivables  

  

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

CURRENT    
Trade receivables   187,075   131,854  
Provision for impairment   (87,750)   (32,760)  

   99,325   99,094  
Other receivables   111,523   14,776  

Total current trade and other receivables   210,848   113,870  

 Accounting Policy   

Trade and other receivables are recognised at the amounts of fees invoiced. Settlement of these amounts is required 
within 7 to 14 days from invoice date.  The collectability of receivables is assessed periodically with provision being 
made for impairment. 

8 Advances to services  

  

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

CURRENT    
Advances to services   450,596   126,781  
Provision for impairment   (343,721)   -  
   106,875   126,781  

Advances made to St Stephens Lutheran Kindergarten and St Paul's Lutheran Child Care Centre Mt Isa have been 
impaired at 31 December 2017 as these services do not currently have the capacity to repay the advances to 
Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council ABN 75 039 376 800. Advances to LORDS Outside School 
Hours Care, St James Lutheran Outside School Hours Care and Bethany Lutheran Outside School Hours Care 
continue to be recognised as receivable as 2017 was their first or second year of operation and the Council believe 
these amounts are recoverable.  

9 Property, plant and equipment  

 

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   

Furniture, fixtures and fittings   
At cost  46,872   33,532  
Accumulated depreciation  (34,335)   (28,648)  

Total furniture, fixtures and fittings  12,537   4,884  
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2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Motor vehicles   
At cost  199,091   199,091  
Accumulated depreciation  (92,364)   (56,788)  

Total motor vehicles  106,727   142,303  

Improvements   
At cost  32,019   31,319  
Accumulated depreciation  (19,062)   (18,185)  

Total improvements  12,957   13,134  
Total plant and equipment  132,221   160,321  

Total property, plant and equipment  132,221   160,321  

 Accounting Policy   

Acquisition of Assets 

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical asset acquisitions.  Cost is determined as the 
value given as consideration plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the 
assets ready for use, including architects' fees and engineering design fees. However, any training costs are expensed 
as incurred.  

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition in 
accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Expenditure is only capitalised if it increases the service potential or useful life of the existing asset. Maintenance 
expenditure that merely restores original service potential (arising from ordinary wear and tear etc.) is expensed.  

Depreciation 

Property, plant and equipment, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets useful life 
to the service, commencing when the asset is ready for use. 

At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and residual value of each asset is 
reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimate. 

10 Intangible Assets  

 

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Intangible assets   
Cost  6,020   6,020  
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (5,535)   (5,050)  

Total Intangibles  485   970  
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11 Trade and other payables  

  

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

Current    
Trade payables   20,971   11,938  
Grants in advance   27,453   3,347  
Sundry payables and accrued expenses   1,127   18,494  

   49,551   33,779  

 Accounting Policy   

Trade payables 

Trade payables are recognised upon receipt of the goods or services ordered and are measured at the agreed 
purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts. Amounts owing are unsecured and are generally 
settled on 30 day terms. 

Accrued wages and superannuation 

Wages accrued but not yet paid at the reporting date are recognised as a liability, including superannuation and 
associated on-costs. 

12 Employee benefits  

 

2017 
$ 

2016 
$ 

CURRENT   
Provision for annual leave  123,074   137,977  
Provision for long service leave  100,357   88,927  

  223,431   226,904  

 

 
2017 

$ 
2016 

$ 

NON-CURRENT   
Provision for long service leave  39,462   26,221  

  39,462   26,221  

 Accounting policy   

Accounting policies for employee benefits liabilities are disclosed in Note 5. 

13 Events Occurring After the Reporting Date  

No matters or circumstances have arisen since 31 December 2017 that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect the entity, the results of those operations, or the entity’s' state of affairs in future financial years. 
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I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 31 December 2017, there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and, 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 

 

Benjamin Horner 
Chartered Accountant; Registered Company Auditor 
Director 
McConachie Stedman Audit and Assurance Pty Ltd 
 
28 March 2018 
 

Toowoomba 
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Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report, being a special purpose financial report of Queensland Lutheran Early 
Childhood Services Council ABN 75 039 376 800 (the entity), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2017, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and Council Members' Declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the entity for the year ended 31 December 2017 is prepared, in all 
material respects, in accordance with fulfilling the requirements of the Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District, the 
Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012. 

Basis for Auditor's Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) 
that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting 

We draw attention to Note 1 of the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report is prepared 
to assist the entity in fulfilling the requirements of the Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District, the Queensland 
Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012. As a 
result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the entity and should not 
be distributed to or used by parties other than the entity. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with fulfilling the 
requirements of the Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District, the Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services 
Council and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the entity's ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the entity's financial reporting process. 
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Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial reporter, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as 
a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with the management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 
 

 

Benjamin Horner 
Chartered Accountant; Registered Company Auditor 
Director 
McConachie Stedman Audit and Assurance Pty Ltd 

Toowoomba 
28 March 2018 
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The additional financial data presented on pages 16 - 17 is in accordance with the books and records of the entity which 
have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our statutory audit of the entity for the year ended 31 December 
2017.  It will be appreciated that our statutory audit did not cover all details of the additional financial data.  Accordingly, we 
do not express an opinion on such financial data and we give no warranty of accuracy or reliability in respect of the data 
provided.  Neither the firm nor any member or employee of the firm undertakes responsibility in any way whatsoever to any 
person (other than Queensland Lutheran Early Childhood Services Council ABN 75 039 376 800) in respect of such data, 
including any errors of omissions therein however caused. 
 
 
 
 
Benjamin Horner 
Chartered Accountant; Registered Company Auditor 
Director 
McConachie Stedman Audit and Assurance Pty Ltd 

Toowoomba 
28 March 2018 
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Chair’s Welcome  
 

It is a pleasure to provide this report to the 2018 Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District 

Synod. 

 

As Chairperson of this organisation for the past nine years it is always an honour to present this 

report to Synod reflecting a year of achievement in ministry, and to provide some insights into how 

these achievements will lead us to embrace unprecedented opportunities to reach out together to 

Minister to human need, provide a relevant and contemporary service offering, and growing 

together as Church and community. 

1.1 Faith in Action 
 

As a diaconal ministry of the Church, Lutheran Services extend God’s loving action into our 

communities to ensure that people are engaged with God’s love in everyday life. Our purpose is to 

serve. It’s how we bring our Christian faith to life we share God’s blessings with people in service 

towards a good life, one that is with a person’s own direction. Our faith and our focus is to 

encourage all we serve on their path to a good life - whatever that means to them. 

 

During 2017 our ministry has provided care to thousands of people, including; 

 

 1733 young people  

 91 people living with disability                        

 464 people who accessed our mental health support service 

 200 survivors of domestic violence       

 1298 people who accessed emergency relief 

 1,344 residents of our aged care services 

 121 accessed home care 

 364 residents in our retirement villages 

1.2 Our Contribution  
 

Lutheran Services provides quality care for thousands of Queenslanders, diaconal ministry in 

communities we operate, and a compassionate voice for Queenslanders.  

 

For more than 80 years we have operated across South East Queensland building on the work of 

Lutheran congregations and representing the Church as part of the Lutheran ministry. 

 

Lutheran Services is also an employer of over 1,500 dedicated staff. We are a net job creator that 

grows employment in regional areas. Lutheran Services doesn’t just bring jobs in our development 

and expansion, we generate highly skilled jobs and rewarding career paths in a growing industry.   

 

Governance has been an issue of much discussion within the Church this year, and while some 

changes may be on the way for Lutheran Services’ structure in relation to elected Church bodies, we 
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are and will always be a Lutheran organisation established to witness faithfully for Christ in the 

communities we serve. 

  

Working in fellowship with the District Church Council in all areas of our work is vital for us to 

achieve mission. We can only achieve what we achieve for Christ through their support, their trust, 

and their faith in working with us as one Church. 

 

Lutheran Services is also privileged to be involved with the Lutheran Church of Australia’s Committee 

for Ministry with the Ageing. Our work with this body allows us the opportunity to discuss our work 

and experience with our colleagues from around Australia and to provide our church with advice and 

support to improve ministry with the aged at a congregational level and in policy. 

1.3 Meeting the Challenges and Building the Future of Aged Care 

and Community Services 
 

The Aged Care industry has never before encountered such complex external pressures. 

 

* Increasing demand for aged care places  

* Increasing population longevity 

* Rising incidents of dementia 

* Changing community attitudes to ageing 

* Future workforce challenges 

* Empowered consumers who can choose and change providers as market driven care rises in 

prominence 

* The changing nature of families 

* Requirement to be transparent and accountable in care delivery 

* Continuing negative perceptions of ageing 

* The pressure to adjust our attitudes and actions 

* To respect the needs, wishes, and contribution that senior Australians make 

 

Lutheran Services must accelerate and maintain our transformation, and continue to embrace 

innovation while keeping safety, quality, compassion, spirituality, and consumer choice at its core. 

 

Organisations that meet these challenges will thrive, and Lutheran Services enjoys some natural 

advantage in the market. As a Christian organisation that is committed by our values to supporting 

people to live a good life of their choosing, we are primed to develop the deeper relationships our 

future clients will seek. 

 

Additionally, Government funding models of aged care is in constant flux, but a trend towards an 

aged care sector that is less able to depend on funding increases to keep pace with demand is 

almost certain.  

 

Lutheran Services has continued to invest in planning for a future model of care that is more 

independently funded. 
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Where this has required clear decisions about how resources can be expended to meet our strategic 

goals, we have worked with experts in financial and service modelling to ensure economic rigour 

forms the bedrock of our plans. 

 

Lutheran Services is embracing an unprecedented opportunity for diaconal ministry with a robust 

plan to go and grow together, ministering to human need. 

 

In responding to these challenges and scoping opportunities Lutheran Services has undertaken 

detailed and complex planning processes. We have engaged with experts in fields as diverse as 

community services, design, master planning, finance, and architecture. We have consulted widely 

within our communities, our Church, with government, and with stakeholders everywhere. 

 

In this report you will read about how our planning has begun to take physical form in building 

improvements, new master plans, and entirely new developments and in an increasingly skilled 

workforce to meet the diverse needs of ministry.  

 

In readiness for the governance challenges of transformation, the Council for Lutheran Services has 

focused on becoming a skills based board that undertakes regular independent governance 

assessments and continuing professional education through accredited and reputable external 

bodies. 

1.4 Acknowledgements 
 

In achieving this work we have been supported by countless members of our Lutheran community, 

but I would like to thank several of my colleagues personally for their enormous support of the work 

of Lutheran Services. 

 

I would like to thank my fellow Council members Stuart Jaeschke, Pastor Boyd Briese, Stephen 

Cullen, Leena Vuorinen, Simon LaBlack, Jennifer Danslow, Andrew Stanke and Bobby Rolison.  

 

Council are thankful for contributions of Stephen Cullen and Pastor Boyd Briese who will be missed 

as they step down from their roles on.  

 

And happily, we welcome Pastor Mark Gierus to the Council as Pastor Representative, and look 

forward to many fruitful years of work together. 

 

We are thankful for the engagement of Bishop Paul and the District Church Council and their support 

in our ministry. Their time and wisdom have deepened organisational knowledge and understanding 

of Lutheranism in all areas of our work.  

 

Thank you to everyone who supported Lutheran Services this year; through the Lenten Appeal, the 

Easter Appeal benefitting our growing chaplaincy service, and in countless other ways.  

 

We are grateful for the support we receive, whether it is in the form of money, goods, services, time, 

or prayers.  
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Finally, I would like to pay tribute to our staff who play a key role in nourishing and nurturing a 

community of hope for the people we serve.  

 

Thank you. 

Introduction 
 

2017 was a significant year in the ongoing development of Lutheran Services. Not without its 

challenges, 2017 was a year that we broke ground on new developments, finalised projects that 

have increased our capacity to serve, and invested in new care models that transform how we work. 

 

In this report you will read about a number of highlights, and about actions we have taken to realise 

improvements in our position both financially, and within the broader competitive markets in which 

we operate. We have worked to improve our position with government and regulators by reaching 

out and engaging with our stakeholders, and improved our position with our residents and clients by 

investing in positive changes to their built and service environments. 

 

This report follows our strategic plan and demonstrates how we have been working to priority areas 

of action alongside our colleagues in the Church. 

 

Priority 1: A good life for the people we serve 

 

Aged care is changing rapidly in Australia both in terms of service design, and in the changing nature 

of ageing itself. As the baby boomer bubble moves through Australia, safe assumptions about the 

nature of aged care are being dismantled.  

 

As providers of aged care, our sector is challenged to respond to new expectations of greater service 

delivery, physical qualities of residential services, flexibility of services, co-creation of models of care, 

and fundamental changes to what it means to age.  

 

Lutheran Services is committed to supporting people in our care to discover and support a good life 

both because of market and mission imperative. Aged Care and Community Service are competitive 

markets and intensely client focussed. And these are markets our Christian values require us to act 

justly within and bring peace and compassion anywhere we are. 

 

Lutheran Services is here for the long term. We are currently developing a 100 year strategic plan to 

guide our mission going far forward, and to ensure we reflect on how what we do today echoes 

through time. 

 

Our community outreach planning operates from a 30 year plan to build services and support across 

Queensland with a focus on rural and regional areas. This plan informs our outreach, but remains 

flexible to identify new opportunities as they emerge. 
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1.1 Offers accommodation and creates supported living communities that people love to live in 

and share  

 

In the Queensland Aged Care sector, the numbers tell their own story of the challenges faced. In 

order to meet demand: 

 

 By 2020, Queensland will need 80,000 more aged care places 

 By 2031 South East Queensland will require 44,300 new places 

 Brisbane will require 17,000 places in that time. 

 

In terms of the impact of ageing on the Australian community: 

 The Commonwealth will spend over $330 billion over the next five years for Senior 

Australians 

 Home Support demand will grow from 70,000 to 140,000 by 2022 

 Dementia is currently the second most common cause of death in Australia 

 The number of people living with dementia will reach over 900,000 by 2050 

 More than six million Australians are aged 50-75 and can look forward to a longer life 

expectancy than any previous generation. 

 

In Community Services the introduction of the NDIS is the largest shake up of disability support in a 

generation and is fundamentally amending the landscape our support services operate in: 

   

 10% of NDIS participants account for almost 50% of committed funding 

 At least 1% of people under 65 have a need for assistance due to disability in nearly every 

Local Government Area  

 In 2014-2015, 28% of funding allocated to NDIS participants went unspent 

 51% of Australians under 65 with frequent ‘need for assistance’ have difficulty learning and 

understanding, so this is likely true of higher needs NDIS participants. 

 

1.1.a Dementia Care 

 

Of particular importance to our imperative is dementia care. We know more Australians will be living 

with dementia for longer as baby boomers age. We know firsthand how deeply dementia touches 

the lives of people living with the disease and the lives of their loved ones.  

 

We are committed by compassion and by our faith to develop innovative models of dementia care, 

and keep care for people with this disease at the heart of our work moving forward into the next 

phase of our organisational development. 

1.2 Lutheran Services has a dynamic, diversified, and best-in-class service portfolio that 

responds to the needs of the people and communities it serves 

 

1.2.a Services Redevelopment 

 

At Synod 2017 we reported on the final stages of completing our twenty year service’s 

redevelopment plan. This year we are pleased to update Synod on the progress of this plan to 

improve our service offering in all communities we operate. 
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This is not just a series of renovations and building projects. In this we are drawing upon the 

Lutheran reputation of excellence in service delivery and mission and Lutheran Service’s ranking in 

the top eight percent of aged care providers in Australia.  

 

We now have the staffing models we need to realise a greater vision of aged care that honours the 

legacy of our church by transforming our residential aged care services into vibrant supported living 

communities through excellence in design, architecture, service planning, investments into the 

Ministry of Chaplaincy, social community development, and the development of innovative models 

of care. 

 

This plan is a comprehensive 20 year plan for the total redevelopment of all services, and the 

development of new services. Alongside this plan we have detailed robust long term financial 

planning which is securing our cash flow and reserves for future reinvestment. 

 

In developing and building new services, in 2017 Lutheran Services: 

 Completed four master plans for Zion Nundah, Trinder Park Woodridge, Salem Toowoomba, 

and for our proposed Care Farm in Cooroy 

 Lodged four Development Applications for Stage One and Stage Two of the Zion Nundah 

redevelopment, Stage One of the Trinder Park redevelopment, and Stage One of Salem 

Toowoomba 

 Received Development Approval for Stage One of Zion Nundah, and Stage One of Salem 

Toowoomba 

 Commenced construction of Stage One of Zion Nundah 

 Completed construction of and opened Hopeland Hall on the grounds of our Tabeel 

Community in Laidley. 

 

1.2.b Salem Hume Street Redevelopment 

 

The redevelopment of Salem Hume Street in Toowoomba is an example of how we are unlocking 

new value in existing services. 

 

Following receipt of Development Approval last year, the Stage 1 redevelopment of Salem, Hume 

Street has reached business case stage.  This project will transform Lutheran Services’ position and 

service offering in the Toowoomba and wider Darling Downs community by adaptively reusing part 

of the existing Hume Street facility whilst demolishing and replacing some of the oldest sections. 

 

The project will see the creation of 35 new suites and the redevelopment of 19 existing rooms into 

contemporary suites. Salem’s main entrance will be reinvigorated and relocated to provide an 

attractive and welcoming experience to residents, their family and friends as well as the wider 

community.  Staff will be housed in dedicated and modern office accommodation through the 

adaptive reuse of the existing garage area. 

1.2.c Further Works 

 

In uplifting existing services we are ensuring that all services are comfortable and welcoming for 

residents and that for services who are further down the list for redevelopment, interim steps are 

taken to ensure the service remains a happy home for residents.  
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In 2017 Lutheran Services has invested over $7 million in uplift projects for improvement works in: 

 Immanuel Gardens  

 Orana  

 St Paul’s 

 Tabeel 

 Zion (Gympie) 

 Zion (Nundah) 

 Trinder Park 

 Wahroonga 

 

1.2.d Creating Vibrant Communities 

 

Community Services Ministry is the foundation of Lutheran Services work with those in need right 

across Queensland. This work is diverse, technical, and always centred on supporting a better life for 

our clients.  

 

Strategic land acquisitions follow deep and thorough financial study and business case assessment 

processes operated between Lutheran Services, Lutheran Services Council, and the District Church 

Council to ensure these purchases are appropriate to further mission are fairly priced, and are a 

responsible expenditure of funds. 

 

In 2017 Lutheran Services completed two major land acquisitions. 

 

1.2.e Fernvale – An Addition to Somerset Community Services   

 

Somerset Community Services provides a range of services in the Somerset catchment area under 

the Commonwealth Home Support Programme (CSHP) previously known as HACC (Home and 

Community Care) for people living with disability and older people living in the community.  

  

Somerset brings grace to those who value the kindness and joy they find there. 

 

A recent land and building purchase will significantly expand Somerset’s capacity to serve. Located 

close to the existing Somerset service, it will allow for a free flow of staff and clients between the 

two services. 

 

Whether to renovate the existing building or tear down and construct a purpose built facility is 

currently being assessed.  

 

These new premises will provide the solid base to grow, creating service and staffing stability at 

Somerset. This will in turn grow purposeful business and community relationships and increase the 

capacity to deliver a broad range of services which are identified as in demand in this region. 

 

 1.2.f A New Space for Young People at Intercept Caboolture 
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Lutheran Services has been providing youth services in the Moreton Bay region (Caboolture, 

Redcliffe and Pine Rivers) since the 1990s, being known as Intercept since 2007. Intercept is an 

extraordinary youth service that has changed the lives of countless young people. 

 

Last year it was decided that we should pursue acquisition of a property, rather than continuing to 

rent property, to enhance a number of aspects of Intercept’s work including operational budget 

concerns, high business rental costs within the Caboolture region, lack of available rental premises 

that suit Intercept’s needs, and high costs of relocation every few years. 

 

A permanent base for Intercept means stronger youth and family services in prevention and early 

intervention by intentionally and strategically investing in a region that is continuing to expand. In 

fact there is only one other (small) youth service located in the Caboolture region. 

 

Intercept is already known for exceptional service and relationships – Intercept has developed a 

strong reputation and relationships with government agencies, schools and community.   

 

Having the ability to offer exceptional service facilities that could generate income would support 

the service to achieve these strategic mission priorities and to remain responsive to local needs. 

 

1.2.g Working Together 

 

Lutheran Services is working hard to shift the paradigm from a silo approach to an integrated, 

collaborative Community Services team that enhances professional development opportunities for 

staff, confidence in systems, and processes that allow for high quality service to our clients and our 

community.   

 

This has resulted in our inaugural combined Community Services Operational Planning Day that took 

place in March, with over 130 staff coming together to share their collective wisdom, receive 

inspiration and guidance from Lutheran Services executive team, and network across sites and 

programs. 

 

Over the next twelve months, we will continue to integrate these consistent practices and processes 

across our sites, ensuring we successfully transition all of our current disability programs and clients 

across to the NDIS model of funding, whilst growing our other areas of strength, in youth, domestic 

violence, and mental health.  The aim is to be a solid contributor to healthy communities and 

individuals that are supported and have access to services when and how they require them. 

 

1.3 Lutheran Services delivers an uplifting service experience 

 

Continual improvement of Lutheran Services’ capacity to care is not confined to building, design, and 

development. Structural work must support and work hand-in-hand with a constant focus on 

improving the day-to-day interactions residents have with staff, with services, and with their built 

environment. 

 

In 2017 Lutheran Services made significant progress in improving services for residents, and building 

a service culture that will keep our services relevant in a demanding market. 
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1.3.a Service Uplift Projects and Improved Dining  

 

Alongside large scale builds and service-level uplift projects, Lutheran Services is investing in 

meaningful day-to-day improvements of residents’ experiences. We call this our Services Uplift 

program. 

 

Our kitchen and dining experience form an important part of our residents’ day at our services. As 

Lutherans, we deeply appreciate the power of coming together in a communal meal to build a sense 

of community. 

 

Across our services we have been strategically improving the quality of our food, and paying careful 

attention to supporting a dining experience that produces food that is appetising, appealing, served 

in a pleasant environment at a reasonable time, nutritious, and convivial.  

 

1.3.b Trinder Park Dementia Care Renovations  

 

This approach to improving the ‘small’ things in order to gain large improvements is also evident at 

Trinder Park in Woodridge where significant improvements have been made to the built 

environment through low scale renovations and redecorating. 

 

A large scale redesign of the dementia care unit’s garden has also brought a dementia-friendly green 

space to residents that is both enriching and stimulating. 

 

This work has provided residents with a space that is more dementia friendly, more welcoming for 

friends and family, more pleasant for staff, and improves the overall experience of care. 

 

1.4 Lutheran Services has a dynamic, diversified, and best-in-class service portfolio that 

responds to the people and communities we serve 

 

Lutheran Services operates a hugely diverse portfolio across Aged and Social Care. Partially this is a 

result of our legacy as the Lutheran church’s diaconal ministry. Through careful planning and 

responding to opportunities for community ministry we are now providing more services to more 

people than at any point in our 80 year history. 

 

In 2017 a number of significant achievements have been made and recognised across our services.   

 

1.4.a Zion Awarded for Care 

 

In 2017, a ‘life embracing’ model of care won Zion a prestigious national Aged Care award.  

 

Zion’s Living Life in Aged Care program garnered a Better Practice commendation from the 

Australian Government Aged Care Quality Agency . This award was in recognition of growth and 

change at the Nundah aged care service. 
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At the core of the program was a change from a ‘medical and care needs’ model to a ‘life embracing’ 

model. This  model supports residents to exercise their right to make decisions over the important 

services in their lives.   

 

Making decisions about what sort of activities and lifestyle residents wanted to pursue resulted in 

feelings of connection and being in control.  The introduction of pets and encouraging connections 

with family, church and community supported the transition. Under the model, cognitive and 

physical impairments were not considered limiting to the way people live their lives.  

 

The outcomes of this shift were significant in 2017. Residents took a cruise which previously would 

have been considered impossible. Residents, family and staff were invited to give their views on 

ways to make dining at the service more nourishing on all levels.  Now as a result of a kitchen 

makeover, a greater choice of fresh food is cooked in updated surrounds.  Ipads are used to order 

meals and each resident’s electronic profile has information about allergies and any nutritional 

guidelines. 

 

1.4.b Daliya House 

 

Very sadly, this year funding for Lutheran Services’ Daliya House was not renewed by the Australian 

Government despite continued success of its operating model.  

 

Daliya operated to support people in the Sunshine Coast community leaving acute mental health 

care into stable community accommodation.  

 

Since 2014 this pilot program operated as part of a Step Up, Step Down model of care that brought 

services to people when they needed them. This Step Up, Step Down centre who a non-clinical and 

home-like environment that nurtured feelings of self-responsibility and capacity. 

 

Daliya House worked – 94% of clients who entered Daliya House found accommodation, and 66% 

exiting Daliya House had not returned to hospital in the following 12 months. 

 

While this particular Daliya House is no longer operating, we retain a strong belief that this model 

works, and will be seeking opportunities to roll it out further over the coming year. 

1.4.c NDIS Introduction 

 

The introduction of the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) comes fully into effect for 

Lutheran Services in 2019. Our work to prepare ourselves, our clients, and the communities we are 

part of is well underway.  

 

Somerset Community Services has been operating within the NDIS framework for the last twelve 

months, with over five individual clients receiving services so far.   

 

Both Keystone Centre and Trinity Disability Service will transition in June/July 2018 with an expected 

70 clients.  Intercept Youth and Family Service and Graceville Centre will complete this phase of roll 

out of NDIS in January 2019, gaining great learning and insight from the services that have already 

transitioned.   
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1.4.d Al Macasa 

 

Al Macasa is a model of care Lutheran Services is importing from Switzerland, where it has been 

transformative in the lives of older members of the community, especially those living with 

dementia. 

 

In 2017, Lutheran Services began planning for the introduction of small dedicated group living 

homes where residents live in a far more home-like environment and take on more autonomy over 

decisions of daily life such as menu design and activity planning. This model of care requires careful 

planning and long term reshaping of staffing roles within the service. 

 

These homes will be slowly rolled out across existing Lutheran Services sites in order to refine the 

model for local use. Following this it is envisioned Amacasa units will form a rapidly deployable 

model of care into communities where needed. 

 

This model of care will not replace existing Lutheran Services aged care services, but will operate as 

an addition to existing offerings. 

 

1.4.e Arts and Lifestyle Program – ‘Confusion / Inclusion’ 

 

This year, Lutheran Services’ successful arts and creative lifestyle team took a huge leap with the 

staging of Confusion Inclusion with our Keystone Centre disability clients alongside Popeye, a mixed 

ability dance company from Nagoya, Japan. Confusion Inclusion culminated in a performance at the 

Butter Box Theatre in Logan in March. 

 

In February, over 50 people aged between 19 and 87 of mixed abilities attended a Community Dance 

Workshop hosted by Lutheran Services.   

 

The live performance was hugely successful with over 80 people in attendance.  The audience was 

made up of a diverse group of friends, family from across the local community, and Lutheran 

Services. 

 

For Lutheran Services, success is measured by lives touched by compassion and dignity, and this was 

demonstrated by the real inclusion that was created through the event and its rehearsal process.   

 

Priority 2: Growth and Outreach: Delivering Faithful Service and Lasting 

Social Value 

 

Where capability and opportunity align, Lutheran Services extends its services reach with a focus on 

regional and rural areas.  

 

We do this as a matter of priority due to the underserviced nature of rural and regional areas, and 

our strong belief in our skills in managing services spread across large distances.  

 

Being of a faith long associated with farming and land care, Lutheran Services has a strong desire to 

work closely with Lutheran Congregations in rural and regional Queensland to identify ministry 
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opportunities to expand on and resource the excellent work of these congregations in their local 

communities.  

 

2.a Cooroy Care Farm 

 

Lutheran Services is in the process of developing a Care Farm on over 50 acres of land in Cooroy. 

Care farming is a concept Lutheran Services is developing from Europe for the provision of care to 

older people, and people living with dementia is in a tranquil and ‘soft’ farm-like environment. This 

approach has been ground-breaking. 

 

Located on semi-rural bushland, the care farm is designed primarily as an aged care service with a 

specialisation in dementia care.  

 

This service is innovative, and meets Lutheran Services’ mission to provide the best quality of care to 

communities on behalf of the Lutheran Church of Australia, Queensland Division. The care farm will 

be primarily a service for older Australians in the first instance. Provisions have been made beyond 

stage one of the plans to include services in day respite, disability, longer term respite, social 

housing, youth and family services, independent and retirement living. 

 

2.1 New services are developed that respond to market demand and align with mission 

priorities  

 

Lutheran Services have worked hard this year to develop new services and increase the reach of 

existing services in two main areas, in our response to domestic violence, and in an increased roll out 

of home support packages. 

 

2.1.a Domestic Violence Service Expansion 

 

This year, Lutheran Services opened a new information and education service for families 

experiencing domestic violence in Wynnum. This was in response to community needs, because the 

Wynnum/Manly area was identified as lacking in domestic violence prevention information services. 

 

The experienced outreach worker is based at the Lutheran Services operated Mary and Martha’s 

refuge and brings a wealth of knowledge and expertise to assist local families in crisis. 

 

2.1.b Home Support Packages 

 

The Australian Government is increasing it’s investment in home support packages. While Lutheran 

Services remains committed to residential aged care, we have also pursued this model of care as one 

that brings us closer to the people we serve. 

 

Expanding this service to now reach 121 people has taken an effort in terms of building our model of 

care and an expansion into Kingaroy. However this investment will continue to bear fruit as we 

progress throughout 2018. 
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2.2 Our accommodation and services are in demand because Lutheran Services is valued and 

respected by the communities we serve, our clients, funding providers, supporters and 

stakeholders and business partners 

 

Lutheran Services engagement work moving forward is motivated in part by the need to respond to 

government policy transformation, industry deregulation and unprecedented growth in our ageing 

population.   

 

To achieve this Lutheran Services has undertaken direct lobbying work by securing meetings with: 

  Queensland Shadow Social Services Minister Ros Bates 

 Australian Aged Care Minister Ken Wyatt  

 Australian Shadow Community Services Minister Jenny Macklin 

 Trevor Evans MP 

 Julie Collins MP 

 Senator Louise Pratt 

 And facilitating a visit to Salem Northridge by Labor’s national spokesperson on Regional 

Workforce Development, Lisa Chesters MP. 

 

Additionally we have been an active participant in policymaking, submitting three major papers to 

government inquiries focussed on the My Aged Care service, dementia care, and domestic violence 

responses.    

 

Lutheran Services has been advocating for vital issues affecting our clients and residents, and 

offering our perspective on pressing social issues in forums as diverse as the Committee for the 

Economic Development of Australia (CEDA), UQ, QUT, and in various industry bodies. 

 

2.2.a Lutheran Services as a Public Face of the Church 

 

In a contemporary world where physically attending church is no longer the only way to connect, 

Lutheran Services has a vital role as a significant public face of the Church. We engage closely with 

the congregations in the communities where we are active, to reach out with Christ’s love in word 

and action.  

 

We enable congregations and Church members to express their faith through community ministry 

and community chaplaincy and contribute to the vibrancy and social value of the communities in 

which they live.  

 

2.3 Lutheran Services is valued for addressing unmet community needs that bring long-term social 

change to the communities we serve 

 

Lutheran Services where possible always works closely with Lutheran congregations to expand and 

deliver ministry work into local communities. As we continue to expand in planned and methodical 

ways throughout a larger geographical footprint, Lutheran Services looks forward to deeply engaging 

with congregations in these areas to bring Christian love to these communities. 

 

2.3.a Noosa Congregation 
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In 2017, we were especially grateful to the Noosa Congregation for their support and commitment 

to the development of the proposed Care Farm in Cooroy.  
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2.3.b Western Downs Congregations 

 

As we work towards developing a presence in the Western Downs, including finalising an expression 

of interest process, we are looking forward to working closely with congregations across the 

Western Downs over the next year to develop a plan for ministry in local communities. 

 

2.3.c Reconciliation Action Plan 

 

In April 2016 Bishop John Henderson and Executive Officer of the Church Peter Schirmer initiated a 

project to develop a Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) for the Lutheran Church of Australia (LCA). 

Lutheran Services was appointed a leading role with this project.  

 

An RAP will provide a framework for the LCA to craft practical plans of action built on relationships, 

respect and opportunities. RAPs create social change and economic opportunities for Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander Australians. 

 

Led by Neville Otto, Secretary of the LCA, a four member RAP Project Team was created in 2016. 

Lutheran Services is a member of this project team. 

 

In 2016/2017 the Project Team’s work has focussed on initial research and consultation to 

understand the best approach to developing an RAP. Key LCA representatives were consulted 

including members of the LCA Executive and Finke River Mission Board Chair, Tim Stollznow.  

Respected Lutheran and non-Lutheran Aboriginals were also consulted. 

 

In preparation for 2018 Synod the Project Team plans to undertake community visits and 

consultations with groups of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and relevant LCA 

stakeholders in South Australia, Central Australia and Far North Queensland.  

 

Priority 3:  Reaching Out Together to Minister to Human Need 

 

3.1 Ministry Plan 

 

In 2017 Lutheran Services developed our Ministry Plan to guide our work with congregations, to 

build a greater capacity for ministry, and to expand and develop the role of Chaplains within local 

communities. 

 

The introduction to this plan reads in part: 

‘The purpose of the Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District (LCAQD) ministry of 

Lutheran Services is to minister to human need in the name of Jesus Christ our Lord in the 

spirit of Christian love, through our diaconal witness and service. 

This work is at the centre of all we do. It guides how we minister to those in our care, and is 

the final word in how we conduct ourselves as a Christian business within the markets we 

operate   

In all dealings, we strive to treat all we come into contact with every day with a love and 

kindness that witnesses Christ’s message of hope to all humanity. 
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Ministry is not what we achieve in addition to our strategic business goals. Ministry is our 

core objective in all our work, and is built into all projects and plans.’ 

 

Our goal and purpose of this plan is to make clear our commitment to growing our Church, and our 

role as servants in achieving this. 

 

This plan has been adopted by District Church Council, and we thank them for their support in its 

development. 

 

A copy of this plan is available from Lutheran Services. 

 

Priority 4:  Capable of Delivering on Mission 

 

Addressing industry transformation challenges requires Lutheran Services to focus on some essential 

areas of operation and to invest in some important initiatives that will sustain capability to deliver on 

mission.  Milestones achieved in 2017 include: 

 

4.1 Lutheran Services Akademie  

 

A draft concept plan has been developed with nine recommendations for the establishment of a 

flourishing centre for workforce learning and development.  The Akadaemie will continuously 

support staff to provide consistent services that are central to our Lutheran doctrine; and philosophy 

of person centred care.  The purpose of the Akademie is to build a valued centre of excellence that 

offers a curriculum to upskill/re-skill staff and volunteers across technical, administrative, 

professional and chaplaincy streams.  People will be able to access these programs virtually and in 

rural and remote centres throughout Queensland. 

 

4.2 Vocational pathways for chaplaincy service  

 

 In order to develop vibrant community ministries of chaplaincy that carry the Church forward in the 

next one hundred years, it is essential that we create a myriad of vocational pathways that 

encourage and enable people to serve the Church in community ministry.  We have commenced the 

development of a framework that creates vocational pathways for chaplains and lay chaplains to 

easily and readily serve in and transition through the community ministries of the Church.  A number 

of dialogues are in progress and we anticipate a ground breaking and healthy collaboration with the 

Australian Lutheran College (ALC) in the near future. 

 

4.3 Financial Management Capability  

 

This year we saw the coming to fruition of a number of initiatives.  

 Banking and treasury management – At commencement of the transformation project 

Lutheran Services held 82 bank accounts.  Following a detailed review, organisational bank 

accounts have been reduced to 21, the minimum operationally and legislatively 

necessary.  Additionally, organisational treasury management has commenced from 2017 
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and cash flow is proactively managed to ensure operational needs are met and available 

investment returns are maximised. 

 

 Procure to pay – At commencement of the transformation project Lutheran Services 

maintained 23 accounts payable ledgers and over 8,000 supplier accounts, with transactions 

being entered and paid by multiple staff, across many locations.  This has now been reduced 

to one organisational accounts payable ledger and a less than 1,500 supplier accounts with 

all transactions processed and paid through one accounts team.  This significantly improves 

efficiency of processing, accuracy and consistency, supplier management and reconciliation 

in addition to improved ability to leverage the scale of the organisation for improved 

supplier and procurement arrangements. 

 

 Accounts receivable – Prior to commencement of the transformation project Lutheran 

Services maintained 23 accounts receivable ledgers, with transactions being recorded and 

processed at each aged care service.  This has now been reduced to two accounts receivable 

ledgers and will consolidate to one organisational ledger in April 2018.  Additionally, all 

transactions and accounts are being processed and managed through one accounts 

team.  This provides consolidated expertise and resources to ensure efficiency, accuracy and 

consistency of processes and processing, providing significant benefits across the 

organisation. 

 

4.4 People in Service 

 

An important focus underpinning service excellences are people. This year we formulated and 

commenced the implementation of a strategy for high performance. This will feed into how we 

empower leadership, retain and grow talent, create career pathways and improve the quality of 

work life for staff. The leaders in the organisation participated in programs focussing on 

contemporary personnel practices, managing conflict constructively, building change resilience, 

breaking down silos and working effectively as a leadership team.  Policies were reviewed and 

transformed to reflect modern practices that will attract and retain a diverse workforce.  

Contemporary leadership tools that foster a culture of service, accountability collaboration and 

respect for roles were introduced and implemented by key personnel. 

 

Priority 5:  Sustainability 

 

Operating a sustainable aged and social care business requires an approach that is far-sighted, 

technically proficient, and able to balance developing our own systems within a changing external 

environment. 

 

In 2017, Lutheran Services left no stone unturned in seeking improvements in profitability, staffing 

models, and care standard improvements. We made the changes necessary to realise a long term 

sustainable financial position, and the ongoing capacity to deliver new services and develop new 

facilities to support ongoing community ministry. 

 

The Council for Lutheran Services from a governance perspective is pleased that Lutheran Services 

continues to grow and adapt to a changing industry and market landscape. 
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1. The Council is pleased that Lutheran Services demonstrated the capacity to channel major 

regulatory compliance changes (The Aged Care Services New Single Quality System and 

Changes to retirement villages and rental legislation) into positive opportunities to 

strengthen the systemic predictability of service performance and collaborative innovations 

with minimum disruption to service continuity. 

 

2. The Council is also pleased that Lutheran Services was able to provide a higher level of 

informed debate on several significant industry  and government consultations: 

 

i. Submission to Care at Home inquiry - Lutheran Services recently put a submission to the 

Commonwealth Government’s Future reform – an integrated care at home program to 

support older Australians inquiry. Our submission focussed on the need for more 

funding for service providers, to provide support to individuals navigating the current 

My Aged Care program. 

 

ii. Productivity Commission, National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Costs: 

investigating the higher than expected costs associated with the national rollout of the 

NDIS, despite provider feedback that fee amounts have not been set high enough to 

cover expenses. The final consultation round on the initial findings closes on 12 July. 

Lutheran Services gave a submission to the initial consultation round and plans to 

submit a brief response to this second round. 

 

iii. Federal Treasury, Tax DGR Reform Opportunities: discussion paper which deals primarily 

with the advocacy activities of environmental organisations but will affect all 

organisations with DGR, including Lutheran Services. Lutheran Services plans to make a 

submission on the elements which affect the sector as a whole or proposals which, while 

limited to environmental charities at present, could present problems for Lutheran 

Services if expanded to all charities. 

 

iv. Federal Department of Health, Review of National Aged Care Quality Regulatory 

Processes: arising from the Oakden investigation in South Australia, this survey is 

directed at consumers of the aged care sector but invites feedback from organisations as 

well.  

 

v. Queensland Housing Strategy 2017 – 2027 - The Strategy sets out funding plans to 

support affordable housing over the next ten years. It has a special focus on women and 

children experiencing family violence. This may enable more flexible use of community 

housing funds by providers such as Lutheran Services. It also includes a plan to amend 

the retirement villages and home parks legislation to improve pre-contractual 

disclosure.  

 

vi. Australian Law Reform Commission Elder Abuse report - The report contains 43 

recommendations, including national guidelines for tribunals to use in supporting elderly 

people who are the subject of a guardianship application.  Fourteen of the 

recommendations address aged care, in both residential settings and the home. One 

notable suggestion is to make aged care providers ‘mandatory reporters’ of suspected 

abuse or neglect. 
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3. It was also pleasing that the CEO could represent Lutheran Services at the Council Economic 

Development of Australia (CEDA) research report launch addressing concerns about housing 

affordability in Australia.  Lutheran Services maintains an active and close involvement with 

CEDA because of its unparalleled access to networks of influence across SEQ. It is also an 

opportunity to profile our service experience to significant stakeholders.  The CEO was one 

of the expert panel members of academics, practicing economists, and property industry 

leaders that discussed the housing in local communities, particularly affordable housing and 

responses to current challenges.   The event resulted in an invitation from Ipswich City 

Council to join their Affordable Housing Taskforce, an offer from a colleague organisation to 

discuss joint developments in Logan, and an interview on affordable housing issues and 

solutions that appeared on Ten News Australia. 

 

4. South Korean Delegation - Lutheran Services, through the Australian Trade Commission and 

University of Southern Queensland, hosted a delegation of 29 Senior Executives from the 

South Korean health and hospital system at St Andrews.  The delegation was here to study 

the Australian aged care sector and was particularly interested in the reimbursement system 

for long term care, internal patient safety system, daily care programs, clinical care for the 

aged persons, aged care connected with ICT, and rehabilitative care process. 

 

5. During the year the Council for Lutheran Services steered Lutheran Services through some 

problematic issues relating to residential aged care funding.  Several initiatives under close 

scrutiny are underway to improve revenue reliability and performance optimisation that will 

underpin cash flow predictability and debt servicing for redevelopment. 

 

6. Council also saw the Services redevelopment detailed implementation program and 

reporting system as well as a long term finance plan that will enable Council to prudently 

govern with the necessary transparency and oversight.  The long term finance plan has a 20 

year time horizon and plays a key role in the future viability and sustainability of ministry 

growth and operations. 

 

Financial Performance  

 

The report which follows provides a summary of Lutheran Services’ financial performance for the 

year ended 30 June 2017, as reported in the audited financial statements of Lutheran Services, and 

an update on financial performance at 31 January 2018. 

 

Lutheran Services’ consolidated operations including nine residential aged care services, nine 

retirement villages, six community services, three disability services and the Lutheran Services 

Support Centre. 

 

Lutheran Services reports and is audited on a financial year cycle rather than a calendar year for 

reasons of economy and industry. 
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8.1 Consolidated Financial Position 

8.1.a  Profit and Loss 

 

At 30 June 2017, Lutheran Services recorded a net deficit of $2.2 million. Lutheran Services’ 

residential aged care operations reported a deficit for the year of $0.8 million, with the retirement 

villages, community and disability services segments reporting small surpluses for the year.   

 

Following many years of strong financial performance and restoring financial capacity, Lutheran 
Services has entered an investment phase to grow and develop community ministry throughout the 
district.  Investment in this growth and development has contributed to the deficit in the 2017 year 
as prior year surpluses are reinvested.   
 
Additionally, continuing changes to the industry and funding environment have required Lutheran 
Services to adapt operationally and, while a strong plan is being implemented which ensures funding 
and resource allocations are appropriate to properly support resident and client needs, ensuring 
there is no compromise to service delivery during this period has impacted operational financial 
results. 
 
While the reported profit and loss position is a deficit for 2017, earnings before interest, tax, 

depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) and cash flows from operating activities remained positive 

for the year ($3.4 million and $14.3 million). 

 

In support of Lutheran Services strategic plan and as part of the current investment phase, 

investment of $2 million was undertaken in strategic initiatives including: 

 

 Implementation of a services redevelopment and uplift program to position Lutheran 

Services to best meet emerging market demands. 

 Establishing and rolling out a modern and contemporary organisational brand. 

 Increasing chaplaincy services and associated resources within Lutheran Services’ aged care 

services. 

 National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) planning and implementation. 

 Assessing and evaluating community growth and expansion opportunities. 

 

The above initiatives have continued into the 2018 financial year and benefits continue to be 

realised across the organisation including significant uplift of Lutheran Services’ existing service 

infrastructure, provision of support for clients through the NDIS and engagement with communities 

in assessing local health services needs and opportunities. 

8.1.b Balance Sheet  

 

At 30 June 2017, the consolidated balance sheet for Lutheran Services reports a net equity position 

of $70.5 million, a decrease on the 2016 position of $72.7 million in line with ongoing investment in 

strategic initiatives. Lutheran Services’ working capital ratio at 30 June 2017 was 77% which is in line 

with the target level of 80% and has remained above 70% in the 2018 financial year to date. 

 

Aged care accommodation payments and deposits continued to show strong growth during the year 

(2017: $121.9 million, 2016: $111.5 million).  Lutheran Services aims to maintain 100% capacity to 

repay payments and deposits.  At 30 June 2017, Lutheran Services held the equivalent of 124% of 
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accommodation payments and deposits and this level has been maintained in the 2018 financial 

year to date. 

 

The balance of loans with LLL at 30 June 2017 was $1.3 million relating to capital development of the 

Graceville centre at Nambour.  During the 2017 financial year all required repayments were made on 

all loan balances.  Additionally, loans previously drawn for termite restoration at Immanuel Gardens 

and capital development at Orana were repaid in full during the year.  Apart from the amount owing 

to LLL, Lutheran Services does not have any other borrowings. 

 

In the 2017 financial year, strategic property acquisitions were made at Cooroy, Gympie, 

Toowoomba, Caboolture and Fernvale to support the growth and development of Lutheran Services’ 

service offerings to the community. 

 

All legislative financial compliance requirements have been met by Lutheran Services for the year 

ended 30 June 2017 and an unqualified audit opinion was issued for the period.  Additionally, no 

instances of non-compliance have occurred in the 2018 year to date. 

 

Lutheran Services is forecasting a further deficit for the 2018 financial year as investment continues 

in strategic priorities including physical infrastructure, service delivery models and service offerings, 

in addition to increasing regulatory and funding constraints. 

 

Financial Statements 

 

The Lutheran Community Care Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 are attached as 

Appendix A. 
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Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 
Fax: +61 7 3221 9227 
www.bdo.com.au 

Level 10, 12 Creek St  
Brisbane QLD 4000 
GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001 
Australia 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABN 33 134 022 870 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited 
by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the members of Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District (LCAQD) - Lutheran 

Community Care 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District (LCAQD) - 
Lutheran Community Care (“Registered entity”), which comprises the statement of financial position as 

at 30 June 2017, the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of 

changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 

report, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the declaration by Those Charged 

with Governance. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of Lutheran Church of Australia Queensland District 

(LCAQD) - Lutheran Community Care, is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian Charities 

and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including:  

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the registered entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2017 and of 

its financial performance for the year ended on that date; and  

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Division 

60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report.  We are independent of the registered entity in accordance with the 

auditor independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 

2012 (ACNC Act) and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 

Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit 

of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  
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Responsibilities of the Responsible Entity for the Financial Report 

The responsible entities of the registered entity are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements and the ACNC Act, and for such internal control as the responsible entities 

determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, responsible entities are responsible for assessing the registered 

entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the responsible entities either intends 

to liquidate the registered entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the registered entity’s financial 

reporting process.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:  

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

K L Colyer 

Director 

Brisbane, 11 September 2017 
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LUTHERAN WOMEN OF QUEENSLAND REPORT TO SYNOD 2018   
 
Greetings, 
 
Lutheran Women of Queensland continue to uphold the values set by our 
predecessors’ way back to 100 years. There has been much celebration of Martin 
Luther’s 500 years and 50th Anniversary since the union of the two synods. 
 
Our membership is approximately 800 members, slowly declining and slowly ageing.  
Our fellowships with only aged members still meet on a regular basis for Bible Study 
and Prayer.  These wonderful prayer warriors are still worthy of mention within our 
congregations and organisation.  Other fellowships meet in various forms, some hold 
business meetings and fundraise, and others are more social or creative groups.  
 
Last year Lutheran Women contributed $41,749 to various projects. 
Our state project – Queensland Students Bursaries to 2 final year Pastoral students 
and 2 final year Lutheran Strand education received $700 each. Luminate received 
$5,720.  We look forward to continuing our relationship with these two projects.   LCA 
Mission International, Australian Lutheran World Service, Seminary Students, 
Aboriginal Missions, Lutheran Tract Mission, Lutheran Bible Translators, Lutheran 
Media Ministry and Our Saviours Toowoomba Mission Fund have also received 
substantial support.  
 
The wonderful thing about Lutheran Women is belonging to a group of women whose 
head is Christ, and whose ideal is his love and service. 
We meet for Rally Days, Fellowship Days and Retreat.  Retreat is held annually and 
this year on 9/10/11 March 80 women met together for a time of study, praise and 
fellowship and went home enthused to “Lift High the Cross” and show His love.  
 
This is also the year for our Biennial Convention to be held at St James Hervey Bay 
when we will meet under the banner “A Whale of a Time”. 
Men are welcome to attend this weekend. A mystery trip has been arranged for them.   
 
It is not a requirement to be a member of Lutheran Women to attend our functions and 
retreat.  You can follow us on our website; www.lwq.org.au .  
 
 
Karen Bryce, 
President 

 

http://www.lwq.org.au/
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Qld District Synod Report 2018 
 
 

The LLL mission is to ‘assist the Lutheran Church of Australia in its mission’. God has 
again richly blessed the mission of the LLL over the last year, thanks to the support of 
depositors and other LLL supporters. 
 
Highlights of the last year include: 

 Benefits & Services to the LCA totalling over $9m 

 Legacies and Donations of over $1m 

 Depositor balances exceeding $1b. 
 

Benefits and Services 
External interest rates remain at historical lows; however the estimated interest saving 
on loans to LCA organisations was still $3.3m during the last financial year. This saving 
is based on comparing LLL loan interest rates with interest rates that would be payable 
if LCA organisations had to borrow from external loan providers (e.g. banks etc). 
 
Grants from LLL Permanent Funds totalled over $2.2m during the last financial year. 
These grants are made possible by legacies and donations that have been gifted to 
LLL Permanent Funds, and Board allocations to support specific ministries of the LCA 
at national, district and local levels. 
 
Non interest-bearing account grants paid to LCA ministries during the last year totalled 
almost $1.3m. We sincerely thank those depositors that elect to forego interest on their 
LLL savings accounts to enable the LLL to provide these extra benefits to 304 different 
LCA ministries. 
 
Additional special grants totalling $1.88m were paid to various LCA projects in 
consultation with the LCA General Church Council (GCC). 
 
The LLL also provides various administrative services to the LCA which are estimated 
to be worth over $400k each year. 
 

Total benefits and services provided to LCA organisations over the last 12 
months ended 30 June 2017 is estimated to be $9,150,554. 

 

Legacies and Donations 
Eight generous benefactors left a total of $947,413 in legacies to the LLL over the past 
12 months, and a further $74,499 was gifted in donations. 
 
These legacies and donations, together with many others received over the years, 
have all been added to LLL Permanent Funds, which enable the LLL to provide grants 
to a wide range of LCA ministries based on 5% of the amounts gifted. 
 
We thank God for all those people who have left funds to the LLL to enable the Church 
to continue to receive benefits, even after they are no longer with us. These gifts not 
only provide a benefit to the Church, but they also form part of the capital base of the 
LLL, which provides further protection to depositors who invest their funds with the 
LLL. 
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Deposits 
The LLL achieved a significant milestone during this last financial year, with total 
deposit funds exceeding $1b for the first time. Total deposits as at 30 June 2017 were 
$1,030,735,328, an increase of 4.6% over the last 12 months. 
 
Deposited funds not used for lending purposes are invested with Approved Deposit-
taking Institutions (ADI’s) and the income earned on these investments is used to 
provide additional benefits and services to the LCA. (The LLL does not invest any 
funds in shares or property investments.) 
 

Loans 
LLL loans are provided only to LCA organisations and totalled $312,348,521 as at 30 
June 2017, which is a reduction of $20m over the last 12 months. Part of this reduction 
was due to the closure of a Lutheran School in Queensland and the repayment of 
outstanding loans for this school. In addition, borrowers continue to use cash reserves 
to make additional repayments on their loans, due to the low interest rate environment. 
 
Lutheran Schools continue to be the main borrower of LLL funds with over 90% of LLL 
loans being advanced to this sector. These loans enable our Lutheran Schools to 
provide a Christian based education to over 40,000 students every school day in 
nearly 100 schools around Australia. 
 

LCA Administration 
The LLL provides a range of administrative services to the LCA as follows: 

 LCA Insurance Fund 

 LCA Subscriptions (The Lutheran & Lutheran Women magazines; Lutheran 
Theological Journal) 

 LCA Treasury (LCA, SA/NT District) 

 LCA Funds (Pensions, Provident & Car Grants). 
 

LCA Insurance Fund 
Total assets insured through the LCA Insurance Fund as at 30 June 2017 were valued 
at $4,321,163,484, with 765 LCA organisations as clients.  
 
Insurance premium rates for LCA clients have increased again for 2017/18 following 
an increase in 2016/17. Poor claims experience over the last few years has led to the 
property insurer increasing premiums by 12.5% in 2015/16, 35% in 2016/17 and a 
further 12% in 2017/18. Unfortunately, this level of increase cannot be absorbed by 
the Fund and premium rates for LCA clients have therefore been increased. 
 

Lutheran Tract Mission 
A total of 421,331 tracts were distributed during the last year, with 938 different titles 
currently in stock. Donations received totalled $43,291. 
 
The LTM website can be found at www.ltm.org.au, and allows users to view and order 
tracts online. In addition, users may send an electronic tract (eTract) via this website. 
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Regular Electronic Giving (REG) 
Current REG statistics are as follows: 

a) LCA organisations using REG: 303 
b) Participants contributing via REG: 2,401 
c) Monthly giving via REG: $533,535 (i.e. $6,402,422 per annum). 

 
The LLL is producing new resources to encourage members to use REG including a 
new REG brochure. These new resources will be provided to congregations early in 
2018.  In addition, the LCA Online website, which is another service provided by the 
LLL, has been upgraded to allow for regular electronic giving by direct debit or credit 
card.  
 
We encourage everyone to read the LLL publication ‘Together in mission’ which 
provides further information about how the LLL partners with LCA organisations to 
help bring the Gospel to people in Australia and around the world. Together in mission 
is available for electronic download at the LLL website, www.lll.org.au. 
 
We sincerely thank all depositors for continuing to support the Church through LLL 
Savings accounts.  
 
 
Andrew Waldhuter 
Promotions Manager 
LLL Australia 
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AUSTRALIAN LUTHERAN COLLEGE 
 
16Let the word of Christ dwell in you richly; teach and admonish one another in all 
wisdom; and with gratitude in your hearts sing psalms, hymns, and spiritual songs to 
God.                              Colossians 3:16 NRSV 
 
Thank you for once again inviting Australian Lutheran College (ALC) to report to your 
Synodical Convention.  We deeply value every opportunity that we have to engage 
with you as our partners and supporters in the Church’s mission and ministry.   We 
particularly value the students whom you send to us.  As those people prepare to serve 
in the Church as:  
 

1. Volunteers  
2. Teachers and Leaders in Lutheran schools  
3. Parish Workers, and 
4. Pastors  

 
we have the special privilege of partnering them in their learning. 
 
At ALC companioning and encouraging the whole Church as ‘learner’ of and in Christ 
Jesus is core to who we are and what we do.                    
 
In 2017 I reported to you that, with the goal of growing our enrolments, ALC is about 
to enter a significant period of transformation. This transformation was foreshadowed 
by Bishop John Henderson in one of his regular reports to the Church. He wrote: 
 

Numerous investigations over recent years have convincingly shown that if ALC 
is to continue to serve us well it needs to change the model under which it 
operates. This is the outcome of many factors, such as declining church and 
student numbers, a change in the way people undertake vocations in the 
church, and the increasing cost of higher education. It is clear that our training 
institution needs to change. The need is urgent. ALC is committed to innovation 
and flexibility in the tertiary learning experience. ALC will consult with the 
people, congregations, schools and ministries of the LCA as it examines and 
tests new ways of working in support of the mission and ministry of the church. 

John Henderson 
Bishop, Lutheran Church of Australia 
June 2016 
http://www.lca.org.au/1255-2  
 
I am pleased to inform you that this transition has begun with the adoption of the 
College’s 2017-2022 Strategic Direction by the General Church Council of the 
Lutheran Church of Australia, on 16 June 2017. Our Strategic Direction can be 
accessed via the following link:  http://www.alc.edu.au/assets/About/How-we-
work/ALC-Strategic-Direction-2017-2022.pdf  
 
Our aim for the College, as it is expressed in our Strategic Direction, is to companion 
the Church and its partners as it identifies, values and expresses itself as a learner in 
and through Christ Jesus. As we do this people will be equipped to serve through their 

http://www.lca.org.au/1255-2
http://www.alc.edu.au/assets/About/How-we-work/ALC-Strategic-Direction-2017-2022.pdf
http://www.alc.edu.au/assets/About/How-we-work/ALC-Strategic-Direction-2017-2022.pdf
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diverse vocations. Actioning this by working with the Church’s schools sector is 
identified as one area of major priority. 
 
Our Strategic Direction is based upon the recognition that the Church is a diverse 
community called to proclaim Jesus Christ, through word and action, in our even more 
diverse Australian and New Zealand communities. At the College we experience that 
diversity in the lives of our students.  
 
This diversity throws up some challenges for us. ALC can no longer take a ‘one size 
fits all’ approach to its learning and teaching programmes. With our students or 
learners at the centre of all that we do, and with the Church’s diverse ministry needs 
informing our programme, we are challenged to shape our learning programmes 
according to the needs of our students, always with their future service in mind. This 
places particular demands upon our very limited resources, particularly in view of the 
cost-cutting that we have undertaken over the last three years. 
 
Our Strategic Direction describes six priorities for our research, and our learning and 
teaching programme. They are: 
 

1. Equip people for service in the church and the world; 
2. Explore, understand and discuss contemporary church life questions and 

issues; 
3. Listen and respond in partnership to the LCA and its needs and aspirations; 
4. Use evidence as the basis for decision making; 
5. Communicate well with all stakeholders about where ALC is going and why; 
6. Implement good governance that can manage change well.  

 
When considered as a whole, these priorities challenge ALC to continuously  
engage with all parts of the Church. This is to ensure that our students  
are not only enriched and formed by their deep study of Christian faith and tradition  
as it is learned through the Lutheran Confessions, but to connect that rich  
vein of learning with their daily, vocational service in its diverse contexts. I described 
this in great detail in the College’s 2018 Opening Lecture:  
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3sB6uyZLxbU&feature=youtu.be.  
 
To serve effectively ALC needs the Church throughout New Zealand and Australia to 
identify, value and express itself as a learner. We all need to engage with the curiosity 
that Christ’s indwelling word ignites in each one of us. A learning Church needs 
Australian Lutheran College to companion and support it in all learning at national, 
district and local levels. A learning Church also raises up learners to engage deeply in 
their own learning as they prepare to serve in and through the Church. 
 
As our commitment to partnering with the learning Church, ALC currently offering 
courses in theology and ministry from a Certificate 4 (VET level) through to Diploma, 
Bachelor, Masters and Doctoral degrees. Each of these courses of study and research 
assist our learners to appreciate and value their call, and to grow as they uniquely 
serve in ministry. The College now also administers the Church’s Continuing Education 
for Pastors programme as yet another example of its commitment to life-long-learning.    
 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=3sB6uyZLxbU&feature=youtu.be
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Again, thank you for this opportunity to report to you. I strongly encourage you to 
access our Strategic Direction and Opening Lecture via the internet. More importantly, 
I encourage you to consider your own learning. How, as Christ’s word richly dwells in 
you, can our College companion and encourage you in your life of learning? My 
question to you is heartfelt and our College’s commitment to you is genuine. 
 
 
God bless you 
James Winderlich, Principal   
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AUSTRALIAN LUTHERAN WORLD SERVICE 
 
OVERVIEW 
Australian Lutheran World Service is the aid and resettlement agency of the LCA. It 
strives to reach out in love through justice, and is guided by a strategic plan to help 
and inspire people, improve and strengthen our work, partner with others, and 
resource the organisation with the right people, funds and time.  
 

CORE PROGRAMS AND PROJECTS 
PNG – Church Partnership  
Funded by the Australian Government’s Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade 
(DFAT), this is a unique initiative to work through ALWS and six other church agencies 
to strengthen the capacity of partner churches in PNG to better serve their people. We 
work very closely with the Evangelical Lutheran Church of PNG to do this. 
 
Indonesia- Centre for Disaster Risk Management & Community Development Studies 
(CDRM & CDS) 
In cooperation with the LLL, LCA Mission International and others, CDRM & CDS was 
established to build the capacity of local governments, churches, community groups 
and organisations to deliver effective community-based development programs with a 
focus on disaster risk reduction. In 2017, we joined hands with the Evangelical 
Lutheran Church in America (ELCA) to raise funds together for this important program.  
 
Cambodia – Empowerment through Self-Reliance  
This program works with communities to understand and uphold their own rights, 
focusing on sustainable livelihoods, food security, education, health, advocacy and 
conflict resolution. We are now working with this program on ways for it to support its 
operations through local fundraising initiatives.  
 
Burundi – Community Empowerment  
ALWS works closely with the program to bring healing to people through peace and 
livelihood initiatives, such as skills training and improved agricultural techniques. Still 
very much a forgotten population in the world, the people of Burundi work closely with 
local government to rebuild their lives after a devastating war.  
 
Kenya – Kakuma & Dadaab Refugee Camps 
In Kakuma, ALWS supports work in education, foster care, child rights, and reception 
centre maintenance; while in Dadaab this work extends to improved livelihoods, care 
for those with disabilities, peace building and protection.   
 
South Sudan – Rebuilding Livelihoods 
This program responds to issues of war and conflict through peace, education and 
water & sanitation. Sadly, violence in recent years has shifted some activities into an 
emergency response.  
 
Djibouti – Refugee Assistance Program 
In 2017, ALWS agreed to support the Djibouti program as a long-term partner following 
a successful initiative which enabled us to match our funds with a large European 
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grant. The program serves refugees feeling war and drought-stricken nations in East 
Africa and the Middle East.  
 
Disability Inclusive Development 
This program is designed to work through our main global partners, LWF and Action 
by Churches Alliance (ACT), to raise the profile of disability inclusive development and 
streamline it into all work. It aims to ensure that those with disabilities are not forgotten 
but instead included in all programs.  
 
Child Protection  
In a similar way, this program aims to integrate the safeguarding of children in our 
work and the work we support, including screening of personnel, incorporating the 
voice of children into program design, and using photographs and stories in a suitable 
and sensitive way.  
 

EMERGENCIES 
In 2017, ALWS responded to five emergencies through ACT, of which LWF is the 
largest partner. These included: 
 
Darfur, Sudan – a long term response to assisting people who have either returned to, 
or remained in, their homeland as well as those who have been internally displaced 
because of conflict.  
 
Nepal – a response to address displacement caused by severe flooding. 
 
Iraq – giving refuge to those who have been displaced by conflict through water, 
kerosene for the winter months, hygiene kits and women-friendly spaces.  
 
Myanmar – providing refuge for those fleeing a long and brutal conflict.    
 
Syria – welcoming refugees fleeing conflict in Syria by providing education, 
classrooms, psychosocial care and training opportunities in neighbouring Jordan.  
 
 

COMMUNITY EDUCATION 
ALWS is also committed to taking the message of those who suffer from poverty and 
injustice to the pews, desks and living rooms of the Lutheran community. Without the 
endorsement and support of pastors, district church leadership, and Lutheran schools 
in the Queensland district, this would not be possible. In 2017, our small team 
delivered 215 presentations to Lutheran schools, churches and other groups across 
the country. 
 

ALWS SUPPORT 
We are most grateful to those members of our Lutheran community in Queensland 
who donate so generously to help others through ALWS. In 2017 alone, Queensland 
gave $878,111. We recognise that this support extends beyond donations, including 
in the way Queensland churches and schools endorse our work publicly. We are also 
thankful for the support of the wider church and the contribution from the Australian 
government’s Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT). Together, this is 
summarised as follows: 
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Year  LCA   DFAT  Total 
2017  $5,258,047  $2,672,945 $7,930,992 
 
 

STEWARDSHIP OF RESOURCES 
ALWS ensures the management of funds is transparent and accountable. ALWS is a 
signatory to the Australian Council for International Development’s Code of Conduct, 
which requires ALWS to meet minimum standards in governance, management and 
accountability. ALWS has full accreditation with the Australian Government’s 
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, is subject to a rigorous accreditation review 
every five years, and has received the charity tick of registration with the Australian 
Charities and Not for profit Commission.  
 

THANK YOU 
We are most humbled by the generosity shown by the people of Queensland to serve 
people who suffer through no fault of their own, and we are thankful for your keen 
interest in being engaged. We still want to develop more, and so in 2018 we will work 
on ways to stretch each dollar you donate even further in order to have the greatest 
impact on the lives of others. We appreciate you coming along with us on our journey 
as we continue to improve. We also give thanks for a supportive and encouraging 
church leadership, and committed institutions such as LLL. Finally, we thank God for 
working through the church in such an amazing way.   
 
 
Chey Mattner 
Executive Director   
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LCA International Mission 

Report to LCA Queensland District Synod 2018 
 

Your prayers, giving, volunteering and partnerships in the gospel have eternal 

consequences.  

 

The LCA has two different arms reaching out across the borders of our country to 

share Jesus’ love – LCA International Mission and Australian Lutheran World Service 

(ALWS). 

 

LCA International Mission has the responsibility for mission and evangelism, so that, 

through the work of the Holy Spirit and in partnership with others, we can bring the life-

changing news of the gospel of Jesus Christ to people overseas and cross culturally 

in Australia. 

 

Through LCA International Mission you are enabling Jesus’ love to come to life in the 

lives of many people across the borders of our country and particularly in our near-

neighbour countries in South East Asia and the Pacific. 
 

Young adults growing in faith and leadership 

 

Sophouen Hay is a young woman with a big vision. Her heart’s desire is that all of her 

Cambodian people will come to know Jesus. Born in the rural village of Krus, 

Sophouen came to meet Jesus through the ministry that you and I have shared in, in 

Cambodia through our partnership with the Lutheran Church in Singapore and the new 

and emerging Lutheran Church in Cambodia.  

 

Baptised as a young adult in 2010 in the village of Krus, Kompong Chhnang, 

Cambodia, Sophouen has gone on to study for four years, for a Bachelor of Theology 
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at Phnom Penh Bible College. Today she serves as a pastor to her people in Krus and 

the surrounding villages. Through this ministry and the power of the Holy Spirit, people 

are coming to a saving faith in Jesus Christ.  

 

In 2017 Sophouen and her fellow pastor and best friend Sreyleak (whom Sophouen 

introduced to Jesus) were participants together with other young adults from Australia 

and Indonesia, in the Grow Leadership program which was held over various sessions 

in Australia and in Cambodia, throughout the year.  

 

One of the key learnings for Sophouen through the year-long Grow Leadership 

program has been a growing understanding of the Lutheran faith into which she was 

baptised. At the conclusion of the Grow Leadership program Sophouen said, ‘I have 

learnt again that God is our team leader. We walk though his plan and he prepares 

everything for us. I can say that we can do nothing without God so He is the one that 

gives us everything.’  

 

Sophouen and Sreyleak are part of the youthful leadership team in the Lutheran 

Church in Cambodia under the leadership of Rev Daniel Orn, the first ordained pastor 

(11th November 2017) of the Lutheran Church in Cambodia. 
 

Congregational partnerships 
 

The mission statement of Ipswich 

Lutheran Church is ‘To Know Christ 

and to Make Christ Known’. To fulfil this 

mission, the congregation embarked on 

a journey with LCA International 

Mission to find a partner church in a 

developing country. After much 

prayerful consideration the members of 

the congregation together with their 

pastor, Rev Ben Hentschke felt a clear 

call from God to partner with the 

Evangelical Lutheran Church of 

Myanmar (ELCM or Lutheran Bethlehem Church).  

 

In 2017 Pastor Ben together with two 

members of the Ipswich congregation 

and Erin Kerber from LCA International 

Mission travelled to the city of Yangon 

to formalise the partnership. Pastor 

Ben writes, ‘This was a joyous time as 

we got to know President Pastor 

Jensen Andrews, his son Luke and 

several members of Lutheran 

Bethlehem Church. This remarkable 

congregation was founded in 1878 and 
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we are the first Lutheran congregation to partner with them‘. Ben continues, ‘We saw 

real joy when we made our last visit to a small village where we were able to witness 

Pastor Andrews baptising 10 members of one family. These were the first baptisms in 

this village since its recent cleansing from all Hindu idols. I was honoured to be able 

to share a word of encouragement with villagers from Romans 6.  We worshipped with 

them and the singing and music was sheer joy! We left thanking God for the 

opportunity to build relationships with our brothers and sisters in Christ, and for the 

exciting possibilities of ways this partnership will continue to grow God’s Kingdom in a 

place where Jesus is so desperately needed.’ 
 

Through partnerships established with the assistance of LCA International Mission and 
our long-established relationships with Lutheran Churches overseas, LCA 
congregations have the opportunity to form new relationships outside the borders of 
our country and the privilege to witness the power of God to change lives. The 
partnership arrangements with LCA international Mission provide LCA congregations 
with the opportunity to establish international mission partnerships which demonstrate 
respect, mutual benefit, shared vision, sustainability, two-way communication, 
accountability, intentional inclusion, understanding of common goals and clear 
expectations, a clear, long term strategy, interpersonal and cultural sharing, and 
evaluative stages. If you or your congregation would like to know more about the 
possibilities of a congregational partnership you are encouraged to contact Erin Kerber 
erin.kerber@lca.org.au or phone: (08) 8267 7300. 
 

Australian lives transformed through serving with LCA International Mission’s 

volunteers program 
 

Hanna Schmidt, from the LCA 

Queensland district is one of many 

people who have taken up the 

opportunity to serve as a volunteer 

through LCA International Mission’s 

volunteers in mission program. For two 

months in December 2016 and January 

2017 Hanna used her gifts to serve 

unwed mothers and their new babies at 

Home of Grace and then continued to 

share Jesus’ love with children and 

infants living in the slums of Bangkok 

who attend Home of Praise. Hanna 

shares some of her story … ‘I had the 

amazing opportunity of travelling to 

Thailand to work with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Thailand and experience for 

myself the service happening in Bangkok … 

The way you can connect with another person without the free communication of a 

common language still astounds me. I managed to build some beautiful relationships 

which I will hold dear and treasure my whole life … Working three days in Home of 

Praise and two in the Immanuel Nursery was exhausting, but I would do it all again in 

mailto:erin.kerber@lca.org.au
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a heartbeat. Forgetting the disconnect of where you are from and simply being present 

with the children, allowed me to fully participate in all the activities with the kids. Playing 

with them and gaining their trust was such a wonderful experience for me … I learnt a 

lot from all of the dedicated people working with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in 

Thailand. All the workers serve with their whole lives, giving up much of their spare 

time to work and serve. I have learnt to never underestimate the power of being 

authentic and giving permission for people to join you in that space. This allowed 

freedom to be me and an ability to create some wonderful relationships. I believe that 

this is all just the beginning of the culture change that we all so desperately need. A 

culture of radical love and compassion for everyone no matter the circumstance. 

Thank you to LCA International Mission for making this experience a reality and not 

just a spirit breathed dream of mine.’ 

 

In 2017 through LCA International Mission you have enabled the Lutheran 

Church of Australia to partner with overseas Lutheran Churches to provide: 

 

 scholarships in-country (Indonesia, Malaysia, Fiji and Thailand) and in Australia 

(from Indonesia, PNG) at Australia Lutheran College for growth in the 

understanding of Lutheran theology, and for supporting our partner churches 

as they seek to build their theological capacity 

 support for ministry to and with indigenous people in Malaysia 

 lecturers to teach in Lutheran seminaries overseas on short and longer-term 

assignments (this includes Mr Michael (Mick) Hauser who serves as a full time 

lecturer at Martin Luther Seminary in Lae, PNG) 

 mentoring and support for the strengthening of Lutheran schools in Indonesia, 

and the establishment of a Lutheran education system in Malaysia 

 training in Reconciliation Ministry for Lutheran churches in Indonesia and Japan 

 books for seminary libraries in Papua New Guinea, Indonesia, Malaysia (East 

and West) and Thailand 

 training for seminary students going into the prisons in Indonesia to take the 

life-changing and practical love of Jesus to prisoners as young as eight years 

old 

 funds for the publication of Lutheran literature in Indonesia and Papua New 

Guinea 

 translation of the LCA publication, ‘Growing as God’s People’ into Indonesian, 

Malay, and Lisu language 

 specific theological training courses for pastors in Myanmar and Papua New 

Guinea 

 pastors and evangelists to share the life-transforming message of Jesus Christ 

with people living in fear and without hope in Thailand, Cambodia, Myanmar 

and Malaysia 

 young people from Australia, Indonesia and Cambodia with the opportunity to 

grow in their understanding of the Lutheran Church, leadership and cross-

cultural ministry and mission through the Grow leadership program 

 young indigenous people from Malaysia with the opportunity to grow in faith 

through attendance at ministry training camps 
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 opportunities for the establishment of accountable and sustainable international 

mission partnerships for LCA congregations and schools 

 opportunities for people young and older to serve as volunteers in mission 

together with our international mission partners and here in Australia 
 

Through the power of the Holy Spirit your partnership in the gospel with the Lutheran 

Church of Australia International Mission is bringing Jesus’ love to life in people we 

may never know or see until we gather round the throne of God. We give thanks to 

God for you and for your willingness to Pray, Give, Connect and Go. 

 

If you would you like to serve as a volunteer or would like to establish an international 

mission partnership for your congregation or school in Thailand, Myanmar, Cambodia, 

Malaysia, Indonesia or PNG, you are invited to contact Nevin Nitschke 

nevin.nitschke@lca.org.au or Erin Kerber erin.kerber@lca.org.au at LCA International 

Mission or on 08 8267 7300, or visit the LCA International Mission website at 

www.lca.org.au/international-mission for more information. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted 

Glenice Hartwich 

Assistant to the Bishop – International Mission 

Lutheran Church of Australia  

2018 

mailto:nevin.nitschke@lca.org.au
mailto:erin.kerber@lca.org.au
http://www.lca.org.au/international-mission
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LCA Local Mission report to the  
2018 Queensland Convention of Synod 
 
LCA Local Mission – what does it look like and how does  
it support Queensland congregations and departments? 
 

Back in 2015, General Convention of Synod resolved that General Church Council;  

Be authorised to trial a restructure of the National Church functions in a phased 
approach to provide more effective leadership, governance and other resources 
that are church-wide, mission-focused, service oriented, efficiently delivered 
and effective in enacting the decisions and directions of General Synod.  

Since that momentous resolution, there have been many changes within the LCA 
national office, and lots of changes to governance structures and operations of the 
mission-focussed boards and departments. My report gives you a sampler of the many 
activities of LCA Local Mission. 

 

Let’s start with Grow Ministries. Grow (or Child, Youth and Family Ministry) is now 
one of the departments of Local Mission, and the Committee for Child Youth and 
Family Ministry acts as a reference or advisory group to the Grow Ministries ’ Director, 
Jodi Brook. (Pastor Tim Jarick and Joanne Schache are the Queenslanders on the 
committee.) Grow are a point of reference, and resource, for the wider church. They 
do this by researching and developing child, youth and family ministry resources, along 
with equipping and encouraging districts and congregations in their ministry to 
children, youth and families. Currently four Qld congregations – at Caboolture, 
Gympie, Nambour and Redcliffe – are participating in the two-year Grow Coaching 
journey. Grow also provides some funding to Lutheran Youth of Queensland to assist 
them in their training, and Grow staff lead workshops at the annual Elevation Training 
event. Though no Queenslanders put their hand up for Grow Leadership in 2017, two 
of the 13 young people who participated were recently-ex-Queenslanders (so their 
heart had strong Queensland connections, even if their postal addresses showed 
otherwise!) At the moment, Grow is working on a number of resources and projects, 
including the provision of a framework for Confirmation that is based on extensive 
research on confirmation practices in the LCA and beyond. Soon a number of 
Queensland youth will be participating in the National Youth Forum, which is a pre-
national synod event. Make sure you ask them about the Forum! And check out 
www.growministries.org.au 

 

Cross-Cultural Ministry comes under the banner of Local Mission. Staff-wise, there 
is only Pastor Brian Shek (Asian Ministry Coordinator, based in the Qld District office) 
and myself in this ‘department’, however we are ably supported by the Committee for 
Cross-Cultural Ministry (and we’d love to have a Queenslander on the committee). So 
what are we up to in Queensland? Cross-Cultural Ministry financially supports St 
Peter’s Indooroopilly Chinese Ministry through the provision of up to $75000 for up to 
five years, and until the end of 2017 we were also supporting the Rochedale 

http://www.growministries.org.au/
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Bethlehem Chinese Ministry. Recently, we have produced a sensational orientation 
booklet entitled Understanding Cross-Cultural and Migrant Ministry, which can be 
found at www.lca.org.au/cross-cultural-ministry. Brian and I are also supporting the 
planning of an LCA Immersion Study tour to Adelaide to learn about the LCA, its history 
and its activities. This tour is being organised by a team from St Peter’s Asian 
congregation for all Asian ministry workers and other interested people and, all going 
well, should occur in July this year. Stay tuned. 

 

New and Renewing Churches is another department of Local Mission. Dean Eaton, 
Rev Dr Noel Due and I make up the department and we have seconded Rev Nathan 
Hedt (from Pakenham, Vic) at 0.1FTE and Chris Podlich (from Murrumba Downs, Qld) 
at 0.2FTE to assist us in 2018. The New and Renewing Churches department is 
supported by the Committee for New and Renewing Churches and Pastor David 
Schmidt (the Qld District Director for Ministry and Mission) is a consultant to the 
committee. Our vision is to plant 30 new churches in 10 years and we are on the way 
to realising this vision. We are most excited about the church plant (Beyond Church) 
at Murrumba Downs, which is led by Chris Podlich and supported by the sending 
congregation of Living Faith, Murrumba Downs. We are also delighted to see the 
emergence of the church plant at St Peter’s College Springfield called Arise Lutheran 
Church, led by Pastor Matthew Wilksch. New and Renewing Churches provides 
training and mentoring to sending churches, which in Queensland has included Our 
Saviour Rochedale, Living Word Ashmore and Living Faith Murrumba Downs. We 
have also offered a number of conferences and events in Queensland, with the most 
recent ones being a Missional Masterclass held at Rochedale in March 2018 and a 
missional retreat called New Horizons held in April 2018. If you would like to know 
more about the church planting vision go to www.lca.org.au/new-churches. New and 
Renewing Churches have developed a number of print resources to assist you in 
mission. A good place to start is to explore ‘Sent’ by going to www.lca.org.au/sent. 

 

Ministry with the Ageing is a department that supports Lutheran aged care facilities 
and congregations as they minister with the ageing. The Committee for Ministry with 
the Ageing (with Queenslanders Dr Clare Seligman as a member and Pastor Paul 
Semmler as a consultant) has produced a paper on end of life issues and soon will 
be releasing a paper on multi-faith issues in aged and community care. You can find 
resources, or apply for a scholarship, on our webpage: www.lca.org.au/ministry-with-
ageing. The committee and myself are supporting the LCA Aged and Community 
Care Governance Dialogue and will enact some of the recommendations from the 
Dialogue on behalf of the General Church Council. Currently, Ministry with the Ageing 
produces an eNewsletter that is emailed to subscribers and recently we highlighted 
the work of Wahroonga Aged Care, Biloela in the eNewsletter. Ministry with the Ageing 
supports the wonderful work of Lutheran Services in Queensland.  

Another resolution from the 2015 Synod authorised the revision of the ‘One Loving 
God’ document which was prepared by Lutheran Community Care Australia and the 
Commission on Theology and Interchurch Relations in 2003. This resolution has been 
combined with a recommendation from the Aged and Community Services 
Governance Dialogue that the aged and community services sector co-design and 

http://www.lca.org.au/cross-cultural-ministry
http://www.lca.org.au/new-churches
http://www.lca.org.au/sent
http://www.lca.org.au/ministry-with-ageing
http://www.lca.org.au/ministry-with-ageing
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subsequently adopt a set of key guiding theological ethos documents. Local Mission 
is hosting this project. The project officer is Colleen Fitzpatrick and the steering 
committee has Heidi Smith (a Lutheran Services chaplain) as one of the members. 
Reports are available through the Ministry with the Ageing eNewsletter. Colleen is 
keen to engage with people involved with ministry in aged and community care and 
can be contacted at colleen.fitzpatrick@lca.org.au. 

 

Last, but not least, is Lutheran Media, whose committee is chaired by Pastor Ben 
Hentschke from Ipswich, and Pastor Mark Hansen from Noosa is a member. Lutheran 
Media reach out to millions of people through radio, YouTube, Facebook and through 
their websites, across Australia and New Zealand. Messages of Hope can be heard 
in Queensland on:  

4WK, 4HI, 4LM, 4SB, 4VL, 4ZR, 4LG, 4DB, 4RPH, Salt 106.5FM Nambour, 
Boonah 4RIM FM, 92.9 Voice FM 4GOD, Western Downs Region Radio 89.9 
FM, 4DDD FM, Caboolture Community Radio FM 4OUR, Cooloola Christian 
Radio Gympie 4GCR, Maryborough/Hervey Bay 4WBR, 4CRM Mackay, 4KIG 
Townsville, 4TVR 92.3 Tableland Christian Radio, and the Vision radio network.  

You can access the radio program, videos and resources at 
www.messagesofhope.org.au. 

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church in Toowoomba have begun livestreaming their 
worship services. Along with a weekly worship DVD, you can now worship with them 
at www.livestream.com/luthworship either live or during the week. Please let Lutheran 
Media know if your congregation also livestreams worship services so that they might 
be included in this ministry. www.happyland.com.au is still going strong with over 
35,000 subscribers. The Happyland game is currently being developed into an App. A 
short video competition will be run again in 2018. Please encourage your movies 
makers to enter. The Luther DVDs for small groups have been popular. There are still 
copies available.  

For your information, Lutheran Media is the only department of Local Mission who are 
off-budget. That means that they need to fundraise for all the wonderful work that they 
do. Donations to Lutheran Media are tax-deductible. See: www.lutheranmedia.org.au 

 

Local Mission is here to support the work of the Queensland District, Queensland 
congregations and Queensland departments as you grow as God’s people and as you 
go as God’s people. May you see God’s love in Christ coming to life as you joyfully 
receive, live and share the gospel.  

 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dr Tania Nelson 

Executive Officer – Local Mission 

mailto:colleen.fitzpatrick@lca.org.au
http://www.messagesofhope.org.au/
http://www.livestream.com/luthworship
http://www.lutheranmedia.org.au/
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PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS DEPARTMENT REPORT 
 

Since the last Convention, there has been no shortage of work for the District 
Professional Standards Officer (PSO) Elizabeth Kloeden. 
 

As well as providing all of the face-to-face training in the District, on numerous 
occasions Elizabeth has helped people with difficult issues. She has also assisted 
the District office with the recent audit by Blue Card Services, which has been a 
considerable challenge. I am very grateful to Elizabeth for her outstanding service 
and commitment to the role. 
 

During 2017 the Professional Standards Department (PSD) embedded its training 
program, which is a comprehensive blend of face-to-face and online learning. In 
October, the General Church Council endorsed our approach. 
 

And the National Council of Churches in Australia has provided an independent 
review of the program and confirmed it meets the standards required under the Safe 
Church Training Agreement. Our Training Coordinator Marilyn Wall should be 
congratulated for her immense efforts to implement and finalise the training model. 
 

The training program is mandatory for all church leaders and for all who engage 
with persons under the age of 18 as part of their ministries. You can find more 
details at www.lca.org.au/psd-training 
 

On the whole, the response to the training in the District has been extremely 
positive. PSD has certainly taken on board all constructive criticism too. 
 

Our face-to-face Professional Standards workshops are accessible to all 
congregations. Elizabeth has been extremely accommodating and flexible – if you 
need a workshop please just give her a call! 

 

We have noted, with some concern, that very few Lutheran Youth of Queensland 
(LYQ) camp leaders are up to date in online Safeguarding Children training. Why? It 
is not really clear…but you may like to question (in a positive and constructive 
manner) whether child safety is high enough on LYQ’s list of priorities. 
 

On a more upbeat note, we recently hosted a Coordinator Networking Day – 
presented in North Adelaide and live streamed. It was a productive time of bonding 
and information sharing, with over 120 registrants; someone in England even 
attended! 
 
In December, the Royal Commission into Institutional Responses to Child Sexual 
Abuse released its final report. Spanning 17 volumes, the contents are sobering and 
challenging. The Royal Commission has found there has been gross and sustained 
misconduct in churches. As a result, there has been an erosion of public trust in 
churches. The Lutheran Church is, by no means, immune from such trust issues. 

http://www.lca.org.au/psd-training
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Child sexual abuse is not a historical problem. It is still happening. Churches remain 
particularly susceptible, as culture will not change overnight. Sadly, there is still a trend 
of scepticism towards complainants and of rallying around accused persons. And we 
also see a disproportionate focus on proven offenders, together with insufficient 
consideration regarding the feelings of abuse survivors and potential victims. 
 

Relevantly, there has recently been an independent review of the LCA’s Prevention of 
Risk of Harm from a Known Sex Offender Policy. During 2018, we are implementing 
the findings and recommendations set out in this review. Crucially, there are risks 
associated not just with known sex offenders but also with unknown offenders. PSD is 
trying to build a healthy level of awareness about persistent child molesters, who can 
be incredibly patient and cunning; they are currently trying to infiltrate our 
communities. Let’s be vigilant – not alarmed but alert! 
 

Thank you to all who work to protect the vulnerable and all who support PSD. 

 
 

Tim Ross 
Manager of the Professional Standards Department 
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Lutheran Church of Australia 
Queensland District 

 

 

 

Ex Cyclone Debbie Recovery Project - Report 
 

Introduction 
As described in Wikipedia … “Severe Tropical Cyclone Debbie in 2017 was the 
strongest tropical cyclone in the Australian region since Cyclone Quang in 2015, and 
was branded the most dangerous cyclone to impact Queensland since Cyclone 
Yasi in 2011. Forming as a tropical low on 23 March, the low gradually intensified to a 
named tropical cyclone on 26 March. After steadily strengthening offshore to a Category 
4 system, Debbie eventually made landfall near Airlie Beach, just north of Proserpine, 
at around 12:40 AEST on 28 March.[1] Afterwards, Debbie rapidly weakened into a 
tropical low by late 28 March, but continued to travel south, causing significant damage 
and flooding in the populous areas of South East Queensland and Northern Rivers.[1] In 
total, the storm caused A$2.4 billion (US$1.85 billion) in damage and fourteen deaths 
across Australia, primarily as a result of extreme flooding. This makes Debbie the 
deadliest cyclone to hit Australia since Cyclone Tracy in 1974.”    
 
The nature of the cyclone and its trajectory was that for our members in 13 Parishes, 
the cyclone brought flooding, severe weather and also for many, much needed drought 
breaking rain.  In general, members of our parishes were not particularly adversely 
impacted.  We were blessed.  
 
An appeal was launched and donations totalling $50,747 were received.  The generosity 
of individual people and parishes is appreciated.  
 
Queensland District response focussed particularly on the Parish of Mackay, however 
attention to many other parishes such as Beenleigh also occurred.    
 
The District response, co-ordinated by the District Executive Officer, was to work with 
the Parishes to do the following: 
 
a. Inform   

Ensure Parishes were aware of, and able to access the many materials on the 
LCAQD District Website in order to be able to respond to internal and community 
needs in an informed way.  Also for Parish leaders to be aware of aid and 
assistance available from Government and non-Government sources.    
 

b. Encourage 
Encourage leaders in parishes to reach out to people in need in their local 
communities to bring Christ’s love to life.  For example, Beenleigh Parish reached 
out to people in their community with Baskets of Hope. 
   

c. Support 
Provide some financial support and advice support to Parishes and leaders.    

 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2014%E2%80%9315_Australian_region_cyclone_season
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/2010%E2%80%9311_Australian_region_cyclone_season
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cyclone_Debbie#cite_note-:0-1
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cyclone_Debbie#cite_note-:0-1
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Results 
The outcomes were dictated by local leadership and leader’s capacity to implement 
action in the local community.   In general, all Lutheran members and friends in need 
were supported and reaching out to people in local communities to provide assistance 
occurred in most Parishes.  
 
The Takeaway Points 
All Congregations can and should prepare for disasters be they; a car accident, a factory 
fire, a flood or cyclone.    
 
All Congregations be they old, young, small or large can contribute in a niche area in 
the local community disaster response effort. 
 
One lesson, re-learned, was just how essential it is to have a great member and friend 
directory on your computer, in the cloud and on the phone.  
 
Another lesson, re-learned, was the essential nature of local leadership preparing for 
disaster so that there is a clear understanding of what is expected from Chairpersons, 
Pastors, and members of Parishes.   A Disaster Readiness Plan, practiced, is gold in 
times of disaster. 
 
Active leadership is key to success. 
 
Resources 
There is an abundance of resources, training materials, power point presentations that 
talk you through slides, frameworks for development of plans and more that are 
published on the District Web Site.  We now have a wealth of resource and material that 
can be (and is) shared with others.   Leaders in all Parishes and Congregations are 
encouraged to access the material. 
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
 
 
Michael Turner 
District Executive Officer, LCAQD 
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ARCHIVES LIAISON OFFICERS REPORT 2018 

During the last Synodical year, the Queensland branch of Friends of Lutheran Archives 

held two events. 

The first was on Sunday 7th May 2017 when the St Paul’s Congregation, Caboolture 

hosted the F.O.L.A group where Graham Schrodter and Reg Knopke shared some of the 

early history of the congregation and aged care in the area.  The story began with the first 

German settlers in the district in 1873 when land was taken up on Barraba Creek 

extending towards Wamuran.  Beginning as a farming community served by itinerant 

Pastors Hartwig and Egan the congregation moved into the town with both E.L.C.A and 

U.E.L.C.A affiliated congregations and churches.  A slab and shingle church at Barraba 

was replaced by a new church built in Caboolture in 1920.  St Paul’s congregation was 

officially established in 1926. 

The second event was held at St Peters College on Sunday 27th August and the topic was 

the internment of Lutheran pastors and lay people during World War Two.  After an 

interesting introduction by Pastor Tim Jarick two speakers reported on two Australian 

Lutheran pastors interned during this period.  In both cases their participation in events 

surrounding the visits to Queensland of Count von Luckner (in 1938) and the German 

cruiser Karlsruhe (in 1934) created unwarranted suspicion about their loyalty.  Dr Theo 

Baer who was born in Australia after the internment of his German missionary father from 

New Guinea, provided a fascinating insight into camp life after the family were reunited at 

Tatura in Victoria.  Robin Kleinschmidt spoke of lay people Isidore Huth and Ferdie 

Kleinschmidt who were interned as a result of personal malice of hostile individuals and 

community hysteria. 

Later in the year there will be an event focusing on World War 1 interment as well as a 

possible visit to a Toowoomba or Darling Downs congregation. 

Most of our Lutheran congregations would have a history going back before the union that 

occurred during 1966.  When this history is to be recorded, local church records are 

invaluable, however they are often not available or are incomplete.  Before 1966 the 

opening and closing of churches as well as anniversaries and other such events were 

usually recorded in the Queensland Lutheran (1943 – 1966 U.E.L.C.A), Lutheran Herald 

(1921 – 1966 U.E.L.C.A), or the Queensland Messenger (1927 – 1956 E.L.C.A) or The 

Australian Lutheran (1913 – 1966 E.L.C.A).  As well, the pastors usually reported quarterly 

on what was happening in other parishes or congregations.  As a result, today we have a 

good record of those early days.  If you are in this situation where you require information 

of those earlier days, can I suggest using the Lutheran Resource Centre, Laidley.  This is 

a resource supported by our Lutheran Archives in Adelaide and sanctioned by our District 

Church Council in Queensland.  There are many other materials available such as Synod 

reports, Almanacs, year books, some congregational histories and other such material.  If 
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anyone would like to use this resource centre, please contact Bernie Muller, 2057 

Rosewood-Laidley Road, Laidley Qld 4341.  Phone (07) 54651268. 

At the 2016 Queensland District Synod our F.O.L.A.Q committee chairman Robin 

Kleinschmidt launched a booklet “Your most humble servant” which was written by Robin 

and highlighted the lives and ministries of our seven district presidents or bishops since 

union.  The book was sponsored by F.O.L.A.Q (although normally the business of 

publishing is not what the committee is about, particularly as there is little money available 

for such pursuits).  There was however a desire that as 2016 was the 50th anniversary of 

the formation of the L.C.A, that the recording of the lives and ministries of our seven 

Queensland presidents or bishops at that time was essential.  The only deceased 

president was Pastor F.H. Schmidt.  The book has been beautifully written by Robin and 

will be an accurate record of that particular time in history and used for many years to 

come.  Copies of this book can be purchased at Synod. 

 

Bernie Muller 

Archives Liaison Officer (Qld) 
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Lutherans for Life report to QLD District Synod, February 2018  
 

Greetings in Jesus’ name, the Lord of life!  
 
Lutherans for Life continue to work within our Synod to promote the value of human 
life from conception to natural death. The task continues to challenge us as a Church. 
As you are no doubt aware, in your own state of Queensland the issue of abortion is 
very much a live one as I write this report. I refer you to the submission made by our 
church on this issue included in this book of reports. This submission came from the 
Office of the Bishop, which was developed in consultation with the Commission on 
Social and Bioethical Questions and the QLD District Church Council. We are grateful 
our Church was able to offer this submission to promote the value and sanctity of 
human life in this most vulnerable stage.   
 
In my report for this year I’d like to focus almost exclusively on what has been a major 
project for us this past year, namely the development of our new website which is now 
up and running! You can visit the site at www.lutheransforlife.lca.org.au. We are 
excited to offer this website to our church.  
 
The website is designed as a resource hub for our whole church as people engage 
with issues to do with the sanctity of human life. We’ve had in mind not only our pastors 
and congregations, but also our schools and aged care facilities. We hope that, for 
example, a teacher in a Christian studies’ class may be able find resources to help 
explore ethical questions with their students, and a chaplain in an aged care facility 
might find something to help a family with a loved one who no longer wants to live.  
 
As we designed the site we thought about the journey of life from conception to death. 
Three main sections emerged: pre-birth issues, life issues, and end of life issues. 
Under pre-birth issues we cover topics like miscarriage and stillbirth, abortion, 
contraception, genetic screening, infertility and stem-cell research. When it comes to 
life issues more generally we’ve explored areas such as identity, marriage, singleness, 
adoption, sexualisation, suffering and self-harm. In the end of life segment, we address 
dying well, euthanasia and physician assisted suicide, terminal illness, dementia, and 
palliative care. If a person clicks on any of these headings they’ll be able to read a 
short, accessible introduction to the topic.  
 
In addition to these main three areas, there is also a resources tab on the site. Here 
you can access past editions of LFL’s newsletter ‘Life news’, group study documents 
with discussion questions on most of the life issues listed above, and the LCA’s public 
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statements on relevant topics. There is also a section under resources entitled 
‘Worship and pastoral care’ which has prayers and other rites which can help us as a 
Christian community care for people who are hurting in the midst of life related issues.  
 
Finally, in the resources tab there are links to practical pregnancy support for women, 
couples and families struggling with various challenges in this area. As Lutherans for 
Life, we believe one of the particular contributions we have to make to this whole area 
is in how the Gospel can relate to life issues. As such we have endeavoured to keep 
in mind throughout the website, that these are not abstract issues we are dealing with, 
but ones which touch real people whose deepest need is actually to know, and be 
known, by the Lord of Life.  
 

We are extremely grateful for the financial support we receive, particularly from 
Lutheran Women and the women’s guilds of the Church. LFL is entirely funded 
through donations and contributions. Please continue to pray for and support LFL 
however you can, as we speak up for God’s precious gift of life.  
 
 
Yours in Christ,  
Rev Joshua Pfeiffer - LFL Chairperson 
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Lutheran Church of Australia submission 

Introduction 

Thank you for inviting us to contribute to this particular discussion. We are glad that in 

Queensland and Australia more widely, citizens can contribute to the formulation of 

public policy.  

We recognise that our society is multi-cultural and multi-religious, with a significant 

proportion of citizens who profess no religion. Our society is therefore rightly 

governed not according to one type of religious law but by generally applicable 

principles of truth and justice for all. The biblical expression of these principles is 

encapsulated in God’s command to “Love your neighbour”, where love keeps both 

the welfare of the individual and the common good in heart and mind. 

We approach the question of reforms to Queensland laws on termination of 

pregnancy as Christians who believe that human life warrants special respect. The 

following points underpin our responses to the consultation questions below: 

 It is a biological fact—not “just a religious belief”—that unborn humans are 

fully human.  

 Sin-prone human beings take a perilous step in granting themselves the right 

to take human lives that are “unwanted” or that “fail to meet the 

requirements for personhood”. We see a slippery slope from granting 

ourselves abortion rights to granting ourselves the right to assisted suicide and 

the right to euthanize children and adults we don’t want to care for and/or 

who fail to meet our definition of “persons”. 

 If our society is to preserve and show respect for all human lives, we must 

therefore accord significant value to lives that are still in the womb.  

 Our society therefore ought not to make access to abortion too easy, nor aim 

to destigmatise it. A human foetus is not just “a clump of cells” and abortion is 

not “just a medical procedure”. Every consideration of abortion should 

involve solemn consideration of available alternatives, and recognition of the 

moral gravity of taking a human life and associated impact on fellow citizens 

and the state.  



 A caring society rejoices in the gift of human life, and promotes this as a good 

for one and all. 

 A caring society encourages and supports women (and their partners, where 

partners are involved) to complete their pregnancies and keep their children 

or to put them up for adoption. 

 A caring society also supports women (and their partners, where partners are 

involved) who choose to terminate their pregnancies.  

We pray for wisdom for all involved in drafting law in this contested area.  

 

Consultation Questions 

Q 1 Who should be permitted to perform, or assist in performing, lawful terminations 

of pregnancy? 

Suitably qualified and experienced registered medical practitioners should 

oversee/perform all terminations of pregnancy, with the assistance if necessary 

of other suitably qualified and experienced medical professionals such as 

nurses or midwives. Pre-abortion counselling should be required to meet the 

standard of full provision of information to enable informed consent, as with 

other medical or surgical procedures (see also Q13). 

 

Q2 Should a woman be criminally responsible for the termination of her own 

pregnancy? 

Some may argue that a woman should never be held criminally responsible for 

the termination of her pregnancy. It is likely that adherents of this view believe 

that a woman's personal autonomy is paramount, and always overrides any 

concern for the unborn human life. Others, however, recognise that the 

pregnant woman carries a human life inside of her that deserves the protection 

of the law, at least in some instances.  

We suspect it would very rarely be appropriate for a woman to be held 

criminally responsible for the termination of her pregnancy. This is especially so 

in cases where a woman's decision making capacity is impaired due to mental 

illness, or she has been pressured or coerced into the abortion due to factors 

such as domestic or other violence. However, to remove the ability of the law 

to even consider the possibility of holding a woman responsible for ending the 

life of her unborn child is to show contempt for unborn life. 

 

Q3 Should there be a gestational limit or limits for a lawful termination of 

pregnancy? 

 The termination of pregnancy is dismaying, but given that it occurs, there 

ought to be limits. 

 



Q4 If yes to Q3, what should the gestational limit or limits be? For example: 

(a) An early gestational limit, related to the first trimester of pregnancy; 

(b) A later gestational limit, related to viability; 

(c) Another gestational limit or limits? 

Setting gestational limits is only meaningful if the authorities are willing to 

enforce them. If the set limits are disobeyed with impunity, the law is brought 

into disrepute. 

As a general principle, if abortions are approved, they should occur as early as 

possible in the pregnancy, preferably within the first trimester.  

Terminations should be performed as rarely as possible after the point of 

viability, at which stage arguments against the child’s right to a chance at life 

are less and less convincing.  

 

Q5 Should there be a specific ground or grounds for a lawful termination of 

pregnancy? 

Most of us say Yes, because to offer unlimited grounds for lawful termination, 

i.e. abortion on demand, is to hold human life in contempt. 

We see, however, that wherever limits are placed on abortion, people try—

and manage—to get round them. Few, if any, are ever charged. In Australia 

there is little community support for abortion-related convictions because most 

Australians have been persuaded that abortion is a question of individual 

autonomy, and they regard individual autonomy as sacred.  

Q6 If yes to Q5, what should the specific ground or grounds be? For example: 

(a) A single ground to the effect that termination is appropriate in all the 

circumstances, having regard to: 

(i) All relevant medical circumstances; 

(ii) The woman’s current and future physical, psychological and social 

circumstances; and; 

(iii) Professional standards and guidelines; 

(b) One or more of the following grounds: 

(i) That it is necessary to preserve the life or the physical or mental 

health of the woman; 

(ii) That it is necessary or appropriate having regard to the woman’s 

social or economic circumstances; 

(iii) That the pregnancy is the result of rape or another coerced or 

unlawful act; 

(iv) That there is a risk of serious or fatal foetal abnormality? 

 

Our church’s formal statement on abortion1 accepts that in a case where a 

pregnancy threatens the life of the mother, and where baby and mother 

                                                           
1 See appendix. 



cannot both be saved, it is appropriate to save the mother. Our statement also 

leaves open the possibility of termination in cases of rape and incest and other 

perverted sexual relationships. It says that all difficult cases must be evaluated 

and decided in the light of the basic principle that the foetus is a human life 

created by God. 

On harm to mental health as grounds for abortion: 

 A 2013 paper from the Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 

titled “Does abortion reduce the mental health risks of unwanted or 

unintended pregnancy? A re-appraisal of the evidence” states in its 

conclusion: “There is no available evidence to suggest that abortion has 

therapeutic effects in reducing the mental health risks of unwanted or 

unintended pregnancy. There is suggestive evidence that abortion may 

be associated with small to moderate increases in risks of some mental 

health problems.”2 

On “serious or fatal foetal abnormality” as grounds for abortion:  

 The word “serious” is open to wide interpretation. It could potentially be 

used to justify abortion on relatively trivial grounds. 

 If we consider disability to be grounds for abortion, what message do we 

give to people with disabilities? What effect does it have on our 

tolerance for imperfection?   

 If tests show that a baby has abnormalities that are incompatible with 

life, the mother should not be pressured to terminate. Many women in 

this tragic situation heal better in the long term if nature is allowed to run 

its course, i.e. the child dies in the womb or is born alive and cared for 

until its death.  

 

Q7 If yes to Q5, should a different ground or grounds apply at different stages of 

pregnancy? 

 If termination is approved, it should be performed before the stage of viability. 

If for some reason the pregnancy threatens the mother’s life after her baby 

can survive outside the womb (i.e. after the baby is judged to have reached 

the point of viability), the baby should be ‘born’ (induced or caesarean 

section).  

  

Q8 Should a medical practitioner be required to consult with one or more others 

(such as another medical practitioner or health practitioner) or refer to a 

committee before performing a termination of pregnancy? 

 Yes. Consultation promotes transparency and gives an opportunity to have 

difficult cases examined by a wider medical perspective. 

                                                           
2 Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry 47(9) 819–827, available at 

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0004867413484597  

http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0004867413484597


 

Q9 If yes to Q8, what should the requirement be? For example: 

(a) Consultation by the medical practitioner who is to perform the termination 

with : 

(i) Another medical practitioner; or 

(ii) A specialist obstetrician or gynaecologist; or  

(iii) A health practitioner whose specialty is relevant to the 

circumstances of the case; or 

(b) Referral to a multi-disciplinary committee? 

If abortion is a serious ethical matter, it seems logical to recommend a high 

level of scrutiny. The scrutiny should be higher the more advanced the 

pregnancy is, given that it is usual even amongst people with no religion to 

believe that the more developed a foetus is, the more difficult it should be to 

take its life.  

The medical practitioner who is to perform the termination cannot be assumed 

to be a neutral party, hence the need for additional consultants.  

Abortions after the halfway mark (20 weeks) should require approval from 

medical specialists including an obstetrician/gynaecologist. If the mother’s 

mental health is an issue, a psychiatrist should be consulted. If foetal 

abnormality is an issue, a paediatrician ought to be consulted if there is any 

doubt about whether the abnormality is serious or fatal.   

 

Q10 When should the requirement apply? For example 

(a) For all terminations, except in an emergency; 

(b) For terminations to be performed after a relevant gestational limit or on 

specific grounds? 

Consultation should occur in all situations. Even in an “emergency”, a doctor in 

this age of connectivity should at the very minimum be able to discuss the 

situation with a colleague.  

 

Q11 Should there be a provision for conscientious objection? 

 Yes, for doctors, midwives, nurses, pharmacists and any other 

medical/paramedical workers potentially involved.  

 Health services run by religious organisations whose beliefs prohibit abortion 

should also be allowed to decline to perform abortions. 

Q12 If yes to Q11: 

(a) Are there any circumstances in which the provision should not apply, such 

as an emergency or the absence of another practitioner or termination of 

pregnancy service within a reasonable geographic proximity? 



No. Abortion is an elective procedure, and freedom of conscience is a human 

right, and is accepted as a human right in many international treaties to which 

Australia is a signatory. 

 

(b) Should a health practitioner who has a conscientious objection be obliged 

to refer or direct a woman to another practitioner or termination of 

pregnancy service? 

No. Some practitioners may feel able to do so. Others may feel that the act of 

referral makes them morally complicit in the abortion, and breaches their 

freedom of conscience. In almost all cases, the initial doctor seen by the 

woman will be in a practice where another clinician would be willing. But to 

reduce any possible financial burden, the doctor who objects, should not 

charge for the consult and would do well to offer to support the woman 

through the process. 

Many health professionals wish not to take part in abortions because of 

growing evidence that the human foetus can feel pain from as early as 8 

weeks gestation. Brain activity can be detected at 4-6 weeks. By 8 weeks, 

sensory nerves are ready to feel pain and send messages to the thalamus at 

the base of the brain, which sends a message down the motor nerves to pull 

away from the hurt.  

 

Q13 Should there be any requirements in relation to offering counselling for the 

woman? 

 Yes. There should be both pre- and post-abortion counselling.  

Pre-abortion counselling should be a compulsory component of the informed 

consent process. It should involve disclosure of the risks of abortion (both 

physical and psychological), presentation of alternative options available to 

women considering abortion (continuing the pregnancy with extra support, 

keeping the baby, adoption), and exposure to the experiences of both 

women who have opted for abortion and those who have decided against it.  

Because ultrasound scans are necessary before abortion to determine the 

gestation and to reveal any uterine anomalies, women should be given the 

opportunity to view the images. 

The mental complications of abortion tend to be more significant than the 

physical ones. 

When the Queensland Parliament was holding public hearings into the Pyne 

abortion bills in 2016, it was advised that – “There is clear and unequivocal 

evidence that up to 20% of women suffer measurable, serious, and prolonged 

mental health adverse effects after abortion, including depression, anxiety and 

suicide. Research tells us that they often cope with these emotional issues with 

significant increases in alcohol and drug use.” 



Prof Priscilla Coleman et al of the USA recently published a major review of 

almost 1000 “Women who suffered emotionally from abortion: a qualitative 

synthesis of their experiences” – see the latest Winter 2017 edition of the Journal 

of American Physicians and Surgeons, www.jpands.org . More than 73% of 

women said their decision to abort was in response to pressure from others. 

Some 67% of women who sought help after their abortions suffered a range of 

negative effects including anxiety, shame, depression, self-destructive 

behaviours and suicidal ideation. Further evidence can be found in Melinda 

Tankard-Reist’s book Giving Sorrow Words: Women’s Stories of Grief after 

Abortion. Post-abortion counselling is needed to help women work through 

these (often prolonged) feelings of loss and guilt (even where their consent to 

abortion was coerced). 

The lack of after-care for women following abortion matches the disturbing 

lack of genuine pre-abortion counselling and the discussion of pregnancy 

options. The Women’s and Children’s Hospital in Adelaide found that the 

number of women proceeding to abortion dropped by 25% when counselling 

was provided. 

 

Q14 Should it be unlawful to harass, intimidate or obstruct: 

(a) A woman who is considering, or who has undergone, a termination of 

pregnancy; or 

(b) A person who performs or assists, or who has performed or assisted in 

performing, a lawful termination of pregnancy? 

It should be lawful to draw attention to the truth, including unpleasant truths 

about abortion. In Australia we have a right to freedom of speech, freedom of 

assembly and the right to protest peacefully. We should be very cautious 

about taking away these rights and freedoms. 

However, we also recognise that it is important that we exercise our rights and 

freedoms responsibly. While Australians do not have a right not to have their 

feelings hurt or their consciences disturbed, they have a right not to be publicly 

vilified or threatened with violence. In a civilised society, public vilification and 

threats of violence are unacceptable. The situation of right-to-life protestors 

holding candles and praying or silently holding up pictures of aborted foetuses 

in the vicinity of abortion clinics does not involve abuse, vilification or threats of 

violence. There is without doubt an intention to cause moral disquiet, but there 

are good reasons to make sure that remains lawful! Protestors aim to cause 

moral disquiet on a large range of issues, such as treatment of asylum seekers, 

conduct in war and inaction on climate change. But while causing moral 

disquiet should be lawful, it can be called into question. As a church, we would 

encourage our members to consider whether this sort of action is appropriate 

or effective, and whether it is consistent with the actions and teachings of 

Jesus.  

We urge lawmakers not to set the bar too low on what constitutes 

‘harassment’. For example, if a group that offers pregnancy support and other 

http://www.jpands.org/


assistance for parents with babies and small children cannot convince staff of 

an abortion clinic to mention their services in pre-abortion counselling or to 

advertise them inside the clinic, it would seem reasonable for the group to 

discreetly advertise its services somewhere reasonably close to the clinic. We 

certainly hope that such advertising would remain within the bounds of 

acceptability. 

 

Q15 Should there be provision for safe access zones in the area around premises 

where termination of pregnancy services are provided?  

 Only if particular premises are regularly targeted by abusive protestors.  

 

Q16  If yes to Q15, should the provision: 

(a) automatically establish an area around the premises as a safe access 

zone? If so, what should the area be; or  

(b) empower the responsible Minister to make a declaration establishing the 

area of each safe access zone? If so, what criteria should the Minister be 

required to apply when making the declaration? 

N/A 

 

Q17 What behaviours should be prohibited in a safe access zone? 

 Any behaviour that is unlawful in any other public place. 

 

Q18 Should the prohibition on behaviours in a safe access zone apply only during a 

particular time period? 

 N/A 

 

Q19 Should it be an offence to make or publish a recording of another person 

entering or leaving, or trying to enter or leave, premises where termination of 

pregnancy services are performed, unless the recorded person has given their 

consent? 

Yes, this can be seen as an invasion of privacy. 

 

Q20 Should there be mandatory reporting of anonymised data about terminations 

of pregnancy in Queensland? 

Yes, this is a matter of good governance. Both medical and surgical abortions 

should be reported to a Department of Health registry, and all complications 

(including late ones) should be reported. Significant problems should be 



reported to all health providers to improve the accuracy of advice given 

during the counselling and consent process. A yearly summary should be 

published to inform changes in service planning and any needed review of the 

law. 

Keeping accurate statistics also reminds both the public and health providers 

that the taking of unborn human life is a significant matter. It would go some 

way towards showing respect for life if the Queensland government could 

produce evidence to show that each of the over 10,000 abortions performed 

annually in recent years was performed only after ascertaining that the 

grounds for termination were clearly met. 

For the purposes of accuracy and out of respect for women who have 

undergone D&C for reasons other than deliberate termination of a pregnancy 

(e.g. miscarriage, diagnosis, endometriosis etc.), D&C statistics should be 

disaggregated.  

Babies in the womb are smarter than we know. In 2017 Vincent Reid, a 

professor of psychology at Lancaster University UK, published a paper showing 

that late-development foetuses prefer to look at face-like images while they 

are in the womb, just like newborn infants. Reid comments – the study “tells us 

that the foetus is not a passive processor of environmental information. It’s an 

active responder.” 

 

Submitted by: 

Office of the Bishop, Lutheran Church of Australia, in consultation with LCA 

Commission on Social and Bioethical Questions and LCA Queensland District Church 

Council. 

12 February 2018. 

 

(Appendix follows)  
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H. ETHICAL AND SOCIAL ISSUES 

 

Abortion 
 
 

Prepared by the Commission on Theology and Inter-Church Relations. Adopted by General 

Synod, 1970 Convention.  

 

Edited June 2001. 

 

 

 

This statement by the General Synod of the Lutheran Church of Australia is intended to be a 

guide to the members of the church. It is also a statement to the public on the matter of 

legalising abortion and liberalising existing legislation on abortion.  

 

1. With the church of all ages the Lutheran Church upholds the biblical view that the fetus 

in the mother’s womb is human life created by God. This life is entitled to the care and 

preservation which God’s command (‘Do not kill’) provides for all human beings. 

Furthermore, the fetus has the right to live under the protection of the laws of the state. 

So abortion, in the sense of the artificial or induced termination of a pregnancy, is not 

justified.  

 

2. The Lutheran Church recognises that there are circumstances under which a termination 

of pregnancy may properly be considered, namely, when competent medical people 

are of the opinion that the life of the mother can be saved only by terminating the 

pregnancy. In such a case it’s a question, humanly speaking, of choosing between one 

human life and another. A choice cannot be avoided. Before choosing to abort the 

child the mother should, if possible, seek both medical and pastoral guidance.  

 

3. There are other special cases -- for example, pregnancies which result from incest, rape, 

or other perverted sexual relationships -- and special problems with which parents and 

members of the medical and nursing profession have to wrestle. These special cases and 

situations must always be evaluated and decided in the light of the basic principle that 

the fetus is human life created by God.  

 

4. All those who have problems of conscience in connection with the performing of an 

abortion are advised and invited to consult a pastor or priest concerning the Christian 

ethical aspects of these problems.  



5. The Lutheran Church firmly believes that hospital authorities should respect the 

conscientious objections of medical and nursing personnel to the performing of 

abortions.  

 

 

 

 

Note: The General Synod in Convention, 1970, also resolved  

 

THAT the governments, medical associations, and hospital associations of the respective 

States be officially informed that if a Lutheran doctor or nurse refuses on conscientious 

grounds to take part in an abortion except for the reasons given in the attached statement, 

such action has the full support of the Lutheran Church of Australia; in cases of victimization 

on account of such stand the officials of the Church or District shall take up the matter with 

the body taking such action. 
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